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To be an acclaimed contractor and developer in Asia with dynamic and
sustainable growth

RA—REDTEN - BRED - FESMAABRBMERRD

e Improve people’s quality of life through city and infrastructure
development
SEWMMEZER  IBHEEEE

e Grow with our employees through fulfilling work environment and
career development
RUETENITERELEXZERES  BEE—EXEK

e Create value for shareholders

LA - RECRERER 3R

We aspire to excel in all aspects of our performance. In our business
dealings, we are responsive to the needs of our clients and ensure
that these needs are fully satisfied. We manage our projects with
qualified, competent and experienced staff, whose clear priorities are
to thoroughly plan, execute and follow through the works and to fulfill
our obligations responsibly. Our staff always face up to challenges and
proactively tackle problems with practicality and perseverance in a
positive way.

We have followed this culture for half a century and believe that it has
been the key to our success. Our continued success serves to reinforce
the culture which has been with us from the outset.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION :*

TEER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Xu Jianhua (Deputy Chairman)
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chief Executive Officer)
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
Li Wai Hang, Christina
Han Li

Independent Non-executive Directors

Wu William Wai Leung
Lam Yau Fung, Curt
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Wu William Wai Leung (Chairman)
Lam Yau Fung, Curt
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Xu Jianhua

Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chairman)
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Xu Jianhua

Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Wu William Wai Leung
Lam Yau Fung, Curt

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Lam Yau Fung, Curt (Chairman)
Wu William Wai Leung
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

COMPANY SECRETARY
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant
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CORPORATE INFORMATION -°
TEER

AUDITOR
Ernst & Young

LEGAL ADVISORS

Conyers Dill & Pearman
LC Lawyers LLP

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

C1, 5th Floor

Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1
601-603 Tai Nan West Street

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th floor, North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM12

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

CORPORATE WEBSITE

www.asiaalliedgroup.com
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00711
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS ::

TRABLEE

6-8.72018

18 Fo Pk 3 E IR

Crus Wo Tussen MAasAGEsesT

Shing Mun Tunnels & Tseung Kwan O Tunnel and Kai Tak Tunnel
& Lion Rock Tunnel Management Takeover Ceremonies

Chun Wo Tunnel Management Limited (“CW Tunnel”) has secured
from the Transport Department two six-year tunnel management
contracts of Shing Mun Tunnels and Tseung Kwan O Tunnel as well
as Kai Tak Tunnel and Lion Rock Tunnel with effect from 1 June 2018
and 1 August 2018 respectively. The Takeover Ceremonies were held
to witness the important moment of the Group’s tunnel management

business.

Completion of the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao
Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities —
Passenger Clearance Building

Chun Wo, the construction business of the Group,
has secured a contract of Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao
Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities —
Passenger Clearance Building which valued at HK$8.4
billion from the Highways Department through a
joint venture in 2014. After 4 years of contributions
and efforts by the project team, Passenger Clearance
Building was completed in 2018 and the Hong
Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge officially commenced
operation on 24 October 2018.
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS »*:
TERELE
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Lifewire “Photalkgraphers” Charitable Photo
Exhibition

Chun Wo and Lifewire jointly organised the
“Photalkgraphers” Charitable Photo Exhibition in
August 2018. The exhibition featured the works of
9 photographers with “Hong Kong” as the theme and
9 selected photos were auctioned to raise funds to
benefit the children, whom Lifewire are helping, with
rare diseases. This Charitable Photo Exhibition raised
over HK$2.4 million and all net proceeds were donated
to Lifewire for helping people in need.

8.72018

Secured a Management Contract of
Central — Wan Chai Bypass Tunnel

CW Tunnel has secured a four-year
management, operation and maintenance
contract of Central — Wan Chai Bypass
Tunnel from the Transport Department. The
contract has commenced on 20 January
2019.

RIMEBPREEFEEBRESTESN
BB BERGERE AHNFRFIRRE
FEBRENETIE SEREBERSEA
4 ZAHEHR20199F1 B20B A5 -

|
2018n190% M Thmanpzpspas B 7



CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS ="
TERELE

10-11.-2018

AAI | Chun Wo “50th Anniversary Photo Exhibition Tour” and
The First “Chun Wo Innovation Student Awards”

2018 marked the Group’s 50th anniversary and the Group held
a series of celebration events, including “The 50th Anniversary
Photo Exhibition Tour” and the first “Chun Wo Innovation Student
Awards” Presentation Ceremony, to celebrate the occasion. The 50th
Anniversary Photo Exhibition Tour, themed “Our Story, Your Story”,
showcased photos of the Group’s construction projects of the past 50
years and its development history. In addition, “Chun Wo Innovation
Student Awards” was established to encourage students to be
innovative and promote social development with their expertise. Team
“Twind Turbine” from the City University of Hong Kong won the Gold
Award and received the prize from Mr. Paul Chan Mo-po, Financial
Secretary, at the “50th Anniversary Celebration Cocktail”.

TNBHEER | @A EHEFKERARE IR EEM AR ENBER ]
2018F RAEEK N ATEF - AEERULEITT —RIFEEE
BEATRFNERRRE | R EE RS2 4 QI3 52 8528818 -
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B - &R EBHHALBH Twind Turbine | HES - IR H+E
FLELLENEE | LEMBAE RIRBERKR £ EREIIE -
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS -
TERELE

11 .7 2018 ﬂ

AAI | Chun Wo 50th Anniversary
Celebration Cocktail

The Group hosted the “50th
Anniversary Celebration Cocktail”
at Sky100 on 2 November 2018
to commemorate its fruitful results
and accomplishments in developing
business over the years. Industry
leaders and political and business
luminaries from Hong Kong, Macao
and Mainland China were invited to
attend the grand celebration event
to share the joy with us.
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS %
TERELE

12 .- 2018

Chun Wo and Lifewire Jointly Present “Lifewire
Run” Charity Run

Chun Wo and Lifewire jointly organized the "Lifewire
Run” Charity Run (the “Charity Run”) on 2 December
2018, which attracted more than 1,500 athletes and
over 41 organisations participated in and sponsored the
event. It raised over HK$1.7 million and all net proceeds
were donated to Lifewire for addressing child patient
cases. Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, JP, the Group's
Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Fernando Cheung Chiu-
hung, Legislative Council Member, and Ms. Angie
Cheong, artist and Joint Chairman of Fundraising Sub-
Committee of the Children’s Heart Foundation, served as
officiating guests of the Charity Run.

BRI HLifewire(E « BRHS 2R S « FBF IBENR
B Lifewire(E o B 2018F 12 A2H A B o &
B IEESR((EEH]) - )38 1,5000 5% kad RgkiE
2HERED) - EEBA1708E T - ERHBRAAR 2 8EIE
Lifewire(7& o B AT IR SR E AR - AEBTBAEHE —
HETTEMATFHL  UESHERBHEBL - BAREE
LEEASEERHE IR REE MY EHFERIESHEES
2E

1. 2019

Members of the Group Joined the Walk for
Millions Held at The Central-Wan Chai Bypass
The Community Chest held the Walk for Millions at
The Central-Wan Chai Bypass on 6 January 2019,
more than 60 colleagues of the Group participated
in to raise fund for the Chest’s member social
welfare agencies in enhancing “Family and Child
Welfare Services” and share the joy of the project
completion.

AEERESHETREEFEERTZEET
N e BBTR2019F1 B6 HEHRIR K IE TS
BT REBABBEOMNRAELE  —RAAIRE
FREBARSE NS EFMIESEER D
FIRRTHEN -
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS -
TERELE

1. 2019
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Chun Wo x SHELL Carbon Emission
Offsetting Program

Chun Wo and SHELL have joined hands
to launch the Carbon Emission Offsetting
Program. Chun Wo became the first and
the only engineering company to neutralize

Ao | T m—

from civil engineering construction sites
and achieve zero emission by purchasing
internationally recognized Verified Carbon
Units (VCUs) in Hong Kong.

B FNELIRZR (SHELL) 1T R B8 i BEBUaT 8l
& AN B 83 5% (SHELL ) #6 F 187 ﬁZWﬁ}iFB&:Jr
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Inno@Chun Wo Innovation Announcement
The Group formed Inno@ChunWo in
2016 to develop innovative construction
technologies with different universities
and technology research companies.
Inno@ChunWo hosted the Innovation
Announcement (the “Announcement”) on
21 January 2019 to share with the public
its fruitful results, including Rapid Repairing
Mortar Materials (R2M?) which can enhance
the efficiency of maintenance of ageing
buildings and application of the technology
of artificial intelligence (“A.l.") to enhance
the construction safety and efficiency of
works. The Announcement attracted a large
number of guests and the media to attend.

Inno@ChunWo Bl H &K fif s e
AEEF2016F K ZInno@ChunWo » E1
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CORPORATE EVENT HIGHLIGHTS ="
TERELE

4-5 .- 2019 ﬂ

Tapping Non-Franchised Bus Services

The Group has formed an indirect non-wholly-owned
subsidiary, Chun Wo Bus Services Limited (“CW Bus”), to
enter into the transportation sector through operating the
non-franchised bus services business in Hong Kong, further
diversifying the Group’s revenue stream and business
portfolio.

CW Bus held a “New Office Grand Opening Ceremony” in
May 2019. Senior management and guests have attended
the ceremony to share the joy with the Group.

EXEWFEED T RE

AEEX —HEEIFE2ERENBARERMELRBER
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT =
EEHE

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Chairman
TE

S

!! We will seek to provide services not only in Hong Kong, but also across Asia so as to
contribute directly to regional development. We hope to be able to celebrate many
more milestones as we head to our centenary, and beyond.

BB ATRRBRREE  MEEDMNSHEHRRE #MEZSEHRRELER - RAS
SEENTATHENER I RASNRAE  HAarEsnERE . B
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT -*:
FERE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of
Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | hereby
present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Year"”). During the
Year, the business environment of the construction industry remained
challenging, hampered by both internal and external factors. Despite
the greater headwind, the Group was able to record a revenue of
HK$8.08 billion and a net profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholder”) of HK$137 million for the Year.

Over the Year, we continued to follow the Group’s long-term strategic
plan for becoming a significant construction and development force in
Asia, and specifically the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Bay Area (the
“Greater Bay Area”). Consistent with this road map, we are investing in
high-potential construction-related companies, and seeking opportunities
to foster the growth of our operations in Hong Kong at the same time.
Besides, we continued to look into development projects in the Greater
Bay Area through partnership arrangements, which is in line with our
overall objective of strategically widening the Group’s revenue streams.
We also made progress by way of providing non-franchised bus services
to travellers using the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge and Express Rail
Link, which is our newest endeavour that holds tremendous promise.
In addition to business development, we placed energies on developing
innovative technologies, and here too netted encouraging results,
including the introduction of Rapid Repairing Mortar Materials (R2M2)
and the adoption of A.l. technology for raising construction safety and
efficiency.

In the past calendar year, the Hong Kong economy grew irregularly,
expanding by 1.3% year-on-year in the final quarter after growing
by 2.8% in the third quarter when compared with the corresponding
period last year. Ultimately, the Hong Kong economy achieved real Gross
Domestic Product growth of 3% in 2018". Such fluctuations, the result of
the US-China trade war and interest rate hikes by the US Federal Reserve
Board, combined with filibustering in the Legislative Council that caused
a backlog of items for debate, including those pertaining to large-scale
infrastructure projects, resulted in a downturn in the construction sector.

' According to The Hong Kong Trade Development Council research on 2 May 2019

|
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT *:
FERE

Mindful of the aforementioned developments and market challenges, we
chose to take a prudent approach towards our business development.
Hence, while our construction operation continued to perform steadily,
we regularly examined other facets of operation, including the property
development and assets leasing business with a view to optimise returns.
Going forward, we will continue to adjust our property portfolio, as well
as invest in other major projects in Hong Kong by way of joint ventures
to mitigate risk and reduce financial outlays. Similarly, we will look for
opportunities in involving major development projects in the Greater Bay
Area as catalysts for achieving our long-term goals.

Apart from encouraging the growth of our core businesses, we also
sought to bolster our professional services operation, which includes
the security and facility management business, as well as the tunnel
management business. We secured two six-year tunnel management
contracts in May 2018, which was followed by a four-year tunnel
management, operation and maintenance contract in August 2018.
Consequently, the Group now manages six tunnels in Hong Kong,
namely, the Cross-Harbour Tunnel, Shing Mun Tunnels, Tseung Kwan
O Tunnel, Kai Tak Tunnel, Lion Rock Tunnel and Central-Wan Chai
Bypass Tunnel. In view of rising revenue contributions from the tunnel
management operation, we trust that the professional services segment
will make further headway.

It is worth noting as well that we have continued with our diversification
efforts, which included examining possibilities of developing projects
pertaining to education in the region. The management will further direct
efforts towards conducting market research and exploring opportunities
for mergers and acquisitions that enable the Group to bolster its presence
in the education sector.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT -*:
FERE

FUTURE STRATEGY AND DIRECTION

In the year ahead, we do see opportunities in the Hong Kong market.
With respect to key infrastructure projects, the Group has its sights
on the construction of the Three-Runway System, which is part of
the Hong Kong International Airport’s expansion plan. In addition,
the Lantau reclamation project outlined by the Chief Executive in her
2018 Policy Address will be another development project that we will
seek involvement in. Outside of the city, we will continue to look for
opportunities to build ties with construction companies across Asia, which
include sharing our project management expertise and other transferable
skills to support their growth. By doing so, we will be expediting the
Group's development into a major infrastructure projects developer with
reach across Asia and the Greater Bay Area. This, in turn, will allow the
Group to seize opportunities resulting from the expected construction
boom in the said regions in the coming years. As the Belt and Road
initiative is also set to create significant opportunities, we will closely
observe relevant developments and will leverage our transformative
strategy to both capture construction-related opportunities and to
further our other business interests, as well as explore the possibility of
expanding into new segments and services. With respect to our property
development and assets leasing business, we will seek opportunities to
form partnerships in order to bolster our position in the local market,
particularly in the residential segment.

Having celebrated the Group’s 50th anniversary during the past year,
we now look forward to building on our half century of successes. With
this in mind, we will seek to provide services not only in Hong Kong, but
also across Asia so as to contribute directly to regional development. We
hope to be able to celebrate many more milestones as we head to our
centenary, and beyond.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the management team and
all of our staff members for their contributions and dedication during the
Year. | wish to also extend my appreciation to our business partners and
Shareholders for their unwavering support. Through the collective efforts
of all parties, I trust the Group will become Asia’s leading construction
and development company, and much more.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS :#
BEENWR D

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
g S

29\

Total revenue \‘g/
40 e 2 Profit attributable to
Total assets HK$8,076,048,0003% 7T shareholders
HWEEHRE B R FE{L & F

o=
o=
o=

Net assets

Equity per share*

BEEFE - on
HK$2,474,150,0003% 7t FR\ER
B HK$1.3138 7T

Basic earnings

per share Dividend per share Gearing ratio
SREFRF _ EEER R
HK7.37 centsi&{l IntgnmﬂFﬁHHKLZG cenfs;ﬁﬂh Bilgle®
Final R ZIHK0.84 centi& 1l 0.37
Full year2 &
HK2.10 centsi&4l

* Equity per share refers to equity attributable to Shareholders divided by the total number of issued ordinary shares as at 31 March 2019.
* GRS TR AR R B (GRS R AR 2019 4 3 A 31 HZ E /T EBARAL -

BUSINESS REVIEW EMoEE

The Group recorded a total revenue of HK$8.08 billion (2018: HK$8.23  ARE B A FE E 115424 ¥ %58,080,000,000

billion) and a net profit attributable to Shareholders of HK$137 million 3 7¢ (2018 € : 8,230,000,000 /& 7T ) & %

(2018: HK$150 million) for the Year. The results were due mainly to the B & {5 4B %] 137,000,000 7 JT (2018 F

relatively weaker performance of the construction sector during the Year. ~ 150,000,000i&77) - BEXEF EZAEE

The Company’s net asset value per share amounted to HK$1.33 as at 31 BERTERBEEAFEMTE - N2019%F3A

March 2019 (2018: HK$1.35). 318 - ARBIFREEFER1.3387(2018
F:1.3587T) °

2018n19%% M Thmaxpzpsras 017



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS -
EEEBNWROMN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Construction

The Group’s construction operation, which falls under the respected
“Chun Wo" brand, represents its primary business. As such, the segment
has continued to be the Group’s key revenue generator, contributing
HK$7.31 billion (2018: HK$7.68 billion) in revenue and HK$150.4
million (2018: HK$116.3 million) in segmental profit for the Year. As at
31 March 2019, the Group possessed contracts with an aggregate value
of HK$26.99 billion, of which projects with contracts valued at HK$11.64
billion in total were ongoing.

During the Year, the Group has secured 17 new projects, among which
include such prominent projects as the Construction of Public Housing
Development at Hiu Ming Street; Development of Anderson Road Quarry
Site — Road Improvement Works and Pedestrian Connectivity Facilities
Works Phase 2A; and Subcontract for the Engineering, Procurement and
Construction of South East New Territories Landfill Extension.

In respect of ongoing projects, the Group is presently conducting
37 projects, the majority of which require a level of technical expertise and
construction capabilities that Chun Wo is renowned for. These projects
include Hong Kong International Airport — Terminal 2 Foundation and
Substructure Works; Design and Construction of the Novaliches — Balara
Aqueduct 4; Construction of Public Rental Housing Redevelopment at Pak
Tin Estate Phases 7 & 8 and Phase 11; Phase 1 Redevelopment of Ming
Wah Dai Ha; and Main Contract for Subsidised Sale Flats Project at Shatin
Area 36C.

The Year also marked the conclusion of several major projects, among
which include the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge Hong Kong
Boundary Crossing Facilities — Passenger Clearance Building; Wan Chai
Development Phase II: Central-Wan Chai Bypass at Wan Chai East;
Liantang/Heung Yuen Wai Boundary Control Point, Site Formation and
Infrastructure Works — Contract 3; MTR Contract No. 1107 — Shatin to
Central Link: Diamond Hill to Kai Tak Tunnels; MTR Contract No. 1108
— Shatin to Central Link: Kai Tak Station and Associated Tunnels; Design
and Construction of Redevelopment of Kwai Chung Hospital (Phase 1),
and Superstructure Works for Proposed Residential Development at R.B.L.
270, No. 17 Shek O Road, Shek O, Hong Kong.

|
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS -
EEEBNWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Construction (continued)

Though the construction segment remains intensely competitive and is
dragged down by the slow funding approval process for public works
projects, the management will continue to actively pursue opportunities
on several fronts. Considering the housing market continues to be
benefited from the strong private market demand and the Governments’
initiatives to allocate land for residential housing, especially public
housing, which will bring opportunities to the Group. Another area that
the Group has its sights is on the Lantau reclamation project introduced
in the Chief Executive’s 2018 Policy Address. This landmark proposal
aimed at addressing the pressing housing problem in Hong Kong and
acting as a “Double Gateway"” to the world and other Greater Bay
Area cities, which will become a major development area well into the
future. Another significant project that the Group’s expertise would be
eyeing on is the construction of the Three-Runway System for the Hong
Kong International Airport, which will offer a precious opportunity for
the Group to demonstrate its eminent technique. Hence, the Group
has continued to closely monitor developments to seize relevant
opportunities.

To capitalise on current and upcoming opportunities, the Group has
continued to invest in research and development, the fruits of which
include the introduction of Rapid Repairing Mortar Materials (R2M?2) that
raises the efficiency of repair works for old buildings. Also, the Group is
at the forefront of A.l. technology for enhancing the construction safety
and efficiency of works.

While seeking business growth, the Group is also committed to corporate
social responsibility the (“CSR”). The launch of Carbon Emission Offset
Program in cooperation with Shell Hong Kong Limited (“SHELL"), has
made Chun Wo becoming the first and only engineering company to
neutralise the carbon released from construction sites and achieve zero
carbon dioxide emission in Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS =%

BEENWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥KEREE)

Major Projects Completed in the Year REAFERT ZFEIEB
Project Name
HE B

Building Construction Works #FZE T2

1

Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities — Passenger Clearance Building

BIRRABEE O F — R AE

Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities — Remaining Ancillary Buildings and
Facilities

BRRABE SO R — R TR EREY REHE

Design and Construction of Redevelopment of Kwai Chung Hospital (Phase 1)

B ERETR(E—H) Rt REETRE

Superstructure Works for Proposed Residential Development at R.B.L. 270, No. 17 Shek O Road, Shek O, Hong Kong
BBABROREITHRANEERGER270EEERIEE 2 FETIE

Construction Works for New Hangar of Macau International Airport
YR P B FRM5 3T TR B e A2

Civil Engineering Works + K T#&

6

Wan Chai Development Phase II: Central-Wan Chai Bypass at Wan Chai East
BERRIBE_S  PRREFEEEFRE

Liantang/Heung Yuen Wai Boundary Control Point, Site Formation and Infrastructure Works — Contract 3
B FEEARIHTERERER IR -TIRE8=

MTR Contract No.1107 — Shatin to Central Link: Diamond Hill to Kai Tak Tunnels
BEEHNRT107—Phis  BAOILERERE

MTR Contract No.1108 — Shatin to Central Link: Kai Tak Station and Associated Tunnels
BIEAKRIN1108— DA - BRI AR E TR

Foundation Works ith & T 72

10

P4-001 Direct Contract for Bored Pile Works for Galaxy Resort & Casino, Phase 4 Lot 4 New Integrated Resort
Development at Cotai City Macau
SR PIRE 2k R ROR R R % B 15 58 P ER B MU R FTAR & R BRI B R IA B 2 #EFLH Ti2(P4-001)

Maintenance Works 418 T2

11
12
13

|

N

mE 2

Main Contract for Refurbishment of Hong Kong Buddhist Hospital
BEGHBBT IIZEAL

Term Contract 2015 for Waterworks District E — New Territories East

K TIRFEEA 492015 —H[RE— #TRE

Preventive Maintenance Works, Upgrading Works and Associated Ground Investigations for WSD Slopes, 2012-2013
Programme

2012E2013F ERIEBRIF A4S « 2E RBARNEIETRE

|
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"8 Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities — Passenger Clearance Building

BIRRABER QR - IRIRAE

"85 Wan Chai Development Phase II: Central-Wan Chai Bypass at Wan Chai East
"R OEHERSEECN . PRIEFEBEFRR

|
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"S5 Liantang/Heung Yuen Wai Boundary Control Point, Site Formation and Infrastructure Works — Contract 3
"R BRI/ BREENELMTERERERTIRE - TRaH=

HE [ |
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i2  MTR Contract No. 830 — Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rail Link (Hong Kong Section
" Trackwork and Overhead Line System

BEAKRRS30 - BAREREREN (BB  YUEREBRER

=

{ '!..' ‘ﬂ.l . ] A - - ‘r-_ j | -r?ﬁlr'u_-.'n-
IRt 5

o ='. - =4

"S5 Design and Construction of Redevelopment of Kwai Chung Hospital (Phase 1)
"t XRBRERIR(EH) -RFTRBETIR
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"8i  MTR Contract No.1108 — Shatin to Central Link: Kai Tak Station and Associated Tunnels
" OBEANEIR1108 — g - BEuE AR E TR
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"85 Main Contract for Refurbishment of Hong Kong Buddhist Hospital
"t BRBHEREFTIIRASH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS =%

EEENWR DM
BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) EXBEEw)
Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year RAFEEZRBFEENTETRE

Project Name
HE AR

Building Construction Works #£FEE T2

1

Construction of Public Rental Housing Redevelopment at Pak Tin Estate Phases 7 & 8
HEBELRFENAAHKBTEEERIBEARETR

Construction of Public Rental Housing Redevelopment at Pak Tin Estate Phase 11
BHRBET—HARBEEESEEAREETR

Main Contract for Subsidised Sale Flats Project at Shatin Area 36C
WH36CRIMKEREHHEFERB BEH

Phase 1 Redevelopment of Ming Wah Dai Ha
REANESE —HERER

Construction of Columbarium at Wo Hop Shek Cemetery — Phase 1
MEABSBERREME —HEETRR

Main Contract for the Proposed Residential Development at TMTL 499, Tseng Choi Street, Tuen Mun, New Territories
AR FITER B4 HIM T EEERIBEESH

Civil Engineering Works £ /K T2

7

Central-Wan Chai Bypass: Tunnel (North Point Section) and Island Eastern Corridor Link
IR e (T4 ¢« dt AEBR B IR @ R s T2

Site Formation and Infrastructure Works for Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site
TiEREARSAMERN T TR RERERTRE

Hong Kong International Airport — Terminal 2 Foundation and Substructure Works
EEBRKS - —REEABHMERTEAEIR

Queen's Hill Development — Road and Drainage Works

SEBR - EERES TR

In-situ Reprovisioning of Shatin Water Treatment Works (South Works) — Advance Works
D HRBKERIEE T (M) — AT TR

Provision of Universal Access Facilities for Highway Structures — Package 2 Contract 1
REBRBEDREGERTRE-F_EE—HEH

Tseung Kwan O — Lam Tin Tunnel — Tseung Kwan O Interchange and Associated Works
ER - EMRE - SEARERRIEH TR

Design and Construction of the Novaliches — Balara Aqueduct 4

7 FL ML H — Balara PHSREI/KBEE < s 5T RERETIR

Improvement of Water Supply to Sheung Shui and Fanling

kR E SRS

Hong Kong Disneyland Resort Project — Arendelle Advance Works
HEBTERELEEERRIAR —MEMRTIATIIZ

[ |
[ | HE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS =%

EEEAWR DN
BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) BB

Major Projects in Progress at the End of the Year (continuved) @ RAFELZRBEENETEIRE)

Project Name
HE BB
Electrical & Mechanical Works & 1 & #i% T2

17 Electrical Installation for the Construction of Subsidised Sale Flats Development at Tseung Kwan O Area 65C2
Phases 1 & 2
HERE 65C2 REMHEFEERAZIE - NE_HRETIENENEETRE

Foundation Works #h & T 72

18 Foundation, ELS and Excavation Works for Proposed Residential Development at Yau Tong Inland Lot No. 44, Junction
of Shung Shun Street and Yan Yue Wai, Yau Tong
HEREHRCFERUMEARFMMFHETERIAR 2HE - ARAERZSEIR

19 Foundation for Public Rental Housing Development at Tsing Hung Road, Tsing Yi
BERERRAHBEFERRASNMETRE

Maintenance Works 418 T2

20 Term Contract for Minor Works 2015 for Hong Kong East and Hong Kong West Clusters
201588 R EEABREE NI TIEERSL

21 MTR Contract No.11209 - Shatin to Central Link: Platform Modification and Associated Works at East Rail Line
BEAAmIN11209— P Es  RERHE A aRERARLIE

22 Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and Other Properties for
which the Architectural Services Department (Property Services Branch) is Responsible (Designated Contract Area: Tai
Po, North District and Outlying Islands (North))
RETEHR(CE  tREESUL)) ARZESVEREHREENEEY DL EMYEETIGE - M2 - R
BREETIRENTHELD

23 Term Contract the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and Other Properties for
which the Architectural Services Department (Property Services Branch) is Responsible (Designated Contract Area:
Central, Peak and Mid-levels)

REEEAER(RE - LTERFIL) NEREZSYHXEBRABTNESEY - T REMYZEETIR - N2 RER
HIETIENTEREH

24 Term Contract for the Maintenance of Slopes for which the Architectural Services Department (Property Services
Branch) is Responsible (Designated Contract Area: Hong Kong Island and Outlying Islands (South))
REEEAR(EERES (M) NEREBVEEBEEENNEETREIENEHEH

25 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 4 Phase 1: Mains in Eastern and Southern Districts
BMREEKE TIRFEMEEE 8 REREEKE LR

26 Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 4 Phase 1: Major Mains in Western New Territories
FHMREBEKETEFNEERSE 8 : STARBEEKETLRE
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Main Contract for Subsidised Sale Flats Project at Shatin Area 36C

YH36CRNEREBHESERBAAN
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""8=  Central-Wan Chai Bypass: Tunnel (North Point Section) and Island Eastern Corridor Link

"t PRRREFRE LARBBMIREERSRETE
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""2=  Site Formation and Infrastructure Works for Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site

Y RERENESAMERO D TERERERTIRE
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"85 Design and Construction of the Novaliches — Balara Aqueduct 4
" FREMIYIET — Balara FUSEEIZKEEE 2 BRET R EETIE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS »*

EEENWERDN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) O Z)

New Major Projects Awarded in the Year RAEFEHRAENETEERE
Project Name
HA &R

Building Construction Works 2F#ZE T2

1

Construction of Public Housing Development at Hiu Ming Street

RRATAEEERR IEETE

Basement Carpark and Public Vehicle Park For Proposed Residential Development at Yau Tong Inland Lot No. 44, at
the Junction of Shung Shun Street and Yan Yue Wai, Yau Tong
MESREHECTFERFUAEAMEE 44 RAETERIEBE 2 T EESRAREESERTRE

Civil Engineering Works + KT &

3

Development of Anderson Road Quarry Site — Road Improvement Works and Pedestrian Connectivity Facilities Works
Phase 2A

LEFBAESAMBER —ERNETIRERITASEERETIZE _HF

Subcontract for the Engineering, Procurement and Construction of South East New Territories Landfill Extension
AR ERERA S 2R - RBREIOHASL

Construction of Government Flying Service Kai Tak Division
BT RITARIE B RE D B & A2

Rehabilitation of Trunk Sewers in Tuen Mun

EFTEKBRIEETIE

Foundation Works it & T 72

7

Foundation for Public Rental Housing Development at North West Kowloon Reclamation Site 1 (East)
it NEEEEEE B (R AHXBEFREEERR 2 A TE

Construction of Bored Pile Works for Foundation, Excavation & Lateral Support and Basement Excavation Works for
New Acute Hospital at Kai Tak Development Area (Site A and Site B)
MEERENSEETERME BRAERAEIRERMEZRE TR 2 KOSEFLE TRR(THbAR THB)

Maintenance Works #1& T2

9

Construction of Reprovisioning Facilities at Hong Ning Road Park and Ngau Tau Kok Fresh Water Services Reservoir
(Programme No. 281RS)
BREBRABERFHAARKIKEEE RifEETIZ( T2 281RS)
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"85 Foundation for Public Rental Housing Development at North West Kowloon Reclamation Site 1 (East)
" EhEESHERE SREBR(R)AHEEEERRZMETRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS -
EEEBNWROMN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development and Assets Leasing

The property development and assets leasing segment contributed a
profit of HK$180.3 million (2018: HK$197.7 million) during the Year.

During the Year, the Group recorded a gain from the disposal of its
residential project located at No. 2 Tsing Min Path, Tuen Mun, known
as “T PLUS". The transaction highlights the Group’s market acumen and
prompt action to fully capitalise on market developments. Given that the
property market is continuing to undergo adjustments, the Group will
adhere to its practice of seizing opportunities that bring long-term gains,
as well as establishing joint ventures and forming partnerships to mitigate
risk.

Among the local property development projects that the Group, with
strategic partners, is currently engaged in include two residential
properties located at Waterloo Road, Ho Man Tin and Prince Edward
Road West, respectively. Also, the Group is involved in the property re-
development at No. 35 Cameron Road, which is a commercial building,
and will also commence development planning on a land parcel located
in Tung Chung in the coming fiscal year, hence will be able to provide
diverse revenue streams.

In view of several factors that have led uncertainty to the property market,
including interest rate hikes and the unresolved US-China trade dispute,
the Group will continue to take a cautious approach towards identifying
and acquiring suitable development projects in Hong Kong, and will also
continuously review and adjust its property portfolio to realise maximum
gains.

Professional Services

The professional services segment, of which the security and facility
management business operated by City Services Group Limited (“City
Services"”) is the principal constituent, continued to perform satisfactorily.
With increasing contribution from the tunnel management business, we
believe segment results will continue to bloom. The segment recorded a
revenue of HK$763 million (2018: HK$548 million) and profit of HK$28.8
million (2018: HK$26.7 million) during the Year.

|
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS »*
EEENRRDN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Professional Services (continued)

During the Year, City Services was able to renew contracts with numerous
prominent clients, thus ensuring stable revenue for the security and
management business. In respect of the tunnel management business, a
four-year contract of the Central-Wan Chai Bypass Tunnel was secured
in August 2018, which is the latest secured contract. In May 2018, the
Group was awarded two six-year management contracts for the Shing
Mun Tunnels and Tseung Kwan O Tunnel, and Kai Tak Tunnel and Lion
Rock Tunnel, respectively. The Group now totally manages six tunnels
in Hong Kong, comprising the Cross-Harbour Tunnel, the Shing Mun
Tunnels, the Tseung Kwan O Tunnel, the Kai Tak Tunnel, the Lion Rock
Tunnel and the Central-Wan Chai Bypass Tunnel.

Wl S pdean abh aa
a ¥ -

Other Business

The Group is constantly seeking opportunities to develop new income
streams that possess the potential to become standalone businesses. In
recent years, this has led to the establishment of a premium safe deposit
box leasing business, the provision of construction financing services, and
the management of an online building materials procurement platform.
Besides, in order to tap growing demand from travellers using the Hong
Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge and the Express Rail Link for travelling to and
from Hong Kong, the Group has commenced to provide non-franchised
bus services through CW Bus.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS -
EEEBNWROMN

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group mainly relies upon internally generated funds as well as
bank borrowings to finance its operations and expansion, which is
supplemented by equity funding when it is required.

At 31 March 2019, the total net debts of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$905.3 million, representing total debts of
approximately HK$2,761.30 million less total of cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$1,856.0 million. The debt maturity profile, based on
scheduled repayment dates set out in loan agreements of the Group at
31 March 2019, is analysed as follows:

RBES R BER

ARBEGEERBERIFTESEERBAE
B MIRTTREF - EERERBEHAZRTRN

£E&-

M2019F3H31H - AEBEZ FEBKR
¥4 #9 905,300,000 /& T+ Bl & 7% 2 58 49
2,761,300,0008 7T =3 & M RITAE R B RE
#91,856,000,000/%8 7T  IRIEANEEKR2019F
3ANAZERMZEMS RIEERAE - &
HZ BHESWET

As at As at
31 March 2019 31 March 2018
720195 F20184F
3H31H 3H31H
HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEAT
Borrowings and obligations under hire purchase 7B T3IEAIE R Z B %
contract and finance leases repayable: HAEAO M EREHRIE
Within one year or on demand —FARIZER 1,061.7 2,677.5
After one year, but within two years —FREMFA
— On demand shown under — S R B EERENK
current liabilities BB 2B 2.8 375
- Remaining balances —fREE 1,310.3 5.9
After two years, but within five years MEBRERFNA
— On demand shown under — S AR B EERENK
current liabilities BB 2B = 1.3
- Remaining balances —fREE 385.2 1.6
Over five years AFNUE 13 4.0
2,761.3 2,727.8
Guaranteed bonds ERER
— Repayable within one year —R—FRNEE - 39.0
Total debts ESE%E 2,761.3 2,766.8

The Group has continued to implement a prudent financial management
policy, at 31 March 2019, the gearing ratio of the Group, being the
proportion of net interest bearing debts to equity attributable to
Shareholders, was 0.37 (2018: 0.30). The current ratio of the Group is
increased by 30% to 1.67 (2018: 1.28), reflecting a healthy financial
position to finance its operation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS -
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES (continued)

To minimise exposure on foreign exchange fluctuations, the Group’s
borrowings and cash balances are primarily denominated in Hong Kong
dollars or Renminbi which are the same as the functional currency of the
relevant group entities. The Group has no significant exposure to foreign
exchange rate fluctuations and shall use derivative contracts to hedge
against its exposure to currency risk only when it is required. Furthermore,
the Group’s borrowings have not been hedged by any interest rate
financial instruments.

Details of the structure and interest rate profile of the bank borrowings
of the Group as at 31 March 2019 are set out in Note 33 to the financial
statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the pledge of assets of the Group are set out in Note 33(e) to
the financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in Note 45 to
the financial statements.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had approximately 6,595 employees as at 31 March 2019.
Total remuneration of employees for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$2,033.9 million. Employees are remunerated according to their
nature of work and the market trend, with merit-based components
incorporated in the annual increment review to reward and motivate
individual performance. Employee bonus is distributable based on the
performance of the respective divisions and the employees concerned.
Moreover, the Group also provides in-house training program and
sponsorship for external training courses which are complementary to
their job functions.

With a view to providing incentive for employees to achieve performance
goals and aligning the interests of employees directly to the Shareholders
through ownership of shares of the Company, the Company adopted
the restricted share award scheme on 1 August 2017, pursuant to which
the Company may grant to eligible participants restricted shares of the
Company. Such grant shares are acquired by the scheme trustee on
the market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and held upon trust for the benefit of the grantees and shall
become vested in the grantees upon satisfaction of specified vesting
criteria.

RBEES KM HER#)
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SHEBHUBTHARE ST - AEMABENE
B EE 2 INEEEEAR - NEEREZINERK
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ZAE A IR R R & B T AAEE I o

REBP201993 A31 HRBITERAEER
FIR DM 2 B EN P IS RER L33 »

BEERH
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33(e) °
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AR A B I SR BN TS SRR M 45
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M2019F3A318 * NEELE6,595HEE °
AEEZRBEEHMEEEL A2,033,900,0007%8
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WIREZ SRR AETEF 2855 -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS -
EEEBNWROMN

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES (continued)

In addition, the Company had also adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”), under which the Directors are authorised to
grant share options to the eligible participants to subscribe for shares
of the Company for the purpose of, among other things, providing
incentives and rewards to, and recognizing the contributions of, the
eligible participants. The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on 3 September 2012.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS
Construction

The Group holds guarded optimism towards the Hong Kong construction
sector in the coming years, given that the local government has
demonstrated its commitment to increasing land and housing supply
as exemplified by the proposed reclamation project near Lantau, which
is set to be a significant long-term development scheme. The Group
will, therefore, seek to bolster its leading position in the Hong Kong
construction sector by leveraging its professionalism, knowledge,
technologies and experience, as well as by co-operating with mainland
enterprises that possess relevant experience and resources.

Close ties with mainland enterprises will allow the Group to diversify its
construction business both within and outside the area as well as expand
its footprint into the Greater Bay Area, which represents another major
government-led initiative that is set to bring enormous opportunities
to the construction sector. Mindful of this, the Group will proactively
grow its footprint in this key region through investing in companies that
enhance its leading industry position and working in partnerships that
create the expressways for enhancing market penetration.

Property Development and Assets Leasing

As market adjustments are expected to be the trend in the coming year,
the Group will continue to take a prudent approach towards property
development and assets leasing business and capitalise on opportunities
arising from various development projects. Consistent with its prudent
approach, the Group will duly seek partnerships and joint ventures that
allow it to mitigate risk as well as better utilise its financial resources.

|
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS -
EEEBNWR DN

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)
Professional Services

For the professional services segment, the Group will continue to
strengthen its solid foundation of the security and facility management
business, while looking for the opportunity of infrastructure management
business.

Other Business

With sound financial health, ample experience and solid reputation,
the Group will utilise such strengths to further explore opportunities
and expand its scope of operations. At the same time, the Group will
expedite the development of those businesses which are still at early
stages of growth to broaden its return, in particular, the non-franchised
bus services business in view of encouraging prospects. The Group will
expand the operations of CW Bus, both in terms of bus fleet and routes.

Overview

In the coming year, the Group will seek to advance the construction
business, its key operation, by seizing collaborative opportunities involving
major infrastructure projects, particularly those pertaining to the Greater
Bay Area. Also, the Group will seek opportunities to penetrate in this
area’s education sector since it is set to be greatly benefit from the
expected boom across this region.

The Group will examine opportunities to take part in development
projects in major Asian markets as well, particularly those along the Belt
and Road route, which is another China-led initiative that will benefit the
construction sector.

As always, the Group will take a measured approach towards business
development and business management to move closer towards realising
its vision of becoming an acclaimed contractor and developer in Asia with
dynamic growth.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT ::

RIE - ERERERSE

INTRODUCTION

Our Group is dedicated to maintaining a high standard of CSR. The
business sector is placing an increasing emphasis on CSR performance,
particularly in the aspects of safety and health, sustainable development,
community impact and law and regulatory compliance. We understand
that we do not operate our business in isolation of our society.
Employees, suppliers, clients, the natural environment and the general
community are all our stakeholders influenced by the ways in which our
Group transacts the business.

During the Year, we have continued our efforts to enhance CSR
performance via various initiatives. The four key subject areas this
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report covers are: (1)
Workplace Quality, (Il) Environmental Protection, (lll) Operating Practices
and (IV) Community Involvement.

() WORKPLACE QUALITY
Our People

As at 31 March 2019, our Group had approximately 6,595
employees with the majority stationed in Hong Kong. We recognise
that employees are valuable assets of our Group and embrace the
philosophy of investing in people by providing them with a range
of training programs that can enhance their professional skills
and knowledge. We are also committed to maintaining a safe
and healthy working environment for all employees as well as to
implementing equal opportunity employment practices.

Statistics in relation to employment
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Employment Type

EEER

Gender Distribution of Employees

BEMRI D

2017/18 2018/19

Male % 72.0% 70.6%
SHEASL
Female % 28.0% 29.4%

ZHEBESH

2017/18 2018/19

- Top 0.4% 0.5%

Management
REEEAS
. Middle 6.5% 4.2%
Management
HEEEAS
. Supervisory  15.4%  12.7%
FE
77.7% 82.6%

. Operation
HR1E

Working Conditions

To attract, motivate and retain talents, our Group regularly reviews
our staff compensation and benefit packages to ensure our benefits
are competitive in the market. With reference to prevailing market
conditions, a review is conducted annually on the pay packages
of employees and other employment benefits, which include the
medical scheme, health check program, travel insurance, training

B subsidies and retirement benefits.
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(I) WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)
Training and Development

Training

Continuous learning is one of our core values. The Group's support
in development and training applies to staff of all levels. We have
been offering training sponsorship to all staff members to encourage
self-improvement in a learning organisation since 2005. Employees
are provided with comprehensive in-house training and sponsorship
for external training courses including seminars, workshops,
visits and demonstrations to upgrade their skills and knowledge
for performing their duties more effectively and promoting their
personal development.

Since 1999, our Group’s Chun Wo Construction and Engineering
Company Limited has been certified by the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers as a Scheme A Graduate Training approved organisation
in Civil, Building and Building Services disciplines.

0
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B 19994 - AEME TMEMEET
BERAFEEEIEMBGRERLT
R BEREFEBERMNIRZEEEL
F ol BIRRAT AR

Training programs offered by the Group

"% GLAD Program for accounting trainees

"= Core Program

"%  Elite Program

"% Graduate/Freshman Program for Engineers/Quantity Surveyors

"% Design Engineer Program

"% Technical Apprentice Program

"% Site Agent Development Program

"% Sub Agent Program

"% Construction Industry Council Training Academy Program
(Contractor Cooperative Training Scheme,
Advanced Construction Manpower Training Scheme,
Construction Tradesman Collaborative Training Scheme)

"% Building Information Modeling Internship Program

"8 Mentorship Program

Recognition from Employees Retraining Board
— "ERB Excellence Award for Employers 2018-2019”

"% City Security Company Limited

Recognition form Labour Deparment

- "Good Employer Charter 2018"

"% Chun Wo Construction Holdings Company Limited
"% City Professional Management Limited
"% City Security Company Limited
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () IERBEZRE)
Training and Development (continued) BN ER &)
Development BR

Basketball Team Soccer Team

Friendly matches with our joint venture partners
HEEBHRITRER

v
Demonstrate Team Spirit Promote Harmonious Message Foster Regular Exercise
2REBEH EHMHERR EEEFREDEIE
“Caring Hotline”
[ERHE | @ Request for help E3k {7 B

@\ < @ Enquire information &3 &3,

000
Y, 8@ Express opinions REZ=Z R
Accredited with the “Happy Realising the concept of “Happiness at Work"
Company” label from 2013 B [BLOI/EH] B2
to 2019
H2013F £2019F & 5[ B/ > Building a pleasant working environment
¥ EIUMIRN TERR
> HAPDY Bt
coOmPaARY Increasing staff’s level of happiness at workplace
+ l =] \)
5yea rs RAB T TERFRIREKT
During the Year, our basketball team won 1st runner up of RAEE B ERKESEESE S
Construction Industry Council Basketball Competition 2018 and our @2018FERETTE - MBI IR
soccer team won 1st runner up of Construction Industry Council EREEE AL 20I3FERHRMEDE -
Football League 2018, demonstrating the excellent team spirit and BT B ANBEBBBARRSEZER
bond of understanding among our colleagues. HEEIRREY -

|
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

Employee Health and Safety

0

By integrating internationally-recognised 1SO 9001, ISO 14001,
ISO 45001 and OHSAS 18001 certifications into our quality,
environmental and occupational safety and health management
systems respectively, our Group demonstrates our compliance with

health and safety standards. Our Group’s
“PDCA" system further ensures each individual
and team to contribute their ability to meet
statutory requirements and achieve the ultimate

goal of continuous improvement.

We are aware of the importance of workplace
safety. To guarantee the occupational safety
standards of our construction operations, we
have introduced a safety audit system designed
to monitor the effectiveness of our safety
management system. For 2018, the corporate
average safety audit score was 87.6%,
exceeding the target of 86% (in 2017, the

score was 86.6%).

In 2018, all safety indicators were in line

Continuous

Improvement

HENE

with our objectives, in particular, the accident frequency rate of
construction work within 5 years recorded a decreasing trend,
reflecting our dedication and achievements in construction site

safety.

Accident Frequency Rate

R

AFR (per 100,000 man-hours)
BEHNR(BTEIH)

Protect the Safety and Health of Workers at Construction Sites

RIBEEBBRETIANZZRER

Mini Health Check Stations
UG ER AR S Uk

£

Ensure workers in

optimal state

PR B TR AR AR AR

Heat Shelters and Water
Sprinklers on Rooftops
[ETE hREE R 2R 27k 88

o

Dissipate heat gain

TIEHAMER

THEREBEEZRZ)
EERERZE

A& E IRELTEEE  HRB
B B% 32 A £91SO 9001 * ISO 14001 * ISO
45001 & OHSAS 18001 REREAE E MY -
RIE %ﬂ?ﬁi@%@ o REE

e
=
i
Zm

>
n
[o5)

iy

X
g
HE
ISt
ﬁ

=

=

H\
s
T ST

i i

SR

>n O

R

A\_

CA
SIE=2

it S
TR e 3 )t

-
St
B
g
e
i

" Wi

=
X
Paiy
pum}

W

¥ o
o
i

X
5
e
T
N

EarH
g et
S

H

-~
X
o
B

> S5 N S s
M -
-
iy
N
Y
B
Nt
o> oo my

R
O?}
/cg/

i
Sh

<
=

[y
o
&

87.6

BT
D

RN

/'\\, .

e

~

_FH

Z
AFIAF -

ST AR 2 2 ) BAR R A -

2018 Target =0.21
2018H1%=0.21

Morning Exercise
FRED

THRT

Alert workers of the potential injuries

and ways of prevention
RlE 8 TEE Bk A R IEaN i
|

20181945 M TMmaxzrrerss B 4



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT +*:
RIE - HERERBE

() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)

Health and Safety Policies

Our security and facility management divisions also follow a well-
structured management system and conduct annual audit to
ensure that we meet the international standards. Both our City
Security Company Limited (“City Security”) and City Professional
Management Limited (“City Professional Management”) have
received accreditations in ISO 10002 customer satisfaction
management system, ISO 9001 quality management system, 1SO
14001 environmental management system and OHSAS 18001
occupational health and safety management system awarded by
Accredited Certification International Limited (“ACI"”). On the other
hand, our CW Tunnel have received ISO 9001 quality management
system, ISO 14001 environmental management system and OHSAS
18001 occupational health and safety management system awarded
by ACI.

The safety and health of all our employees and the public are of
paramount importance to our Group. Thus, our senior management
places a strong emphasis on our safety and health performance.
To this end, our Group has set up an effective occupational health
and safety management system conforming to the Factories and
Industrial Undertakings (Safety Management) Regulation and OHSAS
18001: 2007 requirements. Related guidelines are stated in our
Group's safety policy.

Our target is to fulfill all relevant health, safety and environmental
protection regulatory requirements and provide our staff with a
hazard-free workplace. To achieve this, we encourage all employees
to take responsibility and comply with the systems, policies, manuals,
procedures and working rules such as wearing personal protective
equipment and reporting violations of regulatory requirements or
orders.

% Noviolence in the workplace

% No sexual harassment and discrimination

"% An alcohol-free and drug-free workplace

"% A non-smoking workplace

"% Immediate reporting of accidents

& Familiarity with fire prevention and safety working procedures
% Special arrangement for typhoons and rainstorm warnings

= Security of property and safety inspection

BB 42 W asiaAllied Infrastructure Holdings Limited [ Annual Report 2018/19
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)
Safety and Health Awards

In the Year, our various business units garnered more than 60
safety and health awards, proving our effective implementation of
occupational safety and health management system throughout the
various divisions in our Group. In particular, Chun Wo Foundations
Limited have received the industry honours of the “Safety
Management System Award — Construction (Bronze Award)”
affirming our outstanding contribution to industrial safety and
health.

The Group is honoured to receive the following safety and health
awards in the Year:

Innovation Safety Initiative Award 2018

Development Bureau, Construction Industry Council (“CIC")
and Hong Kong Construction Association (“HKCA")

"% Safety Operational Device — Tipper Safety Device (Merit Award)

"% Safety Management System, Training And Promotion — e-Lifting
Permit App (Bronze Award)

"% Safety Operational Device Category — Intelligent Accident
Prevention System (Bronze Award)

The 30th Anniversary of Occupational Safety and Health
Council — OSH Excellence Award and ISSA Global Vision Zero
Campaign

Occupational Safety and Health Council (“OSHC")
"% OSH Excellence Award (for 2 subsidiaries)

HKOSHA Occupational Safety and Health Team Excellence

Award 2018

Hong Kong Occupational Safety and Health Association

"% Occupational Safety and Health Team Excellence Award 2018
(1 Sliver Award and 2 Bronze Awards)
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Hong Kong Green Awards 2018 BB LEARIE2018

Green Council

"% Environmental, Health and Safety Award (Large Corporation)
(1 Platinum Award and 1 Silver Award)
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) ) TEREBEEZ#)
Safety and Health Awards (continued) ZERBERIE(Z)

The 24th Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme
F24E A EMBE T E
Development Bureau and CIC
BRERBRELEXZSE
"8 Non-Public Works — RMAA Works (Gold Award)
FTHEIRE—HE - RE - WERNEIR(£5)
"% Public Works — New Works (1 Silver Award and 2 Merit Awards)
ITHIE—FEIE(—ERERMIBERE)
"% Public Works — RMAA (Bronze Award)
THTRE—#15 (RS - BEERINETR(IF4E)

The 17th Hong Kong Occupational Safety and Health Award
FBIEEERERZREAR

OSHC and Labour Department

BZRRETE

"% Safety Performance Award — Construction
(for 11 subsidiaries)
LERBAKRE—BEEAR
(MEMRERRD)

Construction Industry Safety Award Scheme (2018-2019)
BEERZREEE(2018-2019)

Labour Department

BTk

"% Renovation and Maintenance Works Category (Sliver Award)
KR TREARI(ERE)

"= Civil Engineering Sites Category (Bronze Award)
TARTARRE AR SA R ($75%)

"= Civil Engineering Sites Category-Subcontractor (1 Sliver Award,
1 Bronze Award and 1 Outstanding Performance in
Work-at-height Safety Prize)

TARTIR R E AR — R (—IEREE
—IHIRE-—ERERRELELERIRE)

"% Certificate of Good Performance in the
Civil Engineering Sites Category
TARTIRBEME - RIFRAFSE

"= Certificate of Good Performance in the Safety Teams Category
ZrHh— RIFRRES

"% Best Safe Worker (4 Awards)

KEZ2TR(MIBARE)
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() WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued) () TEREBEEZRZ)
Safety and Health Awards (continued) ZERBERIEE)

The Lighthouse Club Safety Award
HEETE AR

The Lighthouse Club Hong Kong
BEEBHEE
"% Safe Subcontractor Award 2018 —
— Certificate of Appreciation R anthouse
REHFIEHE2018 -
— B
"% Safe Project Team Award 2018
— Certificate of Appreciation
72 TiR1E B B #2018
— S etk
"% Safe Foreman Award 2018
— Runner-up
L2 ETH2018
—5 8
"% Site Safety Practitioner Award 2018
— Commended Award
TiZ2EEXAE 2018
— MR
"= Construction Manager Award 2018
— Commended Award
BRI 2422018
— B

The Lighthouse Club Health and Safety Awards 2019
PEERERZ 2 AE2019

The Lighthouse Club Hong Kong
BEHEE

"% International Design for Safety Awards — Innovation in
Construction Plant to Save Lives (Special Award)

B Z 2R AR - 2SRRI BT (FhIE)

[ |
[ | HE
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(M

()

WORKPLACE QUALITY (continued)
Safety Activities

To ensure the continuous improvement of occupational safety and
health standards, we have developed an evaluation questionnaire to
collect feedback from the participants of all meetings, seminars and
forums.

Our Group encourages employees to participate in occupational
safety and health activities and voluntary services and share expertise
and information not only with colleagues but also fellow workers
in the Hong Kong construction industry. To actively promote
occupational safety throughout our Group, a range of safety
activities, including safety workshops, special safety seminars and
community activities, were organised during the Year.

Through these activities, all participants have increased their
awareness and knowledge of occupational safety as well as
exchanged ideas, helping to promote the safety culture in our
Group.

Compliance with Employment Laws

We have adopted the comprehensive Employee Handbook for
employees of our Group and review the policies from time to time to
ensure that we comply with the Employment Ordinance in respect
of employment protection and benefits for employees. Our human
resource functions of different business units also observe the
departmental manual to adhere to legal and regulatory requirements
throughout the recruitment process and avoid the employment of
illegal labour.

ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION

As a responsible corporate citizen, our Group has established policies
and measures to minimise pollution, efficiently utilise energy, reduce
waste and expand recycling in our operation. Risk-based thinking,
lifecycle perspective and mitigation have been incorporated into our
management system to address the latest environmental challenges.
Our Group has established effective environmental management
systems in compliance with internationally-recognised ISO 14001
and ISO 50001 standards. Adhering to the core values of the Group,
we are members of various environmental groups and actively
support these organisations.
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BIR - 4 ERERERE

(1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) ) RFERE2)
Waste and Resources Management BYRERERE
Waste Management Hierarchy has been adopted on-site to reduce ARLEABERREMBERBE M
waste production and enhance recycling. IR EHRED D RFIE -

Waste Management Hierarchy EE¥ 5 &% #I &

Top Priority Avoidance and Minimisation
REL e REERD

Reuse of Materials

=R

Recovery and Recycling
B K% B 2R A 4

Treatment

Bz3%

Last Priority Di7s:|rJosa|
REEST 25

Example %

Metal and Concrete and

e ks Other Construction Sites

. - o HMZETH
Reused @%&/hbﬁi&ﬁunﬂ%l*i >
A Construction and Demolition P e
Waste ks
TR RIFEREY) o
Plastic Wastes of Damaged Water Barriers Traffic Cones
Expired Safety Helmets BEREKERE TR
Recycled BEIR & 2 SRR BB REY)

BRBE

Reduce Waste Production and Enhance Recycling
WO EEBER B NEREE

[ |
[ | HE
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(I1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) ) REREE)
Waste and Resources Management (continued) BEYRERERE#Z)

"“ Recycled and Reused Over 90% of construction Waste
/ ; AN ©
m FEERRERER Z A0 % wTemn

548,971.40.......

[ 4/ [ 4
Hﬁﬁ € I

43,893.32 ... [349.96-..- 043...:

10.80......:

Infrequent hazardous waste from demolition of old structures or RERHEREXARENTELBEE
equipment (e.g. asbestos), which accounted for less than 0.003% BER (AR IEFMEEBERASETE
of the total waste generated has been separated and treated in 0.003% * IR PRAN b H5 1711 P Bt S SR 1 o

accordance with local regulations.

|
HE |
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(I1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued)
Waste and Resources Management (continued)

Disposed Less Than 10% waste

Ol 2= R 10%en
o ©

Managing Resources and Energy Use in an Eco-friendly
Manner

"% Implementing Eco-Friendly Actions in our offices and project
sites to promote environmental awareness

"% Using B5 bio-diesel at project sites with the aim of reducing
carbon emissions

"8 Managing fuel and electricity usage through deployment of
high efficiency equipment

"% Phasing out traditional T8 tubes and replacing with energy-
saving T5 fluorescent tubes and LED lighting

"% Using of solar thermal energy for power (electricity) generation
to reduce diesel use

= Reusing wastewater after sedimentation treatment for site
cleaning, water suppression systems, wheel washing at site
access, water barrier filling, etc.

Reusing recycled water for preliminary air lifting of bore piles

"% Reusing water dripping from air-conditioners for roof sprinkler
cooling systems and watering of plants of site office

"% Using noise barrier and enclosure to protect sensitive receivers

()

RIERE®)

BYRERER &)

Pressure on Landfill
Disposal Decrease

HEEREYNE S

UBRRRENANEREERKRERER

ERANERIER iﬂlﬁﬁﬁ)ﬁﬁa{%
B LIRAREE
Eﬁamﬁﬁm%im l - B
BB EERR
BBTESSREERERDREN
ez
FEAERERITSINE - LAETAER
T5EE B E R LEDFRRAELA
BRAMBREE - LU ShER

EREEAOTIRERIE - fBIRA AN A
B BKIERS RIHHA
DB E R RE A E KRS
KB IRB AR SRS
WERREEK - BIRBAREIR
KPR R R M T A= EYE
hivs

MRS RERREBRES R
EYBOES

Maximise the Benefits of Environmental Protection, Energy Efficiency
and Carbon Footprint Reduction

BRERGRE - ERMEREDBREEDNRASEE
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() ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued)
Environmental Measures
Substainable designs and construction methods have been initiated

in our project sites with developed mitigation measures to protect
our environment, reduce waste generation and enhance recycling.

) REBEFREE)
RIRIEHE
BT R IE B Hh 48 SRR AT R R

EIR (AR R OB B A (R IR
%R BEMELMIEMEREBE -

Eco-Firendly Actions — At Construction Site

RERFTEH — NI

Green Construction Method

BREEEER

Use of trenchless method on
pipe installation works across
environmental and ecological
sensitive areas
EREREEGRRETRERE
BT R R Rl

Environmental Benefits

RARMES

Avoidance of open cutting of long
trench for lying mains

BEFRZRREREEBORE

Minimising disturbance on heavy
trafficked Man Kam To Road
BMAOZREC X ERERNTE

Protection of ecological sensitive
Ng Tung River and Man Kam To
Egretry

R A REGURAIRE HRAT K2 X8R K

Minimising disturbance on
environmental sensitive areas
from noise and exhausted gas
emissions
WA RE N BE RS RIF SR
BHRE

Minimising Environmental Risks

AR L

50 M Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited [ Annual Report 2018/19

Building Information Modelling

BRESSER

Avoidance of clashing of tunnel
boring machine with the bridge
piling

&R B ERERE

Reducing abortive works

A ERER Ti2

Reusing over 75,000 tonnes of
construction and demolition waste
by Building Information Modelling
of soil quantity surveying and
progress monitoring
REATEAEEBREET ZEE
= BAEHIEIR A A A 75,0000
SEEERY
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R HgRERERS

(I1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) (1)
Environmental Measures (continued)

Eco-Firendly Actions — At Offices and Construction Sites

REBRRITH —RPRIERTH

Carbon Emission
Monitoring System

—ELREERS

== Paperless meetings
BRESH

== Switching off lighting and
appliances (computers and

monitors) during lunch hours

R RREERARKE(E

R 5R)

== Maintaining indoor temperature
between 24°C and 26°C in

summer

REFHFENREN F24EE

26/

Eco-renovation

REREE

Applying energy-saving lighting
{5 A Ef BE IR EA

Utilising natural light in interior
design

EEAR EEABRNLR
Reusing old furniture

EREREA

RIBRE )
RREREE)

On-Grid Solar System
HRBKZRERS

Operating in parallel with the
electricity grid of the site for
supplementing the foil-based
generation and protecting
environment

H T mEBKESER - A
AR ATBE RN FHEIA MRER
b

Enhance Staff’s Environmental Awareness of Reducing Energy Consumption

and Carbon Emissions

REETIRERFNEE - B EEFEFE R BB
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(I1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continueq)
Environmental Performance

Our Group has established a comprehensive group-wide carbon
audit system to monitor emission data of the different business units
under our Group. During the Year, we have collaborated with SHELL
to launch the Carbon Emission Offsetting Programme, to neutralise
carbon released from our civil engineering construction site, whereas
monitored by Verified Carbon Units (VCUs).

The Key Performance Indicators (“KPI(s)”) demonstrating our
Group's performance under the environmental area are disclosed as

()

B RE
REX

AEBEERIEZHREREEBORE
ARG BEAAKETRESEMOB
MEE - RAFE - BFEE\RAFH#
HORE B BT 8 R AR TIRE
S4B VB BERR - 30 DARR S PR RR BE ORI Bk
BERR ©

R = 1€))
R

RERAEBRIRIE T HAE R BASAE R
ER(BRRERER DRENT

2018/19

23,441 28,052

follows:

KPI Description
BRERESR W
Aspect A1 Emissions
A1 713587
A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data

HER e AR R B I BUR

Disclosure of emissions is omitted as the Group’s operations do not result in significant air emissions

from vehicles.

HRAEEZ BEETSBBUREEEREER TR - B ASEEREERY 2 K -
A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity

AERBEFNELRTE
Scope 1 Scope 2 Total (tonnes CO,e)
EN gE2 B (M_EHER)
Direct Emissions (tonnes CO,e) Energy Indirect Emissions 2017/18
BERME-S(LiRES (tonnes CO,e)

18,980 REIRFEEEBEM 9,072
o ( %’ﬂ:ﬁ;i o
17,011 ,430

vvvvvvvvvvvvvvvv

777774

’fllllr\

2017/18 2018/19
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jlvﬁ}.léll(

2017/18

Intensity (tonnes CO,e per
HK$ million revenue)
EE(M_StnEE
EREE W)

201718 2018/19

2.85 3.47

glln E

2018/19
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(I1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) ) RBRE#)
Environmental Performance (continued) RRENE)
KPI Description
BRENIEE HE
Aspect A1 Emissions (continued)
[ETEA1 B (&)

A1.3& A1.4  Total hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste produced and intensity
FIEABERBEEEEMRERTE

Hazardous Waste (tonnes) Non-hazardous Waste (tonnes)

BEEEY (W) EEREEY) ()

2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19

31.96 16.68 565,110 621,722

Intensity (tonnes per HK$ million revenue) Intensity (tonnes per HK$ million revenue)
BEN, SEEBTRE) RE(W SHEEBTRE)

2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19

0.01 0.01 68.65 76.98

A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved

R RE PP E B FE i S P SRR

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION" above.
2R b [IRIBRE] —fh o

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and
results achieved

HEEAEMEEERMNIE  BEELENEREAERR

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION" above.
2R b [IRIBRE] —fh o
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(1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) ) RERE#)
Environmental Performance (continued) RRENE)

KPI Description

BREENEE Mt

Aspect A2 Use of Resources

EEA2 BIRER

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity
RENEISHNERER SEEEREEERTE
Electricity (kWh) Intensity (kWh per HK$ million revenue)
AEE(TRE) EE(TRE SHBBITRE)
2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19

10,975,254 15,789,757 1,333.40 1,995.15

Diesel (Litre) Intensity (Litre per HK$ million revenue)
Le5d (FH) RE(H SEEBTWE)
2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19

5,912,230 6,627,946 718.29 820.70

Petroleum (Litre) Intensity (Litre per HK$ million revenue)
A (H) RE(H SE8EBTWE)
2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19

540,448 531,398 65.66 65.80

©C Em

A2. Water consumption in total and intensity

BFEKERFEE
Water consumption (m3) Intensity (m3 per HK$ million revenue)
FEKRE(ZIGXK) BE(ZFR/SEEBTNEG)
2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19
441,847 511,817 53.68 63.38

|

HE |
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(I1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) ) BEREZ)
Environmental Performance (continued) RRENE)
KPI Description

BREMER #id

Aspect A2
A2

A2.3

A2.4

A2.5

Use of Resources (continued)

BIRER (&)

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved
it gE IR (5 P A s 5T 81 SR TS A SR

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION" above.
BoR b [IRERE] —# e

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
initiatives and results achieved
FSREGE AR ERI A EAERE - A RIRF Kt 8 R ATS R

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION" above.
2R b RIBRE] —fh o

Total packaging material used for finished products and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced

S mAMAEEMHNEER (NER) BEEEMIEE

Disclosure of packing material is omitted since it is not identified as material aspect in the business of
the Group.
HRNBEMBREERBNAEE EEZXHHE - BULEReEMEZ HKE -

Aspect A3
A3

A3.1

The Environment and Natural Resources
RIERRAEIR

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them

R RFABEHIRIBERRABERNEATELERNEERAT ENTE

Please refer to the section headed “ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION" above.
2R b RIBRE] —f -
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(1) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) n RmERE L)
Environmental Awards IRREE1E

Our Group's efforts in contributing to environmental protection AREBEBEREBRRIANSHESHE
have been recognised by the community with the following BiE
environmental awards received during the Year:

» WRAF EREATRREA :

2017 and 2018 Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence

2017 2018F BB IR M A48

Environmental Campaign Committee

RREGZSE

"% Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence
— Construction Industry
(1 Bronze Award and 2 Certificates of Merit)
BRRIBEMARE — il %
(—IEAR R RIAERSE)

&= Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence
— Outstanding Green Leadership Award
BBIRIRE WA IR
— e EERE

The 24th Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme

F20EAEHBETE

Development Bureau and CIC

RREREEXEZE

==  Qutstanding Environmental Management &
Performance Awards (1 Gold Award, 1 Silver Award
and 1 Merit Award)
HERBEBERRRV(—HSE - —HRRR 1B
BER)

CIC Sustainable Construction Award

BEEZENWISEEEAR

CIC

BEEEE

"8 CIC Sustainable Construction Award
— Contractor in New Works (Gold Award)
BIEFERNFEREANE
—FETRRERER(2E)

"8 CIC Sustainable Construction Award
— Young Practitioner (Excellence Award)
BIEERQNFEEEAE
—EFEFEAB(FHR)

HE |
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(If) ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION (continued) (i) BIEFRE )
Environmental Awards (continued) RRIEIH(£)

Hong Kong Green Awards 2018
BEREHHEKNE2018

Green Council

RIRICES

"% Green Management Award — Project Management
(Large Corporation) (Gold Award)
BURFRERER-HEER(REPE)(£])

"8 Green Management Award — Corporate (Large Corporation)
(3 Gold Awards, 1 Silver Award and 4 Bronze Awards)
BHIRRERZ —BE(RIBE)

(ZES %« —HRLRINIANE)
"8 Sustained Performance 3 Years + (for 2 subsidiaries)

BERE S GF A L) CRMBAR)

Green Office and Eco-Healthy Workplace Awards Labelling RERAERRBEIEEEEE

Scheme - Spring 2018 —2018FFFZFE

World Green Organisation SRR E A

"% Green Office and Eco-Healthy Workplace Awards Labelling " BeRAERBEEIERZRE
Scheme (5 Certificates) (AEESE)

2018 Hong Kong Construction Environmental Awards EBEFERRAR2018

HKCA BEBEERE

" Environmental Merit Award " RREER
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(1l1) OPERATING PRACTICES

Supply Chain Management

We recognise that supply chain management is essential to
operational efficiency and therefore work closely with suppliers and
contractors to effectively and efficiently meet our clients’ needs,
while emphasising responsible operating practices.

Our Group is stringent in selecting qualified suppliers, ensuring
that their entire production process is in line with our standards
and specifications. Not only do we require our new suppliers to
submit all relevant documents for review, we also run background
checks to evaluate their reliability. We conduct regular inspections
and evaluations to review the standards of our suppliers and cease
cooperation with unqualified suppliers. We are committed to
developing and maintaining effective and mutually fruitful working
relationships throughout our entire supply chain.

Product/Service Responsibility

We recognise that good quality products and services are keys
to success and enhance our competitive edge. Adhering to this
belief, our Group has established the Quality Management System
embedded with risk-based thinking, life-cycle perspective and
mitigations. Such system is implemented by reliable business teams,
ensuring the quality of our products and services as well as efficient
handling of all queries from our clients.

The heads of individual business units discuss any particular
incident related to our products and services with the relevant
division managers, project managers, supporting departments and
committees sharing their views regarding various aspects of good
standards and statutory compliance. Corresponding improvements
are planned and implemented across all levels. Senior management
also regularly conducts reviews with business units and takes
necessary precautionary measures whenever applicable.

We maintain reliable electronic and hard copy recording systems at
various stages, including material delivery notes, origin certificates,
method statements, traceability records, inspection and testing
reports, etc., to facilitate any needs for a
recall. Recall procedures are traced through
our recording system to obtain relevant
information to make decisions on any further
action that may be necessary.

M B 58 M AsiaAllied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Il Annual Report 2018/19
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BRI HERERRSE

(1l1) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued) () &EEH| (=)

Product/Service Responsibility (continued)

Our Group implements stringent quality control measures comprising
detailed operational flows and procedures, project management and
staff training to ensure that we deliver high quality services to our
clients. In recognition of our quality assurance, our various business
divisions have been accredited with ISO 9001 quality management
system standard and upgraded to I1SO 9001:2015 edition to sustain
our business position and ISO 10002 customer management system
standard. Through the I1SO 9001 upgrade, the internal and external
factors are determined to support our Group strategic direction.

Applicable laws and regulations governing property development
and assets leasing are being complied with, and practices are
in conformity with those promulgated by Lands Department,
Buildings Department and Planning Department. In property
development projects, from design to after sales care, health and
safety considerations are taken into account and that our Group is
committed to the delivery of high-quality products and services to
the satisfaction of customers.

To address regulatory requirements in the context of property
sales, in addition to internal staff members, external legal advisors
and professional consultancy firms are appointed to advise on
the compliance of relevant laws and regulations, particularly the
Residential Properties (First-hand Sales) Ordinance which regulates
the provisions of sales brochures, promotional advertisements,
price lists, show flats, viewing of properties, sales arrangements,
execution of agreements, register of transactions and the like, as
well as observance and performance of the conditions set out in the
Land Grant and/or the pre-sale consent under the Lands Department
Consent Scheme.

Our security and facility management divisions also adopt control
measures in respect of compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations, especially the license requirements under the Security
and Guarding Services Ordinance and responsibilities of a property
manager under the Building Management Ordinance.

Em/ REBEEE)

NEEEREREIS K MBS b (B IEF
EmEERERIERF BEEENET
B3 - LMIEREMAZERPR N EmEr
R7% - EBURMEEREFNRY 2
EZERE DB EFISO 00 EEEREX
DD M FHARZEISO 9001 : 201 5HR AN -
LAMESS TR PR TS » }2ISO 100025
FERGITERE - EIRISO 9001897
Hg  NEBRINTIERTEBZFAEE
ZERE IR o

AEEEBETERMEERIEEMEN
ERERRER - HEDITT A AR
F -EFERBREZRMGZAG -ED
XERER  REMKLEERFEEE
BRIRGERO/EREERNR - A5H
MENRRBEEERLRE - € EFP W

= °

HEAMMEHENEERT  BRAED
BTN BAIRBINEDERER R EE
BR QB ARLE T B BAD FORR IR
BER - BRR-FEEWEHEEN (X
FOIREEEHAE ZEES B
B RBEMN - 2BYE  BEERH
BIUGH  RRLBEMERE) - URE
SF R BT HEME SO e B AR B TR E B AT
RENE T REREEMEGEMT -

BANRE RREEED I ETH
AR LARRIERER - LERR
2 N ER RIS RO T e IR Z Sk R %
BIEANEEYERGHITOEE -
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BRI HERERRE

(i) OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)
Data Protection and Privacy Policies

All employees are prohibited from disclosing any confidential
information such as customer data under our privacy protection
policy. Consumer data including project-
related information and other sensitive
information are subject to access right control
to ensure its security and prevent any abuse
or misuse. Our Group observes Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance and reviews our human
resource and business practices from time to
time to ensure its compliance.

Anti-corruption

Our Group believes that honesty, integrity and fair play are
important contributors to the value of our assets and business. It
is therefore essential for all employees to ensure that our Group's
reputation will not be tarnished by dishonesty, disloyalty or
corruption. Various policies and guidelines are in place to avoid any
breach of the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance.

Employees should decline an offer of gift if acceptance of it could
affect their objectivity in conducting our Group’s business, induce
them to act against the interests of our Group or lead to allegations
of impropriety. If an employee wishes to accept a gift with the
amount greater than the limit as stated in our Employee Handbook,
such employee should seek written permission
from the managing director of the particular
subsidiary or our Group. Any employee in
breach of the code of conduct in the Employee
Handbook will be subject to disciplinary action
including termination of employment.

Periodic written reminders are sent to our business partners and
suppliers about our Group’s policy regarding “No Acceptance of
Advantages”.

Conflict of Interests

All employees should avoid any situation which C E: !
may lead to an actual or potential conflict of N

interests and should make a declaration in
writing to the head of the subsidiary or our ‘

Group when such a situation arises. Failure to
do so may give rise to allegations of favoritism,
abuse of authority or even corruption.

|
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

The Group believes that contributing to society is a must for a
successful and responsible enterprise. Towards that end, the Group
has actively encouraged its employees to participate actively in
different charity works in the Year, aiming to build closer ties
between itself and the community.

“Chun Wo x WFO: Social Integration of Able-
bodied and Disabled Persons Programme”, NGO
Partnership Programme 2018/19

To foster integration between the disabled and able-bodied, the
Group’s construction brand, Chun Wo, has partnered with Wheel
For Oneness (“WFQ"), to promote an inclusive society via different
activities.

A series of activities under the Social Integration of Able-bodied and
Disabled Persons Programme have been organised during the Year
to enhance staffs’ understanding of the disabled and raise their
awareness of caring for disadvantaged people.

Oneness in the Office Workshop — In the workshop,

participants were assigned different tasks to experience the
daily life of the visually or hearing impaired and thereby
gaining empathy with them.
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BRI HEREARRE

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

“Chun Wo x WFO: Social Integration of Able-
bodied and Disabled Persons Programme”, NGO
Partnership Programme 2018/19 (continued)

The “Guide Run Workshop” — With the guidance of a
ﬂé% professional coach on how to care for the visually impaired
athletes, volunteers have learnt the practical skills to be a
guide runner, thereby gaining a better insight on disabilities
via the experience.

(V) t B2 8 (7)
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“Smoke-free Run” Competition — After two sessions of
%E guide-runner training, our colleagues have participated in the
“Smoke-free Run” organised by the Hong Kong Council on
Smoking and Health. Our team finished the 10km race with
WEFQ's target service group, and won the 1st runner-up in the
Men'’s Race. The volunteers have truly put theory into practice
and promoted social integration through this worthwhile
charity run.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

“Photalkgraphers” Charitable Photo Exhibition and
“Lifewire Run 2018"

Lifewire Foundation Limited (“Lifewire”) is the first online
crowdfunding platform. It aims at helping children afflicted
with rare diseases in Hong Kong.

Lifewire and Chun Wo co-organised the “Photalkgraphers”
Charitable Photo Exhibition, which featured the works of
9 photographers with the theme of “Hong Kong” in August
2018. 9 selected photos were auctioned to raise funds for
children in need. Eventually the exhibition raised over HK$2.4
million, and all net proceeds have been donated to Lifewire.
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Chun Wo held in December 2018 attracted more than
1,500 athletes with over 41 organisations participating in
and sponsoring the event. The activity raised approximately
HK$1.7 million in total. Net proceeds have been donated to
Lifewire for addressing child patient cases as well.

é% The “Lifewire Run 2018"” co-organised by Lifewire and
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

Harmony Community Programme and CSR Award
Scheme

To support and encourage the staff participating in volunteer
services, the Group has launched an award scheme to recognise
colleagues who are committed to completing specified service hours
through participation in the “Harmony Community Programme”. A
total of 445 colleagues have joined the scheme in the Year and 3,279
volunteer service hours were recorded.

The Group also wishes to contribute the community through our
profession. Thus we have co-operated with the Ma On Shan District
Elderly Community Centre during summer for our Environmental
Officers to provide tips to the elderly to prevent mosquito bites as
the Dengue Fever outbreak worsened in the community last year.

Moreover, the Group understands the processes of construction
may cause interference and bring inconvenience to the community.
Hence, we try our best to gain an understanding from the
community and organise activities to build closer bonds with them.
For instance, our colleagues celebrated the Dragon Boat Festival
with the elderly living in Kwong Yuen Estate, Sha Tin by giving out
rice dumplings and gift bags. The activity aimed to contribute to the
society positively.

The Harmony Community Programme is now in its fifth year.
Our staff supported 47 volunteer activities organised at different
project sites during last year. Through an active participation in
such programme, the Group has demonstrated its determination to
contribute the community.

More than 60 colleagues participated in The Community

ﬂ%@ Chest’s annual event, Walks for Millions, held at the Central-

Wan Chai Bypass, in which Chun Wo has been involved in
the construction project and CW Tunnel is responsible for
operation and management. The event aimed to raise funds
for social welfare agencies promoting “Family and Child
Welfare Services”.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

Scholarships for Tertiary Students

To drive sustained growth of the construction industry, we
continuously provide scholarships to tertiary students studying
engineering and quantity surveying to help nurturing professionals
for the industry.

Scholarships have been awarded to students from institutions
including The University of Hong Kong, The Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University,
Vocational Training Council and CIC.

We have made donations amounting to HK$100,000 to
é% support the students in “Project Mingde”, a volunteer
construction and education activity organised by the
Department of Civil Engineering, The University of Hong
Kong, aiming to build the campus and related facilities, as
well as provide schooling for the underprivileged children in
remote and less prosperous regions in China, for the third
consecutive year.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)

“Life Planning Talk for Secondary School Students”
and “Future Stars Programme”

The Group has been invited to provide a guest speaker for the “Life
Planning Talk for Secondary School Students” organised by Hong
Kong Professionals And Senior Executives Association on three
occasions this Year. Mr. Ho Wai Fu, Raymond, director of Chun
Wo, has shared the information of Chun Wo's large-scale projects
and valuable insights of the engineering profession at each of these
talks. The talk has encouraged students to take an active role in the
future and consider planning rationally.

Future Stars Programme

é The Group has joined the ” "
% organised by the Commission on Poverty, which provides

scholarships to enhance the opportunities and capabilities of
young people from less privileged backgrounds.
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Donations to Charities

The Group has supported reputable charities through donations.
Financial support of about HK$1,700,000 was extended to the CIC,
World Green Organisation, H.K.U. Engineering Alumni Association
Education Foundation Limited, Hong Kong Breast Cancer Foundation
Limited, and other organisations.
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(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued)
CSR Awards and Recognition

“Caring Company”

Chun Wo is proud to have been awarded the

10 Years Plus Caring Company Logo from The

Hong Kong Council of Social Service for the

yea'r 2018/19. We have been a recipient of tlhe Carir_mgoompany
Caring Company Logo for fourteen consecutive R T
years. The Group's subsidiaries City Security and

City Professional Management have also been awarded the “Caring
Company 10+"” logo for their dedication in building a caring
community.

"Hong Kong Outstanding Corporate Citizenship Award”

Chun Wo has garnered “The 9th Hong

Kong Outstanding Corporate Citizenship

Awarded” from the Hong Kong Productivity H<( A
Council, which recognises its achievement in &y st
promoting sustainable development in society T R e
and playing the role of good corporate citizen.

“Family-Friendly Employers Award”

Chun Wo has been honored with the “Family-
Friendly Employers Award” for providing
breastfeeding support for its female employees.
This shows how we care about the physical and
mental health of our employees. Moreover,
we extended paid maternity leave to 14 weeks
for female employees and paternity leave to 7
days for male employees so as to support the
expectant parents and maintain a high standard
in meeting CSR.
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in recognition of the Group's efforts in hiring
graduates from local technical institutes and

Partner Employer Award B i B

(IV) COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT (continued) (V) tESE &)
CSR Awards and Recognition (continued) TEHSEERERENE)
“Partner Employer Award” [REEREFTE]
Chun Wo has been honoured with the “Partner ERMEFEBSR DA CEEE G MAE
Employer Award” for the year 2018/19 from 2018 /MOFEI KA R 1815 - %818
The Hong Kong General Chamber of Small and iﬁﬁ& REAREERIE R AR EE R KE
Medium Business. The award has been presented = BEXLAFTHEAENSH REXEEES

Fllke R EHLR  ABMfNEER
EXERE -

universities, offering training opportunities and
practical experience that facilitate their long-term
career planning.

“Industry Cares” Logo [ TERE O IEFE
EAMESNEITEREL IRGAED
BEIBEOCHEEE] RGERETEHEE
FREBEETEEMLGEE -

Chun Wo has garnered the “Caring Certificate”
in the sixth annual “Industry Cares” recognition
scheme, which acknowledges its effort in actively
fulfilling CSR in the past year.

THE FUTURE

Our Group recognises the importance of CSR and, going forward, will
strive to improve its performance in this area. In conducting our business,
we will continue to take into account the interest of all of our various B - RIPSEBUTISEXBERZERER
stakeholders and actively engage them through a sustainable business ) E®IFIE - WK FMHENEIRZE o 1
model. Furthermore, we will regularly review our Corporate Social 4} - REBEFEBRR LT ST EHE  #
Responsibility Policy to ensure that our CSR initiatives and performance  {R1>ZE4 & & (L5 i M R I BE S07E T &L Ay
address the needs of society in the changing environment. RIRPDEHERE -
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT :

EEREEEEARER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (“Mr. Pang”) BA, MBA, JD
Chairman

Mr. Pang, aged 46, graduated from Columbia University, New York
in 1995 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics, Political Science
and Mathematics, and obtained a Juris Doctorate from the New York
University School of Law in 1998 and an Executive Master of Business
Administration degree from Kellogg-HKUST in 2010. Mr. Pang currently is
a member of council of the City University of Hong Kong, and has served
as a standing committee member of Hebei Province of The Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference since January 2018 and has
been appointed as a vice president of Belt & Road General Chamber of
Commerce in April 2018.

Mr. Pang joined the Group in 2003 and was appointed as the assistant
to the late Chairman, Dr. Pang Kam Chun. Mr. Pang was appointed
as the Chairman and Executive Director of the Company in April 2010
and re-designated as the Co-Chairman and Non-executive Director
of the Company in January 2015. He has been further re-designated
as the Chairman and Executive Director of the Company since March
2017. Mr. Pang is also the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and
Executive Committee of the Board and a member of the Management
Committee of the Board. He is also currently the Chairman of the
property development executive board of the Group, responsible for the
management of the overall property development and assets leasing
business of the Group. He also holds directorships in certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Pang is the brother of Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick,
Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
and the son of Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina (“Madam Li"), Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Pang is a director of GT Winners Limited
("GT Winners"), the controlling shareholder of the Company (as defined
in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”)). Mr. Pang and Madam Li each owns 45% equity interest
in GT Winners.

Mr. Xu Jianhua (“Mr. Xu”) LLB, MBA, LLM
Deputy Chairman

Mr. Xu, aged 50, holds a Bachelor’s degree in Law of the China University
of Political Science and Law, a Master’s degree in Business Administration
of Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics and a Master of
Laws degree in International Economic Law of City University of Hong
Kong. He was qualified as a lawyer in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") in 1994 and a senior economist in the PRC in 2003. Mr. Xu
has over 20 years of corporate management experience and extensive
experience in transactions of mergers and acquisitions and investment
and financing. He was a director of a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange and two companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Xu was appointed as the Co-Chairman and Executive
Director of the Company in January 2015. He has been re-designated
from the Co-Chairman to the Deputy Chairman in March 2017 and
is currently a member of the Management Committee and Executive
Committee of the Board. Mr. Xu also holds directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT -

EEREEEEARER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (“Ir Dr. Pang”) JP
BSc, MEng, MBA, PhD, PE(US), MICE, MHKIE
Chief Executive Officer

Ir Dr. Pang, aged 44, graduated from the University of California,
Berkeley in the United States in 1997 with a Bachelor of Science degree
and obtained a Master of Engineering degree in Civil and Environmental
Engineering from Massachusetts Institute of Technology in the United
States in 1998 and a Master’s degree in Business Administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2007. He also obtained a Doctor of
Philosophy in Civil Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in 2014. Ir Dr. Pang is a member of the Institution of
Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institution
of Engineers and a Registered Professional Engineer in the State of
California, United States. He has over 19 years of geotechnical design
and construction experience in the United States and Hong Kong. He has
been appointed as a non-official member of the Land and Development
Advisory Committee since July 2015 and has served as a non-official
member of the Construction Industry Council since February 2017.
Ir Dr. Pang was appointed Justice of the Peace by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in June 2017. He was also a
non-official member of the Task Force and Land Supply from September
2017 to February 2019.

Ir Dr. Pang joined the Group in 2001 and holds directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He has been appointed as Executive Director
of the Company since April 2010 and acted as the Deputy Chairman
of the Company from April 2010 to March 2017. Ir Dr. Pang has been
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since April
2017 and acted as the Chief Operating Officer of the Company from
April 2017 to January 2019. He is also the Chairman of the Management
Committee and a member of the Executive Committee of the Board.
He is also currently the member of the property development executive
board of the Group, responsible for the management of the overall
property development and assets leasing business of the Group. Ir Dr.
Pang is the brother of Mr. Pang, the Chairman and Executive Director of
the Company, and also the son of Madam Li, Executive Director of the
Company, both of whom are controlling shareholders of the Company (as
defined in the Listing Rules).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT -
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant (former name: Shea Chi Lap,
Quadrant) (“Mr. Shea”) BBus., MEcon., LLM, FCPA(Aust.), CPA, CTA,
ACMA, ISCA, ATIHK, CGMA

Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Mr. Shea, aged 52, graduated from Monash University of Australia with
a Bachelor’s degree in Business and later completed a postgraduate
programme of Public Finance (Taxation) and obtained a Master’'s degree
in Economics from Jinan University, China and a Master of Laws degree
from Renmin University of China. He is a fellow member of CPA Australia,
a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, The Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants of the United Kingdom and Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants and a Chartered Global Management Accountant. He is
also a Certified Tax Adviser of Hong Kong and a China Tax Committee
member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and obtained a
Certificate of Pass in Practice Training Examination for Hong Kong
Certified Tax Advisers Serving in Shenzhen-Hong Kong Modern Service
Industry Cooperation Zone, Qianhai, Shenzhen jointly issued by Shenzhen
Municipal Office of the State Administration of Taxation and Shenzhen
Local Taxation Bureau.

Mr. Shea has substantial experience in accounting and finance in listed
companies and worked as qualified accountant and company secretary in
various companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange over
the years. He was the group financial controller of S.A.S. Dragon Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 01184) from 1999 to 2005. He has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises Water Group
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 00371) since 2002 and is also the chairman of the audit committee
of the company. He has also been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Hi-Level Technology Holdings Limited (a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 08113) since 2015
and is the chairman of the audit committee, nomination committee and
remuneration committee of the company. Mr. Shea joined the Group
as Financial Controller of property development in 2008 and has been
appointed as the Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the
Company since 2015. He has been appointed as Executive Director of
the Company since July 2017 and is also currently a member of the
Management Committee and Executive Committee of the Board. He is
also currently the member of the property development executive board
of the Group, responsible for the management of the overall property
development business and assets leasing of the Group. Mr. Shea also
holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT -

EEREEEEARESR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina (“Madam Li")

Madam Li, aged 68, joined the Group in 1975 and has over 44 years’
experience in the construction industry. Madam Li previously acted as an
Executive Director of the Company from July 1992 to February 2015 and
had continued to be a member of the senior management of the Group
thereafter. She has re-joined the Board as an Executive Director of the
Company since November 2017. She also holds directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Madam Li is the mother of Mr. Pang, the
Chairman of the Board and Executive Director of the Company, and
Ir Dr. Pang, Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. She is a director of GT Winners, the controlling shareholder of
the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules). Madam Li and Mr. Pang
each owns 45% equity interest in GT Winners.

Madam Han Li (“Madam Han")

Madam Han, aged 49, holds a Bachelor’'s degree of Engineering of
Xiangtan University and a Master’s degree in Economics of Jinan University.
She is currently the deputy general manager of SFund International
Investment Fund Management Limited. Madam Han has over 16 years’
extensive experience in management and securities investment in banking
and finance industry. Madam Han has been appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in April 2018.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT -

EEREEEEARESR

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung (“Mr. Wu")

Mr. Wu, aged 52, holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree and
a Master of Business Administration degree of Simon Fraser University in
Canada. He was qualified as a chartered financial analyst of The Institute
of Chartered Financial Analysts in 1996. Mr. Wu was the chief executive
officer of SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (now known as Sunwah
Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited) (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00188) from April 2006 to September
2010. He was also a director and chief executive officer of RHB Hong
Kong Limited from April 2011 to October 2017. Mr. Wu was also the
executive director and chief executive officer of Power Financial Group
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 00397) from November 2017 to January 2019. Mr. Wu has
been appointed as managing director, Investment Banking of Glory Sun
Securities Limited since January 2019.

Mr. Wu previously worked for a number of international investment
banks and possesses over 26 years of experience in the investment
banking, capital markets, institutional broking and direct investment
businesses. He is a registered license holder to carry out Type 6 (advising
on corporate finance) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). He has been appointed as a member of the Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference since January 2013.

Mr. Wu has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company since February 2015 and is also the Chairman of
Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Board.

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt (“Mr. Lam")

Mr. Lam, aged 50, is the General Manager of Wanda Hotel Development
Company Limited (stock code: 00169), which is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and a member of the Dalian Wanda Group. He
was an executive director of Yuexiu Property Company Limited (stock
code: 00123), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
and also the chief financial officer of the Yue Xiu Group. Mr. Lam was
previously the head of Corporate Finance and Business Development
at GOME Electrical Appliances Holding Limited (now known as GOME
Retail Holdings Limited) (stock code: 00493) (“GOME"), one of China’s
largest electronics retailers, which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prior to joining GOME, he spent about 10 years working in
investment banking and capital markets at Schroders Asia, ABN AMRO
Rothschild, and Deutsche Bank. He is a Chartered Financial Analyst
(CFA) and holds a Master of Business Administration (MBA) degree from
Rice University in the United States. Mr. Lam has been appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since January 2017
and is also the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Board.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT -

EEREEEEARER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang (“Mr. Ho")

Mr. Ho, aged 42, has been appointed as an executive director and a
member of the executive committee of NWS Holdings Limited (“NWS")
in July 2018 (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 00659). He joined NWS in January 2018 and is responsible
for overseeing the business development and mergers and acquisitions
affairs, and certain businesses of NWS. Mr. Ho has extensive experience
in the area of corporate management, investments, corporate finance,
merger and acquisition transactions and international brand and retail
management. He was the managing partner of AID Partners Capital
Limited and the executive director and chief executive officer of AID
Life Science Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 08088), the vice president of PT International
Development Corporation Limited (formerly known as “ITC Corporation
Limited”) (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 00372), the senior investment director of New World
Development Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 00017), an executive director of
New World Strategic Investment Limited and was a partner of an
international law firm Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver and Jacobson LLP.
Mr. Ho is a committee member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Shenyang, a standing committee member
of the Youth Federation of Inner Mongolia and a vice chairman of Inner
Mongolia & Hong Kong Youth Exchange Association. Mr. Ho holds a
Bachelor of Commerce degree and a Bachelor of Laws degree from The
University of Sydney, Australia and was admitted as a solicitor in New
South Wales, Australia and England and Wales and as a solicitor and
barrister in the High Court of Australia. He is also a fellow member of
CPA Australia.

Mr. Ho had been a non-executive director of Renhe Commercial Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 01387) during December 2007 to
February 2012, a non-executive director of Capital Environment Holdings
Limited (stock code: 03989) during January 2010 to September 2010,
an independent non-executive director of Infinity Development Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 00640) during March 2010 to November
2013 and an executive director of HMV Digital China Group Limited (stock
code: 08078) during October 2016 to June 2017, and is a non-executive
director of Shougang Concord International Enterprises Company Limited
(stock code: 00697) since May 2018 and Wai Kee Holdings Limited (“Wai
Kee") (stock code: 00610) since December 2018, an independent non-
executive director of Kam Hing International Holdings Limited (stock code:
02307) since May 2010 and Hailiang International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 02336) since May 2014 (all of the above-mentioned companies are
listed on the Stock Exchange).

Mr. Ho has been appointed as Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in January 2017 and is also a member of the Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee of the Board.

|
74 M Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited [l Annual Report 2018/19

BYFIITES#H)
ABEEE (%L

fAlSEAE - 425%  1A2018F7 B ER T A AR
EEARAF(FAIZE]D (—MRE AT ER
EmZ AT BB 00659) ZHITES
FHTEEEKE - BR2018F 1 B INAE
- AEREEVAENEREENAG M RKE
EHRETER - L ERTEEEE - BE
TEME HEXZILEBREERSTEERE
EHAELZLSR - YA Partners Capital
Limited CERER) 2 EBREBARER EmEL
B AR AR (—EREE R FTGEM ETH 2 A
B BRI AREE : 08088) 2 HITE ER EEH
18 - REEBRERCEGR AR (AIHE1EFE
TESEBRAR ] (—HERERRMER LT
ZRa)  BHASE $ 00372) Z BIEE - #itt
AERER NG (—ERBEZERETZA
7 BRMAREE : 00017) 2 S RIS EEE - H
HREECEGR AR ZNITEE L —HRE
FRRDE S PTVARA 72 2 A0 47 (Fried, Frank, Harris,
Shriver and Jacobson LLP)Z & A (a5 4 A
FRARBGAHESRESMEZETEZE N
SHERREEFHASRBLEEMATREES
FEIMRMELEIER - ALEFERNEBR
KEFES L NABLEN - W ARIMNITEE
Bta - EIRE M ER AR AT 2 2 6M A KM
B AP R AT 2 2AD K OREAD - IR AEBRMNE

SHIAREREGE -

A5 4 R 2007F 12 A& 201242 A BRI 12
FEAMEZEZERAR A (BRMHHKHE : 01387)
ZIEHITES - N2010F1 A E2010%F9 A
HFETEAREER AR A A (MR
03989) ZIEHITES * M2010F3AFE 20135
11 A EMETEFRERIERAER AT (RHHK
% 0 00640) 2 B FEHMITEE MR 20164F 10
AZE201756 AHBHEHMVEIE T REFES
RAT (RS ESE - 08078) #1178 E » WH
2018 F5 ARETERBEBNZEAR A A (MK
MR8 - 00697) RR20184F 12 A fEHE(E =
EEERAR(THERE]D (BMHARSE : 00610) 2
FEHTTESE - 201055 A B HE(F 57 S BRI R 45 A%
BEREAT(ARMDRIE - 02307) 2B L IERHITE
ERR2014F5 ARETFS BB ERERA
B (AR ASR - 02336) 2B IEHITES( L
BT AR REEFT L)

MEER2017F1 ARZERARR 2B I
WITEE  TREFRERZESNFHEZE
GZKE °



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT -

EEREEEEARESR

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ko Wing Nin, Ken (“Mr. Ko") BSc(Eng), MSc(Eng),
CEng, MICE, FHKIE, RPE(Civil), FCHKRI

Mr. Ko, aged 55, graduated from Chu Hai College in 1986 with a
Bachelor of Science and Engineering degree in Civil Engineering. He
also obtained a Master’s degree in Civil and Structural Engineering
from the University of Sheffield, the United Kingdom in 1994 and a
Master’s degree in Construction Law from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2011. He is a member of the Institution of Civil Engineers,
the United Kingdom, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers, a Registered Professional Engineer in civil discipline in Hong
Kong and a Fellow of China Hong Kong Railway Institution. He has
33 years’ experience in the construction industry including civil, building,
foundation and marine engineering projects in Hong Kong, Macau and
the United Arab Emirates. Mr. Ko joined the Group in 2006 and has also
been the Deputy Chief Operating Officer of the construction segment
of the Group since 2018, responsible for the management of the overall
construction business of the Group.

Mr. Lau Tai Wai, David (“Mr. Lau”) FHKIE, FHKIHT, CEng,
MICE, MiStructk, MCIArb, RPE (Civil, Structural)

Mr. Lau, aged 60, graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in 1982. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
and the Hong Kong Institution of Highways and Transportation and a
member of the Institution of Civil Engineers, the Institution of Structural
Engineers and the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators of the United
Kingdom as well as a Registered Professional Engineer in civil and
structural disciplines in Hong Kong. He has 37 years' experience in a wide
range of civil engineering from a diversified perspective of management,
construction, design as well as build-operate-transfer (BOT) in Hong
Kong, the Mainland China and Taiwan. Mr. Lau joined the Group in 2013
and has also been the Deputy Chief Operating Officer of the construction
segment of the Group since 2018, responsible for the management of
the overall construction business of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT -
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Lee Ka Lun, Stephen (“Mr. Lee") BA(AS), B. Bldg,
Dip Proj Man(RICS), FRICS, FHKIS, ACIArb, RPS(QS)

Mr. Lee, aged 62, graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a
Bachelor of Arts (Architectural Studies) degree in 1980 and a Bachelor
of Building degree in 1982. He is a Registered Professional Surveyor (QS)
with fellow membership of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
and The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and membership of the
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators. He is on the List of Arbitrators of Hong
Kong International Arbitration Centre and is a member of the Joint Panel
of Arbitrators of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and The Hong
Kong Institute of Architects. Mr. Lee has 38 years’ experience in quantity
surveying and commercial management in Hong Kong, the Mainland
China, Taiwan, Macau, Singapore and Malaysia. He worked with the
Group from 1998 to 2005 and re-joined the Group in 2011. Mr. Lee
is a Director (Legal and Commercial) of the Group. He is also currently
the Chief Executive Officer of the construction segment of the Group,
responsible for the management of the overall construction business of
the Group.

Mr. Tam Chi Kwong, Steve (“Mr. Tam") MSc(PM)

Mr. Tam, aged 55, obtained a higher diploma in structural engineering
and an associateship in civil and structural engineering from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University)
in 1986 and 1988 respectively. He further obtained a postgraduate
diploma in civil engineering and a master of science degree in project
management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1996 and
2009 respectively. Mr. Tam has more than 12 years of experience in
corporate management. He joined the Group in 2002 and is currently
the director of the Group overseeing the overall performance of the
internal operations of the Group. Mr. Tam holds directorships in certain
subsidiaries of the Company and is also a non-executive director of City
Services Group Limited. He is also currently a member of other business
executive board of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT -
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)
Mr. Wong Wing Tong, Michael (“Mr. Wong") MISM, CMIPSA

Mr. Wong, aged 63, has more than 22 years’' experience in the
management level of security and facility management services. He
previously served at the Hong Kong Military Service Corps, formerly the
British army unit in Hong Kong, and obtained various professional military
qualifications and skills. Mr. Wong is a member of the International
Professional Security Association. In September 2016, he was appointed
as an executive committee member for Chamber of Security Industry
Limited for a period of 2 years. Mr. Wong joined the Group in 1997 and
is currently the chairman of the board and managing director of City
Services Group Limited, responsible for overseeing the management of
the security and facility management business of the Group.

Mr. Yiu Chi Sang, Andy (“Mr. Yiu") Dip(Eng), LLB(Hons),
MA(ArbDR), MSc(C.Mgt), MRICS, MICE,
MHKIE, MASCE, FCIArb, FHKIArb, CEng

Mr. Yiu, aged 63, graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University in 1981
with a Diploma in Civil Engineering. He was awarded a Master of Arts
degree in Dispute Resolution and Arbitration in 1995 and a Master of
Science degree in Construction Management in 1998 from City University
of Hong Kong. He further obtained a Bachelor of Laws degree in 2004
from the University of Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. He is a
member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, the Institution
of Civil Engineers, the United Kingdom, the Hong Kong Institution
of Engineers and the American Society of Civil Engineers as well as a
fellow member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, the United
Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators. Mr. Yiu has over
38 years' experience in the construction industry, including civil, building,
foundation and marine engineering projects in Hong Kong, Macau,
Vietnam and the Mainland China. He re-joined the Group in 2008 and
is currently the Chief Operating Officer of the construction segment of
the Group, responsible for the management of the overall construction
business of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT :
ERERRE

The Company has been making continued efforts to incorporate the
key elements of sound corporate governance into its management
structure and internal control procedures. The Company is committed
to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance, the principles
of which serve to uphold a high standard of ethics, transparency,
responsibility and integrity in all aspects of business, and to ensure that
affairs are conducted in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “"Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules throughout the Year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") contained in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, after a specific enquiry
made by the Company, that they have fully complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the management of the Company on
behalf of the Shareholders. Key responsibilities include formulation of
the Group’s overall strategies, the setting of management targets and
supervision of management performance. The Board confines itself to
making broad policy decisions and also exercising a number of reserved
powers as mentioned below, while delegating responsibility for more
detailed considerations to the Management Committee of the Board
under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company:

e those functions and matters as set out in the terms of reference
of various Board committees (as amended from time to time), for
which Board'’s approval must be sought from time to time;

e  those functions and matters for which Board’s approval must be
sought in accordance with the Group’s internal policy (as amended
from time to time);

e  consideration and approval of the financial statements in interim
reports and annual reports, announcements and press releases of
interim and annual results;

e focusing its attention on matters affecting the Company’s overall
strategic policies, financing and Shareholders;

e  consideration of dividend policy and dividend amount; and

e reviewing and monitoring the corporate governance policies and
practices of the Group to ensure compliance with the legal and
regulatory requirements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT -*:
TEERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Board had duly performed its duties relating to the corporate
governance functions and was not aware of any code provisions of the
Code being violated during the Year.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information,
including regular reports from the Board committees and briefings on
significant legal, regulatory or accounting issues affecting the Group.
Directors may seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, which will be paid for by the Company.

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises nine Directors including
six executive directors (“Executive Director(s)”) and three Independent
Non-executive Directors (“INED(s)"), with INEDs representing not less than
one-third of the Board as required under the Listing Rules. The Board
members are listed below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Jianhua (Deputy Chairman)
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, JP (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina
Madam Han Li

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

Each of the INEDs has entered into an appointment letter with the
Company for a term of three years. The appointment letter is renewable
subject to consent given by the Company and the respective INEDs. The
INEDs are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Bye-
laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”).

The Board had at all times during the Year met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs with
at least one INED possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT -*:
TEERRE

BOARD COMPOSITION (continued)

The Company has received an annual written confirmation from each
INED to confirm his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all INEDs are independent under
the Listing Rules.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among members of the Board, other than Mr. Pang Yat
Ting, Dominic, the Chairman of the Board, and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond,
Derrick, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, being brothers, and
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina, the Executive Director, is the mother of
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance and maintain a sustainable
development in long run. In this regard, the Nomination Committee has
endorsed a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.

Board diversity shall be achieved through consideration of a number
of factors and measurable objectives as set out in the Board Diversity
Policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional expertise, industry experience, skills and
knowledge.

Nomination Policy

The Company has also adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) setting out the key selection criteria and principles to be used
by the Company in making recommendations on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors to
the Board to ensure that the Board has a balance of skill, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements
of the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee shall make reference to the Nomination Policy
and the Board Diversity Policy to nominate suitably qualified candidates
to the Board for consideration and make recommendations on the
appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment
of any existing member(s) of the Board.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy and will review the
above policies, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the above
policies.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT »*:

TEERRE
BOARD COMPOSITION (continued) EERAK 2
Board Diversity EERAEZ T

The following charts show the diversity profile of the Board as of the date ~ TXREMAAHZERHESTH 2 ZLIBRN
of this report:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT -*:
TEERRE

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS

During the Year, the Company had held four board meetings and one
general meeting. The attendance records of individual members of the

EEHFERCKE

RAREER  ARAETTHREZREH
—RERAE  -BEEZRNEERETZESGZ

Board and Board committees at the respective meetings during the Year R ERANEEANE ERES% 2 LHEEHY
are set out below: R
Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held
HESEAY, BTEERY
Audit Nomination Remuneration Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
EER EVEREE REZEE 270 E ok RRBE
Directors = - -E 83 83 -1
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman) & —[E% 4 (+/E) 3/4 - 22 - 1/1
Mr. Xu Jianhua (Deputy Chairman) BEELRE(FTE) 4/4 - - - n
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick T BIET 26 44 - - - 1/1
(Chief Executive Officer) (1TB##)
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant RELLE 44 - - - 1/1
(Chief Financial Officer and (BEHHEE#
Company Secretary) N )
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina ZEMTL 2/4 - - - 1/1
Madam Han Li* BRIt 213 - - - 1N
Independent Non-executive Directors BV #HiTEE
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung HETLE 4/4 22 22 1/1 17
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt WhELE 4/4 22 22 1/1 1/1
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang EELE 44 212 - on on

* appointed as an Executive Director on 24 April 2018
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT -*:
TEERRE

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company'’s expense. All Directors are regularly provided with information
in respect of the Group’s latest business development and the latest
development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory
and regulatory requirements to facilitate their effective performance
of directors’ duties and ensure compliance and maintenance of good
corporate governance practices. During the Year, all Directors had
participated in seminars and/or studied materials for developing and
refreshing their knowledge and skills. The Company has received from all
Directors their respective training records for the Year.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

During the Year, the Board had been led by the Chairman, Mr. Pang Yat Ting,
Dominic and the role of Chief Executive Officer is performed by
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the chief executive. The
Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functioning of the Board while
the chief executive is responsible for managing the Group’s business.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Management Committee and the Executive Committee. The
respective terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the Code and are available on the Company’s
website. All committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties.

Management Committee

The Management Committee was established in April 1993. It operates as
a general management committee with overall delegated authority from
the Board in order to increase the efficiency for the business decision and
facilitate the approval of certain corporate actions.

As at the date of this report, the Management Committee comprises four
members, all of whom are Executive Directors.

Members of the Management Committee:

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick (Chairman)
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Mr. Xu Jianhua

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT -*:
TEERRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established in March 2007 to assist the
Management Committee in the running of the day-to-day business of
the Company. It is responsible for the development and implementation
of the business plans for corporate and business units. The Executive
Committee is also supported by the heads of Project Management,
cascading performance management down to project level.

As at the date of this report, the Executive Committee comprises four
members, all of whom are Executive Directors.

Members of the Executive Committee:

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Jianhua

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was formed in April 2005. The primary
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are, inter alia, to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policies and structure
for the remuneration of all Directors and senior management of the
Group and determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual Executive Directors and the senior management of
the Group. When reviewing the remuneration package of an individual
Director, such Director will abstain from voting.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
three members, all of whom are INEDs.

Members of the Remuneration Committee:

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt (Chairman)
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee assessed the performance
and approved the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and
senior management of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT -*:
TEERRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

Details of the emoluments of Directors during the Year are set out in
Note 10 to the financial statements of this annual report. The annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management of the Group
by band for the Year is set out below:

BEERETNZES &)
FNEES (&)
REEEEMS Y HERNAER BEEE

IEE10 - AFEEAKEREEEABRZFESH
PR S RBIIT -

Number of
Remuneration Band Senior Management
FMER SEEEABAY
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7% 3,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 7T %4,000,0007 7T 3
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 725,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,000,001,87C26,000,000/8 7T 1

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was formed in April 2005. The responsibilities
of the Nomination Committee are, inter alia, to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
the succession planning for Directors, to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and to ensure fair and transparent procedures
for the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

In case of necessity, the Nomination Committee will propose candidates
for appointment to the Board for consideration and the Board will review
the qualifications of the relevant candidates for determining the suitability
to the Group on the basis of his/her qualifications, experience and
background. The decision of appointing a director must be approved by
the Board and all Board members’ appointments will be based on merit
while taking into account diversity.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises three
members, consisting of an Executive Director and two INEDs.

Members of the Nomination Committee:
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic (Chairman)

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT -*:
TEERRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

The following is a summary of work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year:

(i)  reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
performed the measurable objective assessment for the year ended
31 March 2018;

(i) assessing the independence of the INEDs;

(i) recommending the retiring Directors who offered themselves for
re-election at the 2018 annual general meeting for Shareholders’
approval; and

(iv) considering the appointment of the Executive Director.
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in December 1998. The Audit
Committee provides an important link between the Board and the
Company’s external auditor in matters coming within the scope of the
Group's audit. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial and accounting policies and practices of the
Group. It also reviews the effectiveness of both the external audit and
internal controls and risk management system.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises three INEDs
with its chairman possessing appropriate professional qualification,
accounting or related financial management expertise as required under
the Listing Rules.

Members of the Audit Committee:

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung (Chairman)
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit Committee
during the Year:

(i)  reviewing the annual report and the annual results announcement
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval;

(i) reviewing the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process, with a recommendation to
the Board for the re-appointment of the external auditor at the 2018
annual general meeting;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT -*:
TEERRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

(iiiy approving the remuneration and the terms of engagement letters
for the purpose of appointing the external auditor in connection
with the statutory audit and review of the results announcement by
the external auditor;

(iv) reviewing the interim report and the interim results announcement
of the Group for the six months ended 30 September 2018, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval; and

(v) overseeing the Group’s financial reporting system and risk
management and internal control procedures and reviewing the
report of the internal control function on the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the Group’s internal control and conducts
review on the effectiveness of the internal control of the Group, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

Role of the Board

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility in ensuring and
reviewing the effectiveness of the systems of internal controls, risk
management and legal and regulatory compliance of the Group in order
to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and the assets of the Group.

Internal Controls and Risk Management

The Board has put in place policies and procedures, including policies for
delegation of authority clearly defining the limits of authorities designated
to specified positions within the Group. Such policies and procedures set
out the framework for the risk management and internal control systems
for adoption throughout the Group. To ensure that the systems in place
are adequate and address the existing weaknesses in implementation, the
Executive Directors, with the assistance of the executive board of different
business divisions, review the existing policies and practices and issue
directives from time to time to highlight the specific issues and concerns
in order to achieve ongoing improvement on the governance practices
within the Group. The Executive Directors also approve operational and
financial reports, business plans and budgets provided by management of
each business division at regular meetings.

BEERETNEES #)
EREEE(E)

(i) BRSNS REEDHLEE B S 2 & (K
ZAGFR - LAd SN A BRAD 1T A TE B AR
PESES YN

(iv) BEIANEBEHZE201859H308 1L/~ E A
ZHRHSRERFHEERE  WERE
ERIE K

(v) ERAEEZMBERIRGUANRRE
BRAREERF  TEHNASERNE
ErBeEsRREEMNAREERSZ

HE -

REREEIZE N L B B 2

EERAEAKEZAMER  YHAKER
SRz AMIETER - BEMK - 28R
BRI DA K R B TR B BE

EERNAE

EERERENEREBEASEABEZER
7 RRERERIERAR T ENERE
£ NEERRNEMASEEE

REMEEREREE

EXRCHERRMER  BREARAEARE
B R ERRT E B MR 2 AR » A FBR
KR HIRE 7 R\ B 3 I A BR B 1R R A 2 AE SR
IEAEE FTRA - RERBEFRGBRR
KEESA BT FEMNIH - MITESHES
EBHPIMTZEENHE T - RIRBBER
REBI AR BRI - AR ERRE
KEDEE  EMBRAEEE AT RORER
o HTEFNENEREZ LIEREER
MPIERERRNEENMUERE - 58
KIEHE o

20181943 M SHmaszersras W 87
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TEERRE

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Internal Controls and Risk Management (continued)

Executive Directors and senior management of the Group are appointed
to the boards of all operating subsidiaries and associated companies
of material importance in order to monitor the operation of these
companies. They attend board meetings and participate in significant
decision making process on reviewing and approving financial budgets,
establishing business plans and controlling performance targets with
associated risks identified. The management teams of different business
divisions are accountable for the performance of their respective divisions
on a day-to-day basis. The Executive Directors review the financial and
operational reports from division management regularly to monitor the
performance and assess the significant risk exposure of the subsidiaries.

The Group's Finance Department reports to the Board in respect of
overseeing the financial reporting and control systems for all subsidiaries
and associated companies of the Company. The business segments
compile annual budgets for review by the Group’s finance function and
the consolidated annual budgets are presented to the Executive Directors
for approval. The Executive Directors also hold regular meetings with the
management team of business divisions to review the cashflow position
of the Group, consider material ad-hoc projects which require additional
operating or capital expenditure, and make decisions on significant
investment and lending activities. Payment approval is subject to control
of the limits of authorities clearly setting out the authority with reference
to the specified positions of the relevant personnel.

Legal and Regulatory Compliance

The Contracts and Legal Department is responsible for preparing,
reviewing and endorsing all material contracts entered into by Group
companies in order to safeguard the interests of the Group against legal
risks. It also oversees the regulatory compliance matters of all Group
companies in the environment of their business operations.

Besides, the Company Secretarial Department is in charge of corporate
secretarial documentation of the Group companies and overseeing
compliance matters in relation to the Listing Rules and the relevant
corporate laws and regulations of different jurisdictions.

External legal advisors are engaged to advise the Group on important
legal matters and compliance issues when necessary.
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TEERRE

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Audit Committee and Internal Audit Function

The Company has established an internal audit function. The internal
audit function conducts internal audit on different business divisions
and functions within the Group on an ongoing basis to assess the
effectiveness and identify weaknesses in the existing internal control, legal
and regulatory compliance and risk management systems of the Group. In
the event that defects are identified, the internal audit function engages
in discussions with the management and recommends suggestions for
improvement.

Delegated by the Board, the Audit Committee reviews the internal
audit report prepared by the internal audit function twice every year.
Reviews have been conducted on the Group's internal control and risk
management systems during the Year and the Board and the Audit
Committee are satisfied that the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are effective and adequate.

Whilst these policies and procedures are designed to manage the
risks that could adversely impact the ability of the Group to achieve its
business objectives, they do not eliminate such risks and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement, loss
or non-compliance.

Handling of Inside Information

The Group has adopted a policy in relation to handling of inside
information in compliance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"). Employees should
preserve the confidentiality of any inside information according to the
manner specified in the policy and the “Code of Employee Conduct
and Business Ethics” contained in the Staff Handbook. The Group has
also adopted the pre-clearance procedures on dealing in the Company’s
securities and notified Directors and relevant employees of restrictions on
dealing in the Company’s securities during blackout periods to prevent
possible mishandling of inside information within the Group.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of services provided by Ernst & Young (“EY"),
the auditor of the Company, is analysed as follows:

BT 2B &

AR B Z L BEN L K G ET BN EI5AT ([ 2K )
REZRB AT -

Remuneration Band HK$'000
FMER FHT
Annual audit services FERIZIRTE 4,587
Non-audit services* IEEAZ RS> 2,630

7,217

* Such non-audit services include agreed-upon procedures engagements,
transaction advisory, tax advisory and compliance services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
ACCOUNTS

Statements of the Directors’ responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements and the auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
of this annual report.

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibility to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and
interim reports and other financial disclosures required by the Listing
Rules as well as reports to regulators and information disclosed pursuant
to statutory requirements.

As at 31 March 2019, the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt on
the Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Directors have prepared the financial statements of the Company on a
going concern basis. The management has provided to the Board the
necessary explanation and information to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the financial statements of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant, the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”), undertook no less than fifteen
hours of relevant professional training.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Procedures for Requisitioning a Special General Meeting

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company have rights to require a special general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition,
which must be signed by the requisitionist(s). The requisition must be
deposited at the registered office of the Company at Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda (the “Registered Office”) for
the attention of the Company Secretary. To ensure that the requisition is
received by the Company at the earliest opportunity, a copy of the signed
requisition should also be deposited at the head office of the Company
in Hong Kong at C1, 5th Floor, Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building
Phase 1, 601-603 Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong
Kong (the “Head Office”) for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Companies
Act”), Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-twentieth of the total voting right at general meetings of
the Company or not less than one hundred Shareholders may provide
a written requisition to the Company stating the resolution intended to
be proceeded at the general meeting. The requisition must be deposited
at the Registered Office for the attention of the Company Secretary. To
ensure that the requisition is received by the Company at the earliest
opportunity, a copy of the signed requisition should also be deposited at
the Head Office for the attention of the Company Secretary.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of the Company
by Shareholders, Shareholders may refer to the procedures available on
the Company’s website.

Shareholders can also refer to the detailed requirements and procedures as
set forth in the relevant sections of the Companies Act and the Bye-laws
when making any requisitions or proposals for transaction at the general
meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure and
comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and
activities. The Company'’s annual and interim reports and circulars are
printed and sent to all Shareholders. Moreover, announcements, circulars,
publications and press releases of the Company are published on the
Company’s website (www.asiaalliedgroup.com). The Company’s website
disseminates corporate information and other relevant financial and non-
financial information electronically on a timely basis.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with Shareholders and encourages the Directors
and the members of the Board committees to attend and answer
questions raised by Shareholders at the general meetings.

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with Shareholders and other stakeholders. The
Shareholders Communication Policy has been adopted for ensuring that
the Shareholders are provided with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company in order
to enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
and to allow Shareholders to engage actively with the Company. The
Shareholders Communication Policy is available on the Company’s
website and will be reviewed by the Board from time to time to reflect
current best practice in communications with Shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to
the Company’s share registrars. The addresses of the Company’s share
registrars are set out in the section “Corporate Information” on page
4 of this annual report. Shareholders may at any time make a request
for the Company’s information to the extent that such information
is publicly available. Shareholders may also send written enquiries or
requests to the Head Office or by fax to (852) 3798 5700 or by email to
info@asiaalliedgroup.com for the attention of the Company Secretary.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy for the Company
with effect from 1 March 2019 which setting out the principles and
guidelines to provide the Shareholders with regular dividend (the
“Dividend Policy”).

Subject to the Bye-laws and the statutory requirements, the Company
shall maintain a sustainable and steady profit distribution policy.
Under the Dividend Policy, the Board targets to pay dividends to the
Shareholders in an aggregate annual amount of approximately 30% of
the annual consolidated net profit attributable to the Shareholders.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

In proposing any distribution of dividend, the Board will take into
consideration of the following factors:

e the long-term interest of the Group;
° the general interest of all the Shareholders;
e the sustainable development of the Group;

° the earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital requirement and
distributable reserves of the Group; and

e any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board has the sole discretion to recommend/not to recommend final
dividend to the Shareholders for approval and to declare/not to declare
any other dividend, including but not limited to interim dividend and/
or special dividends, after taking into consideration the factors as stated
above.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in civil engineering, electrical and mechanical
engineering, foundation and building construction work, property
development and assets leasing, professional services (including provision
of security and facility management solutions) and other activities.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages
124 and 125.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has approved and adopted a Dividend Policy. Depending on
the financial conditions of the Group and the conditions and factors as
set out in the Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared
by the Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a financial
year will be subject to the Shareholders’ approval. Details of the Dividend
Policy have been disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report of this
annual report of the Company.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK0.84
cent per share for the Year (the “Final Dividend”) (2017/18: HK1.09
cents), amounting to approximately HK$15.6 million (2017/18: HK$20.4
million), to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 2 September 2019. The proposed Final
Dividend will be paid on 12 September 2019, subject to approval by the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM").
Together with the interim dividend of HK1.26 cents per share paid
in January 2019, the proposed Final Dividend will result in a full-year
dividend of HK2.10 cents for the Year per share (2017/18: HK2.32 cents).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the AGM, and the entitlement to the proposed Final Dividend (subject to
approval of the Shareholders at the AGM), the register of members of the
Company will be closed during the following periods respectively:

TEMERODBFELFE

RETHERRAFAGING LREZE
1B RERBZZNRBEE ZER (AFK
RRBRRBFAREG LK) - ARAH D HIR
TSR EER B ELTE

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM

AEEHERRBFASINE LRE2ER

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration
A2 IR 38 P S PAVEE 50 8 S 14 IR R

4:30 p.m. on Thursday,
15 August 2019
20198 A15H (£ Him)
T 4309

Closure of register of members

TiEpERmBrELT A

Friday, 16 August 2019 to
Thursday, 22 August 2019
(both days inclusive)
20198 A16H (EHR)E
20198 A22H (£ Hirm)
(BIEEREMX)

For determining the entitlement to the proposed Final Dividend

REERRREZINRPRE 2ER

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration
BR8P S LAEE SR M R 1R P PR

4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
27 August 2019
20198 A27H(EH )
T F4R309

Closure of register of members
BEnBERNBFELTFE

Wednesday, 28 August 2019 to
Monday, 2 September 2019
(both days inclusive)

20198 A28A (2HI=)%
20199 A2H (EH—)
(PREEEMX)

In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM and be eligible for
the entitlement to the proposed Final Dividend, all completed transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be
lodged with the Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar of the Company,
Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong not later than the respective latest time as stated
above for registration.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

A review of the business and the future development of the Group, its
principal risks and uncertainties as well as an analysis of its performance
for the Year are provided in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
set out on pages 13 to 16 and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
set out on pages 17 to 37.

The Group's environmental policies and performance, compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations as well as its key relationships with
employees, customers and suppliers and other significant stakeholders are
discussed in the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” set out on pages 38 to 68.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 297.

EQUITY FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

The Company did not conduct any fund raising activities on issue of
equity securities during the Year.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the revalued investment properties of the Group as at 31 March
2019 are set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the Year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment at a
cost of approximately HK$88.5 million for the purpose of expanding the
Group's business.

Details of these and other movements during the Year in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group are set out in Note 15 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in Note 39(a) to the financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the movements in convertible bonds issued by the Company
are set out in Note 34 to the financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 3 September 2012, the
Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme.

Purposes

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme provide the directors and
employees of, and technical, financial or corporate managerial advisers
and consultants to the Company and its subsidiaries with the opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company, which will encourage the
grantees of options to work towards enhancing the value of and for the
benefit of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Eligible Participants

The eligible participants under the Share Option Scheme include (i) any
full time employee of the Company or of any subsidiary; (ii) directors
(including non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors) of the Company or of any subsidiary; (iii) part time employees
with weekly work hours of 15 hours or above of the Company or of any
subsidiary; and (iv) advisors and consultants to the Company or to any
subsidiary in the areas of technical, financial or corporate managerial.

Scheme Mandate Limit

The total number of shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) which may
be issued upon exercise of all the share options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as
at the date of passing the ordinary resolution of the refreshment of the
scheme mandate limit under the Share Option Scheme on 11 December
2017 (i.e. 187,553,384 Shares) (the “Refreshment”). No share option has
been granted by the Company since the Refreshment.

Furthermore, the Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
As at the date of this report, the Company had 29,140,000 outstanding
share options granted and remaining unexercised under the Share Option
Scheme, representing approximately 1.56% of the issued Share.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Maximum Entitlement

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to any eligible participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the total number of Shares in issue without separate approval from the
Shareholders.

Option Period

The option period of a particular option is the period during which the
option can be exercised. Such period is notified by the Board to each
grantee at the time of making an offer. In any event, the option period
shall not expire later than 10 years from the date of grant.

Acceptance of Options

The grantee of options shall pay HK$1 in favour of the Company by way
of consideration for the grant of options within 30 days from the date of
offer.

Exercise Price

The exercise price of an option shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion and shall be no less than the highest of: (i) the closing
price per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii)
the average closing price per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value per share.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to early termination of the Share Option Scheme in accordance
with the terms thereof, the Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for
a period of 10 years commencing on 3 September 2012 (i.e. the adoption
date of the Share Option Scheme).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Movements of Share Options

Details of the share options granted and outstanding under the Share

BRETE )
BREZ28

ZBRE B TR AFEAD KB R RITE

Option Scheme during the Year were as follows: RBEARREREIB IO T ¢
Number of share options
BREZE

Name or Exercise Balance Lapsed Balance

category of price Vesting Exercise as at during as at

grantees Date of grant (HKS) date period 01/04/2018  the Year 31/03/2019

R201845 20195

TiEfE 4818  KEER 3H31H

BREAEERER R A () HEAY TfEE RRTE KW ERTE
Director:

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic* 05/12/2017 102 05/12/2018  05/12/2018-04/12/2021 900,000 - 900,000

FEREr 05/12/2019  05/12/2019-04/12/2021 900,000 - 900,000

05/12/2020  05/12/2020-04/12/2021 1,200,000 - 1,200,000

Mr. Xu Jianhua 05/12/2017 1.02  05/12/2018  05/12/2018-04/12/2021 900,000 - 900,000

REERE 05/12/2019  05/12/2019-04/12/2021 900,000 - 900,000

05/12/2020  05/12/2020-04/12/2021 1,200,000 - 1,200,000

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant ~ 05/12/2017 102 05/12/2018  05/12/2018-04/12/2021 900,000 - 900,000

KESEE 05/12/2019  05/12/2019-04/12/2021 900,000 - 900,000

05/12/2020  05/12/2020-04/12/2021 1,200,000 - 1,200,000

Madam Li Wai Hang, 05/12/2017 102 05/12/2018  05/12/2018-04/12/2021 360,000 - 360,000

Christina* 05/12/2019  05/12/2019-04/12/2021 360,000 - 360,000

TEBLL 05/12/2020  05/12/2020-04/12/2021 480,000 - 480,000

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung 05/12/2017 102 05/12/2018  05/12/2018-04/12/2021 180,000 - 180,000

HEREE 05/12/2019  05/12/2019-04/12/2021 180,000 - 180,000

05/12/2020  05/12/2020-04/12/2021 240,000 - 240,000

Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt 05/12/2017 102 05/12/2018  05/12/2018-04/12/2021 180,000 - 180,000

WhERE 05/12/2019  05/12/2019-04/12/2021 180,000 - 180,000

05/12/2020  05/12/2020-04/12/2021 240,000 - 240,000

Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang 05/12/2017 102 05/12/2018  05/12/2018-04/12/2021 180,000 - 180,000

ABELE 05/12/2019  05/12/2019-04/12/2021 180,000 - 180,000

05/12/2020  05/12/2020-04/12/2021 240,000 - 240,000

12,000,000 - 12,000,000

[ |
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BRETE )
Movements of Share Options (continued) BRECZSEZ)
Number of share options
BREHE
Name or Exercise Balance Lapsed Balance
category of price Vesting Exercise as at during as at
grantees Date of grant (HKS) date period 01/04/2018  the Year 31/03/2019
R20185 R20195
TEfE 418  FEEAR 38318
ARARERER RHBH (B7) BEAH TR EARTE KR ERITE
Other employees:
AftfES -
In aggregate 05/12/2017 1.02  05/12/2018  05/12/2018-04/12/2021 6,942,000  (1,332,000) 5,610,000
& 05/12/2019  05/12/2019-04/12/2021 6,942,000  (1,332,000) 5,610,000
05/12/2020  05/12/2020-04/12/2021 9,256,000  (1,776,000) 7,480,000
23,140,000  (4,440,000) 18,700,000
Total
&t 35,140,000  (4,440,000) 30,700,000

Number of options exercisable at the end of the Year
RAFRERE A T171E 2 BIRERR
Weighted average exercise price (HK$ per share)

IEFSTEEETL(ER))

* Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina are also
substantial and controlling shareholders of the Company, and Mr. Pang Yat Ting,
Dominic, Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina and Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick are
associates of each other (within the meanings as defined under the Listing Rules).

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date of grant as
quoted on the Stock Exchange was HK$1.02 per share.

Save as disclosed above, no share options were exercised or cancelled
during the Year.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 41 to the
financial statements.
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board has adopted a restricted share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”), pursuant to which the Company may grant to eligible
participants restricted Shares, on 1 August 2017. A summary of the Share
Award Scheme is set out as below:

Purposes

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are to encourage and retain
selected participants (the “Selected Participant(s)”), including any eligible
person selected by the administration committee of the Share Award
Scheme in accordance with the terms of and entitled to receive a grant
under the Share Award Scheme, to work with the Company and to
provide incentive for them to achieve performance goals with a view
to achieving the objectives of increasing the value of the Company and
aligning the interests of Selected Participants directly to the Shareholders
through ownership of Shares.

Eligible Persons

The eligible persons under the Share Award Scheme include individuals
being a Director (including executive and non-executive Director), officer
or employee of the Company or its subsidiary.

Duration

Subject to any early termination of the Share Award Scheme and without
prejudicing the subsisting rights of any Selected Participant, the Share
Award Scheme shall be valid for the period of 10 years commencing on 1
August 2017 (i.e. the adoption date of the Share Award Scheme).

Maximum Limit

The maximum number of Shares administered under the Share Award
Scheme shall not reach 10% or more of the Company’s issued share
capital from time to time. As at the date of this report, the number of
issued shares of the Company is 1,863,391,847 Shares and the maximum
number of Shares which may be administered under the Share Award
Scheme is 186,339,184 Shares.

Movements of Restricted Shares

Since the adoption of Share Award Scheme, an aggregate of 30,896,000
restricted Shares were granted to Selected Participants, who were
employees of the Group, pursuant to the grant on 2 August 2017 under
the Share Award Scheme. None of the grantees was a Director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or an associate
(as defined under the Listing Rules) of any of them. The grant of an
aggregate of 22,590,000 restricted Shares had been accepted by the
grantees.

2RI R B

BEERCN2017F8 A1 B IR IR HI i 15 28
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WA RAREZ ) SRR SRR LN ERA
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KL BROHE  UERENARREERS
EESEE N B BEA R B R RN
—HHWBR -

BERAL

RO EEE T ZAERALEREBALF
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)
Movements of Restricted Shares (continued)

During the Year, an aggregate of 9,378,000 restricted Shares were vested
and 12,154,000 restricted Shares were lapsed.

Further details of the Share Award Scheme are set out in Note 40 to the
financial statements.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme
disclosed above, at no time during the Year and at the end of the Year
was the Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED
Details of the Group’s borrowings are set out in Notes 33 and 36 to the

financial statements.

Interest capitalised by the Group during the Year is set out in Note 8 to
the financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT OPERATIONS, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, joint operations, joint
ventures and associates as at 31 March 2019 are set out in Notes 52, 53,
54 and 55 to the financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as at 31
March 2019 were as follows:

ZIREIR B &l 2)
ZIREIRM 228 (&)

AARERE - A 3£9,378,0000% 2[R HI i 17 67 /&
212,154,000 52 BR $I R0 2838

ZAR D BB T Bl 2 B SR IEE N M SRR MR
40 ©

BEROSEZZH

Bk EXPTR R 2 xR A iR T 81 B ik Bt B2 BT
50 ARRREEMZERAT] - HBRAH
() 2% P 88 7 ) f 28 70 A 6 FEE A (] B o] B IR S
FERIAEMZE  BEARRZEFZARE
ARRAFAEMEAEAB R Z B HEHM

BEE -

ERRFBERL
R B S BN I R 233 36 ©

RAREER - AEB 2R B EREHRI KR
REIEES ©

HEAT  AEEE  AEATR
BE N

2019 3A31H » ARARIZEEWEAF
BEE  AERAUNBERNRZHE o

BIE A BTSRRI 5E52 ~ 53 ~ 5455 °

it

R2019F3A31H » AAF A HED IR PR Z
REEEWT

HK$°000

FEx

Contributed surplus AR 52,552
Retained earnings R H 79,527
132,079

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 57 to the financial statements and
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 128 and 129
respectively.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic

Mr. Xu Jianhua

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick, JP

Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant

Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina

Madam Han Li (appointed on 24 April 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu William Wai Leung
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang

In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Pang Yat Ting,
Dominic, Mr. Xu Jianhua and Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang will retire from
office by rotation. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM has
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick ceased to be the Chief Operating Officer
of the Company on 1 February 2019 due to replacement. Ir Dr. Pang Yat
Bond, Derrick remains as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company to focus on managing the Group’s business.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the INEDs an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are independent under the
Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or in existence during the Year.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid individuals
in the Group are set out in Notes 10 and 11 to the financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

The Directors’ emoluments are in line with market practice. The Group
adopted the following main principles in determining the Directors’
remuneration:

. No individual should determine his/her own remuneration;

e Remuneration should be broadly aligned with companies with
whom the Group competes for human resources; and

e Remuneration should reflect performance and responsibility with a
view to motivating and retaining high performing individuals and
enhancing the value of the Company to the Shareholders.

In addition to the basic salaries, a share option scheme and a share award
scheme have been adopted for rewarding and retaining Directors for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in
force throughout the Year.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover to protect the
Directors from possible legal actions against them.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND EERIFEITHASRK®G - 1HEE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND MR REH2EZRAE

DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained

R20193A31H * AR RREEFLHEF
BIZE3S2HERMEMEF 2 BRMzisE &5
RADNREBITHRABRAR R SKETMAE
BOAE (& RES MEEEAEXVE) 2 i
9~ MBERG RMESHEE - SR E ETRA
Mg HIZAE ST BIZB M AN A B R B R P 58 2 4

in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows: WA
Number of Number of % of the
ordinary underlying Company'’s
shares held shares held issued
Name of Directors Capacity Notes (long position)  (long position) share capital
¥E ¥8 AR
ZAREE HERHEE ERITRAE
EEHE 51 Fy (1#8) (##8) Bt
Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic Beneficial owner 1 5,680,000 3,000,000 0.46%
YRERE EnEEA
Interests of controlled 2 1,216,614,388 183,802,317 75.15%
corporation
SRR
Mr. Xu Jianhua Beneficial owner 1 - 3,000,000 0.16%
REERE EnEEA
Ir Dr. Pang Yat Bond, Derrick Beneficial owner 7,326,000 - 0.39%
E—HE T T260 EnEEA
Mr. Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant Beneficial owner 1 - 3,000,000 0.16%
KBS E EnEEA
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina Beneficial owner 1 10,880,875 1,200,000 0.64%
TEMLT EnERAA
Interests of controlled 2 1,216,614,388 183,802,317 75.15%
corporation
SRR
[ |
[ | | N |
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

P24

EEREBTRAESRKRG - HHE
BRI RES 2 BER KRB

I~

Number of Number of % of the
ordinary underlying Company's
shares held shares held issued
Name of Directors Capacity Note (long position)  (long position) share capital
B8 8 EARAT
EEREAE HERDEA ERTRA
EEgE 513 Mt (#8) (#R) Epald
Mr. Wu William Wai Leung Beneficial owner 1 - 600,000 0.03%
RS A E EREAA
Mr. Lam Yau Fung, Curt Beneficial owner 1 - 600,000 0.03%
WEBEE EREAA
Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang Beneficial owner 1 - 600,000 0.03%
MEELEE EREAA
Notes: PEE -
1. Details of the underlying shares of the Company held by the Directors are set out 1. BRRBZARAMEERNOFIEEN XK

in the above section headed “Share Option Scheme”.

2. GT Winners was owned as to 45% by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and 45% by
Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina. By virtue of the SFO, each of them was deemed
to be interested in the ordinary shares/underlying shares of the Company in which
GT Winners had interest or was deemed to have interest. The details of such
interests of GT Winners are set out in the following section headed “Interests and
Short Positions of Substantial Shareholders in Shares and Underlying Shares”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2019, the following Shareholders (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) were recorded in the register kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO as being interested or deemed to
have interest in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

T ERRRBDREERG > s
KA

A2019%3H31H » AARIRIEFERFRIAEE
PIZE33615 R EAMEFE 2 Bz a0es LT
R (BERARAEZITHRABBRINREAR
BB BITIRA R BEA AR BB 5% A
R

Number of Number of % of the
ordinary underlying Company'’s
shares held shares held issued
Name of Shareholders Capacity Notes (long position)  (long position) share capital
E=25] ®E EARAT
EEREAE HERGEA ERTRA
RREEEB 519 Mt (##&) (##8) BOL
GT Winners Beneficial owner 1 1,216,614,388 183,802,317 75.15%
ERMAAN
SFund International Investment Beneficial owner 2 183,802,317 - 9.86%
Fund Management Limited ERMAAN
("SFund International”)
EMNES BB REREESER
BRAR(EMNESEE])
BMERRERERELSER Interests of controlled 2 183,802,317 - 9.86%
BRAF([EMNERKE]) corporation
(transliterated as Guangzhou Huiyin ~ SZ#EEEI#E %
Tianyue Equity Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd. ("GZHYTY"))
BB RAFREERARRLDE  Interests of controlled 2 183,802,317 - 9.86%
(TEMEteER]) corporation
(transliterated as Guangzhou S EERES
Financial Innovation Investment
Holdings Co., Ltd. ("GZFI"))
BMNEEREESERARRAR Interests of controlled 2 183,802,317 - 9.86%
(TEMNEERER]) corporation
(transliterated as Guangzhou SR ERER
Industrial Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd. ("GZI"))
BT mERREEBARAF Interests of controlled 2 183,802,317 - 9.86%
(TEM k3] corporation
(transliterated as Guangzhou City S EERES
Construction Investment Group
Co., Ltd ("GzZCC"))
|
[ | [ N |
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(continued)

Notes:

1. These represent (i) a beneficial interest in 1,216,614,388 ordinary shares of the
Company, representing approximately 65.29% of the issued share capital of the
Company; and (ii) a beneficial interest in 183,802,317 underlying shares of the
Company pursuant to a call option, representing approximately 9.86% of the
issued share capital of the Company, directly held by GT Winners.

2. SFund International was wholly-owned by GZHYTY, which was in turn directly
owned as to 95% by GZFI and 5% by GZI. GZFI was wholly-owned by GZI and GZI
was wholly-owned by GZCC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, the Company had not
been notified of any other person or corporation (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) as being interested or deemed to have
interests or short positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange
under Part XV of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, the Company repurchased 12,142,000 Shares at an
aggregate consideration of HK$8,569,160 (before expenses) on the Stock
Exchange. All repurchased Shares were cancelled during the Year.

Particulars of the repurchase during the Year are as follows:

FERRNROREERG 2R

KRB #E)

FE -

1. ZSHFHEAGWmersBHEEREAGHRL
1,216,614,388 AN AR @R v Bt - HE
RARTBBEITIRALE5.29%  K(i)BERE
ARREN 183,802, 317TIRA NG HEMR N < B iE
- ERARBIBEITIRANEI9.86% ©

2. BEMESERAEMNERXE2EER - mEM
FERRE R E R mEMNM SR EE 5% K hE
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M ECRTIEEEE SN - BR2019%F3 8310 » AR
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BE HEIBEAXALQFz L™
Bl

RAFEER - KRQFIAERES,569,160/8 7T
(FNBR B AT ) OB ZZ BT BB [8112,142,000 A% A%
%9 o FRAER 2 RDENAEZRE -

RAFERNETERD 2 ERIT

Aggregate

Number of Highest Lowest consideration

shares price paid price paid paid (before

Months of share repurchase repurchased per share per share expenses)
LAE S [EXREST efNgrR eENEKRE

BERDZ A5 ZEH B=E RIEE (KR
HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT

July 7R 1,672,000 0.77 0.71 1,225,720
September 94 774,000 0.78 0.74 583,240
October 10H 9,696,000 0.73 0.65 6,760,200
12,142,000 8,569,160
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES (continued)

The Directors considered that the repurchases were made with a view to
enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per share of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws and
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Company
has maintained sufficient public float throughout the Year as required
under the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions set out in Note 48 to the financial
statements. Save as disclosed above, no other related party transaction
constitute any connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined under the Listing Rules during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions disclosed in Note 48 to the financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business in which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, its holding company, or any subsidiaries of its holding
company was a party and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2019 or at any
time during the Year.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER RULE
13.22 OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the requirements under Rule 13.22 of Chapter 13
of the Listing Rules, the details of the Group’s financial assistance given
to and guarantees given for banking facilities granted to its affiliated
companies as at 31 March 2019 pursuant to Rule 13.16 thereof are set
out below:

(i)

(i)

As at 31 March 2019, the advance/loan due from Dingway
Investment Limited (“Dingway”, a company in which the Group held
45% interest) to the Group amounted to approximately HK$314.0
million. Such advance/loan is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
has no fixed term of repayment and is repayable on demand.

As at 31 March 2019, the amount guaranteed by the Group for
banking facilities granted to Great Prosper Development Limited
("Great Prosper”, a company in which the Group held 40% interest)
was approximately HK$935.4 million. The banking facilities will be
repayable upon the earlier of (i) the date falling 48 months from
the date of the facility agreement (i.e. 31 May 2017); or (ii) the date
falling 6 months after the issuance of the occupation permit by the
Buildings Department for a property development project owned by
Great Prosper. The banking facilities carry interest which is at normal
commercial rate after arm’s length negotiation with the respective
lenders and are secured by (among others) guarantees by the Group
(with the other shareholder of Great Prosper providing to the Group
counter-guarantee in respect of the amount of banking facilities in
excess of the Group’s pro rata share based on the Group's equity
interest in Great Prosper). As at 31 March 2019, an aggregate of
HK$362.4 million of such guaranteed banking facilities had been
utilised by Great Prosper.

110 M Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited [l Annual Report 2018/19

L RAIF13T 13,2208 2 KB

ER

E

RIE FHRREI3EFI3NRIEZHRE B2
FREE13.161& 2R » M2019F3A3180 » &~
SEEHETEBBARNMEED R AEEE
NRVERTHRITEVEFTEL IER Z FEBR
PR -

(i)

(i)

MR2019F3A31H » NEEEWRRE
REBRAR([RE | —HAEERFE
A5%IETHAT)) MBI BREENA
314,000,000 7 ° ;2838 B AEIR
BT EREETEERBWAEKREL

8 -

R2019F3A31H » AEBREREE
BRAR(ER]  —MAEEFEL0%
M AR ERTHIRITREREER
B4 58 49/5935,400,000/8 7T ° % R1THR
BARNERE E B H(B12017F5 A8
31TE)RBEIM4ASE A Z 8  S(i)EEFE
MEEREEEEFESEDEATA
BEmeEAZB(AREEBE)EE -
ZRTTME NEEEERH A FEEER
FTETEMN—MEERERTE » WU(HE
FEE) BASERE  BREKR(
EENEMREABEERANEE S
BEENREA DA EREEREN
PDEZIBITRASENAEBIEERIE
fR) > FA2019E3 A310  ERECDEHHZ
BERIBITRIE S 362,400,000/ 7T °



DIRECTORS’ REPORT -*:
BEER®RE

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS UNDER RULE
13.22 OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE LISTING RULES (continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s financial assistance given to
and guarantees given for banking facilities granted to its affiliated
companies in aggregate amounted to approximately HK$1,249.4 million,
representing 15.2% of the total assets of the Group, exceeding 8% of
the assets ratio as defined under Rule 14.07(1) of the Listing Rules. The
financial information of these affiliated companies as at 31 March 2019 is
set out below:

iR BISE13F 5813221k 2 15 & 1K
BRE®)

M20196F3H31H » REERHTEBEAA
MBS E R AR BN FER TRRITRE
FT{EH B IR IR A ££4) 5 1,249,400,00078 7T
HENREBEEE52% @ BiBi% FmiEal
F1407TMNIEFTATERNEELE 28% ° % F
%N AR 2019F3 A31 B 2 B E R 5
U

Dingway and
its subsidiaries?
RMER Great Prosper
HHE AR B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current assets RENEE 727,275 1,261,413
Current liabilities mEEE (757,728) (128,205)
Non-current liabilities IEREEE - (362,390)
Net (liabilities)/assets (Bl BEFE (30,453) 770,818
Issued capital BEITIRA 1 -
Reserves EE (30,454) 770,818
Total equity T AARE (30,453) 770,818
# During the Year, the Group has used the financial information of Dingway and # RAFE - ANEBFERAERS AR SEREH

its subsidiaries (the “Dingway Group”) as at 31 December 2018 and for the nine
months then ended for its equity method of accounting purposes, as the joint
venture partner (which was responsible for keeping the accounting records of the
Dingway Group) went into the voluntary liquidation and the financial information
of the Dingway Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 was not made available
to the Group for the preparation of the Group’s financial statements for the Year.

As at 31 March 2019, the consolidated attributable interest of the Group
in the affiliated companies amounted to approximately HK$676.6 million.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

(i)  During the Year, Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Madam Li Wai
Hang, Christina, Executive Directors, held through their controlled
corporation 40% interests in Clover Peak Limited (”Clover Peak”),
which held 10% indirect interests in Golden Concept Development
Limited (being the registered owner of the site of Shatin Town Lot
No. 579 at Area 56A Kau To, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong
(the “Site”)) through Wealth Anchor Investments Limited. The Site
had been used for property development purpose and therefore Mr.
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic and Madam Li Wai Hang, Christina were
regarded as being interested in such businesses which competed or
were likely to compete with the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT -*:
BEER®RE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

(continued)

(i) During the Year, Mr. Ho Gilbert Chi Hang, Independent Non-
executive Director, is an executive director of NWS and a non-
executive director of Wai Kee which certain of their subsidiaries
are engaged in the construction business. The Board is of the view
that the construction business of both companies is similar to but in
different scale and nature of that of the Group and therefore it does
not compete with the business of the Group.

Each of the Directors are aware of his/her fiduciary duties as a director
of the Company and will act in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole and avoid any conflict of interests between his/
her duties as a Director and his/her personal interests.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors were interested in any
business which competes or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the Group's business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the
Group's five largest customers accounted for approximately 83% of
the Group’s total turnover and the turnover attributable to the Group’s
largest customer accounted for approximately 61% of the Group’s total
turnover. The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total
purchases.

The Group’s five largest customers include governmental authorities
and statutory organisations, infrastructure and property developers and
property owners. The credit terms granted to these customers are in line
with those granted to other customers as well as industry practices. The
Group’s management has considered the credit quality of these major
customers and is of the view that none of the relevant trade receivables
is considered doubtful. In determining the credit terms, the Group takes
into account various factors, including the background, financial strength
and track records of credit settlement of the counterparties, in order
to mitigate credit risks. In view of the financial strength and high credit
rating the major customers, the Directors consider that the Group’s
exposure to concentration of credit risk is limited.

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholders (which to the
knowledge the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) has any interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT -*:
BEER®RE

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations totalling
approximately HK$1.7 million.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by EY,
the auditor of the Company, which would retire at the conclusion of
the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution will be proposed to the Shareholders at the AGM to re-appoint
EY as the auditor of the Company and to authorise the Board to fix their
remuneration.

There has been no change in the auditor of the Company in the preceding
three years.

On behalf of the Board

Pang Yat Ting, Dominic
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT :
BN E

e

Ernst & Young LXK TR BTG
EY 22/F CITIC Tower BBFIRANEER
ik 1 Tim Mei Avenue FR{ZAE221E

Central, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Asia Allied
Infrastructure Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) set out on pages 124 to 296, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT -*:
B B

e
EY:x

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Financial impact of adopting HKFRS 15

Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 amounted to
HK$8.1 billion, which is a significant item in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

During the year, the Group adopted HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers, which is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018, for the first time. The revenue recognition of the
Group involves significant judgements and estimates by management,
including (i) whether a contract modification shall be accounted for as a
separate contract; (ii) whether a contract contains multiple performance
obligations; (iii) the model in estimating the amount of variable
considerations to be included in the transaction price; (iv) the allocation
of the transaction price to individual performance obligations of multi-
element contracts; (v) whether performance obligations are satisfied at a
point in time or over time; and (vi) the method of measuring progress for
each performance obligation satisfied over time.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT -*:
B B

e
EY:x

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Financial impact of adopting HKFRS 15 (continued)

Given the material impact, sensitivity of the estimates and the level of
judgements involved in the revenue recognition under HKFRS 15, we
considered this a key audit matter.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3.1(c), 3.3, 4, 6 and 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we obtained an understanding of the
Group’s processes in connection with the application of HKFRS 15 for
revenue recognition. We then selected and examined material contracts
with customers, comprising those have not been completed as at the
beginning of the year and those entered into during the year, on a
sample basis to assess the appropriateness of the application of HKFRS 15
made by management, by (i) assessing the details of contractual terms in
the contracts; (i) evaluating the judgements applied; (iii) considering the
historical outturns of estimates used; and (iv) assessing management’s
calculation. We also assessed the adequacy of the related disclosures in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue and costs of construction projects

Revenue of the Group from the provision of construction services
amounted to HK$7.3 billion for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Contract revenue is recognised over time using the output method, based
on direct measurements of the value of services delivered or surveys of
work performed by the Group. Contract costs are recognised when work is
performed, together with any provisions for expected contract losses.

The recognition of revenue and profit relies on management’s estimate
of the final outcome of each contract, which involves the exercise of
significant management judgement, particularly in forecasting the
costs to complete a contract, in valuing contract variations, claims and
liquidated damages, in estimating the amount of expected losses and
in assessing the ability of the Group to deliver services according to the
agreed timetable.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT -*:
B B

e
EY:x

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Revenue and costs of construction projects (continued)

In addition, the Group regularly assesses the possible outcome of
construction contracts based on the latest facts and circumstances
occurred in the construction work, and past experience in conducting
similar construction work. When there is a change in the expectation as
to when the outcome of construction contracts can be estimated reliably,
the Group will adjust the amounts of contract costs and contract profit
accordingly. Such change constitutes a change in an accounting estimate
and involves significant management estimation and judgement regarding
the outcome of a contract. The effect of any change in an accounting
estimate is recognised prospectively by including it in profit or loss in the
current year and future periods.

Given that the estimation of the total revenue and total costs to complete
the construction contracts involves significant management judgement
and estimation, we considered this a key audit matter.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3.3, 4 and 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we examined external or internal surveys
of work for amounts of contract revenue recognised and revenue cutoff.
We then selected material construction contracts, read their financial
budgets on contract revenue and costs and interviewed the Group's
quantity surveyors regarding the preparation and approval processes
of financial budgets of construction contracts and the progress of
work certification by independent surveyors. In addition, we read the
correspondence between the Group and independent surveyors and,
if necessary, obtained professional advices of the dispute resolution
advisors engaged by the contract customers and the Group in respect
of construction work performed. We also assessed the adequacy of the
related disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT -*:
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e
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment of property development
projects

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s investments in land held for property
development (the “property development projects”) amounted to
HK$533 million in total, representing 6% of the total assets of the Group.

The carrying amounts of the property development projects are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Significant management
judgement is involved in determining the estimated net realisable values
of the property development projects, including estimation of selling
prices, costs to be incurred until completion and variable selling expenses.

Given the sensitivity of the assumptions and the level of judgement
involved, management engaged independent professional valuers
to prepare a feasibility report and valuation reports for the property
development projects of the Group.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3.3, 4 and 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we obtained the feasibility report
and valuation reports and assessed the objectivity, competence and
independence of the independent professional valuers. We then engaged
our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the assessment of the bases
and assumptions adopted in the impairment assessment. In addition, our
procedures included discussions with management and the independent
professional valuers about the assumptions and parameters used in
estimating the latest selling prices, costs to be incurred until completion,
variable selling expenses and, as applicable, the feasibility of the Group’s
property development plan.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Recoverability of an investment deposit and an
amount due from a joint venture

Included in the Group's other receivables as at 31 March 2019 was an
amount of HK$148 million which is a portion of an investment deposit
and partial consideration of HK$198 million in total (collectively, the
“Deposit”) paid to a third party (the “Vendor”) for the acquisition
of an entity (the "Entity”) in a prior year in accordance with a sale
and purchase agreement entered into between the two parties on 4
November 2015. The acquisition transaction was subsequently rescinded
and a supplementary agreement was entered into between the Group
and the Vendor on 25 August 2016, pursuant to which, inter alia, the
Vendor shall refund the Deposit to the Group and the Group is entitled
to take steps to protect its interest, including selling the shares of the
Entity in part or in whole to a third party and claiming any shortfall, loss
or damages directly against the Vendor and its shareholder should the
Vendor fail to fulfil its obligations to repay the Deposit to the Group.
HK$148 million of the Deposit (the “Outstanding Amount”) remained
unsettled as at 31 March 2019.

Subsequent to the reporting period, on 19 June 2019, for the purpose
of recovering the Outstanding Amount in connection with the rescinded
acquisition transaction, the Group entered into two sale and purchase
agreements (the “Sale Agreements”) with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group agreed to dispose of the investees held by
the Entity for a total cash consideration of HK$148 million. Certain legal
actions shall be taken for meeting the conditions precedent as stipulated
in the Sale Agreements.

In considering the recoverability of the Outstanding Amount, management
took into account (i) its latest action plan to recover the Outstanding
Amount which includes the execution of the Sale Agreements and certain
legal actions taken or to be taken by the Group against the Vendor and
its shareholder; and (ii) the legal opinion regarding the possible outcome
of the legal actions taken and to be taken, and is of the view that a
total of HK$54.8 million of the Outstanding Amount is not expected to
be recoverable and hence an impairment loss against this amount was
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2019.

In addition, included in investments in joint ventures as at 31 March 2019
was a shareholder’s loan (the “Shareholder’s Loan”) of HK$314 million
granted to a joint venture (the “Joint Venture”) which holds certain
parcels of land in the United States of America for property development.
For the purpose of the recoverability assessment of the Shareholder’s
Loan, the Group assessed the financial position of the Joint Venture,
including engaging an independent professional valuer to perform a
valuation of the aforesaid land asset of the Joint Venture, and is of the
view that the Shareholder’s Loan is fully recoverable and no impairment
loss against it is considered necessary.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT -*:
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e
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Recoverability of an investment deposit and an
amount due from a joint venture (continued)

Given the significance of the amounts of the Outstanding Amount and
the Shareholder’s Loan and the judgemental nature of the recoverability
assessments, we considered this a key audit matter.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3.3, 4, 18(c) and 26(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As part of our audit procedures, we obtained and read the relevant
agreements in connection with the rescinded acquisition transaction,
including the Sale Agreements, and the Shareholder’s Loan.

With regard to the recoverability assessment of the Outstanding Amount
prepared by management, we (i) enquired management about the bases
and assumptions adopted in the assessment; and (ii) obtained legal
advices from the external lawyer engaged by the Group for the probability
of recovering the Outstanding Amount through litigations.

With regard to the recoverability assessment of the Shareholder’s Loan
prepared by management, we (i) obtained the valuation report of the
land asset of the Joint Venture and assessed the objectivity, competence
and independence of the independent professional valuer; and (ii)
engaged our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the assessment of
the bases and assumptions adopted in the valuation.

We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

|
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT -*:
B B

e
EY:x

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

|
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT -*:
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e  obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is CHENG, Man.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME -

GeEsERkEMEENRER

Year ended 31 March 2019

BE2019F3A31BIEFE
2019 2018
2019 2018%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
Bt FER FAT
REVENUE E 3 6 8,076,048 8,231,055
Cost of sales SHERAR (7.621,505) (7,846,341)
Gross profit EH 454,543 384,714
Fair value gain of investment properties, net  $&& ¥ A FEWZF5E 16 26,623 261,900
Other income and gains, net HAWA R EFEE 7 312,701 88,669
Selling expenses HERX (19,856) (16,117)
Administrative expenses TERX (456,345) (403,817)
Other expenses, net HAth B F%58 (65,653) (23,237)
Finance costs BhE AR 8 (91,920) (66,838)
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures Eha &R alnfEE 18(d) 6,400 797
Share of profits and losses of associates FE(LE & N Elm A & &R 19(c) (1,332) 4,129
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BREE B A 9 165,161 230,200
Income tax PT15%: 12 (24,066) (66,523)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 141,095 163,677
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME  E b2 E (&18) iz
Items that may be reclassified to profit BRI A fEE AT R R
or loss in subsequent periods: B HE -
Exchange differences: ME 258
Translation of foreign operations HEFINETE (39,656) 70,019
Reclassification adjustments for gains BUH M E A R
included in profit or loss upon Was 2 B H A
deregistration of subsidiaries AR (Gt AE=) - (15,408)
Share of movement in the exchange FEME—REEE AR
fluctuation reserve of a joint venture N E) A o) 18(d) 7 (421)
Share of movements in the exchange NGB N
fluctuation reserves of associates it B E) 19(c) (209) 404
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME ZAFEHMW2HE (EE),
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX Wi EHIREEBTZ
OF NIL FriSH (39,858) 54,594
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEERERGARE
FOR THE YEAR 101,237 218,271
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME «*

meBEsEkEMEERER

Year ended 31 March 2019
HZE20199F3HA31HIEFE

2019 2018
20195 20184
Note HKS$’000 HK$'000
BaE FHT THET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO: FE{LZAFEESF] :
Shareholders of the Company Vi /N3 136,648 150,176
Non-controlling interests eI 4,447 13,501
141,095 163,677
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR EERFEEEMRGEE !
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Shareholders of the Company Vi /N 32 96,790 204,770
Non-controlling interests eI 4,447 13,501
101,237 218,271
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE ARARRREESREF 14 HK cents HK cents
TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY Bl Bl
Basic EZ9IN 7.37 8.83
Diluted B 7.36 8.80
[ |
[ | H N
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ::

e BN R

31 March 2019
201943A31H

2019 2018
20194 20184F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE FHET FT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - R R 15 284,608 256,896
Investment properties LAY 16 166,173 14,263
Goodwill RS 17 45,994 47,561
Interests in joint ventures NN 2 18 423,362 315,104
Investments in associates REE AR ZIRE 19 499,768 384,089
Deposits paid for acquisition of items of BEVWE  BBLRE
property, plant and equipment and an BENAEXNT—4
investee KWEHR 2B Ee 26 55,574 -
Deferred tax assets BEEFIEEE 38 897 6,775
Total non-current assets EMENEEHETR 1,476,376 1,024,688
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Land held for property development BIEMEER 2 i 20 532,565 550,103
Properties under development BRI 21 - 667,994
Properties held for sale HEHE M 22 2,829 6,651
Amounts due from contract customers WS NP IE 23 - 1,966,743
Trade receivables =) &0 24 983,990 1,668,172
Contract assets SHEBE 25(a) 2,752,909 —
Prepayments, deposits and other FBfFIE - me REM
receivables FEU IR 26 598,726 572,387
Sales deposits received held in an FEHREERPZEBI
escrow account HEZRS 27 - 144,093
Income tax recoverable AR [EFT5HE 22,049 10,859
Equity investments at fair value through RAFEFABRZ
profit or loss A E 28 65 80
Restricted cash and pledged deposits SR IR & M EIREFER 29 26,149 37,330
Cash and cash equivalents He NEBSSEIER 30 1,829,856 1,979,852
Total current assets M)A EARRE 6,749,138 7,604,264
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Amounts due to contract customers & R FEFIA 23 - 796,012
Trade payables B S FIA 31 1,840,192 1,519,774
Contract liabilities sdBaE 25(b) 33,905 =
Other payables and accruals HAb PR FRIE R ERTRUE 32 891,599 480,480
Sales deposits received for sale of HE—BYERER 2B K
a property interest HEES 27 - 297,360
Bank borrowings HRITENK 33 1,058,582 2,705,454
Guaranteed bonds BEIRES 35 - 39,000
Hire purchase contract and finance HESHRMERE
lease payables FERRR 36 5,742 10,838
Provision for construction works FEETIRE ZBYE 37 133,128 =
Income tax payables R FT1S TR 89,038 80,048
Total current liabilities mEN B ELRRE 4,052,186 5,928,966
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEEE 2,696,952 1,675,298
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEAERRBEME 4,173,328 2,699,986
[ |
H N [ |
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION -
FEMBMRR R

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
FiEE FER FATT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEME
Other payables HAthfEFRIE 32 - 147,603
Bank borrowings RITIER 33 1,695,564 5,515
Hire purchase contract and finance lease MESHLERE
payables FEfI IR 36 1,438 5,969
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFRIEAE 38 2,176 16,817
Total non-current liabilities BB B 1,699,178 175,904
Net assets BEFRE 2,474,150 2,524,082
EQUITY L5
Equity attributable to shareholders AN TR RELER
of the Company
Issued capital BEITIAR 39(a) 186,339 187,553
Reserves s 42(a) 2,255,263 2,318,250
2,441,602 2,505,803
Non-controlling interests IR R 32,548 18,279
Total equity M AaTE 2,474,150 2,524,082
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic Pang Yat Bond, Derrick
T =—3B
Director Director
Ea Ea
[ |
[ | HE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY :

mERREREBR

Year ended 31 March 2019
HE201963A31HILFE

At 1 April 2017

Profitfor the year
Other comprefensive incomel(oss)
for the year:
Exchange differences:
Translation of foreign operations
Redlssifcation adjustments
for gains included in profit
or loss upon deregstration
of subsidiaries

Share of movement in the
exchange fluctuation
resenve of a oint venture

Share of movements in the
exchange fluctuation
reserves of associates

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Issue of shares upon exercise
of convertible bonds
Repurchase of shares
under the share award scheme
Share award expense
Equity-settled share option expense
Transfer of share-based
compensation reserve upon
the forfiture of share options
Recognition upon modfications
of the terms of convertible bonds
Transfer upon a modification of
the terms of convertible bonds
Deemed contribution from
anon-controling equity
holder of a subsidiary
Disposal of an associate
Dividend paid to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary
final 2017 dividend declared

Interim 2018 dividend declared

At31 March 2018

H017F4R18

AEREH
RERRGEANE/ (BR):

EXZE:
BEBIZHE
RRHmHBAR

YEEnE
BE(HARR)

El-Maz0mE
HEIRRLRY

BB =0mE
HEIRRLRD

RERRENESER

AR R ARR
!t
R ETIRE]

EERH 401b)
RiSERS 40(a)
WA E BRERS 4(b)
IRIER R

e

NGRS

KRR 34
MR ER

fEEn 3
Bl HBATHARRE

BEAZEE

HE-RBENT
Bf-RHBAR 4

FiRE RS
BERNEE

ke
BER0I8EE

hEke 13

101853A31H

16199 623804 - - T9B AT (13%) 138165 220480 478 2045260
= = s s s 5 - BOM6 1016 BT 163677
- - - - - - T009 - T0009 - 009
- - - - - - (54 - (5m) - (15408
- - - - - - @ ] - m)
- - - - - - - -
= = s s s S SAS 1016 4T 13501 21827
BEw 156705 - -3 - - Ty ST Y
- - (1819) - - - - - (19 - (1819)
- - - s - - - -3 S V7
- - - - - - - -
- - - (58 - - - % - - -
- - - - B - - - B - Bk
- - - - (179 - -1 - - -
- - - - - 30 - -3 - 130
- - - - - (1758 - T -7
- - - - - - - - - {0000 (0000
- - - - - - NN I 5 - 1S
- - - - - - - B 308 - B
187553 7RSI (8197 67 3 B2E 14652660 2505803 1829 252408
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY «*
MERREZETR

Year ended 31 March 2019
EZE20193A31HILFE

At 31 March 2018 1018834318 187,553 780,529 (18,197) 6,217 31197 5338 1465266 2,505,803 18209 254,08
Effctof adoption of HKFRS 15 b ]
Bkt 31 - - - - - - (102,780) (102,780) - (102,780)
A1 April 2018 (restated) R018E4R 1 B (&E5) 187,553 780,529 (18,197) 6217 197 53238 1362486 2403023 1829 24130
Profitfor the year KA - - - - - - 136,648 136,648 4447 141,095
Other comprehersive KERRM2ERE/(F8) -
incomefloss) or the year:
Exchange diferences EiEE:
Translation offorign operatons RS - - - - - (s - (B - B
Share of movement n the exchange El-FAENANE
flctuation reserve of a int venture FHRkE - - - - - 1 - 7 - !
Share of movements nthe exchange EEBENTNERERRL
fluctuation reserves of associates 29 - - - - - (209) - (209) - (209)

Totel comprefensive incomefoss) KEFRENE/ (g

fortheyear - - - - S (Y mEs %0 4w M
Deemed contouton fiom anon-controlling & E—~BHBATFERRE

equity holder of asubsidiary BEAZRE - - - - 2300 - - 2307 - 2300
Deemed disposal of partal intrest BEhE-FHBAT B R

ina subsidiary - - - - 90 (113) - &) 11m 1,094
Disposal of subsdiaries HEHBAT ) - - - - - - - - (17.848) (17,84)
Cancelation of repurchased shres HHREDRG %) (1214) (1355) - - - - - (8.569) - (8,569)
Share award expense BOECIEF 4f) - - - 1381 - - - 1381 - 1,381
Brerdse of share awards under the share 17 (ARG RBHET 2

award scheme D] 400b) - - 7,554 (2208 - - - 5346 - 5346
Transfer of share-based compensation reserve. AR 281518l 2 R 85

upon the forfeture of shares under the share 1} 38BHEE

award scheme - - - (2610) - - 2616 - - -
Equitysettedshare option expense IWREEE  ERER 4(g - - - 7004 - - - 7004 - 7004
Other equity-settled share-based payment—~ EfAFAEE 2R AEE

eipense R 9 - - - 230 - - - 2300 - 2300
Brerdise ofequiyseted share-bsed WREGEZ R EERH

ot i 9 - - - am) (355 - Y 2500
Transferofshare-iase] compensaton INRUERERERRA AR

resenve upon the foriture of share aptions - - - (1,019) - - 1014 - - -
Final 2018 didend declred BERBERAHRE 13 - - - - - - () () - (04
Iterm 2019 ividend decred BEROEERERE 13 - - - - - - By @3 - (B
Redlassfication inE - - - - (2133%9) - - (21339) 21338 -
At 31 March 2019 101933318 186,339 T34 (10,643)* 8764* 11.901% 13207 1458860 2,441,602 0548 2474150

*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,255,263,000 @ MK2019%F3A318 ' ZS5HERSESAVBHR
(2018: HK$2,318,250,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position as MR 2 4R E FE#2,255,263,0007% 7. (20184F -
at 31 March 2019. 2,318,250,00077T) © [}
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS :

GERTRER

Year ended 31 March 2019

B ZE2019F3A31HILFE
2019 2018
20195 2018F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt TET FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES ~ REZ&EB RERE
Profit before tax BRI D& 165,161 230,200
Adjustments for: HE
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures [EIE A &R R aFI RER (6,400) (797)
Share of profits and losses of associates JEIEREE D BRI REE 1,332 (4,129)
Interest income FISHA 7 (23,478) (15,827)
Gains on deregistration of subsidiaries, net EUEEMHTE A B2 a5 7 (9) (5,693)
(Gain)/loss on sale of property interests through ~ #BH EME A Al HEMERER
disposal of subsidiaries pAC IV 5 9 (257,674) 264
Gain on sale of a property interest through BRNE B ARHENE
disposal of an associate B 2 Wan 7 - (2,075)
Gains on disposal of other subsidiaries, net HEH M B AR 2 a5 7 - (19,996)
Gains on disposal of non-current assets HEDEABEHEZERDE
classified as held for sale E2 W 7 - (14,713)
Fair value gain of investment properties, net WEME AT A F 5 16 (26,623) (261,900)
Finance costs RERK A 8 91,920 66,838
Depreciation neE 9 20,988 14,890
Fair value loss of equity investments BAFEABREZBAREEZ
at fair value through profit or loss NHERE 9 15 25
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - WEREHEEE 2
plant and equipment, net (W) BiEFE 9 (1,911) 670
Write-off of items of property, plant and W3 - HeEs RRRETE B 2 R
equipment 9 208 286
Impairment of items of property, plant and ME - BERZEEE 2RE
equipment 9 7,500 10,000
Impairment of an investmentfdeposit and S—TAD A ER BN Y
artial consideration paid for a rescinded U A A T AR (T
gcquisition transactioﬁ RERSRAARELAE 9 54,800 -
Loss on modifications of terms of convertible CHEELREE 50
bonds 9 - 10,132
Share award expense R1n S BR % 9 1,381 3,443
Equity-settled share option expense ARG E 2 B IR R 9 7,004 2,832
Other equity-settled share-based payment H AR GEE 2 ARRD A
expense NEGolEa 9 2,300 -
36,514 14,450
Increase in land held for property development  BHEVIERE 2 T3 R EREDYE
and properties under development 2m (68,189) (265,042)
Decrease in properties held for sale BEEEMER D 2,617 1,046
Net decrease in balances with contract customers & 415 P45 gAE 2 %58 - 25,176
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables Z S RENGERD, /() 144,948 (151,446)
Increase in contract assets BHEELN (417,096) =
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits and ~ FEFFUE « &4 REMIEWKZIE
other receivables (m),/w (14,600) 16,652
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B SN ZIEEm,/ (Rd) 320,418 (68,333)
Increase in contract liabilities BRBEEM 1,269 =
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and accruals  E 4t B 3008 J st FUB R )/
byl (150,691) 168,800
Sales deposits received for sale of a property HE—RYEER  ENHERS
interest - 153,267
Increase in provision for construction works EETIE 2 BB 20,501 =
Cash used in operations REEBAZRS (124,309) (105,430)
Income taxes paid BRFTEH (36,223) (49,653)
Net cash flows used in operating activities RETBMACRENE T (160,532) (155,083)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS -*:

RERERER

Year ended 31 March 2019

HZE2019F3A31HILFE
2019 2018
20195 2018F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt TER TET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES ~ REREFBH HERE
Interest received BIH S 23,478 15,827
Dividend received from an associate BRI R E 3,763 21,842
Purchases of items of property, plant and EEYE  MEKREEE
equipment (87,161) (46,688)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant  HEWE « #e2 K& EEE
and equipment PSR 5,428 2,456
Purchases of investment properties EEREME (102,011) -
Additions to investment property under RNETEREME
construction - (26,281)
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties &SR EEFTEEIE 10,782 9,359
Acquisition of joint ventures WS & N E] (10,000) -
Acquisition of an associate Y — s A ) (3,484) (2,333)
Proceeds from sale of property interests through & @ ENB A Bl HE W £
disposal of subsidiaries BIA 44(a) 200,111 476,352
Proceeds from sale of property interests through & i@ H & — B A B HE W £
disposal of an associate TR HE - 98,701
Proceeds from disposal of other subsidiaries & E it B A R FTER0R 44(b) - 28,563
Increase in amount due from a joint venture Y —H A &R EZFIEEM (99,066) (2,115)
Increase in amounts due from associates JE MBS & 8 ) 2 SRIBE AN (112,224) (4,000)
Increase in loan receivables FEME I (12,495) (128,400)
Decrease/(Increase) in time deposits with maturity 78 ARZIEAEBE=EA 2
of more than three months when acquired TEFERRD,/(38hn) 3,001 (3,001)
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities WEERE (R / EEXsBE
e (179,878) 440,282
[ |
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS -*:

ll‘/_\ é IE ﬁiﬁ% %

Year ended 31 March 2019

HZE2019F3A31RIEFE
2019 2018
20195 20185
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt TER TET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES RERERDZRERE
Proceeds from exercise of share awards under RIENR D SRR EIFTTT(E 2

share award scheme R 10 R ED TS 50R 40(b) 5,346 -
Repurchase of shares FEmlR 39(a) (8,569) -
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder R E—Z IR 2 B0 33,378 -
Repurchase of shares under the share award R 2R AT BIRE [ i 10

scheme 40(b) - (18,197)
New bank loans EGRITER 3,488,146 2,408,111
New trust receipt loans MEEFARRER 55,619 67,090
Repayment of bank loans EEFITER (3,137,022) (2,152,711)
Repayment of trust receipt loans BEETHEER (55,619) (69,599)
Repayment of other borrowings B H a0 - (2,820)
Repayment of guaranteed bonds BEERES (39,000) -
Repayment of straight bond BRELBES - (93,442)
Capital element of hire purchase contract HESHRBERERSNRZ

and finance lease rental payments BARED (10,947) (13,846)
Interest element of hire purchase contract HEAOEBERERS IR

and finance lease rental payments FEHD 8 (442) (679)
Other interest paid HuB RIS (85,847) (101,386)
Dividends paid BERRRE (43,904) (84,602)
Dividend paid to a non-controlling shareholder of BB A 7 — 2 3EH AT R AL &

a subsidiary - (20,000)
Decrease in restricted cash and pledged deposits XRHE e REERFRRLD 11,181 14,089
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities MEEEEL/ (FTH)Z

BeneE s 212,320 (67,992)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRERSEEER(HD) 1B

CASH EQUIVALENTS PIIpE:E: (128,090) 217,207
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FUEE ¢ RER S HEEE

year 1,976,851 1,713,371
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net AN [ R 2 B 57 2R R (18,905) 46,273
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FRERERERSZEHER

YEAR 1,829,856 1,976,851

|

132 M Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited [l Annual Report 2018/19



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS -*:

RERERER

Year ended 31 March 2019

HZE2019F3A31HILFE
2019 2018
20195 2018F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt TER TET
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH B&RERSZEER LB
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances other than time deposits 334 R R1T4#4 (N BIETBRER) 30 1,113,039 1,196,089
Time deposits TEHTEE 30 742,966 821,093
Less: Restricted cash and pledged deposits A RREHR & REEREFR 30 (26,149) (37,330)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RAEMBARRRML RS KR
consolidated statement of financial position ¢EMEEE 1,829,856 1,979,852
Less: Time deposits with maturity of more than il : REAREHBERB=EAZ
three months when acquired TR - (3,001)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the mERERERMIZEE K
consolidated statement of cash flows BRI SZ(EEA 1,829,856 1,976,851
[ |
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ::
R 35 Sk B

31 March 2019
201943A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda, and the principal place
of business of the Company is located at C1, 5th Floor, Hong Kong
Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1, 601-603 Tai Nan West Street,

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”), joint operations, joint ventures and associates were

involved in the following principal activities:

e provision of construction and consultancy services in areas
of civil engineering, electrical and mechanical engineering,

foundation and building construction mainly in Hong Kong;

e development and sale of properties and leasing of assets in
Hong Kong, mainland of the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC"), the United Arab Emirates (the “UAE") and the United

States of America (the “USA"); and

e  provision of security and facility management solutions in Hong

Kong.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, joint operations,
joint ventures and associates are set out in notes 52, 53, 54 and 55

to the financial statements, respectively.

At 31 March 2019, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the immediate holding company and the ultimate holding company
of the Company is GT Winners Limited (“GT Winners”), which is a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) with

limited liability.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention except
for investment properties, equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss and the derivative components of convertible bonds
which have been measured at fair value as further explained in
note 3.3 to the financial statements. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000"”) except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 March 2019. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
() the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.
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KRB ER 2 ITE DB R FERFE

(EZFHREN M B MERMEEI3) R
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BT (T TET)) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

2.

3.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the shareholders of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the fair
value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current financial year’s financial statements:

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions
Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and
HKAS 28

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of amendments
to HKFRS 2, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 15, amendments to HKFRS 15,
amendments to HKAS 40, and HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, the adoption of the
above new and revised standards has had no significant financial
effect on these financial statements.

(@) Amendments to HKFRS 2 address three main areas: the effects
of vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled
share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-
based payment transaction with net settlement features for
withholding a certain amount in order to meet an employee’s
tax obligation associated with the share-based payment; and
accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions
of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification
from cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify
that the approach used to account for vesting conditions when
measuring equity-settled share-based payments also applies to
cash-settled share-based payments. The amendments introduce
an exception so that a share-based payment transaction with
net share settlement features for withholding a certain amount
in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation is classified
in its entirety as an equity-settled share-based payment
transaction when certain conditions are met. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that if the terms and conditions of a
cash-settled share-based payment transaction are modified,
with the result that it becomes an equity-settled share-based
payment transaction, the transaction is accounted for as an
equity-settled transaction from the date of the modification.
The amendments have had no impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group as the Group does not have any
cash-settled share-based payment transactions and has no
share-based payment transactions with net settlement features
for withholding tax.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all
three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments:
classification and measurement, impairment and hedge
accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 from the date of initial
application, i.e., 1 April 2018. Therefore, the comparative
information was not restated and continues to be reported
under HKAS 39.

Classification and measurement

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 9, on 1 April 2018, the Group:

(i) continued to classify the listed equity investments as at
31 March 2018 as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss;

(i) reclassified a loan of HK$313,993,000 advanced to a
joint venture which was classified as an item of loans and
receivables as at 31 March 2018 as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss;

(iii) reclassified other loans and receivables as at 31 March
2018 as financial assets at amortised cost; and

(iv) continued to classify all financial liabilities as at 31 March
2018 as financial liabilities at amortised cost.

Other than the above-mentioned loan advanced to a joint
venture which is measured at fair value under HKFRS 9 instead
of at amortised cost under HKAS 39, there was no change in
the measurement of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
as at 31 March 2018 upon the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 April
2018.

Impairment

The Group did not recognise additional impairment loss
allowance against financial assets upon initial application
of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018 as the amounts involved are
insignificant.

|
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(0

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and related interpretations and
they apply, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-
step model to account for revenue arising from contracts
with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring
goods or services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15
provide a more structured approach for measuring and
recognising revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements, including
the disaggregation of total revenue, information about
performance obligations, changes in contract asset and liability
account balances between periods and key judgements and
estimates. The disclosures are included in notes 4, 6 and 25 to
the financial statements. As a result of the application of HKFRS
15, the Group has changed its accounting policy with respect
to revenue recognition in note 3.3 to the financial statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method, the
standard can be applied either to all contracts at the date of
initial application or only to contracts that are not completed
at this date. The Group has elected to apply the standard to
contracts that are not completed as at 1 April 2018.

The cumulative effect of the initial application of HKFRS 15
was recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits as at 1 April 2018. Therefore, the comparative
information was not restated and continues to be reported
under HKAS 11, HKAS 18 and related interpretations.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(0

(continued)

The Group's principal activities that are within the scope of
HKFRS 15 comprise construction services, development and sale
of properties and provision of security and facility management

solutions.

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial
statement line item was affected as at 1 April 2018 as a result

of the adoption of HKFRS 15:

© (&)

31 EFERSEHRIKE @)

AEEBN BB BHREERFE15
FHEBANTIEXKREEER
% BREEEMERREREREZ R

RIEEFRTTER

LA TR S5 51) R 57 40 2 785 B 765 3R 25 2 |
1558201844 A1 H BT H3R

RZBBRAXFEEH -

Increase/
(decrease)
#in, (R
Notes HK$'000
MI5E FET
Assets BE
Amounts due from contract customers JEW A HEFRIE (i) (1,966,743)
Trade receivables Z 5 EWGRIA (i) (539,234)
Contract assets BHEE (i) 2,303,320
Total assets BELRE (202,657)
Liabilities i=Ci
Amounts due to contract customers DR Y =F ¢ (i) (796,012)
Other payables and accruals HEARIBEREZE (), (i) 583,867
Sales deposits received for sale of HE—EMEER
a property interest B ERSE (ii) (297.360)
Contract liabilities BHEE (i) 299,716
Provision for construction works FREET AR 7 B (i) 112,627
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBEE (i) (2,715)
Total liabilities BEHzE (99,877)
Equity s
Retained profits R A A (i) (102,780)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -

B R AR BT RE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)
(¢) (continued)

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial
statement line item was affected as at 31 March 2019 and
for the year ended 31 March 2019 as a result of the adoption
of HKFRS 15. The adoption of HKFRS 15 has had no impact
on other comprehensive income or on the Group’s operating,
investing and financing cash flows for the year ended 31 March
2019. The first column shows the amounts recorded under
HKFRS 15 and the second column shows what the amounts

would have been had HKFRS 15 not been adopted:

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2019:

31 B BEREHREE L)

(© (#&)

VAT S0 51) E R 4 & 8 B 7% i s 22 A
FE155REH 20193 31 B K&
Z201963A31H L FEMBRE
BHEESXTE 225 RNEEH
F ¥R 2E IS 1558 I M 7020196
SAMAEFE 2 B2 EK A
SEz&E - FHEFRERSTE
EERE - E—RIITRBEEEY
BHEERE155%IIR S -
%;Wﬂﬂ'l’ilJm1ﬁﬁi?mﬁN§7%ﬁ7fﬁ‘%$ﬁ
AR 1 55R M ARZERIS 2 £ 58 ¢

H

Z2019F3A31HILFEZHA
%am&ﬁﬁti@lﬂz £k

Amounts prepared under

RETHER GRS
Previous Increase/
HKFRS 15 HKFRS (decrease)
BB SRR 2
2R BRIE i
155 2R Om2)
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FaE THET FET FHET
Revenue e (i) 8,076,048 7,034,153 1,041,895
Cost of sales SHER AR (i) (7,621,505) (6,708,290) (913,215)
Gross profit E 5 454,543 325,863 128,680
Profit before tax B AR A& A 165,161 36,481 128,680
Income tax PS5 (24,066) (24,066) -
Profit for the year REE T 141,095 12,415 128,680
Other comprehensive loss for the N4 & Eqth 2
year, net of income tax of nil S IE 5
THRTTZFASH (39,858) (39,858) -
Total comprehensive income/ AEEREWE
(loss) for the year (E51R) s 101,237 (27,443) 128,680
Profit for the year attributable to: }T&f{ﬁﬂiifgiﬁéﬂ :
Shareholders of the Company ViN/N Tﬂxﬁ 136,648 7,968 128,680
Non-controlling interests eI AR RS 4,447 4,447 -
141,095 12,415 128,680
Total comprehensive income/(loss) fE(EANFE 2 M
for the year attributable to: Wzs, (E518)
R -
Shareholders of the Company ViN/NE] )1 96,790 (31,890) 128,680
Non-controlling interests eI AR RS 4,447 4,447 _
101,237 (27,443) 128,680
Earnings per share attributable  ZN/A BIA% SR FE(Y HK cents HK cents HK cents
to shareholders of the Company TR EF B4l Bl B0
Basic EHAK 7.37 0.43 6.94
Diluted b 7.36 0.43 6.93
[ |
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

1 RSB RKER)

(continued)
(¢) (continued) (o (#&)
Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March R2019F3 A31 B 2 &AM BN
2019: =
Amounts prepared under
RETIERGFH 2S5
Previous Increase/
HKFRS 15 HKFRS (decrease)
BB SRIERAZ
2R BB #hn,
£15% 2R Om2)
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
MI5E FHET FHET FHET
Amounts due from contract WA 4B P FIE
customers (i) - 2,262,943 (2,262,943)
Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIA (i) 983,990 1,541,036 (557,046)
Contract assets EHEE (i) 2,752,909 - 2,752,909
Total assets BERE 8,225,514 8,292,594 (67,080)
Amounts due to contract EREXF P RIE
customers () - 373,566 (373,566)
Contract liabilities EHaE (i) 33,905 - 33,905
Other payables and accruals E e EIE K
FEETSRIE (i) 891,599 778,046 113,553
Provision for construction works — FEEE T2 7 B (i) 133,128 - 133,128
Total liabilities BEEE 5,751,364 5,844,344 (92,980)
Net assets BEFE 2,474,150 2,448,250 25,900
Retained profits REREN 1,458,860 1,432,960 25,900
Total equity B ER 2,474,150 2,448,250 25,900

The nature of the adjustments as at 1 April 2018 and the
reasons for the significant changes in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 March 2019 are described below:

[ |
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

() (continued)

0]

Construction services
Identification of performance obligations

The Group considered HKFRS 15's guidance on
identification of performance obligations in a construction
contract, contract combinations, contract modifications
and resulting variation consideration arising from
variation orders and claims. In particular, the Group
provides warranties to customers in relation to the
provision of construction services for general repairs of
defects occurring during a defect liability period which
generally lasts for one to two years after completion of
the construction work. The Group considered that this is
a kind of assurance-type warranties granted by the Group
and does not constitute a separate service or goods to
be transferred to customers. Based on the results of the
assessment, the Group concluded that, in general, a
construction contract or a work order contains one single
performance obligation for accounting purposes.

Timing of revenue recognition

The Group has assessed that, as the Group’s performance
under a construction contract creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced, therefore the Group satisfies the
performance obligation under a construction contract and
recognises related revenue over time during the course of
construction by the Group.

Revenue from the Group’s construction contracts is
recognised over time under an output method. The
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation of a construction contract is measured with
reference to the certificates issued by the internal or
external surveyors on the performance or work completed
to date.

Accordingly, upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, amounts
due from contract customers and amounts due to
contract customers as at 31 March 2019 were decreased
by HK$67,080,000 (1 April 2018: HK$202,657,000)
and HK$226,108,000 (1 April 2018: HK$209,789,000),
respectively, with a related deferred tax effect of nil
(1 April 2018: HK$2,715,000), resulting in an increase
in profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 and retained
profits as at 31 March 2019 of HK$149,181,000
and HK$159,028,000 (1 April 2018: increase of
HK$9,847,000), respectively.

31 B BEREHREE )

(@

(&)
0}

BERE
BEERIR AT

AEEERBR LY HRE LR
FISHBRABRINERSH
BHHEE AREBETR ZEH
BERAZERS RREME
ERRERE 25 - A
5 AREIRHEEERBRN
HIEEEHEERRBEN —RE
EREPRHFRRLAENE
ETRTHRERFE—EMF °
AEBERBUTHAEER L2
RELRE - W ABKEBK
TEREEPZRELEM -
REFEER  AEERS
—RME - EEFENMEE
LAWRTIEESREBE—E
BHRME-

Yzt R BF (]

AEEBFE  ARNAEEZ
BATREESIBM T EPR
BERAIEIE N D ES 2
BE AUASERBRITRESE
BT ZEHNEETLNEER
R R RS

AEBZEERHBRIRES
EBERS R FER - TERZES
BHEEZERTI2RAMK
SMNERIERIRLIE S R LEE EHK
JEAIR TA2RE D Pt B2 #E#%

ZEE -

Eith  HAEBTHREE
BIZE 1557 1% + R 201943 A
318 - FRANBRFPZIEAR
EREHORPZHED B
67,080,000 % 7T (2018 FF 4 A
1B : 202,657,000 7T ) &
226,108,000/ T (2018F4 A1
B : 209,789,000/ 7T) * B
FIER TS 2 AZ(2018F 4 A
18 :2,715,000&7T) » <&
Z2019F3 8318 IEE R
N201943 A318 2 R&E %
A 5> Bl 1 Hn 149,181,000 JT
%2.159,028,0007% 7T (2018 4F 4
A18 : 109,847,000/ 7T ) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(©) (continued)
(i) Construction services (continued)
Contract assets and contract costs

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, unbilled revenue is
recognised when the Group performs by transferring
goods or services to customers and the Group’s right to
consideration is conditional on the satisfaction by the
customers on the construction work completed by the
Group, i.e., the work is pending for the certification by
the customers, and such balance was reclassified from
amounts due from contract customers under previous
HKFRS to contract assets under HKFRS 15. Accordingly,
the Group reclassified HK$2,195,863,000 (1 April 2018:
HK$1,764,086,000) from amounts due from contract
customers to contract assets as at 31 March 2019.

In addition, upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, costs that
related to satisfying performance obligations are expensed
as incurred. Accordingly, amounts due to contract
customers of HK$147,458,000 as at 31 March 2019
(1 April 2018: HK$586,223,000) were reclassified to
accruals.

Provision for construction works

The Group recognises provision for construction works
when the unavoidable costs of meeting the performance
obligations under the construction contracts exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received under them.
The amount of provision is estimated based on contract
costs to completion and contract claims. The estimation
basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where
appropriate.

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, provision for
construction works of HK$133,128,000 was recognised
as at 31 March 2019 (1 April 2018: HK$112,627,000),
resulting in a decrease in profit for the year and retained
profits of HK$20,501,000 and HK$133,128,000 (1 April
2018: HK$112,627,000), respectively.

[ |
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31 SRS RIKE 2

()

(&

0]

BERK(E)
BRIBERERKAK

AEBRERNE B BEHRE
ERFEI55E  ABEZHE
W ThERmE P EEE R
BT - mASEBUWERARE 2 #
ANEFEPHAEEMTAE
BIRRRIMEBRAAIEER
HEIR(MEFERPIZER
ETHER)  MABSKECH
RIR SR 2 BB 5 &E 28
ZERWEAEHNBRERBETH
HEREBEEBYHREER
FISHEZANEE - Btk -
AREBENR2019F3A318 A
2,195,863,0003% 7T (2018 F£ 4
HA18 : 1,764,086,000/7T) 2
EREHNBEREENHEE
BHEE -

BEoh + B E B B RS A 2 A
F15%:1% HHETREANET
BRENKAREERH -
gt - 201943 A31 B EMNE
#)EF 738 5147,458,00078 7T
(201854 H1H : 586,223,000
BB EH D EEEAEE -

BETEZRE

BHITRESHBHEENT
RN BBRBEELEED
RS EUS A0 B M 2B - R
SERHAZETRZEE -
BRESERBETRA KA R
BRREGEE - ARE/SE
A ARt ER - YEBEERN
TMERIERT -

RNE B SRS RIS 1558
% > 133,128,000 It ~ & 58
T 7 EER201963A31H
(201854 A18 : 112,627,000
BT HER - WEARFERF K
IR B8 & A 9 Bl 420,501,000
7577 £2.133,128,0007% 7 (2018
FAA18 112,627,000 7T) °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

() (continued)

0]

(i)

Construction services (continued)
Retention receivables

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, retention receivables
arising from construction contracts, that were conditional
on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers
over a defect liability period as stipulated in the contracts,
were included in trade receivables. Upon the adoption of
HKFRS 15, retention receivables of HK$557,046,000 as
at 31 March 2019 (1 April 2018: HK$539,234,000) were
reclassified to contract assets.

The Group also assessed whether there is a significant
financing component in a construction contract,
particularly taking into account the reasons for the
difference in timing between the transfer of control of
goods and services to customers and timing of related
payments. Retention receivables represented withholding
of a specified percentage of each milestone payment,
which is intended to protect the customers from the
Group's failure to adequately complete its obligations
under the contracts. Accordingly, retention receivables
are not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component.

Development and sale of properties

Regarding the revenue arising from the development and
sale of properties, the Group has assessed that, based on
the terms of the sale agreements entered into between
the Group and customers, the Group does not have an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date. Accordingly, the criteria set out in HKFRS 15 for
recognising revenue over time are not met for the sale of
properties. On account of this, the Group continues to
recognise the sale of properties until the point in time at
which the Group delivers the properties to the customers.

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group recognised
consideration received from customers in advance as
other payables or sales deposits received for sale of a
property interest. Upon adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group
reclassified customers’ deposits of HK$33,905,000 as
at 31 March 2019 from other payables (1 April 2018:
HK$2,356,000 and HK$297,360,000 from other payables
and sales deposits received for sale of a property interest)
to contract liabilities.

31 B BEREHREE )

(@

(&)
0}

(i)

BEREIRE)
JEWARE] £

REMB B SRS AR %15
SRAT - RS NELEZERIR
B (BEFEFREANEIRAZ
HIEETHEABRBEEERR
TREEZRAAEER) BT A
B P EWGIE - RMNE BT
WMEEB|FE155R% - BUR
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E—IEYEER 2 BWHER
® o BB IR E AR E
155%1% » AEEER2019F3
A31 B/ EF# £ 33,905,000
7 70 B E fb 538 (2018
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

(0

(d)

(continued)

(iii) Provision of security and facility management
solutions

Regarding the revenue arising from the provision of
security and facility management solutions, the accounting
policy under the previous HKFRS for revenue recognition
of the service income over time when services are provided
is still an appropriate method under HKFRS 15, because
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 40 clarify when an entity should
transfer property, including property under construction
or development, into or out of investment property. The
amendments state that a change in use occurs when the
property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment
property and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere
change in management’s intentions for the use of a property
does not provide evidence of a change in use. The amendments
have had no impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 provides guidance on how to determine the
date of the transaction when applying HKAS 21 The Effects
of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates to the situation where
an entity receives or pays advance consideration in a foreign
currency and recognises a non-monetary asset or liability. The
interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for the
purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of
it) is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-
monetary asset (such as a prepayment) or non-monetary liability
(such as deferred income) arising from the payment or receipt
of the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments
or receipts in advance of recognising the related item, the
entity must determine the transaction date for each payment
or receipt of the advance consideration. The interpretation
has had no impact on the financial statements as the Group’s
accounting policy for the determination of the exchange rate
applied for initial recognition of non-monetary assets or non-
monetary liabilities is consistent with the guidance provided in
the interpretation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -

B R AR BT RE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Definition of a Business?

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venturet

Leases’
Insurance Contracts?

Definition of Material?

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures!

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments’

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKAS 12 and HKAS 231

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those new and revised HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

(@ Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to be
considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an input
and a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create
outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of acquiring the business and
continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether
acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to
focus on goods or services provided to customers, investment
income or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and introduce an optional fair
value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment
of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 April 2020.

(b) Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

()

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-
Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities
for most leases. The standard includes two elective recognition
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-
term leases.

At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise
a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and
an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset
during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-
use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-
use asset meets the definition of investment property in HKAS
40 Investment Property, or relates to a class of property, plant
and equipment to which the revaluation model is applied. The
lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest on
the lease liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees
will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on
the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-
use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease
liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as a change
in the lease term and a change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine
those payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount
of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to
the right-of-use asset.

Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged
from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to
classify all leases using the same classification principle as in
HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases and finance
leases.

HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive
disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply
the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified
retrospective approach. The Group will adopt HKFRS 16 from 1
April 2019.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(0

(continued)

The Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16
to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits at 1 April
2019 and will not restate the comparatives. In addition, the
Group plans to apply the new requirements to contracts that
were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and
measure the lease liability at the present value of the remaining
lease payments, discounted using the Group'’s incremental
borrowing rate at the date of initial application. The right-of-
use asset will be measured at the amount of the lease liability,
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the lease recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position immediately before the date
of initial application. The Group plans to use the exemptions
allowed by the standard on lease contracts whose lease terms
end within 12 months as of the date of initial application.
During the year, the Group has performed a detailed assessment
on the impact of adoption of HKFRS 16. The Group has
estimated that right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
approximately HK$32 million each will be recognised at 1 April
2019.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information is
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments clarify
that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude
of information. A misstatement of information is material
if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions
made by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(e)

Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion
of HKFRS 9 only includes interests in an associate or joint
venture to which the equity method is applied and does
not include long-term interests that in substance form part
of the net investment in the associate or joint venture, to
which the equity method has not been applied. Therefore,
an entity applies HKFRS 9, rather than HKAS 28, including
the impairment requirements under HKFRS 9, in accounting
for such long-term interests. HKAS 28 is then applied to the
net investment, which includes the long-term interests, only
in the context of recognising losses of an associate or joint
venture and impairment of the net investment in the associate
or joint venture. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
on 1 April 2019 and will assess its business model for such
long-term interests based on the facts and circumstances that
exist on 1 April 2019 using the transitional requirements in
the amendments. The Group also intends to apply the relief
from restating comparative information for prior periods upon
adoption of the amendments.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, issued in July 2017, addresses the accounting
for income taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments
involve uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12
Income Taxes (often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”).
The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside the
scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements
relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain
tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses
(i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how
an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv)
how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.
The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either fully
retrospectively without the use of hindsight or retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of application as an adjustment to
the opening equity at the date of initial application, without the
restatement of comparative information. The Group expects to
adopt the interpretation from 1 April 2019. The interpretation
is not expected to have any significant impact on the Group'’s
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’'s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included in
the consolidated profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associates or joint ventures,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and
the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal
is recognised in profit or loss.

|
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:

e jtsassets, including its share of any assets held jointly;
e ts liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;
e itsrevenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from

the joint operation;

e its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint
operation; and

e its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to the Group’s
interest in a joint operation are accounted for in accordance with
the HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person (i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or (iii) is a member
of the key management personnel of the Group or of a holding
company of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a holding company, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the
entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to a holding company of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values
of assets transferred by the Group and liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and
any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

33 TEEHBERME L)

EBEOHREE

EBaRAKEEAR - EERE
TARB RSN QA TENE R TE
RASEBZNEENKEBHNAF
ERANEERAREET RIEE AFAED
BE NREXHAHT AEEEER
BUARFEHIRBKBE S AIRAIFEE
BB - ST ENREIE D B K
BARSAIFERERD YR THEAA
A REBRRIZLASEERNFEER
- RN AME R AR DY
BRFERE - WEHERK AR E LR
SRR °

EAKERE-REKE  @REAH
iRk~ YahE B 2 AR IR AR R IR
HAENEREERARETIE
DMEHEE D BN HER - BREERA
ATETRERWEL TRHDHM °

WEBEHOEBUET  RAIFANRK
Aigmm HRNKE RN A FESH
B MELANEMERERERTER -

WD BEENEARAREREER
HWAFERER - P BASEELREN
KAREBRAFEFE  HAFEES
RIEEBRAER - 2B REZNIAK
ERNEHE  HENEEERETA

EEEKAETERGE  EEER
B SRR R MAREE
AT R R U 70 2 B AN i 2 A P {E 4R
BEER 1 P YRR T B R B R B R P AR
BECER - HRAKEREGMERE ZA
MERFIKBEEFEZATE RE
BRZEEENEaRARAEEER
ZWas o

20181943 M Shmoszersram W 155 H H



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

|
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation of leasehold land under finance leases and buildings
are calculated on the straight-line basis to write off their costs
(i) over the shorter of the lease term and 50 years in respect of
leasehold land; and (ii) over the shorter of the lease term and 25
years in respect of buildings.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is calculated on
the reducing balance basis to write off the cost of each item of other
property, plant and equipment to its estimated residual value over
its estimated useful life. The estimated depreciation rates per annum
of different categories of other property, plant and equipment are as

follows:

Plant and machinery 15% to 25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%
Motor vehicles 25%
[
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the period the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold interest under an operating lease for a property which
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property)
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including the
direct costs of construction, capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction and transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of
the reporting period.

Land held for development and/or properties under development
for future use as investment properties are classified as “Investment
properties under construction” and are reclassified to “Completed
investment properties” when completed and ready for use.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the period of the
retirement or disposal.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investment properties (continued)

When a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, any difference between
the carrying amount and the fair value of the property at the date of
change in use is accounted for as follows:

(@) any resulting decrease in the carrying amount of the property
is recognised in profit or loss in the period the change in use
takes place; or

(b) any resulting increase in the carrying amount is credited to
profit or loss, to the extent that the increase reverses a previous
impairment loss for that property, or restores the carrying
amount of the property to an amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the property in prior periods; and
any remaining part of the increase in the carrying amount is
credited directly to equity in the property revaluation reserve.
On subsequent disposal of the property, the relevant portion
of the property revaluation reserve realised is transferred to
retained profits as a movement in reserves.

For a transfer from investment properties to properties under
development or properties held for sale, the deemed cost of a
property for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of
change in use.

The Group transfers a property from properties under development
or properties held for sale to investment properties when there is a
change in use to hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital
appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business,
which is evidenced by the commencement of an operating lease to
another party. For a transfer from properties under development
or properties held for sale to investment properties, any difference
between the fair value of the property at the date of change in use
and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

|
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20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease,
the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the
minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases are included in non-
current assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to profit
or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the
lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing
nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated over
their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to profit or loss on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the
lessee, rentals payable under operating leases, net of any incentives
received from the lessor, are charged to profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease
payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a
finance lease in property, plant and equipment.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Land held for property development, properties
under development and properties held for sale

Land held for property development and properties under
development are intended to be held for sale after completion of
the property development. They are classified as current assets
unless the construction period of the relevant property development
project is expected to complete beyond the normal operating cycle.
On completion, the properties are transferred to properties held for
sale.

Land held for property development, properties under development
and properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost includes prepaid land lease payments,
cost of land/land use rights together with any other direct costs
attributable to the development of the properties, and borrowing
costs capitalised during the development period. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to estimated selling price based on
prevailing market conditions less (i) anticipated cost to completion
of the development in respect of properties under development;
and (i) estimated costs to be incurred in marketing and selling the
properties.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than investment
properties, land held for property development, properties under
development, properties held for sale, deferred tax assets, financial
assets and construction contract assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.
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20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of a non-financial asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, or fair value through profit or loss, as
appropriate.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out
for “Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018)” below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
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201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

(@) Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both
of the following conditions are met:

e  The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows.

e  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
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31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies

under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

(b)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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reliably.
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3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
receivables or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, as
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

(@) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated
by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in interest income in profit or loss. The loss arising
from impairment is recognised as other expenses in profit or
loss.

(b)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
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20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
(b)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. These
net fair value changes do not include any dividends or interest
earned on these financial assets, which are recognised in
accordance with the policies set out for”Revenue recognition
(applicable before 1 April 2018)" below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018 and policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

33 TEEHBERME L)

RERHMSHMEE(FRETE
AI%E3957 1 FR2018F4A18 2
BB R 2 BUR) (4)

HE&H&(E)
(b) BRFEFTAARBZHEEE)

BATEFABRZEREERER
BFBMRARARFEIIE R
BEBAATEEY 2SR FE
HYHFRIITEBEAEHEE
PTRER 2 (RIS S - R EK
BRMETIREBET X BWARER (R
2018F4 A1 B ZAIER ) IF#.2 K
REER °

RERERRIEE/RAFEFA
BEzeMEENNERERHH
RERTAEBEBEHEREI9R 2
RERFFERIERE

BHRREMEE(FEYKRE
RIE955IE T~ 520184 H1H
REACHEEEEEERSE
39551 N A2018F4 810 2 AilE
BAZBR)

CREEGINER  —HEREEZ—
Mok —EBEUEREEZ D) TR
E TSR TEUE TR (B4R & B iR
MRFBE) -

o WHZBEBEEMFRARE ZER
EJEim ¢ 3

o AEECERWRZBREEMSGSR
TMEZERN - HRE—IREE]
L ERBEBRELREFE =215
AT ERPTEERR &R 8 2 BUk
BENRZEE R@QAKEEARHK
HERZABEMN Z A AR Nk E
H o ROASELERNHEREX
REZIAEEN Z 8 Ak & E
W EEERZIAEE TG -

20181943 M SHmaszerasraz W 167



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018 and policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

(continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the assets. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred assets to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018) (continued)

General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018) (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
whether impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues
to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018) (continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of
the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with
any associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
expenses in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable
from 1 April 2018 and policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 April 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at amortised cost or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, as appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised
initially at fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities at
amortised cost, net of directly attributable transaction costs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable
from 1 April 2018 and policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 April 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

(a)

(b)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, financial liabilities at amortised cost are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included as finance costs in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments
in hedge relationships. Separated embedded derivatives are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instrument. Gains or losses on financial
liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss. The
net fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018 and policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Convertible bonds (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable
from 1 April 2018 and policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 April 2018)

Convertible bonds that contain liability and equity components

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity share capital at
the option of the holder, where the number of shares that would be
issued on conversion and the value of the consideration that would
be received at that time do not vary, are accounted for as compound
financial instruments which contain both a liability component and
an equity component (conversion option).

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits characteristics of
a liability is recognised and accounted for as a financial liability at
amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial position,
net of transaction costs. On issuance of convertible bonds, the fair
value of the liability component is determined using a market rate
for an equivalent non-convertible bond; and this amount is carried
as a non-current liability or a current liability, as appropriate, on the
amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption.
The remainder of the proceeds, net of transaction costs, is allocated
to the conversion option (the equity component) which is recognised
and included in the Company’s convertible bond equity reserve.
The carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured in
subsequent years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the
liability and equity components of the convertible bonds based on
the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components
when the instruments are first recognised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Convertible bonds (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable
from 1 April 2018 and policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 April 2018) (continued)

Convertible bonds that contain liability and derivative components

If the conversion option of convertible bonds exhibits characteristics
of an embedded derivative, it is separated from its liability
component. On initial recognition, the conversion option and other
derivative components of the convertible bonds are measured at
fair value and presented as part of derivative financial instruments
(financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss). Any excess
of proceeds over the amount initially recognised as the derivative
components is recognised as the liability component and is
accounted for as a financial liability at amortised cost. Transaction
costs are apportioned between the liability and derivative
components of the convertible bonds based on the allocation
of proceeds to the liability and derivative components when the
instruments are initially recognised. The portion of the transaction
costs relating to the liability component is recognised initially as part
of the liability. The portion relating to the derivative components is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018

A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability
at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts
at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance
with the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018)"; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount
of income recognised.

Policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018

A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issue of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of:
(i) the amount of best estimate of the expenditure required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018 and policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Shares held under a share award scheme

Own equity instruments which are reacquired from the market and
held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares) under the share
award scheme of the Company are recognised directly in equity at
cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Upon exercise of share awards, the related costs of the vested
awarded shares repurchased from the market and shares acquired
from reinvesting dividends received on the awarded shares are
credited to the shares held under the share award scheme account,
with a corresponding decrease in the share-based compensation
reserve for the awarded shares.

For vesting of forfeited or unallocated shares regranted, the related
costs of the forfeited or unallocated shares regranted are credited
to the shares held under the share award scheme account, and the
related fair value of the shares regranted are debited to the share-
based compensation reserve. The difference between the cost
and the fair value of the shares regranted is credited to the share
premium account if the fair value is higher than the cost or debited
against retained profits if the fair value is less than the cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included as finance costs in profit
or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the
higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance
with the general guidance for provisions above; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised in accordance with the guidance for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint operations, joint ventures and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, joint operations, joint ventures and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group a significant financial benefit
for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)

(b)

Construction work

Revenue from construction work is recognised over time, using
an output method to measure progress towards complete
satisfaction of the work, because the Group’s performance
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced. The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation of construction
contracts is measured with reference to the certificates issued
by the internal or external surveyors on the performance of
work completed to date.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to
collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs and
margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the most likely amount method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

Sale of properties
Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the

point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018)
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(©

Rendering of services

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised over
the scheduled period on the straight-line basis because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

(a)

(b)

(©

Rental income

Rental income is recognised on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 April
2018)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@ from construction work, on the percentage-of-completion
basis, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Construction contracts (applicable before 1 April 2018)”
below;

(b) from the rendering of other services, when services have been
rendered;

(¢) from the sale of properties, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the properties sold;

(d) rental income, on the straight-line basis over the lease terms;

(e) interestincome, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(f) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.

Contract assets (applicable from 1 April 2018)

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods
or services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by
transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer
pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Contract liabilities (applicable from 1 April 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to
a customer for which the Group has received a consideration (or
an amount of consideration that is due) from the customer. If a
customer pays the consideration before the Group transfers goods
or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when
the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier).
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract.

Contract costs (applicable from 1 April 2018)

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil
a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

() The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the pattern of
the revenue to which the asset related is recognised. Other contract
costs are expensed as incurred.

Costs to obtain a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. Incremental
costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if the
costs relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. The incremental
costs of obtaining a contract are charged to profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the pattern of the revenue
to which the asset related is recognised. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Construction contracts (applicable before 1 April
2018)

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount and
appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims and incentive
payments. Contract costs incurred comprise direct materials, the
costs of subcontracting, direct labour and an appropriate proportion
of variable and fixed construction overheads.

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably, revenue and costs are recognised in profit or loss by
reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at
the end of the reporting period, which is measured by reference
to surveys of the value of work carried out to date as certified by
external valuers. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive
payments are included to the extent that the amount can be
measured reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated
reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract
costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs
are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown as
amounts due from contract customers. For contracts where progress
billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as amounts due
to contract customers. Amounts received before the related work is
performed are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position, as a liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work
performed but not yet paid by the customer are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under trade receivables.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments
Share award scheme

The Group operates a share award scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives for employees to achieve performance goals
and aligning the interests of employees directly to the shareholders
of the Company through ownership of shares of the Company.

The amount to be expensed as share-based compensation expenses
is determined by reference to the fair value of the share awards
granted, taking into account all non-vesting conditions associated
with the grants. The total expense is recognised over the relevant
vesting periods (or on the grant date if the shares vest immediately),
with a corresponding credit to the share-based compensation
reserve under equity.

For those share awards which are amortised over the vesting periods,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of awarded shares
that are expected to ultimately vest based on the vesting conditions
at the end of each reporting period. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is recognised in profit
or loss in the current year, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share-based compensation reserve.

Share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors of the Company) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services as consideration for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)
Share option scheme (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
option pricing model, further details of which are given in note 41
to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

33 TEEHBERME L)

URGBRERSRE)
R E(E)

BT EBZRABER S ZRA - 52
EBTRMGAM L ATENE - AF
{61 7% e 980 1 1 BT 2 R — O LB AR
BERABT o — S ERI B REN
A1 -

RABERH2RA - ERAREZ R
A - HREBRBRRLRB 2%
HEETTZ MEERBRAFEXAER
ARR e BUIRA B ERZ HNE W& HRME
REZAERARR/ILEZ Rt H - R
AR JE i R AN SR BB R A T AR
ZBEARTAHBFL 2 & EME T AR
R EX-—HHEZBEMBRAFTAZE
B ARHEZ B R ARER 2 Rt
X2 &8 -

ETRBERE B ZATER - X
K RIE SRIETHIBE IR - HEEE A AT B
HEBENBERT  AFEAEAREY
REKER TRATAHEREMTZ
— & - TISERRT R SRR E R
ERZRTE - R 0 H A b 75 5
HFUEREAREER) REFETF
o JEMR T IR RN 2R R 2 2 FHE -
B IERIRY B AR B SRAE G - DA
e ISR

RN TISRBEMER SRR G RE
P B 4% 3 48 A 2 SRR & FERR A
X HEBBE—EMSRIERB K
- AIBRARZGEIERE - nEwmA R
MSNIEEBIRHREEENX - HRA
HRB R, IR EZK -

20181943 M Samoszersram H 185 H H



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)
Share option scheme (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

Upon exercise of share options, the resulting shares issued are
recorded by the Company as additional share capital at the nominal
value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share
over the nominal value of the shares is recorded by the Company
in the share premium account. In addition, at the time when the
share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in the
share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to the share
premium account.

Share options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date or
lapse are deleted from the register of outstanding options. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in the
share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to retained
profits as a movement in reserves.

The dilutive effect of outstanding share options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Other employee benefits
Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF Scheme")
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate in
the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in the
PRC and Singapore are required to participate in central pension
schemes operated by the local PRC and Singapore governments,
the assets of which are held separately from those of the Group.
Contributions are made by the subsidiaries based on a percentage of
the participating employees’ salaries and are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the relevant
central pension schemes. The employer contributions vest fully once
made.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs capitalised.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the activity of a construction
contract are included as part of the contract costs.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.

33 TEEHBERME L)

HitESEH
ERHERTE

AEBRBEEERGMEAEEFBED
REBITEBEFR B AE SRR
g([aEestd]) TAER2HARES
ARz EE - KRS EAEZEE
BRzEAHEZXBALLMEL - X
REBESHEZRURENENIEES
R BB CEERARE Y
BEDSRRE BHBLEEESH
B AREMEZBRIHFARARES
AHEIESESERE TES -

AR B B R i 2 BB R ) 2 8
B E 2 el b B N T D0 B P B A
ZHREREFE HEEEAKEE
EDRRE - WEBARRE2EES S
2 ADEXMHK - AR RERED
R R R 5T &R IR AT B IR A 4
B - BEHKEHEE -

BRI

EERABRERRIEABSELEZF
B REALRA

Wi B ESEREE(NFE—
BERHMGEERERERERLE
ZEBE)ERELEZBERATIFT AKA
RIERZEFEERARZ —#D - B%F
BEABAFERER AL ER - &
ERAKZ L ARERA » RASA
BREREENREERBERIRE
HEREMBRERREETER ZEEK
AR

BEANEDEREBHERKARE
HIRA—HE 7

B EL A AR AR B R 2 BRI

20181943 M SHmoszersraz W 187
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201943A31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they have been
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final
dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they
are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on a change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

|
[ N | |
B B 188 M Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Il Annual Report 2018/19

33 TEEHBEME )

IR E

KRN EEREEREAR L
BRRARAE - KRR
RHEAE -

HRARQ R ASERAH L ERMHQE
FTEFRNHHRENEN - B EE
EELEIRT RS - Bk RERE
REZLEIREEERSAE -

SN

WEFBERR DAL RBN e EEE
AR - AEEASEEREITRE
HINGE B  MEEERNMEREA
BENHEBEORBZNEEETE - &
SEETERMACENINER SR
RH5EBNBWREEEXRTE o LA
B ENEREEMBBRBEDRRN
DReEWEXGRE - SEIARLELR
HELANEZENBRER

IASMNES R S R A FT BRI ZEE B B 5 A
BAXSHHNERRE - NERF
B ERFFERHEBRITERAFEER
MERKRE - MBEIZ NP EFENIE
WIHE R ZPIELN RSN EREEER
ZBEEATEESNRBHEE A —
AR EM2EE RN BRTERATF
BRENHEENBREZE  THoRIRE
fbEE R KB HER)

RETBEREREANKERBZIEE
KEEIFEKABRBUERRBRNE
MEE  FAXHRAZERE AR
ZEMRAEEERERRANKEE
EZEREESFERAE LAY -
M FESZ ERMNRERTAWRKIE @ RIK
SEeETBERNRBARFARNRIEZ
XHEH -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

3.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries, joint venture
and associates established in the PRC and overseas are currencies
other than the Hong Kong dollars. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their profits or losses are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation is
treated as an assets of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of certain subsidiaries established in the PRC and
overseas are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of these subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements and have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are set out below:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Classification between joint operations and joint
ventures

The Group has numerous joint arrangements with third parties
for construction work mainly in Hong Kong and under which
decisions about the relevant activities of such arrangements
require the unanimous consent of all parties to the arrangements.
For accounting purposes, the directors of the Company assessed
whether such arrangements are joint operations or joint ventures
under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, taking into consideration the
rights and obligations of parties to the joint arrangements with
reference to the structure, the legal form of the arrangements, the
contractual terms agreed by the parties in the arrangements, and
the relevant facts and circumstances.

Construction contracts

With respect to construction contracts, the Group recognises
contract revenue on a construction contract over time, using an
output method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction
of the construction work, because the Group’s performance creates
or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. The output method recognises revenue based
on the certificates issued by the internal or external surveyors on the
performance or work completed to date, latest available financial
budgets of the construction contract with reference to the overall
performance of the construction contract, and management’s
best estimates and judgements. In developing the financial budget
of a construction contract, construction revenue is estimated in
accordance with the terms set out in the relevant contract. Because
of the nature of the construction industry, management will make
adjustments, where appropriate, to the amounts of construction
revenue based on regular review of contract work progress and
estimated construction revenue.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Construction contracts (continued)

The Group regularly assesses the possible outcome of construction
contracts based on latest facts and circumstances occurred in the
construction contracts, and past experience in conducting similar
construction work. When there is a change in the expected outcome
of construction contracts, the Group will adjust the amounts of
contract revenue to be recognised in profit or loss prospectively.

Determining the method to estimate variable
consideration and assessing the constraint for
construction work

The Group seeks to collect claims from customers as reimbursement
of costs and margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract, which give rise to variable consideration. The
Group has determined that the most likely amount method is the
appropriate method to use in estimating the variable consideration
for claims in construction work, given there is a wide range of
possible outcomes which are subject to negotiations with third
parties.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the
transaction price, the Group considers whether the amount of
variable consideration is constrained by considering its historical
experience, current negotiations with customers and the current
economic conditions.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at 31 March 2019 at their fair value of
approximately HK$166,173,000. The fair value was based on
valuation of these properties conducted by the independent
qualified professional valuers using property valuation techniques
which adopt the direct comparison approach by making reference
to comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant markets.
Favourable or unfavourable changes would result in changes in the
fair value of the Group’s investment properties and corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Determination of net realisable value of land
held for property development, properties under
development and properties held for sale

Land held for property development, properties under development
and properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The net realisable value is the estimated selling
price (based on the direct comparison method) less estimated
selling expenses and estimated cost of completion (if any), which
are determined based on best available information and valuation
performed by independent professional valuers. Where there is
any unfavourable changes in the estimated selling price, estimated
selling expenses and/or estimated cost of completion arising from
any changes to the property market conditions in Hong Kong,
the PRC and the UAE, loss may be recognised in profit or loss on
the Group’s land held for property development, properties under
development and properties held for sale, which had a total carrying
amount of HK$535,394,000 as at 31 March 2019.

Recoverability of an investment deposit and partial
consideration paid for a rescinded acquisition
transaction

As disclosed in note 26(a) to the financial statements, an investment
deposit and partial consideration of HK$198 million in total (defined
in note 26(a) as the “Deposit”) was paid to the Vendor (as defined
in note 26(a)) for the acquisition of a subsidiary in a prior year.
The acquisition transaction was rescinded in March 2017 and the
Vendor shall refund the Deposit to the Group. Despite the Group's
repeated efforts to pursue the Vendor for refund, HK$ 148 million of
the Deposit remained unsettled as at 31 March 2019. In considering
the recoverability of the outstanding amount of the Deposit, the
directors of the Company took into account (i) its latest action plan
to recover the outstanding amount of the Deposit which includes
the execution of the Series of Agreements and the Sale Agreements
(as defined in note 26(a)) and certain legal actions taken or to be
taken by the Group against the Vendor and its shareholder; and
(i) the legal opinion regarding the possible outcome of the legal
actions taken and to be taken, and are of the view that a total of
HK$54.8 million of the outstanding amount of the Deposit may not
be recoverable with reliable certainty and hence an impairment loss
against this amount was recognised in profit or loss during the year
ended 31 March 2019.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Recoverability of an investment deposit and partial
consideration paid for a rescinded acquisition
transaction (continued)

A considerable amount of estimation is required in assessing
the ultimate realisation of this receivable, including the current
creditworthiness of the counterparty to the Sale Agreements and
the ultimate materialisation of the plan to recover the outstanding
amount of the Deposit. If the financial condition of the counterparty
has deteriorated, resulting in an impairment of its ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.

Impairment of goodwiill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill carried
as an asset in the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2019 was HK$45,994,000, details of which are set out in
note 17 to the financial statements.

Income tax

At 31 March 2019, deferred tax assets in relation to unused tax losses
of HK$123,152,000 in aggregate have been recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position whereas deferred
tax asset has not been recognised in respect of tax losses of
HK$456,442,000 as at 31 March 2019 due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams (note 38(a)). The realisability of the deferred
tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or
taxable temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the actual future profits generated are less or more than
expected, a material reversal or further recognition of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal or recognition takes place.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

5.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group's operating businesses are
structured and managed separately according to the nature of their
operations and the products and services they provide. Each of the
Group's operating segments represents a strategic business unit that
offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of the other operating segments.

The chief operating decision maker of the Group has been identified
as the executive directors of the Company and certain senior
management (collectively referred to as the “CODM"). For the
purpose of performance assessment and resource allocation by the
CODM, the Group'’s business activities are categorised under the
following three reportable operating segments:

e  (Construction services — provision of construction and
consultancy services in areas of
civil engineering, electrical and
mechanical engineering, foundation
and building construction

e  Property development — development and sale of properties,
and assets leasing and leasing of assets

e  Professional services - provision of security and facility
management solutions
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenue and results

Segment results represent the gross profit generated from each
segment, net of selling expenses and administrative expenses
directly attributable to each segment without allocation of corporate
expenses, interest income and finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AREBIZA 2REL DA Dz WE R
reportable operating segment: EESIAT -
Year ended 31 March 2019 HZE2019F3A31HLEE
Property
development
Construction and Professional
services  assets leasing services Total
MERR
EER% REEHRE EXRHB ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR THET THET
Segment revenue (note 6): 2 EUE (HfaEe) :
Sales to external customers RSMPRF SHE 7,305,894 7,109 763,045 8,076,048
Intersegment sales DEEHE 51,211 - 19,135 70,346
7,357,105 7,109 782,180 8,146,394
Reconciliation: ”‘JEE
Elimination of intersegment sales AEEHEE 2 HiH (70,346)
8,076,048
Segment results PWEE 150,410 180,255 28,800 359,465
Interest income FEUMA 23,478
Corporate and other unallocated PEREAM
expenses FOEHY (125,862)
Finance costs RERA (91,920)
Profit before tax BRER AR A 165,161
Income tax st (24,066)
Profit for the year NEERF) 141,095
Other segment information: HitppHER
Share of profits and losses of [EfE &8N AIRH R EE
joint ventures 6,400 - - 6,400
Share of profits and losses of associates  JE{GH# < A AR FI| M E B - (1,332) - (1,332)
Depreciation £ (35,517) (8,196) (5,503) (49,216)
Fair value gain of investment properties, 1% & ¥4 N FE U F 5
net - 26,623 - 26,623
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEYE « BRTRE
plant and equipment, net HE Zﬂkﬁﬁ)%a‘ 1,880 - 31 1,911
Impairment of items of property, plant 1% « R R HIE
and equipment 1BE ZRE - (7,500) - (7,500)
Impairment of an investment deposit H—BEAERER S
and partial consideration paid for REMNEERS
a rescinded acquisition transaction RBAREZRE
(unallocated asset) (RDEREBE) (54,800)
|
[ | [ N |
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31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5.
Segment revenue and results (continued)

RasER 2
Pl 6 S E S E D)

Year ended 31 March 2018

HZE2018%F3A31HILFE

Segment revenue: 2 Ep Uk
Sales to external customers RN P HE 7,679,501 3,601 547,953 8,231,055
Intersegment sales DEBEIHE 242,496 - 25,147 267,643
7,921,997 3,601 573,100 8,498,698
Reconciliation: 8 -
Elimination of intersegment sales 7 ZBR $5 6 2 K55 (267,643)
8,231,055
Segment results DE LS 116,336 197,707 26,662 340,705
Interest income FEUWA 15,827
Corporate and other 15 R EA
unallocated expenses ROBRAXZ (59,494)
Finance costs AN (66,838)
Profit before tax MELEIR A 230,200
Income tax FTiS Rt (66,523)
Profit for the year REEHF 163,677
Other segment information: Hitt 5 IEH
Share of profit of a joint Eit—fHEE
venture NI 797 - - 797
Share of profits and losses of FE(REE &N B R F
associates KE#E - 4,129 = 4,129
Depreciation e (36,460) (6,236) (2,003) (44,699)
Fair value gain of investment wENENTE
properties, net Wiz F 58 - 261,900 - 261,900
Loss on disposal of items of HEME - #ER
property, plant and FiBEE B8
equipment, net HEE (416) (49) (205) (670)
Impairment of items of property, — #% - &2 MR E
plant and equipment IBH ZRE - (10,000) - (10,000)

|
HE |
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31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. RETHER#E)
Segment assets and liabilities PEEERAE
Segment assets and liabilities information is not disclosed as they are AR EBEERKEWIET RN B
not regularly reviewed by the CODM. BENRBE WAEBERTIERE -
Geographical information wEER
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) REMBEEzWEE

Hong Kong EB 8,020,627 8,092,338
Macau SR PY 22,827 84,815
Mainland China A B A 2,112 1,800
The UAE FA Bt 28 330 974
Other jurisdictions Hih w5 AR R 30,152 51,128
8,076,048 8,231,055
The revenue information disclosed above is based on the EaiiFE 2 W ER TR R P AT
locations of the customers. EHmEH 48 -
(b) Non-current assets (b) ERBEE

Hong Kong BE 1,034,643 569,192
Mainland China AR A 6,107 4,116
Other jurisdictions Hibal iR 74,742 83,051
1,115,492 656,359
The non-current asset information disclosed above is based EHiFEZIERBEEER TIRE
on the locations of the assets and excludes goodwill, financial BETEERE  sREEREE
assets and deferred tax assets. HIBEE)TEmIEL 248 -
[ |
[ | H N
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31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. KesMER @)
Information about a major customer ER—BXEEFZER
A summary of revenue earned from an external customer which REZE2019F £ 2018F3 A31 B IE&F
contributed more than 10% of the Group's revenue for each of the EXEANEBERNZERZEI0ONA LR
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 is set out below: —RINBE PR ST EERSINT

Customer A: BPEA:
Contribution to construction services segment BREERE DL 4,674,049 5,289,650
Contribution to professional services segment BREEREHEL 248,521 2,709
4,922,570 5,292,359
6. REVENUE 6. EHE
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: REEZEEEITHT -

Construction work income FEETIZWA 7,281,136 7,629,573
Construction-related consultancy service income  ZEEEERA A 8 ARAS 2 WA 24,758 49,928
Sales of properties SHEMZ 2,112 1,800
Gross rental income from assets leasing BEME WAL 4,997 1,801
Security and facility management solutions service &% N 287 & 12
income ISl N 763,045 547,953
8,076,048 8,231,055
|
[ N | |
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6. REVENUE (continued)

Notes:
(a) Disaggregated revenue information

Year ended 31 March 2019

Type of goods or services

Construction work

Rendering of construction-related
consultancy services

Sale of properties

Rendering of security and facility
management solutions services

Total revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from another source — Gross rental income

Total revenue

Geographical markets
Hong Kong

Macau

Mainland China

Other jurisdictions

Total revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from another source — Gross rental income

Total revenue

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time
Services transferred over time

Total revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from another source — Gross rental income

Total revenue

ERRBHER

BETR

RIS AR

HEME

RERZ RRHEER
FRR T RERAS

REFPAMNZ IR

REEMIR 2 e
—HeRABE

Hit Al AR

REBPANZKEHE

A E R 2 Weas
ik Nt

LhEa it

WS HERR I
REEHELER
BERSRER RIS

REBPANZ KRR

REEMIRZ Wz
ik N

6. XX (&

i}
(a)

w

ERB2OHREN

HZE2019F3A31HLFE

7,281,136 - - 7,281,136
24,758 - - 24,758

- 2,112 - 2,112

- - 763,045 763,045
7,305,894 2,112 763,045 8,071,051
- 4,997 - 4,997
7,305,894 7,109 763,045 8,076,048
7,252,915 - 763,045 8,015,960
22,827 - - 22,827

- 2,112 - 2,112

30,152 - - 30,152
7,305,894 2,112 763,045 8,071,051
- 4,997 - 4,997
7,305,894 7,109 763,045 8,076,048
- 2,112 - 2,112
7,305,894 - 763,045 8,068,939
7,305,894 2,112 763,045 8,071,051
- 4,997 - 4,997
7,305,894 7,109 763,045 8,076,048

|

20181943 M Samoszersram H 199 H H



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

6. REVENUE (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(b)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the
current reporting period that were included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

6.

EXREH)
Wi (40

(a)

ERBDIFENE)

TRINFRARERRNER Z MR S5
ZETHEH ARSI 2 OBERK
FEATHME TR BHEEH R :

2019
2019
HK$'000
THET
Revenue recognised that was included in contract liabilities FFARSEEBUENAEZ
at the beginning of the reporting period: B iR
Sale of properties HEYE 1,956
Revenue recognised from performance obligations satisfied [ SC AT HAR A sk SR D iERR B B
or partially satisfied in previous periods: i iR Yz
Revenue from construction work services not previously [R5 AT 84X (B 59 PR il T SE BT AR FERR
recognised due to constraints on variable consideration REBETRRE 2 WS 452,237

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations in contracts with
customers is summarised below:

Construction work

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered
and payment is generally due within one month from the date of billing.
A certain percentage of payment is retained by customers until the end
of the retention period as the Group's entitlement to the final payment is
conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a
certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

Construction-related consultancy services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time when the services are

rendered and payment is generally due within 30 days from the date of
billing.
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(b) BHEIME

EMARE Y B5ANE DR TER T
T

BEIRE

BHBEAEREIR A ARAG By P MRk - AR
—R B ARE MR —EA AT
Xt BEPERE —ELHZARERR
BEHER - ARARKEUWEUREN K2
MEAREFPERNRE 2 —BRERARZ
BHRBEBRINE -

BB AR
RAEERERB R E B EmEK - M

%— MBI AT AR 308 BB
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31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

6. REVENUE (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(b) Performance obligations (continued)
Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time upon transfer of
the control of properties sold and payment in advance is normally required.

Security and facility management solutions services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time when the services are
rendered and payment is generally due within 30 days from the date of

billing.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2019 are as follows:

EXREH)
Wi+ (4)

(b) BHEEE)

SHEME

BROBREDREBBEENEZIRHIRE
IRGER - BBEHEENNR

RERRIEERIAT RRIS

7B 0B (ERRAR TS IR G O BRI AR - T
$— AR B AT B S 308 BB
fif o

HZE201943A318 @ MBTEHET (R
ER I D RIER) D EEZ R B EIRLT ¢

HK$'000

TET

Within one year —FE AR 7,940,878
More than one year HiE—F 9,072,056
17,012,934

The remaining performance obligations expected to be recognised in more
than one year relate to construction work that are to be satisfied within five
years. All the other remaining performance obligations are expected to be
recognised within one year. The amounts disclosed above do not include
variable consideration which is constrained.

BHNBE - FHERZBTENEETIR
R AEFENER I BRETIE - FHHPT
BEMBRTREROREHN —FAHER - L
BAEEZ SR TEEBEZ RS 2 2K

20181193 M SHmazzerara= 201
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS »*
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 7. Hi ARG FEE
2019 2018
20194 20184
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FTHET FAT
Other income HAl A
Interest income FBUA 23,478 15,827
Other rental income EFAE WA 73 83
Guarantee income FERIA 32(a) 16,602 17,713
Management fee income BEEBIA 4,362 1,255
Sundry income HIBUA 8,592 10,725
53,107 45,603
Gains, net W FEE
Gain on sale of a property interest BEHERBARLE
through disposal of subsidiaries — IR 2 W 44(a) 257,674 =
Gains on disposal of other HH Y HL h BT 8 2 A
subsidiaries, net Z W 5 5 44(b) - 19,996
Gains on deregistration of BB A R
subsidiaries, net Z W 5 58 9 5,693
Gain on sale of a property interest BEiEHE — M AR
through disposal of an associate HE—TBY R
2 ez5 - 2,075
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEME « HE RRE
plant and equipment, net BB 2 Wz F 1,911 -
Gains on disposal of non-current assets  HE&ESEAFIEHE 2
classified as held for sale FEMENE 2 W - 14,713
Foreign exchange gain, net B 5 W s F R - 589
259,594 43,066
Other income and gains, net HiW AR Wz 5 58 312,701 88,669




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BMERA
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: REBZ@BEKADITIT :
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Interest on: ANEIEZFE
Bank borrowings HRITIERK 83,584 81,445
Hire purchase contract and finance lease HEEHRRERE
payables FERTEIE 442 679
Convertible bonds AR & - 11,725
Guaranteed bonds ERES 2,263 2,417
86,289 96,266
Imputed interest on: HEFS
Convertible bonds AR & - 15,420
Interest-free loans from a non-controlling equity 2R & — & 1B A 7 3F2EA%
holder of a subsidiary fREREAZ REER 2,035 6,781
2,035 22,201
Total interest expenses B ERX 88,324 118,467
Amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in BRRITERLTHES
connection with the arrangement of bank loans 7 & B4 K 2N 27 #6 54 15,327 6,607
Total finance costs HEEE AR 103,651 125,074
Less: Amount included in cost of W T ARETIE RIS
construction work services 2 HEE (4,265) (12,433)
Amount capitalised in properties under BREARZERPYHE
development 2 H5E (7,466) (15,132)
Amount capitalised in an investment BrEARE—IBEE
property under construction TEME 2 BE
(note 16) (fizE16) - (30,671)
91,920 66,338
|
[ | [ N |
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS »*
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

9. BRBLATRA
AEE 2 RBATEREMR S GIA) T

&8 :
2019 2018
20194 20184
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FExT FA&T
Cost of construction work BETIZRA 6,891,365 7,312,822
Cost of construction-related consultancy IR EEIBRELA
services provided RRAE A AR 19,284 37,223
Cost of properties sold EEMEAA 2,983 1,800
Direct operating expenses (including W& 2 EEMES
repairs and maintenance) arising on ZEEEERX
rental-earning assets (PEEERERE) 16,714 14,489
Cost of security and facility management Zi2HR% & 3% b B T2
solutions services provided fiRR T 2 7 ARTS AR AN 691,159 480,007
Depreciation e 15 49,216 44,699
Less: Amount included in cost of W AT AL TREKA
construction work 28 (28,228) (29,809)
20,988 14,890
Minimum lease payments under EEMAO T 2 &EHEE
operating leases (NE:N 113,878 135,806
Less: Amount included in cost of B EFARE TR
construction work ol ¢ (90,525) (113,077)
23,353 22,729
Auditor’s remuneration 22 GT e 4,696 4,733




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
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31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 9. BR®BIADGEF (&)
2019 2018
20195 2018%F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt FTHET FAT
Employee benefit expense (including EERAMFZ(BEES
directors’ remuneration — note 10): B < — Fg=E10)
Salaries, allowances and e ERMEEYREN
benefits in kind 2,217,969 2,074,310
Share award expense %17 BB 2 40(a) 1,381 3,443
Equity-settled share option expense ARG AN G 2 BE A
i< 41(b) 7,004 2,832
Other equity-settled share-based HAtb AR A &EE 2 A
payment expense (note) B B EE AT KA
s (L) 2,300 —
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R {R4E 5T 2% 60,426 64,644
Total employee benefit expense EERAIFZ 858 2,289,080 2,145,229
Less: Amount included in cost of B ETARE TR
construction work =R (1,340,834) (1,361,954)
Amount included in cost T AR AR TSR AR
of services provided -t (658,169) (514,314)
290,077 268,961
Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net PE 518 (e ) /$ 58 2,840 (589)
Fair value loss of equity investments at  $Z/A (AT AlBzs 2 IR
fair value through profit or loss B 2 A FEEE 15 25
(Gain)/loss on sale of property interests 3% i@ £ & i B A A
through disposal of subsidiaries HEMEER
(Wezs) /BHE 44(a) (257,674) 264
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of HEMZE - s R
property, plant and equipment, net ER 2z (), k8
YHEE (1,911) 670
Loss on modifications of terms of CHEE TS
convertible bonds B8 34(a), (b) - 10,132
Impairment of items of property, YIZE - R REREIER
plant and equipment ZRE 15(c) 7,500 10,000
Write-off of items of property, YIZE - R RERBIER
plant and equipment Z AR 208 286
Impairment of an investment deposit H—EEHHKER S
and partial consideration paid for WEIRERS R
a rescinded acquisition transaction A RAB ZRE 26(a) 54,800 =
[ |
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31 March 2019
201943A31H

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

Note: During the year, the Group disposed of 5% equity interest in a subsidiary

to a director of the subsidiary at a cash consideration of HK$2,500,000.
The fair value of the equity interest of the subsidiary disposed of was
determined with reference to a valuation performed by CH Global Valuation
& Advisory Services Limited, an independent professionally qualified valuer
registered in Hong Kong, using a market-based valuation technique, based
on assumptions that are not supported by observable market prices or
rates. The valuation requires the directors of the Company to determine
comparable public companies based on industry, size, leverage and
strategy, and calculates an appropriate price multiple (price to earnings
multiple from 5.69 to 19.68) for each comparable company identified. The
multiple is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the comparable
company by an earnings measure. The trading multiple is then discounted
for considerations such as illiquidity and size differences between the
comparable companies based on company-specific facts and circumstances.
The discounted multiple (marketability discount of 35%) is applied to
the corresponding earnings measure of the unlisted equity investment to
measure the fair value.

Based on the valuation, the fair value of the aforesaid 5% equity interest
of the subsidiary disposed of interest was assessed to be approximately
HK$4,800,000, and therefore the difference between its fair value and the
consideration received, which amounted to HK$2,300,000, was recognised
as an equity-settled share-based payment expense in profit or loss during
the year.
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9. BR¥IADGZA(2)

Mzt AFER - AEB IR $ MR E2,500,000
BrR—EHB AR —REBEHEKHEB
ARIS%ER - BEHBARZRENA
FED2EEERYGHEZARBSERA
RI(RBBEMABL BEESERMGEERM)
RBEI IER AT B sk A R FF A BRaR
FRATMSEERIT#E TG - FEESAR
ANRIEFERITE - B8 - BIERRERRE
EALERZ ETAR - WASE#AIRIL
BARGTEEENEEREER (N T5.69%8
19.68MI AR ) « FHTHL A LB A FH
EBER ARG 2RATE - £EIRE
RARNENSEERER  EREATLERA
Az EMRBEREREERESEERE - HR
SIEEHETME - BAREH(TER
MREIEER35% ) AR IE EMRAIRER
AREWETE - U EEATE -

RIEGHE - LB EHE AR Z5%1E
= M)A FEEF4 54,800,000 7T
b ERAFEEMRREZENEZER
2,300,000 7T + ANFEAIEIBZFRER
B AEE 7 LD AERA AR
3{ °
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31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

10. EZ=EEN

BREBXAES ETRU( EHR
A1) ~ BB RAENEDIFE383(1)(@) ~ (b) * (0)
KOG AR (WEEENZER) RIS
28 NREE 7 EZMESWBNT ¢

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Fees e 690 690
Other emoluments: HiE < :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EBREYEF 13,043 12,947

Equity-settled share option expense AR 455 2 B AR Al 2 2,504 960

Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFIFT B 161 149

15,708 14,056

Total directors’ remuneration E=Me Bz 16,398 14,746

Certain directors were granted share options in the prior financial BERNARERESE - EFTEFER

year, in respect of their services to the Group, under the share
option scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out
in note 41 to the financial statements. The fair value of these share
options, which has been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting
period,was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current financial year is
included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

BEMBERRRESANREMIERD
RAGER T REAE  HE—SFBER
MEmERMEL - ZEFEREERERR
THRBNEREZ A TFEERELE B H
BE - MRAMBEEFAMBRRD
SHEHALAEEMESRER -
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31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 10. EEM < (2)
An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a named basis, is as NAEZBAXEL 2 EZME DT ¢
follows:
Year ended 31 March 2019 BZ2019F3A31HLEFE

Executive directors; HIES:
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic ] - 2,797 626 18 3,441
Xu Jianhua g - 2,929 626 18 3,573
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick T—H - 3,062 - 60 3,122
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant Sl - 2,206 626 60 2,892
Li Wai Hang, Christina B3y - 1,937 251 - 2,188
Han Li T - 12 - 5 17
- 13,043 2,129 161 15,333
Independent non-executive BUFEHTES :
directors:
Wu William Wai Leung hiER 230 - 125 - 355
Lam Yau Fung, Curt WEE 230 - 125 - 355
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang EE 230 - 125 - 355
690 - 375 - 1,065
Total Rk 690 13,043 2,504 161 16,398
[ |
| W | [ |
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -*
MR R

31 March 2019

201943 H31H

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2018

10. EEM<E (2
HZE2018F3A31HILFE

Executive directors: HTES:
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic B = 2,965 240 18 3,223
Xu Jianhua TR - 3,094 240 18 3,352
Pang Yat Bond, Derrick 7 = 3,227 = 60 3,287
Shea Chun Lok, Quadrant? St = 1,662 240 43 1,945
Li Wai Hang, Christina3 Sy - 979 96 - 1,075
Kwok Yuk Chiu, Clement* SRS 44 - 1,020 - 10 1,030
- 12,947 816 149 13,912
Independent non-executive BAUFEMTES -
directors:
Wu William Wai Leung thiEs 230 - 48 = 278
Lam Yau Fung, Curt waE 230 = 48 = 278
Ho Gilbert Chi Hang AEE 230 - 48 = 278
690 - 144 - 834
Total 4z 690 12,947 960 149 14,746

appointed as an executive director on 24 April 2018
appointed as an executive director on 13 July 2017
appointed as an executive director on 2 November 2017
resigned as an executive director on 1 June 2017

A woN -

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration during the year (2018: Nil).

A woN -

REER - WEEMNLHEESRIEN

R2018F4A24BEZ T ANITES
R2017F7A13EEZEARITES
R2017FE 11 2B EREARITES
R2017E6 A1 BEERITES

RHRENRIME(20185F : &) -
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31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 1. EEREFHNESR
The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2018: REEAN AAmasHEEBEAR
three) directors of the Company, details of whose emoluments ARG (20185 : =R)EE  HEH
are set out in note 10 above. Details of the remuneration for the BEER _EXXKIaE10 - FREEE=4(2018
year of the remaining three (2018: two) non-director highest paid F:WR)IIEERTHES 2EHHNF
employees are as follows: BT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R LREYET 10,388 7,220
Equity-settled share option expense LARRA#E B 2 B AR iR 2 1,066 314
Other equity-settled share-based EM AR AR LEE 2 AN &
payment expense B RERS 2,300 =
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRBEHIFTEI TR 180 120
13,934 7,654
The number of non-director highest paid employees whose MeNFTIBERN FFEEH T M
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: EEZABMT :

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001787T.%4,000,000/7T 1 2
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001%7T.%4,500,000/7T 1 =
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 £ £6,000,00078 7T 1 =
3 2
[
HE [
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31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

12. INCOME TAX

An analysis of the Group's income tax is as follows:

12. FR5%
AEB T FERA WM -

2019 2018
20195 2018%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Current — Hong Kong BUE— &
Charge for the year REERZ 27,166 51,837
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BEFERETRE
GBERE) 3,279 (2,192)
30,445 49,645
Current — Mainland China BNER — AR B At
Charge for the year AREFE R 90 808
Withholding tax on dividend distributed B0k E 2 FEHF
(note (b)) (FEE(b)) - 23,806
Under-provision in prior years BREFERETR - 649
90 25,263
Current — Elsewhere BNVER— Efthith 75
Charge for the year AREEHRZ 2,817 2,262
Under/(over)-provision in prior years BEFEEERIR
GBERE) 669 (5,054)
3,486 (2,792)
Deferred (note 38) IRIE (H17E38) (9,955) (5,593)
Total tax expense for the year REERHIAR X 4250 24,066 66,523
Notes: s -
(@ Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (@ BANERDEAGFERNERBELEZR

(2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year. Commencing from the year ended
31 March 2019, the assessable profits of a Hong Kong incorporated
subsidiary (as elected by the directors) are subject to the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime, which was effective on 28 March 2019, such that the first
HK$2 million of assessable profits will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Amount represented withholding tax of the PRC levied at the rate of 10%
on dividend income of HK$238 million distributed by two subsidiaries of the
Company established in Mainland China during the year ended 31 March
2018.

(b)

ST RERRR & A LA16.5% (20184F :16.5% )&t
B - BEE2019F3A31H IEFEHE -
R E ML K BB A 7] K FE R B F
(RESZHERE)BBTNR2019F3 A28H
ERBBTIEHERHEORE - ZHlE
R 7E B 2,000,000 Tt A9 & 3R B0% F # 1%
8.25% %A » K iB3i82,000,00058 JTHY fE &R
Tt St F A5 12 16.5% 8015 o mhH 4 3t [ FE R
FimMET 2 BE - HREBEARELE
AlERER 2 BRITH KT H -

SHEEEHE2018F3A31 B ILFERAR A
R BAK Y 2 REHE AR IR
fi% 2. 4% A 238,000,000/ 7T * 2 10% i R
Wz P ETERF o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .
S 35 R P

31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

12. INCOME TAX (continued) 12. FIEFH (%)
Notes: (continued) Misx : (&)
() A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the (0 AEMEFTE ZRFAFE R IER
statutory rates to the tax expense at the Group's effective tax rate is as YEHEEAEBERRRAZE o MEBERYZ
follows: HERAOR ¢

Profit before tax B 55 A& A 165,161 230,200
Tax expense at the statutory BOREMR ZHIBRAS

tax rates 24,479 14.8 37,778 16.4
Profits and losses attributable AENE REE AR

to joint ventures and associates FEAG 25w T K g5 HE (836) (0.5 (813) (0.4)
Income not subject to tax BAGHH 2 WA (51,152) (31.0) (51,488) (22.4)
Expenses not deductible for tax EEIE i 3 12,739 7.8 25,429 1.1
Withholding tax on dividend distributed =4 &A% 8 2 FEFIH - - 23,806 10.3
Under/(over)-provision in prior BEFERETR

years, net (BERE) - F8 3,948 24 (6,597) (2.9)
Tax losses not recognised KRR 2 HIEEE 40,637 24.6 45,740 19.9
Tax losses utilised from previous EFASCATERE 2

periods FiIaE1a (5,289) (3.2) (9,386) (4.1)
Others Hh (460) (0.3) 2,054 0.9
Tax expense at the Group’s BRASEERHE

effective tax rate stEZBIAX 24,066 14.6 66,523 288

13. DIVIDENDS 13. RE

Interim — HK1.26 cents (2018: HK1.23 cents) RHE - B E R 26781
per ordinary share (20184 : 1.23784l) 23,479 23,069
Proposed final — HK0.84 cent BE A - ERE®AR0.847 1
(2018: HK1.09 cents) per ordinary share (20184 : 1.09711L) 15,652 20,425
39,131 43,494
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval REEZEZARAKREBFARARRE
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general REERRBFAE ERER - FAE
meeting. i
|
[ N | |
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

14. KR TIRRELBREF

OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on
the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is (i) the weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year; less (i) the weighted average number of
ordinary shares held under the share award scheme of the Company
during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is based on
the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation is the total of (i) the weighted average number of
ordinary shares used in the basic earnings per share calculation; and
(i) the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to
have been awarded at no consideration on the deemed exercise of
all rights of shares held under the Company’s share award scheme.
The share options of the Company outstanding during the years
ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 had no diluting effect on the basic
earnings per share amounts presented.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share amounts is

BREABMNESEIRBEANRABRRE
EARFEGMAE - Mt EMANER
BobniE 2R ()AF E B 31T 2 E B
DREFHER RN AFREREAR B
0 2B IR 2 BB F A -

FRESRFNSEIIBEARRREE
MAFERFNFTE  MatBmBA LB
X INEFE B ALAT 24858 : ()ztES
&% BN B A B FB A X S AR DA S Y9
R ()BREARMETTE AR T Z &5 25T
B TEHB A AERDENFZEZRER
T EBAR 2 DIE T E - B = 2019F &
2018F3A31HIEFE  MARITE 2B
BWEHESREARRFCHEEHETE -

BREAREERNSBEIREATH

based on the following data: EEtE
Earnings 2 F|
2019 2018
20195 2018%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FA&T
Profit for the year attributable to shareholders PN/ Y Y i N5
of the Company, used in the basic and diluted wAl - ARETEER
earnings per share calculation HARNEE R T 136,648 150,176
Number of shares R&oEA
2019 2018
20195 2018%F
Weighted average number of ordinary shares REEFDBITEBARINE
in issue during the year less weighted average FHEURAFEE R
number of ordinary shares held under the i BB =T 8RR 2
share award scheme during the year, used LB INREFIE -
in the basic earnings per share calculation ARt E S EARZF 1,853,952,921 1,701,591,975
Effect of dilution of shares held under the RIBMR D R SIS 2
share award scheme f&fh 2 BEE &
— weighted average number of ordinary shares — EBAT N8 1,869,239 4,353,098
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, TmA e £y
used in the diluted earnings per share calculation FREHE SIES AT 1,855,822,160 1,705,945,073
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -

B R AR P

31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 March 2019

At 1 April 2018:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Net carrying amount

Net carrying amount:

At 1 April 2018

Additions

Depreciation provided during
the year

Impairment recognised during
the year (note ()

Disposals and write-off

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2019

At 31 March 2019:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

BB 214 B asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited [ Annual Report 2018/19

201943H31H

M2018F4 818 ¢
B
RFHTERRE

REHE

BREHE
#2018F4 818
NE
REENFR

e
REEHR L
B (P EE)
& R
B A

20193 A31H
#20193A318 :

2N
ZEHERAE

FREHE

15. YI2% - WBERRE

70,692 344,977 128,836 70,999 615,504
(33,480) (204,673) (69,885) (50,570) (358,608)
37,212 140,304 58,951 20,429 256,896
37,212 140,304 58,951 20,429 256,896

880 51,054 20,185 16,364 88,483
(1,700) (24,483) (16,385) (6,648) (49,216)
- - (7,500) - (7,500)

- (1,324) (208) (2,193) (3,725)

(274) - (19) (37) (330)
36,118 165,551 55,024 27,915 284,608
71,286 384,565 148,441 72,254 676,546
(35,168) (219,014) (93,417) (44,339) (391,938)
36,118 165,551 55,024 27,915 284,608




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .
A 55 Ak Y

31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

15. Y% - MBERREE)

31 March 2018 201853A31H
At 1 April 2017: RK2017F4R18 :
Cost A 70,093 339,068 101,074 77,673 587,908
Accumulated depreciation ZE (31,836) (184,505) (50,877) (52,877) (320,095)
Net carrying amount REFE 38,257 154,563 50,197 24,796 267,813
Net carrying amount; AREDRA -
At 1 April 2017 R2017F4R18 38,257 154,563 50,197 24,796 267,813
Additions AR = 11,199 31,926 3,705 46,830
Depreciation provided AEEREHR
during the year il (1,623) (24,574) (11,597) (6,905) (44,699)
Impairment recognised REEAER
during the year (note(c)) W E (M) = = (10,000) = (10,000)
Deregistration of subsidiaries G EalEYNG - - 311) (38) (349)
Disposals and write-off & KR - (884) (1,330) (1,198) (3,412)
Exchange realignment B 3 AR 578 = 66 69 713
At 31 March 2018 1201853 A31H 37,212 140,304 58,951 20,429 256,896
At 31 March 2018: 72018%3A310 :
Cost BN 70,692 344,977 128,836 70,999 615,504
Accumulated depreciation and ZEMERRE
impairment (33,480) (204,673) (69,885) (50,570) (358,608)
Net carrying amount REFE 37,212 140,304 58,951 20,429 256,896
Notes: Btz -

(@)  The net carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
held under hire purchase contracts and finance leases included in the total
amounts of plant and machinery and motor vehicles as at 31 March 2019
were HK$22,121,000 (2018: HK$26,024,000) and HK$1,285,000 (2018:
HK$3,510,000), respectively.

(b) At 31 March 2019, certain of the Group’s land and buildings, and plant
and machinery with then net carrying amounts of HK$8,749,000 (2018:
HK$8,311,000) and nil (2018: HK$12,364,000), respectively, were pledged
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 33(e)).

AEESFTA201943H31 8 2 #22 MR
BB ZBBEANZRBEAEBEARMENR
EREME  BERZEZE@FES R
722,121,000/ 7T (20184 : 26,024,000/
7T ) 5 1,285,0007% 7T (20184F : 3,510,000
BIT) ©

M20195F3A31H  AEBBEFET L
RIBFMMEE KR HEREFES A
8,749,0007% 7T (20184F : 8,311,000 7T )
T2 4% (2018 : 12,364,000/8 1) « {ERALE
B —RERITRE 2 BR(FEE33(e) »
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)  The Group incurred operating losses for its assets leasing business, which
did not generate enough cash flows to cover the operating costs. In view
of this, an impairment assessment of the relevant property, plant and
equipment was performed by the Group based on a value in use calculation
using the discounted cash flow method and an impairment loss of
HK$7,500,000 (2018: HK$10,000,000) was recognised against these assets
based on the results of the impairment assessment. The discount rate used
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in the calculation was 10%.

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. M1 ~ BB RRE )

(o=

()

()

AEERHEEREXBEALE SIS -
ZEBEENRETRELTRABREL
BN o BERIL  ASERBMRES
AT EMEREEE AR E ek
BEETREZ TG - RARERETGE
R RS EERRRBEEEA7,500,000
775 (20184 : 10,000,000 7T) ° 5HEFF

RZHTEERI0% °

16. REYHE

Under
Completed construction Total
®T EEIR B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FE T TExT FExT
(note (a))
(Fff=E(a))
Carrying amount at 1 April 2017 M2017564 718
B EREE 26,120 840,000 866,120
Additions NE 1,188 26,281 27,469
Interest capitalised (note 8) B 2 FILE (FiEES) = 30,671 30,671
Net (loss)/gain from fair value NEFAR(EE),
adjustments Uz 558 (4,063) 265,963 261,900
Disposal of a subsidiary HE B AR
(notes (b) and 44(a)) (PifE(b) }244(a)) - (1,162,915) (1,162,915)
Exchange realignment b K 377 - 377
Disposals af=— (9,359) = (9,359)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2018 120183 HA31H &
and 1 April 2018 2018F4 818/
fREE 14,263 - 14,263
Additions INE 102,011 - 102,011
Transfer from prepayments and F TR RRIE K
deposits BEER 34,068 - 34,068
Net gain from fair value adjustments NFERE 2 W55 26,623 = 26,623
Disposals (note (c)) H & (M) (10,782) = (10,782)
Exchange realignment b H A (10) - (10)
Carrying amount at R201943 8318
31 March 2019 KERMEE 166,173 - 166,173




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes:

(a)

The Group's completed investment properties consisting of residential
properties in the UAE, industrial properties and car parking spaces in Hong
Kong (2018: residential properties in the UAE) are leased to third parties
under operating leases, further summary details of which are included in
note 46(a) to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2019, certain completed investment properties of the Group
with a then carrying amount of HK$163,074,000 (2018: Nil) were pledged
to secure certain general banking facilities granted to the Group (note
33(e)).

In October 2016, the Group acquired a residential development project (the
“Waterloo Project”) at No.128 Waterloo Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong from
an independent third party. The Group plans to redevelop the property into
a residential building for leasing to third parties under operating leases.
Accordingly, the Waterloo Project was classified as an investment property
under construction as at 31 March 2017.

On 7 March 2018, the Group sold 60% interest in the Waterloo Project to
Top Spring Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited (“Top Spring Chun
Wo",
an independent third party for the sole purpose of holding the Waterloo
Project) for a total cash consideration of HK$476,721,000, which was
settled in full in the prior financial year.

a 40% owned associate of the Group formed by the Group and

As a result of the transaction, the Waterloo Project was derecognised and,
with reference to the transaction price, a fair value gain of approximately
HK$266 million on the remeasurement of the Waterloo Project immediately
before the completion of the transaction was recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 March 2018.

During the year, the Group sold certain residential units in the UAE to an
independent third party for a total cash consideration of Emirati Dirham
("AED") 5,050,000 (equivalent to HK$10,782,000). As a result of the
transaction, these residential units were derecognised and, with reference
to the transaction price, a fair value loss of AED74,000 (equivalent to
HK$158,000) on the remeasurement of these residential units immediately
before the completion of the transaction was recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 March 2019. All sale proceeds were received
during the year.

Subsequent to the reporting period, on 14 April 2019, the Group sold the
remaining residential unit in the UAE to the independent third party for a
cash consideration of AED1,450,000 (equivalent to HK$3,099,000). A fair
value loss of approximately AED 100,000 (equivalent to HK$214,000) on the
remeasurement of the residential unit was recognised in profit or loss during
the year ended 31 March 2019 with reference to the transaction price.

2018/194 M =5)MHEE

16. REWE (&

!

(a)

(b)

()

#

REEZETREYEDIEMBENEE
#@% TR BRI EYEREM(2018

B ETYE) ERBLETHENR
%%:E HE—SHBRUBRERNE
46(a)iit o

7201943 A31H * BRE(E163,074,0007% T
(20185 : B )M AEEE T 2R TIREY
¥EERREAAEBERE T —RIBITH
& 2 R (MIE33(e)) ©

M20165F 108  AEBE—BBIYE=H
BARBNEBITZB128RFEHEER
([EiTEEEE ]) - AEEFEIREZY
E¥AEEEFUREBLEHERNE=H
FAWE - Bk - R20174938318 » BITE
EHBEENEATEEIREME -

1K2018F3A7H ' AEERKSEMYE
BERIEBRARAR([HREMN] - AAEE
BB UE=HEAFETITEEER
ML » REAEEEFA0% 2B R E])
HEBITEEER 260%H#s - ARER
B5476,721,0007% 7T * ER E—EMERE
ERHEE -

HREARS - BiTE£EHEEBHIUE
BRARZERSER  BETKXHA
EFHEBRTZEER ZATFERELD
266,000,000 T E R E E2018F3A31H
IEFEHNERATER

REEFER - ANEEIZR £ (E5,050,000F]
B eg i o ([mhad ) (FBE 410,782,000
BB ENE TEEEMEE T
BYE=F - At * ZZFEEBELE WM
HER  WRERHER  BEXHTR
MEFFIEZSEEENELNATFEZ
E51874,000:8 1748 (FHE 74 158,000 7T) B

ﬂ&izo19¢3ﬂ31 HIEFER B
R o FTEHE S IIB R AE E A URER

REHR - A2019F4 8148 - AEBSAL
B Bt B B R R BB B FIB B =
F o WA KRB E1,450,000:8 018 (FBE R
3,099,000/ 7T ) - RER HEIE + EFFT
EEEEMNEENRTEEIEA100,000:
H I (FEE7214,000/8 7T ) RE Z20194 3
A31BIEFERBmRHER o

[ |
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(d)

At 31 March 2019, the Group's investment properties were remeasured
based on valuations performed by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2018:
Cluttons, LLC), independent professional qualified valuers. Each year, the
Group's senior management decides which external valuers to be appointed
for the external valuations of the Group’s investment properties. Selection
criteria include market knowledge, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained. The Group’s senior management has on-going
discussions with the valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results during the course of the valuation.

Fair value hierarchy disclosure

At 31 March 2019, other than a residential unit in the UAE which was
revalued with reference to its subsequent selling price as further detailed
in note (c) above, fair value measurements of all of the Group’s other
investment properties are using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as
defined in HKFRS 13. During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 (quoted prices in active markets) and Level
2 (significant observable inputs) and transfer of a residential unit in the UAE
with carrying amount of HK$3,313,000 from Level 3 to Level 2 (2018: Nil).

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs to
the valuation of those completed investment properties which are within
Level 3 fair value measurement category:

16. BEWE (&)

BT : ()

(d)

20193 A31H  REBILEESER
HERMAE B EMTHER AR (20184 -
Cluttons, LLC)#EfTZH1E - AEBMEEH
FAIEEREYE AEBRREEESSF
REZEINEHERMAE - LAREER
BEYEEITINGE - TERERENS
M- BIMREEHEEHEED - BME
BREFT  AEESRAEEE—EHRGEE
Et i ERRE R GES 2 A RETHR o

DNHEERIRE

201943 A318 » Br— BRI HA P B 2 E
FEMKR DOz EzHEEE
RB2EIN  NEBEMBEYMEZ AFE
AEFEAEATBRGASIE(E=4)
(ERRBABMBHMELRFEI135) - AF
BER - AFEFEF—KCERMSRE)
E15E — AR (AR AT ER SR8 A SR ) 2 0 %
EF2  MEREE /53,313,000 7T Y — {ERT
G EEEMERE - MEEFE M (2018
) o

NTHEAFEFEF=ATZERTH
REVFGEMRAHERNREZHARK
BZHE

Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs 2019 2018
fh{E R i EXTABREGARE 20195 20184
Residential units in the UAE
P BB Z X EEE
Direct comparison approach Selling property unit rate (per square foot) N/A AED1,050
HELEX HEMEEMNEB(ETAR) TEA 1,05058 R4
(equivalent to
HK$2,244)
(A& 2,244 7T)
Industrial properties in Hong Kong
EBNIERE
Direct comparison approach Selling property unit rate (per square foot) HK$9,450 N/A
HELER HEMEBELEB(EBTHR) 9,450 7T TEA
Car parking spaces in Hong Kong
BENEN
Direct comparison approach Selling property unit rate (per unit) HK$2,200,000 N/A
BRELLEVE HEYEENEE () 2,200,0003 T Byl
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(d)  (continued)
Fair value hierarchy disclosure (continued)

The valuations were arrived at by making reference to its development
potential according to its highest and best use or, by making reference to
comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant markets. In the
valuation under the direct comparison approach, the comparables are made
by reference to those of similar properties in the neighbourhood.

Residential units in the UAE, industrial properties and car parking spaces
in Hong Kong were valuated using the direct comparison approach, under
which market price is one of the key inputs, taking into account the time,
location, and individual factors, such as frontage and size, between the
comparables and the property.

A significant increase in the market price used would result in a significant
increase in the fair value measurement of the investment properties, and
vice versa.

16. REWE (&)

i : (4)
(@ (&)
DHEEREEE)

HEDESEREERR RRERRMNE
RENZB2EERTHETHNAELR
HERXFGMENR - REERLBENG
B JELEMEIIR2EMIEUY X
e »

FAPAT B B8 2 (EE B AL A RN B S H) T 5
REREMIZERLEOEEE - 3kt -
SERREIEGAEL — YA KRALR
MERZYFEZ SR - R EBEREN
ETERARIE

FriE A TS R AR S SRR AR
AFEHBABLI - RZIMA -

17. GOODWILL 17. BE
2019 2018
20194 2018%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Cost and net carrying amount: PR AN R BRENSHE ¢
At beginning of year =] 47,561 44,686
Exchange realignment BEE A2 (1,567) 2,875
At end of year TS 45,994 47,561
|
[ | [ N |
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

17. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

The carrying amount of the goodwill acquired through acquisition of
a subsidiary has been allocated to the relevant business unit of the
construction services segment of the Group for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the relevant business unit in the
construction services segment has been determined with reference
to a value in use calculation using cash flow projections, which
were based on a financial forecast approved by senior management
covering a two-year period.

Based on the results of the impairment testing of goodwill, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, no impairment provision is
considered necessary for the Group’s goodwill as at 31 March 2019.

The following describes each key assumption on which management
has based for the preparation of the cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margin

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted
gross margin is the average gross margin achieved in the year
immediately before the budget year, increased for expected
efficiency improvements, and expected market development.

Business environment

There have been no major changes in the existing political, legal and
economic conditions in Singapore.

Growth rate

The growth rate of 2.5% (2018: 2.5%) applied to the cash
flow projections is based on the average annual inflation rate in
Singapore.

Discount rate

The discount rate of 10% (2018: 10%) applied to the cash flow

projections is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the
building construction and architectural consultancy business.
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17. BE &)

AR ER

BERWE-HNBARMSENEERE
BEEDEEAKRERZERS D HBHEME
B AERME R,

BERBOHEBARBEMN AT RE S
BMO2EFERBESREENTENER
BEET ZAELERASRERRE#
EZMFERMBRAGENRSRER
RIVEL -

REFEHREAXER  ARREZR
A 201943 H318 » WENEFARE
B BT R -
EEERFREFEREIRNESRE
TERIFTIE A S E AR T ¢
EEERER

AUETHEEEF REENEESRE
TEE F [E /1 — F AT B A T EF =X
AFET R A MR TS mIg i -
ERRIE

SR ARCA AR BB R
EPS TR

BR=E
HEm=TERFTER22.5% (20184 :

2.5% ) B R R TR I F19F 8k
z?i o

EE
HenETEBFTERZ10% (20184 :

10%) IR R BBRF AR & G EIESF
R N EELAESNETERR
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31 March 20
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201943 H31H

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
Bt FExT FA&TT
Interests in joint ventures, included in REERE 2w
non-current assets: sSTAERBEE :
Investments in joint ventures Radnalz&kE
Share of net assets IS EEFE 17,518 1,111
Due from joint ventures JEUE &N Rl FE (b) 91,851 -
109,369 1,111
Loan to a joint venture m—EEEARER (0) 313,993 313,993
423,362 315,104
Due from a joint venture, included W —MHe &R aziE -
in current assets FFARENEE (b), 26 9,017 1,801
Total interests in joint ventures NN Ty L] 432,379 316,905
Notes: Lz
(@) Particulars of the joint ventures as at 31 March 2019 are set out in note (@) BEREN20199F3A31H ZFBEEHNTH
54 to the financial statements. REHMIFESS o
(b)  The balances with joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free and have (b) EERAZERBEER . 2EREEE
no fixed terms of repayment. Certain of these balances amounting to }&ry\ﬁﬂﬁﬁ HR2019F3 A31HME TS
HK$91,851,000 in total as at 31 March 2019 are not expected to be B A 91,851 oooﬁ§7uféﬁﬂﬂ<é%EA§&;t
repaid in the financial year ending 31 March 2020 and hence they are 202083731 B IF B EE - Bt - B
classified as non-current assets in the consolidated statement of financial 201953 A31 AMERE MR R 98
position as at 31 March 2019. RIEMEEE ©
(c)  The balance represents a shareholder’s loan (the “Shareholder’s Loan"”) of () HHRIEMKNBARARMFNERE TR
HK$314 million advanced to Dingway Investment Limited (“Dingway”, a YEFIER ﬁﬁﬁg#[?ﬁ;ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ(“ﬁ
joint venture of the Group) for a property development project on certain ] AEBHEERR])BNHBREER
parcels of land in the USA held by its subsidiary. The Shareholder’s Loan is ([R% R &% 1)314,000,000/8 7 ° BREE K
unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment. It has been RERR - R BEBEFEERY - %Zﬁ]if
reclassified as a debt instrument at fair value through profit or loss from R AR SR E o5 52018¢4ﬂ1 =|
an item of loans and receivables since 1 April 2018 upon the adoption of B RREERR—EERREWFIBEEHT
HKFRS 9. DERBEATEFABRNEREIE -
During the year, the joint venture partner went into a voluntary AFEERN - BERQ T%ﬂiLﬁQﬁﬁéﬂ
liquidation, and hence there has not been any development activities on At R EREKBA (mu?ﬁafh#EEIJ)
the aforesaid land asset held by Dingway and its subsidiaries (collectively, %—;EE’]J:Liimé;XIﬂEﬂﬁﬁi‘é/ﬁib
the “Dingway Group”). For the purpose of the recoverability assessment of RETRRE R AT KB MR E - ANE
the Shareholder’s Loan, the Group engaged an independent professional B ?ﬁigﬁfﬁﬁgﬂiﬁhélzi Eay Eat
valuer to perform a valuation of the aforesaid land asset of the Dingway THEEETHE  AIRERRERT B
Group on the assumption that the Shareholder’s Loan is to be recovered ﬂ,ﬁﬁrEE BERHEAESERRELSE
by way of winding up the Dingway Group or selling the Group's interest in ZREmr A YrE e $ET)€—M$Z@ MR 8
the Dingway Group. Based on the results of the recoverability assessment, HER - ARAEZRR/RRERA 2EUK
the directors of the Company are of the view that the Shareholder’s Loan is = Ejﬁﬁ%gﬂftﬂﬂﬁ%{ﬁ =
fully recoverable and no impairment loss is considered necessary.
(d)  Summarised financial information of joint ventures (d) AERRZHBERBE

The Dingway Group and Mega Champion Enterprises Limited and its
subsidiary (the “Mega Group”) are considered as material joint venture
groups and are accounted for using the equity method. The major assets
of the Dingway Group and Mega Group are parcels of lands located
in Miami, the USA and at Prince Edward Road West in Hong Kong,
respectively, which are held for property development.

2018194 % M MBS

& [E £ B 2 Mega Champion Enterprises
Limited & H [ & 2 7] ([ Megaf & | ) 415

RERGEEE  WIKARREAR - R
EEEEMega kB EEEE S R B

NEBEMZ K EBK FERNTIEDE
BRI -

[ |
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 18. REENRIZEXR (&)
Notes: (continued) =2

(d)  Summarised financial information of joint ventures (continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in
respect of the Dingway Group and the Mega Group, adjusted for any
differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amounts in
the financial statements:

G-
d) AEARZHBEHBEE)
TN BRI IE 5 B K Mega 5t [ 1 875 4 KL

BE - BB BRI ERELFE
VAR BEGA 765 $ A BR T (B HE T TR

Proportion of the Group’s ownership

EEEEREENE D

45% 45% 50%

Financial position BEAR R
Land held for property development EHEMEER 2 i 718,469 718,469 -
Properties under development BEERYE - - 227,329
Cash and cash equivalents R RERGEMBEEE 8,773 4,443 319
Other current assets HiReEE 33 33 52,300
Current assets mENEE 727,275 722,945 279,948
Current liabilities mBAE (757,728) (752,685) (261,314)
Net (liabilities)/assets (AR) BESE (30,453) (29,740) 18,634
Group's share of net assets AEBEERNZEEFHE —* = 10,000
Financial performance BIERE
Revenue = - - _
Loss before tax Bt A & 1R (714) (29,451) (1,366)
Loss for the year/period and total comprehensive 74 & EAfE 518 J A4 € RS

loss for the year/period ZHEEERRE (714) (29,451) (1,366)
Group's share of results for the year/period and  Z<SE B fE(5 ANEfE  HART#£4E

total comprehensive income for the year/ RAREE MM mlsasE

period —* = —*

# During the year, the Group has used the financial information of the # RELRN - AEEFRAEREESR

Dingway Group as at 31 December 2018 and for the nine months
then ended for its equity method of accounting purposes, as the joint
venture partner (which was responsible for keeping the accounting
records of the Dingway Group) went into the voluntary liquidation
and the financial information of the Dingway Group for the year
ended 31 March 2019 was not made available to the Group for the
preparation of these financial statements. Management is of the view
that this accounting treatment has had no significant impact on its
interest in and share of results of the joint venture.

|
[ N | |
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18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 18. AE &
Notes: (continued) MisE : (48)

(d)  Summarised financial information of joint ventures (continued)

a The Mega Group was acquired during the current financial year
and hence comparative information in respect of the year ended
31 March 2018 was not presented in the table above. The financial
performance information of the Mega Group presented above is the
post-acquisition results for the period from the date of acquisition of
10 July 2018 to 31 March 2019.

* The Group has discontinued sharing the losses of the Dingway Group
and the Mega Group because the share of their losses has exceeded
the Group’s investments in them and the Group has no obligation
to take up further of their losses. The amounts of the Group’s
accumulated unrecognised share of the losses of the Dingway Group
and the Mega Group as at 31 March 2019 was HK$13,704,000 (2018:
HK$13,383,000) and HK$683,000 (2018: Nil), respectively.

The following table illustrates the financial information of a joint venture of

(d)

RE 2 (#)

BERRZHMEARBEE)

Q

Megafk B 7 78 B B 48 J2 4 Wi -
It ERAPIRZ5EREZE20184F3
A31BIEFEMLEER o XAl
Megass M EEE R BE2018
F7R108 K HEIZE201963A31H
HARIAM BB 1R 24T -

AEE B KIS 5% ESE K&kMega
EEE—FEE BEGEER
ERAAEEMRERE ALY
mEMEAEEMEE - R20194F
3A31H  AEBEGHRESEER
Mega s E 2 AHRNEB B S HE
2 Bl 413,704,000 7T (2018 £ :
13,383,000 /& 7T ) K& 683,000 /& T
(20184 : #&) ©

TREFAEE -—FHIFERGERAZH

the Group that is not material: FEE
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Share of the joint venture’s profit for the year EIEAENa 2 NEE T 6,400 797
Share of the joint venture’s other EIEEE AR ZAFEEA
comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year 2EEA,(EER) 7 (421)
Share of the joint venture's total BEEERRZAFEEE
comprehensive income for the year &t 6,407 376
Aggregate carrying amount of the AEEREGE DRI ZIRE
Group's investment in the joint venture ZRIRTEE 7,518 1,111
[ |
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

19. REFE QT 2 s

2019 2018
20195 20184F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BfaE FET FHT
Investments in associates, included REFERAIZIZE -
in non-current assets: FTAERENEE ¢
Share of net assets IR EEFE 60,125 61,946
Due from associates FE LB & N B 2 FRIR (b) 439,643 322,143
499,768 384,089
Due from an associate, included in FEUR — A B = A Bl 2 5RA
current assets SFARBEE (b), 26 - 5,275
Due to associates, included in FESEE & A E) 2 5ROA
current liabilities STARBIEE (b), 32 (12,436) (12,436)
Total interests in associates SNl Ty Gt 487,332 376,928
Notes: Fit 3
(@)  Particulars of the principal associates as at 31 March 2019 are set out in () BEEEEARN2019F3A31H Z5FEH
note 55 to the financial statements. B RSB FRMIFESS ©
(b)  The balances with associates are unsecured, interest-free and have (b) HELAFHEZEHAERR 28K
no fixed terms of repayment. Certain of these balances amounting to £ B E B AR - PR2019F3 A31HEY
HK$439,643,000 (2018: HK$322,143,000) in total as at 31 March 2019 are B T2 E i85 51439,643,000% 7T (2018
not expected to be repaid in the financial year ending 31 March 2020 (2018: F 1 322,143,000 70) HEI T REE
31 March 2019) and hence they are classified as non-current assets in the 202093 A31H (20184 : 201943 A31H)
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019. I EER - Bk - HR201943A31
HEER A BARRET D ERIERBEE -
() Summarised financial information of associates (0 HERNRPBKERME

Top Spring Chun Wo and its subsidiary (the “TSCWPD Group”) and Creative
Profit Development Limited (the “CPDL") are considered as a material
associate group and a material associate, respectively, and are accounted
for using the equity method. The major assets of the TSCWPD Group and
CPDL are the Waterloo Project and a parcel of land at Cameron Road in
Hong Kong, respectively, which are held for property development.

B B 224 W asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Il Annual Report 2018/19
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(©

Summarised financial information of associates (continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information in
respect of the TSCWPD Group and CPDL, adjusted for any differences in
accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the financial
statements:

19. REtE DRl 2R (&)

BfeE : (48)

(@ BEARMBERREGE)

RN SE AN KT R 5 B 2 B F B
B S BRAOEAZRZEAEEARNY
i%ﬁﬂﬁ%%%&éﬁﬂﬁ%iﬁ?&ﬂﬁﬁ@ﬂ@%ﬂﬁ
)

Proportion of the Group's ownership

EEEEREENE D

40% 40% 20%

Financial position BEAR R

Property under development BRERAYE

Cash and cash equivalents ReRERGEFMHIER
Other current assets HimEh&E

Current assets MENEE

Non-current liabilities FEnBEE

Current liabilities mENEE

Net (liabilities)/assets

Group's share of net assets of the associates

(afE)  TEEFE
REEREBE AR EEFE

Financial performance BERE

Revenue B

(Loss)/profit before tax and (loss)/profit for the AT (E518), w5 F REE
year/period HAR (518 ),

*

Group's share of (loss)/profit for the year

CPDL was acquired during the current financial year and hence
comparative information in respect of the year ended 31 March 2018
was not presented in the table above. The financial performance
information of CPDL presented above is the post-acquisition results
for the period from the date of acquisition of 16 October 2018 to
31 March 2019.

The Group has discontinued sharing further losses of the TSCWPD
Group and CPDL because the share of their losses has exceeded the
Group's investments in them and the Group has no obligation to take
up further of their losses. The amounts of the Group’s accumulated
unrecognised share of the losses of the TSCWPD Group and CPDL as
at 31 March 2019 was HK$4,642,000 (2018: Nil) and HK$ 1,644,000
(2018: Nil), respectively.

REBEIGARFE(BE),SE i

1,227,511 1,163,588 674,317
33,897 10,147 13,571
229 128,561 406
1,261,637 1,302,296 688,294
- - (302,69)
(1,273,638) (1,301,900  (392,861)
(12,001) 396 (7.263)
— 158 —
(12,002) 396 (8.218)
(158)* 158 —

BRI RA AT IR FE WIS - Bt
ERPWREZNER2018F3H31H
LIEFERLEER o EATialFE
BRI BEEER RBE2018F10A
16 B YeEE A BAZ 201943 531 B HAM
BB SELE -

AEBEERIEDERSEFNMESRE
SERAIFERZE—FEER  BE
HEEBEEBRASERERERR
S B B AR E A ESE - 7A2019
F3A318 - AEBERERSEMY
EBRREERAIFER R RERD
BB £ 55 Bl /54,642,000 7T(2018
4 ¢ 4E) }1,644,0005% 7T (20184 -

) -
|
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 19. REE QT 2R (2)

Notes: (continued)
() Summarised financial information of associates (continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the
Group's associates that are not individually material:

Bt - (&)
@ BEARMBERREE)

TR AKEZERGEERBE AR Z
RRFTEER -

Share of the associates’ comprehensive FEfhEE N R 2E RS ¢
income or loss:
(Loss)/profit for the year RNEEZ (1), F (1,174) 3,971
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hiz2mE(EE) ek (209) 404
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2E(ER) Wesd s (1,383) 4,375
Share of the associates’ assets and liabilities: ELBmENTEERERE
Non-current assets IERBEE 43,484 42,773
Current assets BB E 17,365 19,223
Current liabilities nEaR (724) (208)
60,125 61,788
20. LAND HELD FOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT 20. FEMERE 2Lt

The Group’s land held for property development is leasehold
land or land use rights acquired by the Group for future property
development for sale. An analysis of the Group’s land held for
property development by geographical area as at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

AEBBEDERR 2 THAAEER
RARYMEEREHERAEMERZEE
Tk iR - BEREHRAE
B EMERE 2 LR R E 7 a0
T

Hong Kong B
Mainland China A B A
The UAE RS2

[ |

| W | [ |
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34,486 34,173
259,609 277,460
238,470 238,470
532,565 550,103
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21,

22,

23.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

The Group’s properties under development as at 31 March 2018
represented a residential development project in Hong Kong, which
was expected to be completed within the normal operating cycle
and hence was classified as a current asset. These properties under
development were pledged to banks as at 31 March 2018 to secure
certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note 33(e)).

During the year, the Group disposed of all its entire interest in the
properties under development through disposal of an indirect 60%
owned subsidiary together with the outstanding shareholder’s loan
owed to the Group pursuant to a provisional agreement for sale
and purchase and a supplemental agreement entered into with
an independent third party on 19 June 2017 and 21 September
2018. Further details of the transaction, which was completed on
26 September 2018, are included in note 44(a) to the financial
statements.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group's properties held for sale are residential properties and
car parking spaces in Mainland China.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO CONTRACT CUSTOMERS

21, BERAPYE

MR2018F3 A31 H 2 NEEERFPMEE
—REEBEEERIEL F HFEFBRIE
BEEBERARNET  EME22EARD
EE ° R2018F3 8318 » ZFEERY
XEEBTIRT  (EARSEER A
FIRITRVE 2 R (FEE33(e)) ©

REEAN  REASBEE-—FBEIFE=
F o RIR201796 198 K&2018F9 A 21
BEIVH—HhEGREEDER — DR
W AEEEATREEMEEF0%
BmzWB AR ERGERAER 2 KE
ERFRERMEEERERTYWE 2
EHERS - BRI 2018 F9A26 B Ak 2 &2
S HE— BB EN M HREMTE44()

22. FFHEME

AEEFEHEM R HURNHE R
MEEYEREBAL -

23. Bl BN EHNEFRIE

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Gross amounts due from contract customers FEW A B P RIE4R%E - 1,966,743
Gross amounts due to contract customers BNE4EFPHRIBAEE - (796,012)
- 1,170,731
Contract costs incurred plus recognised BEAES KA INE #ER
profits less recognised losses wA ORE MR EE - 44,968,303
Less: Progress billings R EERR - (43,797,572)

At 31 March 2018, retentions held by customers for contract
works included in trade receivables of the Group amounted to
HK$539,234,000 (note 24(b)).

- 1,170,731

M2018F3A31H » EPHEETIER
EZRESBFALAEEZE S ERK
FKIE - 4 F8 4539,234,000 5 7T (Mt 5
24(b)) °
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES

24. ESEWFRIE

Trade receivables other than retention B 5 W I

receivables (FEUURE S BIN)
Retention receivables FEWIRE
Notes:

—
Q
=

Except for the rental income from the leasing of assets which are settled in
accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements, the Group generally
allows a credit period of not exceeding 60 days to its customers. Interim
applications for progress payments on construction contracts are normally
submitted on a monthly basis and are normally settled within one month.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and
scoring attributed to customers are reviewed periodically. The majority of
the Group’s trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relate
to customers that have good credit quality with reference to the respective
settlement history.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables (other than retention
receivables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date,

is as follows:
Within 1 month —@EAR
1 to 2 months —E=mEA
2 to 3 months ME=1EA
Over 3 months =@AKE

B B 228 W Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Il Annual Report 2018/19

(a), (0

983,990 1,128,938
- 539,234
983,990 1,668,172

BREERAGEGREECHEEERS
WAL ARE—RAERTFRETER
60H 2 fEHH - BREEANZTIMER
NREFE—RIZARZ RN —EANEH

RENEFRFHEZPA - AEB K EHEE
EPMERERIEEPAEEERE -
FEPRIEMRBET RS ERERN - Rig
HAGERLZE - AEEARD W EAHN
HENE SRR EAFERFERE
ENEFAR

RBEHR - ERBEZEHZEHREGK
B (R E S RN BRI DT FIE AT -

788,550 998,857
92,052 64,730
33,362 15,892
70,026 49,459

983,990 1,128,938
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 24, BZEWRIE &)
Notes: (continued) Misx : (&)
(@)  (continued) (@) (#&)
Impairment B
Impairment under HKFRS 9 as at 31 March 2019 R20194F3 F31 HIR#E ZEH B &£ 5
FostaT e BE
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit ZK%%ﬁﬁ%‘%%ﬂﬁﬁi&%éﬁuﬁg%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime E"?%ﬂtﬁﬁﬁ'ﬁggﬂ%E\Eﬂﬁﬂzﬁﬁé% ' E'?
expected loss provision for all trade receivables. The Group has assessed the -3 EﬁFE’Pﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁEWﬂg\?ﬁ% E%’%EHEEEE
impairment of its trade receivables on an individual basis based on internal B - $§%@E$E}J§Wﬁl§1a%aﬁ&&\a?
credit rating and ageing of these balances which, in the opinion of the ffﬁﬁ%ﬂ'ﬂﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬂ?‘JE%EH&ZE&E?}WE}E
directors of the Company, have no significant increase in credit risk during Tﬁﬂﬁ ’ ﬂﬁz]x@aﬁﬁ%ﬁ;%z}sifgm{:‘g
the year. ECL is estimated based on historical observed default rates over the 2, Rﬂﬁﬁfi‘ﬁ%i o e ?Egmé %Eﬁ?ﬁ\)‘ﬁ%ﬁ@
expected life of debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information f,aj‘%/\ﬁ{aj—iﬁﬂWm@fig%&ﬁﬁ{ﬁ@%’\];@
that is available without undue cost or effort. Considering the good credit CE ﬂ?ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%%ﬁzﬁigﬁﬁﬂﬂ%@
history of debtors, no ECL provision was made for trade receivables as at E"m”ﬂ%'&ﬁﬂﬁﬁaﬁ% c EREIEHAM
1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019. RIFEEREk - #5F2018F451H &2019
F3A318 » WAMRE FRBKIAELTEL
EEEERE -
Impairment under HKAS 39 as at 31 March 2018 R2018%F3 /31 AIRIEEE BT FRIFZ39%
FHEZE
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables (other than retention 3’3%01\/8¢3)5]31\E| ;fﬁ%f&}%@ﬁiﬁ,ﬂlj%
receivables) as at 31 March 2018 that were not individually nor collectively iﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁf%ﬂij&%ﬂﬁﬁ}ﬁkiﬁz\ﬁ%ﬂgw
considered to be impaired under HKAS 39 is as follows: ?Iﬁ(%”&%i;%%) HO R e 3 A7 51 B
2018
20184
HK$'000
FHT
Neither past due nor impaired N 58 B TR R B 990,321
Past due but not impaired: BB RRE ¢
1-30 days 1-30H 71,577
31-90 days 31-90H 20,624
91-180 days 91-180H 7,026
Over 180 days H#BiBm180H 39,390
138,617
1,128,938
|
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 24. EZEWRIE (&)
Notes: (continued) Mt : (48)
(@)  (continued) (@) (#&)
Impairment (continued) HEE)
Impairment under HKAS 39 as at 31 March 2018 (continued) R201843 31 HIRIEEE 25 ERIE39
SEETHEZ 1A ()
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a large NI7 4 360 B 75 4 R (B 2 U XA B AL R [R]
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history of BEMIHEERCE I AESBEREEA
default. @ -
Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a number of BEfERREZEKHIBERE TEAS
independent customers that had a good track record with the Group. Based EATRETERFRBZBIEFA
on past experience, the directors of the Company were of the opinion that B o BIBARELER  XRAREERE
no provision for impairment under HKAS 39 was necessary in respect of FEEGERWESERNEE  URZSEHRD
these balances as there had not been a significant change in credit quality AW E - WMBERBES SRS
and the balances were still considered fully recoverable. 395 Bhak F AR AT DR ERE o
(b) At 31 March 2018, Retention receivables arise from the Group’s (b) A2018F3A31H » AWEF#HA 2 EWIR
construction work business and are held by contract customers in order BEeELEAER YA TIREK &
to provide the customers with assurance that the Group will complete its VAT 2 B (R S 4 M AR A 40 B e 3
2 the custortes They are n geverl seed vt » pro raning from T - RSB - S
: £ PN =, PAFEEE T 23
one year to three years after the completion of the construction work, as %g/gi%fﬁfi@ﬁﬁﬁg RERTERT
stipulated in the construction contracts. Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15 on & ),‘?E ¢§;:f Zz’iﬁ;'g ;E’;‘ZEO1/8¢4H !
1 April 2018, retention receivables have been reclassified to contract assets A T”‘f? %CL%"ﬁ%#& = L'f“J;E’Bﬁ& - B
RESEFHEEANEE (H5E250)) °
(note 25(a)).
A AN
The due date for settlement of the Group’s retention receivables as at E/\\2018¢i)5]31 Eé%ﬁg‘q&{%iﬂ%’%
31 March 2018 was analysed as follows: (2 HRAHTIE -
2018
20184
HK$'000
FHET
Due within one year —FREH 180,737
Due after one year — 12 5IH 358,497
539,234
(© Included in the trade receivables of the Group as at 31 March 2019 and (© FAKXEBR2019F %2018F3 A31H
2018 are amounts of HK$61,328,000 (2018: HK$56,571,000) due from BB SRR FIRT NS & X2 Kt
other partners of joint operations. B (R 3R A 61,328,000 7T (2018 4F -
56,571,000/7T) °
[ |
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25. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(a) Contract assets

25 SNEERGHNER
(a) EHEE

Unbilled revenue REEE 2 W (i) 2,195,863 1,764,086 -
Retention receivables RS IRE & (ii) 557,046 539,234 -
2,752,909 2,303,320 -
Notes: FI5E
(i) Unbilled revenue is initially recognised for revenue earned from () AREEBEZR=EVSHREEETR
the provision of construction work as the receipt of consideration FRERER 2 Wizt sR » BELURER (B AR
is conditional on successful completion of construction. Upon NER TIRAEM - RIIRTAK RE
completion of construction and acceptance by the customer, the BERE  ERARERE M
amounts recognised as unbilled revenue are reclassified to trade ZeHERBHOREE FHEKK
receivables. 18 °
(i) Retention receivables arise from the Group’s construction work iy BHNEPHEZEWRESDEER
business and are held by contract customers in order to provide the AEBRETRER  BUARER
customers with assurance that the Group will complete its obligation RERE B AGRIRES KW B A8 ST
satisfactorily under the contracts, rather than to provide financing to B - MFERAZFRERE - Wik
the customers. They are in general settled within a period ranging BRETIREAHNAMETE  RIEEIR
from one year to three years after the completion of the construction BRITENF—FE=FRLN -
work, as stipulated in the construction contracts.
(i~ The expected timing of recovery or settlement of contract assets as at @iy M201943A31H - EHNEEZTEH

31 March 2019 is as follows:

— 4y
Ba—F

Within one year
More than one year

WEsBERENT

889,783
1,863,126

2,752,909
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25. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(continued)

(a) Contract assets (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected
credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected loss provisions, for all contract assets. The Group
has assessed the impairment of its contract assets on an individual
basis based on the internal credit rating and ageing of these balances
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, had no
significant increase in credit risk during the year. ECL is estimated
based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. Considering the good credit
history of debtors, no ECL provision was made for contract assets as
at 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019.

25. EHNEERENERE®)

(a) ERNEEE)

BfE : (%)

(iii)

(&)

NG R A S B 7 R S R BRI B 955
TR EM B L A B E B EIEE
s - BEF BT ANEEEA
2 HTEHESIERE - AEERIRER
HEEIARZS &SRR ER
BHEEREETHE - MARRE
ERANFENEERBR I EEEL
i - FEHEEEIEERES A
FHARBEBRMBEORMGE -
W LR B R A LS S B B
RTBEMEERETHE - ZERFEBA
MR IFEERE - BlE2018F4 A1
AX201943A318 » TRRAELDE
EfELEHEERISRE -

(b) Contract liabilities (b) EWAEE
Details of contract liabilities as at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 7201943 A31H k201854 H1H
2018 are as follows: ZERNBEFEIT

31 March 1 April

2019 2018

2019%3H31H 20184718

HKS$'000 HK$'000

T THET

Customers’ deposits for sale of properties HEMEZEWEFKS 33,905 299,716

Contract liabilities include advance payments for the sale of
properties. The decrease in contract liabilities in 2019 was
mainly due to the completion of the disposal of a property
interest through disposal of subsidiaries during the current

financial year, as further detailed in notes 27 and 44(a) to the
financial statements.
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20194 3H31H

26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

26. TE{IFIE -

BEREMEKRRIR

2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FTHET FAT
Prepayments TERTFIE 18,406 31,795
Deposits and other debtors e N E b fE U BRIE 252,991 224,475
Investment deposit and partial —IEE HEHER 5 (@) 148,000 148,000
consideration paid for a rescinded EfREZe R
acquisition transaction D RIE
Loan receivables EUE K (b) 150,577 138,083
Consideration receivable YA E 44(a) 103,092 -
Due from a joint venture B —MEE &R R ZIE 18(c) 9,017 1,801
Due from an associate FEUR— Bt & A B2 5KI8 19(0) - 5,275
Due from other partners of joint FEW S & RS EAD (© 19,776 25,070
operations B2 58
Due from non-controlling equity holders — FELUZHI B 2 & JE1E AR AR #E (© 12,314 2,961
of subsidiaries FAAZRIE
714,173 577,460
Impairment allowance BB (d) (59,873) (5,073)
654,300 572,387
Portion classified as current assets PERRBEEZHD (598,726) (572,387)
Non-current portion ERENE D 55,574 -
Notes: 5T
(@ The amount was an investment deposit and partial consideration paid in (@ ZeBEAMRBBEFBEMTERERAA

connection with the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of CCCC
Development Limited (the “Target Company”).

On 4 November 2015, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Original Agreement”) with China Chengjian Investment
Limited (the “Vendor”), pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed
to acquire and the Vendor conditionally agreed to sell the entire issued share
capital of the Target Company at a cash consideration of HK$660,000,000
(the “Acquisition”). At the material time, the Target Company held 50%
equity interest in each of two PRC construction companies, namely #3572
FEMNTRBHEEARARF ("CCCC Fourth”) and R EE+=TRBHR
/x\) ("CCCC Thirteenth”). The Target Company and the two construction
companies were principally engaged in municipal construction, building
construction, and construction of build-transfer, build-operate-transfer,
public-private partnership projects, property development and investment in
the PRC. An investment deposit and partial consideration (collectively, the
“Deposit”) of HK$198 million in total was paid to the Vendor at the original
completion date of the Acquisition.

(TEBBEAR]) 22 BB BHITRAM AT
REZE MBHIRE -

2015811 A48 - AEEEPBEHERE
ERAB([EA DY —HEEWHR
Wkl Bt - NEBBGERZWEE
MESBHKERELEBZARZEHE
FEATHRA - 3 2 & & 660,000,000 % 7T
([WEEE]) - g - BIEQRIFAME
REZENF DR ARBEFNIRER
SEERAR(FHEZFHNIER]) BF
HERET=I1RERERAR ([RHWES
+T=I8RB])ZEZ50%E%E - BIZEAR]
FZmEREAREERPEEEMHRE
S#OBFRE  ROEE B @R
BE-BX ARLALEBEER WER
BREE  -BRERSERBHRE(HBE
[#%4 |) #51198,000,0008 TE NI EE
BZRREKBAZFFER -
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26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The Acquisition was rescinded on 31 March 2017 pursuant to a
supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”) which was
entered into between the Group and the Vendor on 25 August 2016, the
Vendor shall refund the Deposit to the Group and the Group was entitled
to take steps to protect its interest, including selling the shares of the Target
Company in part or in whole to a third party and claiming any shortfall, loss
or damages directly against the Vendor and its shareholder (as guarantor in
the Acquisition) should the Vendor fail to fulfil its obligations to repay the
Deposit to the Group. Further details of the Supplemental Agreement are
set out in the Company’s announcement and circular dated 25 August 2016
and 30 September 2016, respectively. The Supplemental Agreement was
approved at the Company’s special general meeting held on 31 October
2016.

The Group was able to recoup HK$50 million as part of the refund of the
Deposit, but the larger portion of the Deposit, being HK$148 million (the
“Qutstanding Amount”), remained unpaid as at 31 March 2019, despite
the Group's repeated efforts to pursue the Vendor for refund.

The Group commenced legal proceedings on 16 May 2017 at the High
Court of Hong Kong against the Vendor and its shareholder for breach
of the Original Agreement and the Supplemental Agreement (including
the Vendor's failure to repay the Outstanding Amount to the Group), as
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 16 May 2017.

For the purpose of recouping the Outstanding Amount, the Group entered
into a series of agreements (the “Series of Agreements”) with the Vendor,
its fellow subsidiary and affiliated companies and other parties on 26 June
2017, in respect of a disposal of a joint venture entity, namely Dingway,
which, through its subsidiaries, held certain parcels of land in the USA. The
sale of the joint venture entity did not materialise and therefore the Group
initiated the legal proceedings against the Vendor and various parties for
breach of the Series of Agreements. In April 2019, the Group obtained
from the High Court of Hong Kong an order as the final judgement against
the Vendor in the sum of HK$148 million (which is equivalent to the
Outstanding Amount), as disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
20 June 2019. However, the Group has not yet been able to enforce such
order and recoup any part of the Outstanding Amount.

Subsequent to the reporting period, on 19 June 2019, for the purpose
of recovering the Outstanding Amount, the Group entered into two
conditional sale and purchase agreements (the “Sale Agreements”) with
an independent third party, Hua Bao Xing International Limited (“Hua Bao
Xing”). The entering into of the Sale Agreements was announced by the
Company on 20 June 2019. In one of the Sale Agreements, the Group
agreed to sell to Hua Bao Xing the shares of a subsidiary of the Company
which holds the equity interest in CCCC Thirteenth for a total consideration
of HK$74 million. Hua Bao Xing has already paid a deposit of RMB10 million
under such Sale Agreement.

In the second Sale Agreement, the Group agreed to sell the shares of the
Target Company to Hua Bao Xing for a maximum consideration of HK$74
million. If the Group is not able to procure the equity interest in CCCC
Fourth to be placed under a subsidiary of the Target Company within two
years from 19 June 2019, the consideration will be reduced.
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(&)
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(a)

(%)
(%)

BIEANEEEEHR2016F8 258 %
—hzHE((fHEBE])  KESER
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ERRMHEETFE=F  TEEAEI R
HRR(EAKEBEEMNERA) ZREM
EE - BRUEE Bl ENE—
BB RIBA AR R BHIA2016F8 A25H
HAEK%20165E9 A30 B KA - 7T
EARRTN2016F10H31 BRIT 2 ERE
RIRE LB R -
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26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(@
(d)

(continued)

Management took into account (i) the Group’s previous actions taken
to recover the Outstanding Amount which included the entering into
of the Supplemental Agreement and the Series of Agreements; (ii) the
outcome of such actions and the difficulties in implementing the actions,
which included the breaches of such agreements by the Vendor and
the other relevant parties; (iii) the legal proceedings commenced by the
Group against the Vendor and other related persons and the difficulties
in enforcing the Court judgements against the Vendor and those persons
to recover the Outstanding Amount; and (iv) the Sale Agreements and
the possible reduction in consideration in the second Sale Agreement as
mentioned above and the costs incurred in the above-mentioned actions
and agreements. The directors of the Company are of the view that a
total of HK$54.8 million out of the Outstanding Amount is not expected
to be recoverable and hence an impairment loss against this amount was
recognised in profit or loss during the year (note (d)).

The loan receivables, which are loans provided to some independent third
parties, bear interest at rates ranging from 8% to 19% per annum (2018:
7% to 13% per annum), are repayable within 1 year. The loan receivables
are secured by (i) certain trade payables owed by the Group to the business
partners; or (ii) shipping vessels and properties held by borrowers.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of other receivables is as
follows:

26. FAYFIR »

(&)

BfAE

(a)

(b)

()
(d)

BE REMEWRR

(%)
(%)

EEEEERO)ASEZATAKEXRERES
BATREN 2 178 © BIER] M s Rk
ZLR25HE  (VZFTB 2 ERRAITZ
LT R BEEFREMERSE
RzEwE (DASESTHE S REMA
TMBHAZARFARMEES REME
A TR BRI TIARE R AR B R EE
By &M%EW§&WLX% z
E-_HEHBEIREEEZRERD -
&Eimﬁﬁ&méﬁ?$2ﬁ$ $@
A EE 7 454,800,000/ T2 REBE L
A AR E - RS R AN EE AR
B ER AR EEE ()

Féuﬁz% KTy ERETBYE=HRME

b tﬁ;zu%S%iw%(zmsi &
F7%E13%)MMEG L - AR —FRE
2o HEWET LM VRNEEERERENZ

OB ZENFIA - HNETHFE Z MM
BRI o
ZEFAREEMN - RS MAREREE -

Hit SRR ER IR R ENZ ST

2019 2018

20195 2018%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERx FHET

At beginning of year REH] 5,073 5,073

Impairment loss recognised (note (a)) BRI EEE (@) 54,800 -

At end of year NER 59,873 5,073
In addition to the impairment of the Outstanding Amount as further R EXMTEQE - RN KREREE L
detailed in note (a) above, allowance for impairment of other receivables B ﬁfﬁﬁ%”ﬂlmﬁﬂ@%ﬁﬁﬁ'ﬂ%%
was also made against certain individually advance payments with an FEIE B FEKAR & TERNRBNRIBE
aggregate amount of HK$5,073,000 (2018: HK$5,073,000) in relation %85,073,0007% 7T (2018 4F : 5,073,000
to development costs of property development projects. The directors of TC) TER o R aZE EUGRIEE 1 H#E R 25

the Company believe that the recoverability of these receivables was in
doubt as these amounts have been outstanding for a number of years and
accordingly allowance had been made for the full amounts of these advance
payments in prior years.

2018/194 M =5)MHEE
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27.

28.

SALES DEPOSITS RECEIVED HELD IN AN ESCROW
ACCOUNT/SALES DEPOSITS RECEIVED FOR SALE OF A
PROPERTY INTEREST

The balances as at 31 March 2018 related to the deposits received
from an independent third party in connection with the sale of
the Group’s 60% interest in a residential development project (the
“T PLUS Project”) located at No. 2 Tsing Min Path, Tuen Mun, Hong
Kong to the independent third party in accordance with a provisional
agreement for sale and purchase dated 19 June 2017.

Pursuant to the agreement, all deposit payments received shall be
held in an escrow account and can only be applied for payments
of construction costs and professional fees in connection with the
T PLUS Project.

The sale transaction was completed on 26 September 2018 and a
gain on disposal of subsidiaries in the amount of HK$257,674,000
was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March
2019 (note 44(a)).

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS

Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss of the Group as
at 31 March 2019 and 2018 were equity investments listed outside
Hong Kong, which were classified as held for trading and stated at
fair value determined based on their quoted market prices (Level 1
fair value measurement).
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27.
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BHRREEES 2 DR SR
S/ HE—myERR >k
fEze

2018F 3 A31 HW AR B IH L2017
F6HA19BE] L2 — R B E kR —
HBUBE = REAREEMRESEM
SRE2HNEEERBE([FEHEE D)
60% #& 7 M B 7% 4 B 58 = 77 WAL 2 1%
©HR -

RIEZHE - DR 2R FAE
FHRRFAERF YRAREINES
HERRZERAXREXER -

ZEHER S R2018F9 26 H5EK
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201943 H31H

29. RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

29. IRFIFEREEHEFER

2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 TET BT
Restricted cash for issuance of guarantees & 2% H 1R ~ IR #2584 (a) 6,318 6,925
Pledged deposits for general banking —RIRITRLE 2
facilities [REEwCiVES N (b) 19,831 30,405
Restricted cash and pledged deposits 2RI MEEIRFR 26,149 37,330
Notes: BT
(@) In respect of the sale of the properties held for sale in the PRC, the (@) BRTERIBFEHEVEZHEEMS A%
Group entered into agreements with certain banks in the PRC to arrange HAEETFRITTLGZ  AAEE
mortgage loans to eligible purchasers of the Group’s properties held for BIEHEMEZAERERTHRIEE
sale and pursuant to which, the Group is required to place at designated Mo Bt AEBAEEERITISAFTA
bank accounts certain amounts as guarantee deposits for potential default ETHE ERVEEREGRAIRERER
in repayment of mortgage loans advanced to property purchasers. Such BEANZEBERR ZERER - %%
guarantee deposits will be released after the property ownership certificates EREXREABEYDEZDENBRER
of the relevant properties have been passed to the banks. At 31 March EERIRITEMER - M2019F3A31H -
2019, such guarantee deposits amounted to RMB5,402,000 (equivalent to BBEREREARYS5,402,0007T (46
HK$6,318,000) (2018: RMB5,540,000, equivalent to HK$6,925,000). E716,318000/8 7T ) (2018 F : AR
5,540,0007T (A8 &7546,925,000%7T) ) °
(b)  The pledged deposits have been placed in designated banks as part of the (b)y BEREFRIFHAIEERT  EAERAE

security given to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note
33(e)).

SE-RRITEERE 2D ER (M
33(e)) °
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30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 3. ReREBEEEEH
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cash and bank balances other than Be RIRTT4E

time deposits (“NBIEE BT R0 1,113,039 1,196,089
Time deposits FEEATFEK 742,966 821,093
Total cash and bank balances He RIRTTHERARER 1,856,005 2,017,182

Less: Restricted cash and B ZRERERE
pledged deposits (note 29) ERFR(H7E29) (26,149) (37,330)
Cash and cash equivalents He REBSEMEER 1,829,856 1,979,852

Notes:

(a)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB") amounted to approximately
HK$278,370,000 (2018: HK$343,541,000), of which HK$276,710,000
in total was deposited at banks in Mainland China. The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under the PRC’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods of between 7 days and
1 year depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and
earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.
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(a)
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&1 4276,710,0007 7T B 77 A H B i 2
RIT - ARBTREA R AR HMER -
R IRIRCH EE A R B O E B IR K
BIYR(KERE - SEERNESTERT) A%
BB R EECEINEREE 2 RITIHEA
R¥EH P T o

FARSEE B RATERFIRHE 2T
BHEHMFIL - REAREDERE
ERERZERENFIREF
TE - Y3 B SR S B
B o SRITHE A To1F B RO B MR 000
2 AEBRIT -

K



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .
A 55 Ak Y

31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

31. TRADE PAYABLES

3. EZENRIER

Trade payables other than retention B S ENRIA
payables (ERHREERIN
Retention payables FERRES
Notes:

(@)  The Group's trade payables (other than retention payables) are non-interest
bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables (other than retention
payables) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is
as follows:

(a)
(b)

1,240,777 915,321
599,415 604,453
1,840,192 1,519,774

AEBZESRNFRENREESRIN)
RRBABELIOREEE -

RIBEHR - AEE 2B 5 EN KA (ER
REISHRIN ABR BERREEFE 2R
DHHNELAT -

Within 1 month —f@AA

1 to 2 months —E=mEA
2 to 3 months ME=1EA
Over 3 months =EAKE

—
o
~

Retention payables held by the Group arose from the Group’s construction
services business and are settled to subcontractors within a period ranging
from one year to three years after the completion of the contract work by
the subcontractors, as stipulated in the subcontracting contracts.

The due date for settlement of the Group’s retention payables as at the end
of the reporting period was analysed as follows:

798,297 558,920
111,700 111,492
59,626 88,366
271,154 156,543
1,240,777 915,321

AEERFERNRESDNELEAARE
ZEERBER - URBABIIRA KT
BE RO BRTEREMEZEIREN T
—FE=FAASBHEN -

HEREHR  AEEEMRESRH
BOMER :

Due within one year —FR
Due after one year —FAE

424,223 233,112

175,192 371,341

599,415 604,453
|

2018194% M Thmaxrersraw 239 HHE



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

32. HAthfEA+RIH R FETHRUIR

2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FExT FA&T
Accruals FEET IR 673,877 301,279
Deposits received B S 9,670 10,187
Other liabilities HivafE 83,523 54,085
Consideration payable for the acquisition U4 fE— I B A E)2
of a subsidiary EARE 11,827 11,827
Consideration payable for the acquisition U4 fE —fEE& A &) 2
of an associate FERRE 1,516 1,516
Client money received incidental to the TR R B 1R AR
provision of facility management services B 2 B F 7118 5,213 20,257
Deferred income FEIELA (a) 4,323 22,208
Due to associates JETES N B) 2 FOE 19(c) 12,436 12,436
Due to other partners of joint operations JE & & ¥ E B
RIA (b) 49,836 44,187
Due to a fellow subsidiary of B —EAEEREM
another partner of a joint operation BHZRRMBARZ
I8 (b) 896 -
Due to non-controlling equity holders FEASTBT BB A &) B FEFE AR
of subsidiaries f&ERB A 2B (b) 38,482 7,239
Interest-free loans from a non-controlling & B — RSB A 7 FEH A%
equity holder of a subsidiary BiEFEAZRBER (© - 142,862
891,599 628,083
Portion classified as current liabilities Pak V=Y IN=N k= oy (891,599) (480,480)
Non-current portion FEMENEB S - 147,603
Notes: 5T
(@) The deferred income represented payments from two parties as (@) BELEWRAIEREUME AL ZFIE - EAR
consideration for the Group to provide them with guarantees to indemnify SERHEZMBAT I RNAEEET
them any losses and liabilities that they may incur in connection with BEIRAEEANTMBRIRAGRE
certain construction works of the Group in which the two parties have REERONKE - BURFIERERKE A
involvement. The payments received were accounted for as guarantee R E SRR AR E TR TR
income and recognised in profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the TiREAENE R A TER o
respective remaining construction periods of the relevant construction
works.
(b) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. (b) ZFIEAMEIER - 2B RBREKMERER -
(c)  The amounts as at 31 March 2018 were unsecured, interest-free and (0 M2018F3A3MHMRBAEERR 28
repayable on or before the end of year 2021. During the year, the amounts REAR2021FFRERZANMER - XFE
were derecognised as a result of the disposal of the Group’s 60% interest A AREEAEBNESIER Z260%H#
in the T PLUS Project, as further detailed in note 44(a)(i) to the financial @MBUHERZ S - FEHNMBHRE
statements. M7E44()) °
[ |
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33. BANK BORROWINGS

33. RITER

2019 2018
20194 20184
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
MosE FET T
Bank borrowings comprise: RITENELE - (a), (b)
Bank loans, secured RITER > HIEA 313,314 703,064
Bank loans, unsecured IRITE - EIKIF 2,468,450 2,027,810
2,781,764 2,730,874
Less: Unamortised ancillary costs B BRBRITE R HEL
incurred in connection with the AR SHE BT
arrangement of bank loans B (27,618) (19,905)
Total bank borrowings IRITIE R 2,754,146 2,710,969
Analysed into: SR -
Repayable on demand BIRERER (0), (d) 526,427 2,704,632
Within one year —FR 532,155 822
In the second to fifth years, EF_EZRF
inclusive (BiEERME) 1,694,197 1,515
Beyond five years HEFEE 1,367 4,000
Total bank borrowings RITIE BT 2,754,146 2,710,969
Portion classified as current liabilities D fEAREFEEZ LD (1,058,582) (2,705,454)
Non-current portion IERBNE D 1,695,564 5,515
Notes: MEE
(@)  Except for certain bank loans of approximately HK$5,338,000 (2018: (@) Bk #%75,338,000/% jT (20184 : 6,338,000
HK$6,338,000) which are denominated in Singapore dollars (“SG$"), the BIT) 2B TIRITE SRR i o ([ ns
Group's bank borrowings are denominated in HK$. T EHEIN - REEZRITEREAE T
S -
(b)  The bank loans of the Group denominated in HK$ and SG$ carry interest at (b) AEBETERCABETTEI B ITEHE)

floating rates ranging from one-month HIBOR plus 1.25% to 2.5% (2018:
one-month HIBOR plus 1.5% to 2.8%) per annum and at fixed rates of

2.43% (2018: 2.43% t0 6.5%) per annum, respectively.

SRR F B F R R EEF KT8 - FF
EHRNT—EABBRITREREM
1.25%%22.5% (20184 : — {8 A& BRIT
EEFREMI5%E2.8%) }2.43% (2018
£ 243%FE6.5%) °
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33. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@

(e)

33. SRITIER @)
FiE : (4)

At 31 March 2018, the Group did not comply with a financial covenant (0 M2018F3A31H » AEEREETAS S
of a bank loan with a principal amount of HK$840 million and hence ¥ 45840,000,000/8 T 2 —TH IR TE FRAIBF
certain bank borrowings were classified as current liabilities as at 31 March BRE) - #E TIRITERN2018F3A31H
2018 and grouped into the “Repayable on demand” category in the bank WHBEARDEETN LMRITEREE
borrowings repayment analysis disclosed above. The bank loan with which DI WBEPEREABRERKEER] - A
a financial covenant was not be complied has been refinanced on 25 June BSF 2 MIERA 2 ZIRITERE R 20184
2018 and, to the best knowledge of the directors of the Company, the 6A2SHEERTHERME - MEARAIES
Group has since then been able to comply with all financial undertakings in Frasan - ANEE A I AR —H e B ST A
connection with the Group’s bank borrowings. SEIRITERE B 2 B Ts G
The expected repayment dates of the Group’s bank borrowings that contain (d) ZREFHERMZAHBERERR K&
a repayment on demand clause, with reference to schedules of repayments EBEBRERKEZIEXZIRITERZTE
set out in the term loan agreements, are as follows: HRE X HHERIT ¢
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Within one year —FEUR 523,626 1,632,699
In the second year FF 2,801 247,482
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-ZRF(BIEERME) - 824,451
526,427 2,704,632
At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were pledged to (&) MBEHR BERUTEE  EALE
secure the banking facilities granted to the Group: ERRITRE 2 ER
2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B FTHET FHET
Property, plant and equipment L E Y G ] 15(b) 8,749 20,675
Investment properties REMHE 16(a) 163,074 =
Properties under development BEPYE 21 - 667,994
Bank deposits RITIFER 29(b) 19,831 30,405
191,654 719,074
In addition to the above, as at 31 March 2018, the Group had pledged M XX Frat &SN - 20183 A31H @ &

the equity interest in a non-wholly-owned subsidiary to secure a banking
facility granted to the Group. The pledge was released upon disposal of the
relevant subsidiary during the year, as further detailed in note 44(a)(i) to the
financial statements.

At 31 March 2019, certain of the Group’s bank borrowings in the total
amount of HK$5,338,000 (2018: HK$6,338,000) were guaranteed by the
non-controlling equity holders of a subsidiary.
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 34. TBERES
The Group did not have any convertible bonds outstanding during BHE2019F3H31HIEFE - AEEIE
the year ended 31 March 2019. ERRITER AR ES ©
Summary information of the Group’s convertible bonds outstanding AEBEHE2018F3A31H IEFERRIT
during the year ended 31 March 2018 is set out as follows: fF AR EAESEE R ET T
Convertible Convertible
Bonds A Bonds B
AR ESA AR ESB
(note (a)) (note (b))
(FftE(a)) (Bt (b))
Issuance date #ITHHE 30 March 2015 9 December 2016
2015534308 2016412 H9H
Maturity date ESfpi)= 30 March 2018 9 December 2017
2018534308 20174 12H9H
Original principal amount (HK$'000) REA22E(THET) 94,924 214,072
Outstanding principal amount 7201853 H31H
as at 31 March 2018 AMEEZATER - -
Coupon rate EBR zero & 10%
Conversion price per ordinary share of FRANBE B
the Company (HK$) BRTE(EIT) 1.56* 0.72
& The conversion price of Convertible Bonds A was adjusted to HK$1.56, * HREZE2017F3A31BILFERNE
with effect from 11 May 2016, as a result of a share placement during TRAERE - TRREFANKRRKRER
the year ended 31 March 2017. 2016F5 A1 BEFAR F1.5678 T
For accounting purposes, each batch of these convertible bonds HEFENME @ IRREFE—HAF
is bifurcated into (i) a liability component; and (ii) derivative OB GESD ¢ R)OTAEE D SRR =R
components or an equity component, as further described in the 5 HER G RRM T3 3FAH [ AT
accounting policy for “Convertible bonds (policies under HKFRS RES (BB BHREENFIRIETE
9 applicable from 1 April 2018 and policies under HKAS 39 2018FAR 1 AREBRA ZBEREB G
applicable before 1 April 2018)" set out in note 3.3 to the financial AERIZE3955 T8 N HA2018F4 A1H Z 5iiE
statements. A2 R g5t Bk -

[ |
[ | HE
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The following tables summarise the movements in the principal
amounts, the liability, derivative and equity components of the
Group's convertible bonds during the year ended 31 March 2018:

4. TRRESZ)
TRME ZE2018F3 531 HILFEARE
EralREs s Aes - BF 74
s 2 EE)
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Convertible Convertible
Bonds A Bonds B Total
AMRRRIEHA AR E 5B R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAIT FHT
(note (a)) (note (b))
GEE)) (Bf3E(D))
Principal amount outstanding HAREBERESESEHE
At 1 April 2017 R2017F4 /818 94,924 184,493 279,417
Extinguishment upon a modification  FMER] A ES
of the terms of convertible bonds {6 TR s SR 3k (94,924) - (94,924)
Conversion of convertible bonds AREFENEHR AL
during the year BEH = (184,493) (184,493)
At 31 March 2018 7201853 H31H - - -
Liability component BERD
At 1 April 2017 R2017F4 /818 88,508 129,270 217,778
Derecognition of the original liability ~ #M& 3] AT RS (&5
component upon a modification IR EUSER
of the terms of convertible bonds REaEHLn — (136,704) (136,704)
Recognition of a new liability MERT FIHRRR (B 25
component upon a modification 1R E R
of the terms of convertible bonds —IBFBES S - 173,414 173,414
Extinguishment upon a modification ~ PMERT ATHR%EFH
of the terms of convertible bonds {6 TR R S 3k (92,839) - (92,839)
Conversion of convertible bonds AR ENEH AL
during the year &% - (171,270) (171,270)
Interest paid EATFLE - (17,524) (17,524)
Interest expense FMERY = 11,725 11,725
Imputed interest expense HEFERX 4,331 11,089 15,420

At 31 March 2018

20183 A31H
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

4. AR ES#)

Convertible Convertible
Bonds A Bonds B Total
AMRARIESA AR (ESB HazE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAT FAT
(note (a)) (note (b))
(Fff5E@)) (FF3E(D))
Derivative components PTEZ D
At 1 April 2017 R201754718 - 38,260 38,260
Derecognition of original derivative ~ FMEE] AT E 5
components upon a modification 1EFRBFEH TR
of the terms of convertible bonds [RETEER D - (38,260) (38,260)
Recognition of a new derivative MERT AT R B 5
component upon a modification (R IRBSFER
of the terms of convertible bonds —IEFITEE S - (22,806) (22,806)
Conversion of convertible bonds AN S B AT AR
during the year B5 - 22,806 22,806
At 31 March 2018 20183 H31H = = =
Equity component D
(included in convertible (FFATTRRES
bond equity reserve) EEHER)
At 1 April 2017 M2017F4A1H 17,978 - 17,978
Recognition of a new equity PMERT AR B
component upon a modification [ESIET =R
of the terms of convertible bonds — BT 2D - 33,885 33,885
Transfer to retained profits upon RIERT AR ES
a modification of the terms of (RIS = (R R
convertible bonds gl (17,978) = (17,978)
Conversion of convertible bonds AREENEH AL
during the year (e - (33,885) (33,885)
At 31 March 2018 201853 H31H = = =
Notes: BFE
(@) Convertible Bonds A were issued on 30 March 2015 pursuant to a (a) $EB%J_LBEHJ%ZO15¢3H13EIZH 8% 173

subscription agreement dated 13 March 2015 for the purpose of providing

general working capital to the Group.

Further details of the Convertible Bonds A and the conversion price
adjustment during the year ended 31 March 2017 are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 13 March 2015 and 18 November 2016,

respectively.
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34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(b)

(continued)

On 5 December 2017, the Company received a deed of renunciation of
conversion rights (the “Deed”) from GT Winners, the then Convertible
Bonds A’s holder. Pursuant to the Deed, GT Winners irrevocably and
unconditionally revoked the conversion rights attached to the Convertible
Bonds A. For accounting purposes, such renunciation represented a
substantial modification of the terms of the Convertible Bonds A which
was accounted for as an extinguishment of the original liability and equity
components of the Convertible Bonds A and the recognition of a new
financial liability (straight bond) at its then fair value of HK$93,442,000.
An extinguishment loss of approximately HK$603,000 was resulted and
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2018.

On 8 December 2017, the Company early redeemed all the outstanding
straight bond at approximately HK$93,442,000 in accordance with the
bondholder’s request.

Convertible Bonds B were issued to an independent third party (the “CB B
Subscriber”) and its fellow subsidiary on 9 December 2016 pursuant to a
subscription agreement and an amendment agreement dated 20 November
2016 and 8 December 2016, respectively, entered into between the
Company and the CB B Subscriber. Further details of the Convertible Bonds
B are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 20 November 2016.
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34, AR ES 2
FiE : (4)

(a)

(b)

(%)

2017412 A58 + A&N2Q & B GT Winners
(RREFANERFE A) BB — M E
ERERE ([Z2E]) - BIFZEE - 6T
Winners T~ ] 38 8 K 2 (G4 B AT3RAR R 5 A
FTbf 2 8k - RetEEm S @ ZHE
FERIRIERT AHRRESFAZ K - AR A
AREFAZ R A E R Rk iz
H %85 A F{E93,442,0008 TTHER B — 1A
FHemBE(ERES) EENKRE
18#4)/5603,0007 7T © WEREE20184F3
A31BIEFEIBEARER -

MR2017F12 A8 « AARIRBEESFFEA
Z Bk IA#993,442,000/8 IR AT EE 2
REBLBES ©

R20165F12 A9R « IRIFARA R A AR E
FBREB AT M HE SR A2016511 A
208 MR W% 2016412 ASH MEET
Wt o [A— BB = ([ AT EHBR
BADRERZRKBRRRTAREKES
B BB ESFBIE —SHBIHRAE
AFIBHA20165E11 A20HHAE ©
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34.

35.

36.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(b)  (continued)

On 1 April 2017 and 8 June 2017, the Company entered into deeds of
waiver with Convertible Bonds B’s holders for changes to certain conversion
price adjustment terms. Such waiver represented a substantial modification
of the terms of the Convertible Bonds B which was accounted for as
an extinguishment of the original liability and derivative components
of Convertible Bonds B and recognition of a new financial instrument,
which has a liability component, a derivative component (derivative asset
— the early redemption option by the Company) and equity component
(the conversion option) of HK$173,414,000, HK$22,806,000 and
HK$33,885,000, respectively, upon initial recognition. An extinguishment
loss of approximately HK$9,529,000 was recognised in profit or loss during
the year ended 31 March 2018.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Convertible Bonds B’s holders
converted the remaining Convertible Bonds B in the total principal
amount of HK$184,492,844 into 256,240,060 new ordinary shares of the
Company. The total difference of approximately HK$156,725,000 between
the nominal value of the ordinary shares issued and the then aggregate
carrying amounts of the liability, derivative and equity components of the
relevant convertible bonds at the date of conversion was transferred to the
Company's share premium account.

The punctual performance by the Company of all its obligations under the
subscription agreement and the instrument of the Convertible Bonds B was
guaranteed by Mr. Pang Yat Ting, Dominic, a director of the Company.

GUARANTEED BONDS

On 20 March 2017, the Group issued guaranteed bonds with a total
principal amount of HK$39,000,000 to an independent third party.
The guaranteed bonds bore interest at the rate of 6% per annum,
were guaranteed by the Company, and were fully settled by the
Company on the maturity date of 20 March 2019.

HIRE PURCHASE CONTRACT AND FINANCE LEASE
PAYABLES

The Group purchases and leases certain of its plant and machinery
and motor vehicles for its construction services business under
hire purchase or finance lease arrangements. These hire purchase
contracts and leases are classified as finance leases and have
remaining instalment periods or lease terms ranging from four
months to five years (2018: one to three years).

4. AR ES#)
BfsE : (&)

(b)

(%)

MN2017F4B 18 k201756 A8H » &AAQ
AIER AR ERBZIF B AR ERE T Xk
BERABEHT LB RRE - BHABRIEXR
RIS AT Al 32 IR (B 5B 2 1§53k - ABESI(ER]
BB EFBZREBERITEDD KB R E
RHEHMIE  REXAERE 2o/
TEHE—BARENS « —BITERD (F7
HAEBE-ARAELIRTERIRE) RiEx
2R (B3R KE) 5 511 49173,414,0007% 7T
22,806,000/ JT 33,885,000/ T ° kK
[E518499,529,00078 ;T E R E Z=20184F 3 A
31HIEFE B RER

REZE2018FE3A31HILFE @ Al
EHFBE B ARAS B A 184,492,844
EITE B N AT R E A B R IR AR D AR
256,240,0600% 51 L Mk - Rk E B %
TERARAEREEAIRRKRESRERE 17
A RRESS R EAENEEBREY
156,725,000 7% 7T 85 8 &= AN A 7] % 15 ' B
EE °

ARREEZ —EELECHARBIZEE
TTIR BN AR h s I AT IR BB Z-BICR T HO PR
BEEBELER -

35. BRESH

R201793 8208 @ AEER—RBBULE
= 5B 177N % #8588 /5 39,000,000% JT K
BERES - BREHFIZFFE6%:T BN
AR EER - &HR2019F3 201 (F
HIR ) RAD B REEEST -

36.

HBESHRBERERMNRE

AEBBERBEANSMERELTHE
BERHEHEERGER A THER
RIENAE - ZEHBAOLRHEES B
ARERE T oM AHEN
FIERERE(Q018F : —FE=%F) -

20181943 M Shmosgersram W 247 HH



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .
S 35 R P

31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

36. HIRE PURCHASE CONTRACT AND FINANCE LEASE 36. B S RS SE(ZIE
PAYABLES (continued) (%)

R2019%3A31H @ RIEMABELMEE
HEsBEAREHENREBLEREAE

At 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease payments under
hire purchase contracts and finance leases and their present values

were as follows:

L

Amounts payable: JERTFRIA -
Within one year —ER 5,872 11,184 5,742 10,838
In the second year FF 802 5,550 764 5,467
In the third to fifth years, FE=FhF
inclusive (BREEEME) 723 505 674 502
Total minimum lease payments  E{KFH &N 4258 7,397 17,239 7,180 16,807
Future finance charges Hizrt&E &M (217) (432)
Total net hire purchase contract ~ FHEES 4FE KR
and finance lease payables AR EEN
TIRHAEE 7,180 16,807
Portion classified as current NERMEEEL
liabilities =i (5,742) (10,838)
Non-current portion IET B R D 1,438 5,969
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37. PROVISION FOR CONSTRUCTION WORKS

At beginning of year:
As previously reported

Effect of adoption of HKFRS 15 (note 3.1(c))

As restated
Additional provision

Amounts utilised during the year
Reversal of unutilised amounts

At end of year

The Group recognises provision for construction works when the
unavoidable costs of meeting the performance obligations under the
construction contracts exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received. The amount of provision is estimated based on contract
costs to completion and contract claims. The estimation basis is
reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

38. DEFERRED TAX

Net deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position are as follows:

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

37. BETIRBE

REH] :
BRI 2R -
AN E BB 15 5R S 4R
E1SIRAE
(PfE3.1(c)) 112,627
=7 112,627
RSN 105,663
FAESHAHEE (77,144)
RO AREHESHE (8,018)
RER 133,128

EEER FEHIET -
38. IRFERIIH

REEFENT

BEBEESHBOAEENTA# LK
RBBRFEEAS QB EISHEE
MERE - AEREEREETRE CBE -
BRESHERBTKAORARARRE
M8 - AEEFERIAAER  UE

RERAMBMAKRERZRERIAEE

FEFIBEE 897 6,775
FERIBEE (2,176) (16,817)
(1,279) (10,042)

[ |
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38. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) and their
movements during the year are as follows:

At 1 April 2018:
As previously reported
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 15

As restated

Deferred tax credited/(charged)
to profit or loss
during the year
Disposal of subsidiaries
Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2019

At 1 April 2017

Deferred tax credited/(charged)
to profit or loss
during the year

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2018

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .
S 35 R P

R2018%F4 718 :
N5 R 2/
ERIB1SHFMTE 3.1

]

REENBEZ

A/ ()2

EERIA 12
HEHBAR 44(a)
B A%

201993 A31H
RK2017F4818
AEEANEZ
AR 2
EIERITR 12
B F AR

20183 A31H

38.

EERIE (7)

AEER - EEHEEE/ (AE) 28
RS BB

(23,854) 12,666 1,146 (10,042)
= = 2,715 2,715
(23,854) 12,666 3,861 (7,327)
3,862 7,654 (1,561) 9,955
= = (3,908) (3,908)
= = 1 1
(19,992) 20,320 (1,607) (1,279)
(24,490) 2,059 6,798 (15,633)
636 10,607 (5,650) 5,593
- - 2) 2
(23,854) 12,666 1,146 (10,042)
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38. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 38. IEIERLIE (&)
Notes: BfEE -
(@) At 31 March 2019, deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect (@) M201993A318 @ BER A BAFHIAESE

of unused tax losses of HK$456,442,000 (2018: HK$543,948,000) as they
have been arisen in the Company, certain subsidiaries and joint operations
that have been loss-making for some time and it is not assured that taxable
profits will be available against which such tax losses can be utilised.

(b)  Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding (b)

tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the
applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in the PRC in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2019, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding
taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC (2018:
Nil). In the opinion of the directors of the Company, it is not probable that
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries in the PRC for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately HK$50,000 (2018: HK$1,850,000) as at
31 March 2019.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

456,442,0007 7T (20184F : 543,948,000/
TERBELERIBEE AAREELBAR
A ATHBRARRAEEL  HER—
EREBABEESE  BEZEIBEHEER
A BT IEEE  BRFUAT) o

RIEP B EMERE - RPBIKSZINE
TEEIIEEFEEESRBREAZK10%TE
L o ZBEMN2008F1 A1BBAER » I
WAMR2007F12A31BE 2 EF o i
HEEHINEREEZ ALEEER B RS
4 RIARBETE N R B - i AEE
mE @ BEAREAS%K10% » EHit » KR
REIRK S 2 Z KB A R 512008F1 A 18
REAZANDRBREMS @ AEBEAY
RIEHH ©

R2019F3 8310  ERANEENHEH
RN 2 B A RLZ RS E B A (A MRTEN
i) 2 FEAT BB FERR IR EFE 18 (20184 -
) e ARBIBERE  ZEHBRARTA
ATRER AT RAR R D IRB BAF] - M20194
3A31H - BRENRFREAME AT BRE
RHEEZEAE(TEGLEERECHRES
&) A%4950,0007 7T (20184 : 1,850,000
TT) e

A AR RS B TS BB -

39. SHARE CAPITAL 39. g7
(a) Shares (a) ®f7
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT
Authorised: JERE
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares 5,000,000,000/%
of HK$0.1 each FRREEC BT LiEk 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE -
1,863,391,847 (2018: 1,875,533,847) 1,863,391,8471%
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (20184 : 1,875,533,847 %)
EREE0. 1782 LB 186,339 187,553
||
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39. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 39. RA&(#)
(a) Shares (continued) (a) Bfp (&)
A summary of the movements in the Company’s issued share REZE20194 K% 20183 A31H It
capital and share premium account during the years ended FE - ARBIBEBITRA KRGS %
31 March 2019 and 2018 is as follows: BERCEBHEMT -

At 1 April 2017 R2017F4A1H 1,619,293,787 161,929 623,804 785,733
Issue of shares upon conversion e R E A M 21T

of convertible bonds (note 34(b))  Ax{p (KT=E34(b)) 256,240,060 25,624 156,725 182,349
At 31 March 2018 and R2018F3A31A Kk

1 April 2018 20184 A1H 1,875,533,847 187,553 780,529 968,082
Cancellation of FHIEEEE RN

repurchased shares (note) (BtsE) (12,142,000) (1,214) (7,355) (8,569)
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3A31H 1,863,391,847 186,339 773,174 959,513

|
HE |
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39. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 39, A (&)
(a) Shares (continued) (a) Bfp(#&)

Note: During the year, the Company repurchased 12,142,000 (2018:
Nil) ordinary shares in total on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$8,569,000 (2018: Nil) and
all these shares were subsequently cancelled before the year end
date. The premium of approximately HK$7,355,000 (2018: Nil)
paid over the nominal value on the repurchases of these shares
was debited to the share premium account. The repurchases were
effected by the directors of the Company with a view to benefiting
the shareholders as a whole by enhancing the Company’s net
asset value and earnings per share. Details of the repurchases are
summarised as follows:

izt : AEER - ARAANEBRESD
8,569,000/ 7T (20184F : 4 ) A
X FTBE @ 12,142,000% (20184 :
E)LEE  BFMEZSERMHER
ERFLEBREN - - BRZER
MRS ZBBREERNSED
7,355,0007% 7¢ (20184F : 4 ) &
B&in s ERR R HIRR - BRIREE A
ARAIEFET  BEBEBRESEAR
RIEEFERSRABFBSRERE
BB o BEEIFFIERmAn T

Purchase price

Number of .
ordinary paid per share Aggregate
shares SRENBEM consideration
Month of repurchases repurchased Highest Lowest paid
2B e
BE A G EERYE RS BIE BRE
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT FTET
July 2018 2018578 1,672,000 0.77 0.71 1,226
September 2018 20184F9 A 774,000 0.78 0.74 583
October 2018 2018104 9,696,000 0.73 0.65 6,760
12,142,000 8,569

(b) Shares held under a share award scheme (b) RIER MG EBEEIFENRG

Details of the Company's restricted share award scheme and
the shares held under the scheme are included in note 40 to
the financial statements.

(c) Share options (c)
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share

options issued under the scheme are included in note 41 to the
financial statements.

AR AR BB R R & MR
T B A Z D 2 FE BN B 75
FHKMITEA0 ©

BRE

A DA B R BT
B2 PSR B TR N A1 ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

40. SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) approved the
adoption of a restricted share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) with effect from 1 August 2017 (the “Adoption Date”).
The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are to encourage and
retain selected participants (the “Selected Participant(s)”), including
directors of the Company, to work with the Company and to provide
incentives for them to achieve performance goals with a view to
achieving the objectives of increasing the value of the Company
and aligning the interests of the Selected Participants directly to the
shareholders of the Company through ownership of shares of the
Company. Unless otherwise early terminated by the resolution of the
Board, the Share Award Scheme is valid and effective for a period of
10 years from the Adoption Date.

The Share Award Scheme is operated through a trustee which is
independent of the Group. The shares to be awarded under the
Share Award Scheme will be acquired by the trustee from the open
market after the notification and instruction by the Company. The
trustee shall not hold more than 10% of the total number of issued
shares of the Company.

Details of share awards under the Share Award Scheme during the
year ended 31 March 2018 are as follows:

40. PR 17 2R B &l

AABEER(NEER ) EHAERAR
PR il B £ 22 Bt & ([ B 52t 81 )) -
201768 A 1R ([FRMBEI]) AR -
ZB RN RE RSB R B R
E2EE(EE2EE ) (BRARRE
B)VEBNART - ARFREET R
HBEBROAE  NRERENAQEEE
RSBRF2HEENDEBREBEARRR
MERERRRRRME -HHER -
BRIFEFRRERREANKL - BRIRD
REHE B RMBMET10FHMEAR
KR -

R R EE R — BB LR AEEK
ZEEAEE o RIRR (0 EENFTEI B B A
A&7 35 B 2 AL AR MR R R RIB A1 & 45
TMEBEARTSE EBA o 5T AR
METHBBIFEARRREBITRO A
Z210% °

REZE2018F3 318 IEFE  IRIBRMD
SEEN T IR S B

Number of Average fair value
Date of award share awards per share (HK$) Vesting date
SRFYATE
g =Rt f& 15 22BN & B (%7T) 5 B HA
2 August 2017 22,590,000 0.83 2 August 2018
20178 H2H 201848 A2 H
[ |
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

40. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

The movements of the Company’s shares held under the Share
Award Scheme account during the years ended 31 March 2019 and

40. B2 BT El(2)

HZE2019F K% 2018%3 31 B IEFE -
RARIRERG EETEIRE THE2

2018 are as follows: B&{n z EEhanT -
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
ZHEKRHE KX}
Note HK$'000
FfaE FET
At 1 April 2017 M201756441H - -
Shares purchased for share AR LEEET 2B B Y

award scheme A& 1D (b) 21,830,000 18,197
At 31 March 2018 and 720183 H31H &

1 April 2018 2018F4H1H 21,830,000 18,197
Exercise of share awards 1T{E PR 2B (b) (9,378,000) (7,554)
At 31 March 2019 #201943A310 12,452,000 10,643
Notes: ks
(@)  During the year ended 31 March 2018, an aggregate of 30,896,000 share (@ BE208F3A3MBLEFE - & #

awards were granted to the Selected Participants, who were employees
of the Group, pursuant to the grant on 2 August 2017 under the Share
Award Scheme. None of the grantees was a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or an associate (as defined
under the Listing Rules) of any of them. The grants of an aggregate of
22,590,000 share awards were accepted by the grantees.

Subject to the acceptance of the grantees and that the grantee remain as
eligible person on the vesting date of the Share Award Scheme, the share
awards shall vest in them on 2 August 2018, at which time the awarded
shares will be transferred to the grantees at a consideration of HK$0.57
per awards share.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group amortised the
difference between the fair value of the share awards and the
consideration that employees have to pay to the Company over the
vesting period and recognised a share award expense of HK$1,381,000
(2018: HK$3,443,000) in profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, 21,830,000 ordinary shares of
the Company were purchased by the trustee from the open market at an
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$18,197,000. The amount
has been deducted from the shareholders’ equity and recorded in “shares
held under the share award scheme account” of the Group.

During the year and as at 31 March 2019, an aggregate of 12,154,000
(2018: 1,058,000) share awards lapsed and 9,378,000 (2018: Nil) share
awards were exercised by the Selected Participants at a total consideration
of HK$5,346,000 during the year ended 31 March 2019.

(b)

30,896,000 3% i% 17 52 B AR 45 5% AR (0 22 B &1
ZITR2017FE8A2A 2 REE R T AKRE
EREEZETLEE - MEARAF AN
AENESE BRTBRABREZRER
ERFEEZHEA(EER ETRA) - &
$£22,590,000 8% f& 17 82 B 2 35 ) B IR
N o

R AR A RERARRKRG RE 85
BRHBDASERAL - BIRRG ZENER
201858 H2B BB K SE - B - |RERMD
SRR EFREBR7D0.57 8 T8 & T
A o

HZE2019F3A31BILFE - AEEBRHD
REATEEESARNARRZNORE
ZEMEENFEHRES YR EBEA

#21,381,000/8 7T (20184 : 3,443,000/
7)) Rk REFA L o

HZE2018F3A31HILFE - ARRBEBZ
AR AT HE A 21,830,000 KA 7]
L@ BR(EX18,197,0008 T ° 2
D E RS - Wt AREE R
&7 SE BT EIRR B T B HIARD ] -

RAEERK201963A318 » &4
12,154,000 % (20184 : 1,058,000 f% ) A&
1 SEBh 2K 3% %2.9,378,000 A% A% 17 52 Eh (2018
£ ) REIE201953 31 B EERBEE
FELHETTEE - #BR(E /45,346,000 T °

=/
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 3 September 2012,
the Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing eligible
personnel with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in
the Company, which will encourage the grantees of such options to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares
for the benefit of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.
The Board will set out in the offer the terms on which the option
is to be granted. Such terms may include (i) minimum performance
targets that must be reached before the option can be exercised in
whole or in part; and/or (ii) such other terms (including the vesting
period) as may be imposed at the discretion of the Board either on a
case-by-case basis or generally.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and other share option schemes of
the Company (if any) must not exceed 30% of the ordinary shares
in issue from time to time (the “Share Option Scheme Limit”). No
options will be granted under the Share Option Scheme at any time
if such grant will result in the Share Option Scheme Limit being
exceeded.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and all
other share option schemes of the Company (if any) shall not exceed
10% of the ordinary shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
Share Option Scheme (the “Share Option Scheme Mandate Limit"),
subject to the refreshment of the Share Option Scheme Mandate
Limit. Options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the
Share Option Scheme Mandate Limit.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to any eligible personnel (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue without prior approval from the
shareholders. An offer of the options shall be deemed to have been
accepted by way of consideration of HK$1 payable by the eligible
personnel within 30 days from the date of offer.
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BIER2012F9A3HRB 2 L iFRZE
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RRiEstEll)  c EBEMREARERKRHE
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HBREEEEE EZRENREHEY
Br%l 3 T AR AE 2 5K o s FIR3K A
BIE()R BRI A 2 3 sk BT AT & (K
REAZERZRREEZE R KHHES
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of grant (i)
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue; and (ii)
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the shares
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
on the relevant date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further
grant of options must be approved by the shareholders.

The subscription price shall be such price determined by the Board in
its absolute discretion and will be notified to the eligible personnel in
the offer and shall be no less than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of a share as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant;

(i) the average of the closing prices of a share as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
5 business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant.

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing on the adoption date of 3 September 2012.

41,

BBRERTE )

5 MR EBRRKBLIENTES
RFESEAZEMBEALEHER
T M eERNE L AR Z A2 A
HRE(BEZEERN)EERTRERT
ZATZZ2HERE(BRETE  Bit
8 M M AR ATIE 2 BB AR ) AT E M E BT
RAEEITZRG  (VBBEEETRG Z
0.1% LAk & R (iR A8 R % ) B BB 32
Fresth 2 S ARER LR ZRD KT
BstHE 2 #{E83E5,000,000% 7 @ 8 E
iE— SR ERE S T AR R &
% FHRJHEAT
REEEREZRE2ERNBRACYBE
BHRNBANEERZEAL  MATHE
BRI =R zREE :

() ML BB S HRE
& L 2 B W (E

(i) MEFEE DL BB ZATSEE % B A
R BRRER LERZK
IRTHE 2 I8 &

(i) MERH BBk 2 HE -

BRI R B #I(B120125F9 A3H)
REET0OFRERMBE B
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .
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31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 4. ERRERTE )
Details of the movements in share options granted under the Share BIEBREFSIRENEREEDFS
Option Scheme are as follows: W
Year ended 31 March 2019 BZE2019F3A31HLEE

Executive directors 5/12/2017 5/12/2018-4/12/2021 102 3,060,000 - - 3,060,000
¥OES
5/12/2019-4/12/2021 102 3,060,000 - - 3,060,000
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 102 4,080,000 - - 4,080,000
Independent non-executive 5122017 5/12/2018-4/12/2021 1.02 540,000 - - 540,000
directors
BUENITES
5/12/2019-4/12/2021 1.02 540,000 - - 540,000
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 1.02 720,000 - - 720,000
Employees 5/12/2017 5/12/2018-4/12/2021 102 6,942,000 - (1,332,000 5,610,000
E&
5/12/2019-4/12/2021 102 6,942,000 - (1,332,0000 5,610,000
5/12/2020-4/12/2021 102 9,256,000 - (1,776,000 7,480,000
35,140,000 - (4,440,0000 30,700,000

Number of options exercisable at P& HIR A7 2 BRVES R
the end of the reporting period 9,210,000

Weighted average exercise price ~ INETI1T(RE
(HKS per share) (B(BR)) 1.02 - 1.02 1.02
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2018

Executive directors 5/12/2017
HITES

Independent non-executive directors  5/12/2017
BUFHITES

Employees 5/12/2017
E&

5/12/2018-4/12/2021

5/12/2019-4/12/2021

5/12/2020-4/12/2021

5/12/2018-4/12/2021

5/12/2019-4/12/2021

5/12/2020-4/12/2021

5/12/2018-4/12/2021

5/12/2019-4/12/2021

5/12/2020-4/12/2021

Number of options exercisable at P& HIR AT 2 BRVES B

the end of the reporting period

Weighted average exercise price ~ INETII(T(RE
(HK$ per share) (B (k)

1.02

1.02

1.02

1.02

1.02

1.02

1.02

1.02

1.02

4. BRRESHEI(2)
B Z2018F3H31HILFE

- 3,060,000 - 3,060,000
- 3,060,000 - 3,060,000
- 4,080,000 - 4,080,000
= 540,000 = 540,000
= 540,000 = 540,000
= 720,000 = 720,000
- 7,302,000 (360,000 6,942,000
- 7,302,000 (360,000 6,942,000
- 9,736,000 (480,000 9,256,000
- 36,340,000  (1,200,000) 35,140,000
= 1.02 1.02 1.02
|
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31 March 2019
201943A31H

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes:

(@)  The vesting period, which is the period from the date of grant to the first
exercisable date, of the share options granted is determined by directors of
the Company at each time when the options are granted. Holders of share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme may only exercise their
options during the exercisable periods as follows:

Exercisable period

Maximum percentage of
share options exercisable

5/12/2018-4/12/2019
5/12/2019-4/12/2020
5/12/2020-4/12/2021

up to 30%
up to 60%
up to 100%

(b)  The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year ended
31 March 2018 amounted to HK$15,396,098 in total, which was estimated
as at the date of grant using a binomial option pricing model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

41,

BRETE )

g

(a)

(b)

ERERE . FEHREAMEEEAT
£ BHHRE) AR BAEER R B S ER
REEE - RIEBBRESIR L 2B
ZEBANEARATITERBARITELER
:

EAITE
Bz

(id EREDL

201812 A5HE2019512 A4H
2019512 A5AZ20206 12 4A
2020612 A5A 22021512 4R

TBiB30%
A 860%
T HEA100%

REZE201843 A31 A ILFE R H Z AR
4EERERE 2 A F{ELRTA15,396,098757T
TN E B R —EA R EEE A
FF + MEt R PR B AR 2 AR AR o
TREHIFTEAEN 28 AR

2018

2018%F

Dividend yield iR S 3.762%
Volatility ] 67.313%
Risk-free interest rate 4 3 [ | R 1.389%
Effective life of options AR IE R R F AP 4.0 years 4
Weighted average share price IETFHRE HK$1.01 per share

The Group recognised a share option expense of HK$7,004,000 (2018:
HK$2,832,000) in total for the year ended 31 March 2019 in relation to the
share options granted by the Company under the Share Option Scheme.
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31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

42. RESERVES

(a)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior financial years are presented in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The capital reserve mainly includes:

(i)

(iii)

a debit balance of HK$7,340,000 recognised in prior
years, which represented the aggregate amount of
the non-voting deferred share capital of Chun Wo
Construction and Engineering Company Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, and the difference
between the nominal amount of the share capital issued
by the Company and the aggregate nominal amount of
the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a
group reorganisation undertaken in 1993;

a deemed contribution of HK$10,240,000 recognised
upon the acquisition of the remaining 62% interest in
Mandarin Group Limited from a then director and a then
controlling shareholder of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2010;

the amount of profit capitalisation upon allotment of
share capital of Chun Wo Foundations Limited (a wholly-
owned subsidiary) during the year ended 31 March 1997,
and

share of differences between the principal amounts
and fair values of the loans at inception of interest-free
loans provided to a subsidiary and an associate by a non-
controlling equity holder of a subsidiary and the Group,
respectively.

42. {#1E

() AEERAFERBEMRERS
BES BRE B BRGSO
BEH% =27 -

(b) BEXNRFEIEER :

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

RBEAFERRZEELEH
7,340,000t - BMEFIEET
BERAG( N EEZEHESFM
BAR)) 2 B ERRERAR -
IARA RGBT RAEERE
KIZ1993F SEEHEMBAZ
MBARIRANREERE =58
ZHEEE

AREZ2010F3A831HIEF
ERARa —REREER
& B 4 AR A% 53R Uk B8 Mandarin
Group Limited#k T 62 % 1 = M
R 2 WK AEEE 10,240,000
BIT

REZE1997F3 8318 ILFE
BB A TRRAR AR (—
ME2EBAWNB AR ZRAR
=N |

FEA5 P B 1 B SEFE AR AR A 5
BARAXEEDBRET R
MEBARL—HBERRZR
BERA S SR EE M
ZRFEZER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .
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31 March 2019
201943 A31H

43. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  43. ZRE R SRER ML

(@) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities during the (@) HZE2019F K2018F3H31HILF
B BRERHMEEZBREZEHN
T

years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

At 1 April 2018 20184718 7,239 2,710,969 39,000 16,807
Changes from operating cash flows REHEE 7 EE) (2,135) - - -
Changes from financing cash flows HEREREZEH 33,378 267,540 (41,263) (11,389)
Purchase of items of property, plant REREANEENE

and equipment under hire KR RRiEEE

purchase contracts - - - 1,322
Interest expense (note 8) FleE (fizEs) - 83,584 2,263 442
Amortisation of ancillary costs incurred BEBRRTERTHELZ

in connection with the arrangement WA 2 B3 (Fi5E8)

of bank loans (note 8) - 15,327 - -
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 44(a)) HE—RE AR (F:44() - (323,065) - -
Exchange realignment EHAE - (209) - @2)
At 31 March 2019 2019934318 38,482 2,754,146 - 7,180

B B 262 W Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Il Annual Report 2018/19



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .*

B R AR P

31 March 2019
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43. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(continued)

(@) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities during (a)
the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

(continued)

At 1 April 2017
Changes from financing cash flows
Purchases of items of property, plant and

equipment under hire purchase contracts

Interest expense (note 8)

Imputed interest on convertible bonds
(note 8)

Amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in
connection with the arrangement
of bank loans (note 8)

Extinguishment/recognition upon modifications

of terms of convertible bonds

Conversion of convertible bonds (note 34)

Disposal of a subsidiary (note 44(a))
Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2018

(b) Major non-cash transactions

R2017F4A18

BERSRE 5

BEABEANEENE -
BEREEEE

HERZ (M)

miakER BERE (HES)

BRRIERRIELL
|EpEA R 2 (MEES)

RETARR B A

K/ R
aETRRER(ME34)
&~ FINRAE (i4d(a)
B2

12018534318

43. mEBEFRERZKF 2)

HZE2019F K2018F3 318 IL4F
B mEEHMELEZEEEHHN
T (#&)

2,004,528 27,778 - 39,000 30511

168,626 (17,524) (93,442) (2417) (14,525)

- - - - 142

81,445 11,725 - 2417 679

- 15,420 - - -

6,607 - - - -

- (56,129) 93,442 - -

- (M) - - -

(490,980) - - - -

3 - - - -

2710969 - - 39,000 16,807
(b) ERFRERH

During the year, HK$36,158,000 (2018: HK$153,267,000)
sales deposits received held in an escrow account was applied
for payments of construction costs and professional fees in
connection with the T PLUS Project. In addition, during the
year ended 31 March 2018, certain convertible bonds were
modified, converted and extinguished, as detailed in note 34 to

the financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other major
non-cash transactions of investing and financing activities
during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

REEAN ' FHRFEEREZEW
$HEE 436,158,000/ 7T (20184F -
153,267,000 70) E A{EX (& &
BERBzESHAIREXER -
BEoN - FAEIIE20184E3 A31 0 IE4F
B AETAB®RESFCIEE - &
R GBS ERER M R34 -

B ECETIREEE SN - IBILE2019%F
NM20183A31HILFE » AEE
WABEMERRERBE TS
HEERH o
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44. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(a) Sale of property interests

The Group completed the sale of the following property
development and investment projects through disposal of
subsidiaries during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018:

On 19 June 2017 and 21 September 2018, the Group
entered into a provisional agreement for sale and
purchase and a supplemental agreement with, amongst
others, an independent third party, pursuant to which the
Group disposed of 60% interest in the T PLUS Project,
together with the outstanding shareholder’s loan owed to
the Group, at a net cash consideration attributable to the
Group of HK$500,060,000. The transfer of the ownership
interest in the T PLUS Project was completed on 26
September 2018.

On 7 March 2018, the Group sold 60% interest in the
Waterloo Project to Top Spring Chun Wo, a 40% owned
associate of the Group, for a total cash consideration of
HK$476,721,000. Further details of the transactions are
set out in note 16(b) to the financial statements.
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4. HEMEB QT
(a) HEXERES

AREBREE2019F K20184F3 A
BSTHEFERNZZEZREERBA
AR HE T ENMEERR
®EIER -

(i)

(ii)

MR2017F6 8 19H K& 201849
A218 - AEEHE(ERaE)
—RIBN B =R N DR
BEEHER —HAERGE
Bl AEBHESEHREBEZ
60% 1w ' BRIRNAEERZ
REBRRER - AEBEEG
3R & X {8 /500,060,000 75
Lo EREEHBE AR
#EER2018F9 26 H5ERX °

20183 A7H » REBEAIFK
SEM(REBEER40% ER
ZEE AR HEBITEER
BZ60%#s  BRsNRER
476,721,000 7T - B 5
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44. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) Sale of property interests (continued)

An analysis of the assets and liabilities derecognised as a result

44, HEMB AT (&)
(a) HEYMXEER &)
AR EREEMIUERR, AR

of the above disposals is as follows: BESWTIOT
2019 2018
2019 20184
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B aE T FHET
Net assets disposed of: HEEE . HE
Investment properties KEYE 16 - 1,162,915
Deferred tax assets B IBERE 38 3,908 -
Properties under BRAME
development 21 741,301 -
Prepayments, deposits and BNFIE - ke REM
other receivables i AEREL 6 128,662
Cash and bank balances e RiB{TE4 52 369
Trade payables 2 SR - (1,007)
Other payables and accruals H A e (S RIB S FERT IR (169,348) (4,984)
Bank borrowings RITIEFR (323,065) (490,980)
Non-controlling interest IR S (17,848) =
235,006 794,975
Expenses incurred for the disposals HEMEE 2FX 7,380 -
Gain/(loss) on sale of property interests %38 HEKTB AT HEY %
through disposal of subsidiaries Rz Wz (EE) 9 257,674 (264)
500,060 794,711
Satisfied by: ERA
Cash consideration HeRE 500,060 476,721
Reclassification of retained interests BN BEREERR
as interests in associates N AYNCIP 3 - 317,990
500,060 794,711
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents as a AR R EmMELNRE KRR
result of the above disposals is as follows: TEBEBEE Z2RAFELTAT ¢
2019 2018
20195 2018%F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
{iFz3 FTHET FAT
Cash consideration HeRE 500,060 476,721
Outstanding cash consideration mMAEEZRENRE 26 (103,092) -
Less: Sales deposits received for sale of a3 : HE—BYEREz 2B
property interest, net of utilisation WiHERS - MRE
for payments of construction costs BARN S TERAX
and professional fees LEXER (189,425) —
Cash and bank balances disposed of BEHECH S RIBITHER (52) (369)
Expenses incurred for the disposals HEMEE ZFX (7,380) =
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents &M@ HEWB AR HEME
in respect of sale of property interests BnsReREREEE
through disposal of subsidiaries HERANFE 200,111 476,352
[ |
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44. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) Other disposals

In respect of the prior financial year, on 28 April 2017,
pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement entered into
between the Group and a fellow subsidiary of the non-
controlling equity holder of a subsidiary of the Company
(the "Buyer”), the Group disposed of the entire equity
interest in Regal Rich Limited (“Regal Rich”), together with
the outstanding shareholder’s loan owed by Regal Rich
to the Group for a total consideration of approximately
HK$30,809,000. Regal Rich was classified as a disposal
group held for sale as at 31 March 2017. As a result of the
transaction, a gain of disposal of approximately HK$20,958,000
was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended
31 March 2018.

The disposal transaction constituted a connected transaction
under the Listing Rules that was subject to disclosure
requirements but exempted from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement. Further details of
the disposal transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 25 April 2017 and 28 April 2017.

In addition to the above disposal, the Group also completed
the disposals of two subsidiaries during the year ended
31 March 2018.

An analysis of the assets and liabilities derecognised as a result
of the above disposals is as follows:

4. HERB LR (&)
(b) HtHE

ME—REEMmMS © R20174F
47288 BEAEEHEARNAZ
—EfBRREERERTFEAZ
REMBAR(ER DIIVNESE
Wk - ANEE A 430,809,000 T
ZBRELEEEEERARE
EHERREERETERNAE
BHAREZZREER - R20174F
3A318 ' B85 EAFEHENT
EEE - RS FRAOBEE WL
/420,958,000 T © ERE E2018
FIAMBILFE ZIBFPER -

BIFELETRA - HERSIEMKEE
R BAETHERT  HEEHRE
BB REAERTE c BALE
RSWE—TFBHN A AF2017
F4H258 K201754H28B A

==

Bt B ESEIN - REBERE
Z2018%3A31 B IEFEINTRK
EMEHEB AT -

A EMBERR cEERA
BT

2018
2018F
Regal Rich Others Total
2 Hith FCrE]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T FET
Net assets disposed of: HEEEZFHE

Property, plant and equipment ME - BRRRE 10,566 - 10,566

Prepayments, deposits and other BRFE  BEX
receivables H i feliRIE = 965 965
Other payables and accruals Hopth FE TSR K FE 5T 5018 = 3) 3)
Deferred tax liability ELEHBEEE (715) = (715)
9,851 962 10,813
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries  HEHB A Bz e/ (EiE) 20,958 (962) 19,996
30,809 - 30,809
Satisfied by cash EZR A AREIN 30,809 = 30,809
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44. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) Other disposals (continued)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents as a
result of the above disposals is as follows:

4. HERB AR (&)
(b) HbHHE (&)

ALt EmMELZRe MNERS
FERBZRANFESNNOT

2018

20184

HK$'000

FET

Cash consideration BERE 30,809

Deposits received as at 31 March 2017 R2017F3A31H 2B WiZ® (2,246)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in BEHENBARZIRE &

respect of disposal of subsidiaries B SEBEIBR 2 MAFE 28,563

45. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
contingent liabilities, which have not been provided for in the
financial statements:

(a) Corporate guarantees and performance bonds

45. ARBE

R|BEHR - AKEB LT HARY
HRFHRREZHARAE

(a) EFFEZARAERRENRE

given
2019 2018
20195 2018%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FA&T
Indemnities issued to financial institutions BB AR EAYERETIEN
for performance bonds in respect of HERKE L 2 BAIRE
construction and professional services M BB EL < EIR
contracts undertaken by:
— subsidiaries — B AR 1,038,576 1,032,206
— joint operations — BB 113,255 165,766
— ajoint venture ——HA&E QA 40,445 40,446
1,192,276 1,238,418
Guarantees issued to financial institutions to gt —f1& 2 A 7] KB < A 5
secure credit facilities granted to a joint ESEERE MM g
venture and associates (note (ii)) Ve 2 TR (B 5XGi)) 1,210,530 935,390
Guarantees for property development MYEERIER RAEEARE
projects given to banks which granted ERHEHEME AT
facilities to purchasers of the Group's HEE 2 IRITIRE ZER
properties held for sale (note (jii)) (B =E(Gii)) 65,660 103,144
2,468,466 2,276,952
|
[ | [ N |
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45. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(a) Corporate guarantees and performance bonds
given (continued)

In addition to the above, corporate guarantees were provided
by the Group to two parties as disclosed in note 32(a) to the
financial statements to indemnify them any losses and liabilities
that they may incur in connection with certain construction
work of the Group in which the two parties have involvement,
however, the financial impact of the contingent liabilities that
may arise from these arrangements is not disclosed as, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the estimate of which
is not practicable to do so.

Notes:

U]

(ii)

(iii)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair values of
the financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant at
initial recognition and the directors of the Company consider that the
possibility of the default of the parties involved is remote. Accordingly,
no value has been recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position in respect of these financial guarantee contracts.

At 31 March 2019, the banking facilities granted to a joint venture
and associates and guaranteed by the Group were utilised to the
extent of HK$460,670,000 (2018: HK$490,980,000). The other
shareholder of an associate provides to the Group a counter-
guarantee in respect of the amount of banking facilities in excess of
the Group's pro rata share based on the Group’s equity interest in an
associate.

At 31 March 2019 and 2018, the Group provided guarantees in
respect of mortgage facilities granted by certain banks relating to
the mortgage loans arranged for certain purchasers of the Group’s
properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of default on
mortgage payments by these purchasers before the expiry of the
guarantees, the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and penalties
owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, and the Group is
entitled to take over the legal title and possession of the related
properties through taking legal actions. The Group’s guarantee period
starts from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and
discharges upon the earlier of (i) the issuance of real estate ownership
certificates to the purchasers; and (ii) the fully repayment of the
relevant mortgage loans by the purchasers.

The fair value of the guarantees is not significant and the directors of
the Company consider that in the event of default on payments, the
net realisable value of the related properties can cover the repayment
of the outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued
interest and penalties and therefore no provision has been made in
the financial statements for the guarantees.
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(a) BEHZATERRBHRE

(%)
B E XAl BN - R RR M e

R@FFFEAEERME ALRHE
NERR  NHEAEEE TEE
Ti2(ZEMBALTH2EAS)T
EHEEEREABERERARE A
o NRBEERS - HRARED
EREZFRHAIRELNHAR
ENHBTE - FWEERE -

i

() ARARNEERR AEEWBERE
PR BRERFZATFETNBERX
BARRREERA/EMETENZA
BEMEEAR - B - WERRZEN
REHNNEEBBER RN R ARRE
(& o

(i)  M201943A8318 ' |mALEERM
M—HAEARRBKERFTREZ
$R1TEEE B ¥ 8) F 460,670,000/ 7T
(20184 : 490,980,000 7T) - — &
BN B R H A R BB S B R A S
B % QR R ERTR E A%
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45. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Litigations

In or about December 2013 and March 2014, a plaintiff
commenced two separate legal proceedings against a subsidiary
of the Company (the “Subsidiary”) and the Company,
respectively, alleging that the Subsidiary’s termination of a
proposed transaction in relation to the sale of a commercial
development and 49% interest in the car park development at
No. 8 Clear Water Bay Road (collectively, the “Properties”) was
wrongful and claimed against the Subsidiary and the Company
for the loss of capital appreciation of the Properties for the
breach of a memorandum entered into between the plaintiff
and the Subsidiary in September 2013.

The above two cases were heard together before a judge at
the High Court of Hong Kong between 15 January 2019 and
31 January 2019. The High Court of Hong Kong has completed
to hear all the factual evidence and the two cases are now
adjourned to be heard until 19 August 2019 (4 days reserved)
for expert valuation evidence. The Court will hear the parties’
closing submission on 16 October 2019.

Based on the existing legal documents after having performed
management’s internal critical assessment of the aforesaid
cases and seeking advice from an independent legal advisor,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group
has a reasonable ground of defence on the merits and the
cases would be successfully defended, therefore, no material
adverse financial impact on the Group is expected.

Besides, in or about April 2014, another plaintiff commenced
legal proceedings against the Subsidiary alleging that the
Subsidiary’s termination of a proposed transaction in relation
to the sale of the commercial development at No. 8 Clear
Water Bay Road was wrongful and sought damages from the
Subsidiary.

Both the plaintiff and the defendant have completed the
stages of disclosure, preparation of witness statements.
The pre-trial review is fixed on 3 September 2019. The
above case will be heard before a judge at the High
Court of Hong Kong between 10 December 2019 and
23 December 2019.

45. FREBE)
(b) FFR

2013512 A5 A& K iR201443 A
HAEIfE  —RREADBIAAQR
2 —HRBAR([ZHBAF]) &
RARIRHMTARFA - BHEZ
B AR &IEEEEEENKEES
FEEBRIEFESERZ49%
B (SEZEME] 2EERS
BrE AW HEZW B AR #E &k
R4 ARR2013F 9 ART M 2 B =8k
ZEZEMEBERNAEMSI L IEKX
MZMNB AR RAAFIRERE -

F R REHER2019F1 8158
E2019F1 A31HEBEBSSF AR K
EHZEE —RETRN - BEEE
ERE ERE A EEREMNRA
FZmrREHEELEHE2019F8
R19B#ETHRE - WEEMBHE
KA BEE - AR K2019F 108
16 BERAN S 7 Ry A ZEfR A o

EREEERE ARG ZREA
RXETO NS RS - I
ABERERSRERLR AR
RAEER/ARERAE ZNMWIE
ARG AIER A - At - 18
T HARBERERTHNZ 8

KR -

AN - A2014F4 A skRiig » B—
HREANAZWE R R RFEEREF
7 BEZMBARKIEEAEE
BRKBBSHEEERERRSB

G WHZHBARIRERE -

REARBE AL TRIEE - £HE
BARMESEE - FREZET
R2019F9 A3H£7T o Ll R #
R2019F12 A10B £2019412 A
EEBRERE LR ANERERE
1THRAN ©
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45. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(b)

Litigations (continued)

Based on the existing legal documents after having performed
management’s internal critical assessment of the aforesaid case
and seeking advice from an independent legal advisor, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group
has a reasonable ground of defence on the merits and the case
would be successfully defended, therefore, no material adverse
financial impact on the Group is expected.

46. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

(b)

As lessor

The Group leases its completed investment properties
(note 16(a) to the financial statements) under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms within one year
(2018: one year). The terms of the leases generally also require
the tenants to pay security deposits.

There was no operating lease arrangement as lessor by the
Group as at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging

from one year to five years.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as

45,

46.

FREB)

(b)

WA ()

EREEERE LRRTEZREE
BXHETHOREERIERNE - X
FBOERBERSKERR - A2
RAEERA/AEERAEZ AR
RARMAERIME - Bt - 78
HAe@YAEBEXRERTHZ I
BRE -

REHER

(a)

(b)

LUHE A & 5

AEERBLCEHELHHEEL R
TiREME (M HRERNFE166)) -
CREEMEEA—FAR(20184F « —
F) o MAEEEREIMEREP
RER o

R2019F 201843 A31H » A&
BEERLEEABEELLCEHER
B o

LA A & 7
AEEBRBELRERHRMEE
FHOZEME - EREEHN T —
FERF -

R201943A318 @ AEBRET
AREEHERE HAREES

follows: NER - XATEIRTE ¢
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET
Within one year —FR 23,023 25,567
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_ZhE(BEEEMSF) 17,686 11,536
40,709 37,103
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47. COMMITMENTS 47. EIE
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note B _E ST sE46(b) FTaf il 2 48 & 10 S
46(b) above, the Group had the following commitments at the end Gh - RIREEAR - ANEE G AT HAE :

of the reporting period:

(a) Capital commitments (a) BEAXEE

Contracted, but not provided for: EHEEEST-E
Acquisition of items of property, plant BEWE  HBER
and equipment HEHEE 238,902 313
Acquisition of investment properties BRI E W5 - 102,011
Acquisition of an associate g el Sl wN| 11,538 =
Total capital commitments BRAERE 250,440 102,324
(b) Property development commitments (b) WHEERAE

Contracted, but not provided for: EHEEEST-E
Residential developments FEER 2,121 2,989

[ |
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47. COMMITMENTS (continued)
(c) Commitments for sale of property interests

In respect of the prior financial year, the Group had the
following commitments for sale of property interests as at 31
March 2018:

()  On 19 June 2017, the Group entered into a provisional
agreement for sale and purchase with, amongst others,
an independent third party, pursuant to which the Group
shall dispose of 60% interest in the T PLUS Project,
together with the outstanding shareholder’s loan owed
to the Group, at a cash consideration attributable to
the Group of HK$500,060,000. In accordance with the
agreement, the transfer of the ownership interest in
the T PLUS Project would have been completed upon
the fulfillment of all the conditions precedent including
the issuance of certificate of compliance by the Land
Department of Hong Kong, which was expected to be
obtained on or before September 2019.

At 31 March 2018, deposit payments with a total
amount of HK$297 million had been received by the
Group. Pursuant to the agreement, all deposit payments
received shall be held in an escrow account and can
only be applied for payments of construction costs and
professional fees in connection with the T PLUS Project.

As the sale transaction was expected to be completed in
September 2019, the T PLUS Project was not accounted
for as a disposal group classified as held for sale under
HKFRS 5 in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2018.

The transfer of the ownership interest in the T PLUS
Project was completed on 26 September 2018 pursuant
to a supplementary agreement entered into between
the parties on 21 September 2018. Further details of
the transaction are set out in note 44(a) to the financial
statements.

[ |
HE [ |
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47. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(c) Commitments for sale of property interests
(continued)

(ii)

On 23 October 2017, the Group entered into a share
transfer agreement with an independent third party for
the disposal of the entire equity interest in AREESE
HERZ AR AT (“Shijiazhuang Junling”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, for a total
consideration of RMB508 million. Shijiazhuang JunlJing
holds the Group’s land held for property development
in Mainland China and certain of the Group’s properties
held for sale in Mainland China. The completion of the
transaction is subject to fulfillment of all conditions
precedent before the long stop date of 23 July 2018 (as
extended from 23 April 2018 by mutual agreement).

As at the date of approval of the financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2018, the transaction has not
been completed. In the opinion of the directors, as the
fulfillment of all conditions precedent before the long stop
date is uncertain, the completion of the sale transaction
is not highly probable. Accordingly, Shijiazhuang Junling
was not accounted for as a disposal subsidiary classified as
held for sale under HKFRS 5 in the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2018.

The transaction was terminated by mutual agreement during
the current financial year.

There was no commitment for sale of property interests as at
31 March 2019.

47. A& (&)
() HEVEERZEIEE)

(ii)

5

M20179F10H238 » K&EEH
B — 2B FE =] LR
EHREALEREREERRE
HWERBEERAR([AREE
SDN(RARZEEZENBEA
A2 2HRE - BRERAR
# 508,000,000 - AR HE =
BE RSB RF B A EY
¥R DA N ARERE NS
Bl NS ESHE 2 B T -
BEBER S BFAE TRGEHR
2018%7A23B 2 &x#%&#H IFH
(K& 5 E% B2018F 44
23RER)FIEERE - A
E& -

A EE 201853 A318 1
FEZUMBRERBEE 2R 5
MARTTH c EERE AR
THEEFTA SR G R &8
H I BERRTEER - SHER S
KRB H A RETEA o HE » R
20183 A31H ' AREER
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48. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group entered into the following
material transactions with related parties during the year:

(a)

48. BELFRE

Rz EMBRREMEBYFL 2R
2 REBRANFRERNERBES
RINATEARS :

2019 2018
20194 2018%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FiExT FA&T
Associates: kN I
Management fee income EEEIWA 0) 1,605 1,255
Construction contract revenue BES WS (i) - 24,500
Interest expense paid and REN KR
payable to the ultimate ENSEIERR AR 2
holding company on AgRESE
convertible bonds FE RS (ii) - 7,255
Notes: PisE
(i)  The transaction prices were determined by reference to the then () XRSERTDZEERERZTHER
prevailing market rates. EBE -
(i) The interest expense was paid to GT Winners on the Convertible (i) FIHRARE B (AN EE34(0) =t ) B AT
Bonds B (as detailed in note 34(b)) which bore interest at the rate of GT WinnersF| BB 2 FF|E10%5t
10% per annum. =
The related party transactions in respect of item (i) disclosed ST (i IRAT R B BAE T KX 5 I
above also constitute connected transactions as defined in REIER 5 (F &R ERAISE14A
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are exempted from ) - R ETAR RIS 14A. 9016
announcement, reporting and independent shareholders’ REETRE - RmRETIRER
approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing HEZFRE °
Rules.
Outstanding balances and other transactions with related (b) EEEEER 2 ARMNEAEREMIZS :

parties:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Details of the balances with joint ventures and associates
at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in notes
18(b),18(c), 19(b) to the financial statements, respectively.

Details of the trade receivable balances with other partners
of joint operations at the end of the reporting period are
disclosed in note 24(c) to the financial statements.

Details of the guarantees provided by non-controlling
equity holders of a subsidiary in respect of certain bank
loans of the Group are set out in note 33(e) to the
financial statements.

Details of the guarantees given by the Group for banking
facilities granted to a joint venture and associates are
disclosed in note 45(a)(ii) to the financial statements.
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48. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) (continued)

(v) Details of the disposal of a subsidiary to a connected
person of the Company are disclosed in note 44(b) to the
financial statements.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

48. BEFIRE &)

(b) (&)
(v) MAARABIREEALEE—REK
BRR)ZFBEER Y REM
sF44(b) °

(0 AEEEEEEABZHM

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$°000 HK$'000

TERT FHETT

Short term employee benefits ySE === 31,019 37,613

Equity-settled share option expense AR 48 2 B AR iR 2 3,994 1,812
Others equity-settled share-based H b AR ARLEE 7 LARS D &

payment expense BRIz R 2,300 =

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3B FIEHEI 2 479 604

Total compensation paid to key MEEEEABXZNH
management personnel N 4ERE 37,792 40,029

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note
10 to the financial statements.

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Except for a loan to a joint venture and equity investments being
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, as
disclosed in notes 18(c) and 28 to the financial statements, all other
financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2019
are classified as financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost,
respectively.

Except for equity investments being classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, as disclosed in note 28 to the
financial statements, all other financial assets and liabilities of the
Group as at 31 March 2018 were loans and receivables and financial
liabilities stated at amortised cost, respectively.

BEEMeNE—THBENTBR
FHIEE10

49. RERIE D2 EMTA

BRr—EEE AR ERERAEESE
BRATEABRZEBMEE (R
RAMIFE18(Q) R 28 FE ) S © 7201943
A318 A"EBEFEEMEMEERE
BRI BERIZEEKAFTE LS/
BERAE-

BRI E D E AR AT EFABRZ
SREER S RRM 28 TN - R
20183 A31H * AEEMBEHMESHME
ERBED R ABEREEWFIBN &I
BN AT EZ S MARE -
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50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

e the fair values of financial assets with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market bid prices; and

e the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities
included in the Level 2 and Level 3 categories have been
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow analysis, with the
most significant inputs being the discount rate that reflects the
credit risk of counterparties.

The directors of the Company consider that the fair values of
financial assets and financial liabilities which are due to be received
or settled within one year approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that
are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped
into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable.

e Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or
liabilities.

e Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs
other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices)
or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

e Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).
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50. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(continued)

50 e TEZ A FERAFERE
He)
REEHBERRKRERZL2FE

FTE(E)

Equity investments at fair value  $&A (B AIB2EZ

through profit or loss AR E 65 - 65 80 - 80

Debt instrument at fairvalue AT EFAEHFZ
through profit or loss BEHEIA - 313,993 313,993 - - -
65 313,993 314,058 80 = 80

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer
into or out of Level 3 in the current and prior financial years.

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key
input to the valuation of the Group’s debt instrument at fair value
through profit or loss:

RAFHFERBERBFE - £—R
B8 — A 2 PR AT R $8 4 S 3 M 5
=REAM, -

AT RAEEIZ A FER AR ER
TABEMBBERNRLEZEHARE
ZHE

Discounted cash flow method Credit spread
MEREREE SEHEE

3.62% 1% increase/(decrease)
in discount rate would
result in decrease/
(increase) in fair value
by approximately
HK$3,140,000/
(HK$3,140,000)

BEIREIE N, O A 1% 1

BYAFERD,($EM)
K#93,140,000/ 7T,/
(3,140,000 L)
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’s financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, equity investments at fair value through profit or loss,
balances with joint ventures, associates, other partners of joint
operations and non-controlling equity holders of subsidiaries, cash
and bank balances, trade and other payables, accruals and bank
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes to the financial statements. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented in a timely and effective manner. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below:

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in
HK$ or RMB, which are the same as the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities. The Group undertakes certain
transactions denominated in foreign currencies, and hence
exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. The Group
does not expect any significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations and shall use derivative contracts to hedge against
its exposure to currency risk only when it is required. The
Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring
the movement of the foreign currency rate.

(ii) Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks

The Group has significant bank borrowings and bank deposits
with floating interest rates which are exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk. During the year, the Group has not hedged
its cash flow and fair value interest rate risks. The directors
of the Company consider the Group’s exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk on the bank deposits is insignificant as most
deposits bear variable interest rates which have not significantly
fluctuated in recent years.
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Market risk (continued)
(i) Fair value and cash flow interest rate risks (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowings
at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the end of
the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A
100 (2018: 100) basis point increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management'’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 (2018: 100) basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 would have
decreased/increased by approximately HK$20,447,000 (2018:
HK$12,346,000).

Sensitivity analysis on bank deposits is not presented as the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s exposure
to interest rate fluctuations on bank deposits is insignificant.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its debtors and
amounts due from other partners of joint operations. The Group is
exposed to concentration of credit risk as a substantial portion of its
trade debtors are generated from a limited number of customers.
At the end of the reporting period, two (2018: two) customers of
the Group accounted for approximately 53% (2018: 62%) of the
Group'’s trade receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. To mitigate credit risk arising from guarantees
provided to banks in respect of credit facilities utilised by a joint
venture and associates, the Group has delegated a team responsible
for assessing credit standing and limits to the guarantees to be
made. In addition, management considers the credit risk exposure
to financial guarantees provided to property purchasers is limited
because the facilities are secured by the properties. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

. BRREEEERBR#)

SRR (&)
(i) APERRASFENERR(E)
FBEAHT

THSBRE D TIRBE R RS I RZ
BIRR1TERZAERRRET - RE
BEBANE  HRERRESHRE
BEZABSBRE2F—BETXRE
B o 10052 (20184F - 10052, 1%
BIARKREEBEEBHMNE 2 SEATRE
BEFTEE 0 MEAFHEEE
1B A BIERA X R BRI FT AL o

RERAZR T TE 100524 (2018
F 1005 2) MATEEMEEH
HHEFITE - NEEHZE2019F3
A31BLEFEZBRREENGEER
b/ $ 90 4920,447,000 % 7T (2018
£ 112,346,000 7T) °

HRARRESTR R ANEERITHF
RZME BRI ANEKX - Eitt
I & 2 HNERITIF R BRE DT ©

FERR

AEBEZEERBREER B HEKIREA
UAREEERBEMBHARKIEA - A&
BEEEESTRR  ASEAHIE
ZRVEBEREVENEP - RMEH
K RAEEME(2018F - MB)EP,A
REE 2 E IR AI53% (20185 :
62%) - RREEERR  AEREZERE
BERE—@E) M AEEEEER -
HREERRITEMERERF - LER
REBETRR OB HRER - SRERL
BR-—HAZATMBERRFEERE
REHBEEEMSIENEERR K&
BERk—HAABRBEFBEERRK
FTERRR RS - O ERERR
HRBEAMRERER - HIEHT
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 51. B EMREEEEREE &)
POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERRE)
Except for the above, the Group does not have any significant M EXXFratE SN REBEWETMFEKR
concentration of credit risk, with exposure spreading over a number EhZzEERE  ZSRBRIIOMESZ
of counterparties and customers. BRGEFREE -
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties HRARSHEFAERBEETREERT
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit- BEREETRZRT  WRBESZ
rating agencies. EERBRER -
With respect to credit risk arising from amounts due from joint HEERA BEARIREEEBEM
ventures, associates and other partners of joint operations, R ZEKRFEBEES ZEZEERRE M
the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from default of the s AEBERERSIEHFHEHNNEE
counterparty is limited as the counterparty has sufficient net assets RERER  EARZEHFAEEHNFESE
to repay its debts and/or a good history of repayment. EEEHEBE KEEBREFZERD
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure TRINTERTEBEEBRNEEER
to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly ERGEREERBMEO - ZEEBORE
based on past due information unless other information is available DHEHRNBEMNBRER (RIFEMER &
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification BB BERR AL N ENAI LT ) A
as at 31 March 2019. The amounts presented are gross carrying FEZE2019F3 31 BN FRIZEER D
amounts for financial assets. MR eEReRMEEZREMAE -
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A
MR 210
FEEE BHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
F-KE H-ER F=ER L @zt
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
Trade receivables* B S ENGIR - - - 983,990 983,990
Contract assets* BREE" - - - 2,757,909 2,757,909
Financial assets included in SABMARE - REk
prepayments, deposits and other H it IR
receivables SREE
— Normal** — MEES 566,193 - - - 566,193
- Doubtful** — A[EE** - 74,000 - - 74,000
Restricted cash and pledged deposits S[R3 & kB EHZH
—Not yet past due - WARBE 26,149 - - - 26,149
Cash and cash equivalents RehERSFEEER
— Not yet past due — MR 1,829,856 - - - 1,829,856
2,422,198 74,000 - 3,741,899 6,238,097
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

* For trade receivables and contract assets to which the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment, information based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of debtors and adjusted for
forward-looking information as disclosed in notes 24 and 25(a) to the
financial statements, respectively.

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past
due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the
credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful .

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings, guaranteed bonds and equity
financing as significant sources of liquidity. Details of which are set
out in notes 33, 35 and 39 to the financial statements.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that cash flows
are at floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from the
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

1. EEREEEERBEE®)

EEmRREE)

* BASERAMGERETRENESER
HERGHEEMS - EREBAGTE
HARBTERMEMNENRGEE - W5k
ATRE M E RLETT AR ER D IR B 73R
KM FE24 K 25()H FE ©

* BEREMNRE - B REGERKIEN
EMEENEREERRAY L AEE
AP RKRAZSHEE B R ERARE
ERERBREBEEMEFRHESIER] -8
Al ZeMEENEEEERAR/IAE]

RBESRER

EERRDECARAIE  AKREEE
RGgFH—EKF2REMERSEFERA
B MEEBRRETARAKRELE
RUESRENRERERDZIHE -
IR E BRI IRTTIE R Z (£ AT R AL FELR
ET R -

REBIKSERITER - BRESRRA
MEEAEFTERBESRR - BB
BRI TSR A MIFE33 ~ 35K%39 °

TRAJNAKEFTESRABERBT
BEERD T ZRBENEY - TR
BASERPREENZARRERME
BEZAUBBRBACRERHE - ZFIIKF
REENERAEZEERE - HEF
BeRnERZEE  AUREBEHREH
RZHEFAE -
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 51. BiikEMREEEEREE &)

POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) REBELRERE)
Liquidity and interest risk tables RBELRFSREBE
31 March 2019 201943 H31H

Trade payables B S ERTIE 1,665,000 175,192 - 1,840,192 1,840,192
Other payables and accruals HiERFIER
FEst 2R 775,956 - - 775,956 775,956
Due to other partners of joint EREEERELD
operations - interest-free BHZTE-%5 49,836 - - 49,836 49,836
Due to a fellow subsidiary of ERN—HAEER
another partner of a joint AR AN
operation - interest-free RAZFBE-RE 896 - - 896 896
Due to associates FERBE Tz HE 12,436 - - 12,436 12,436
Due to non-controlling equity ~ ERHIB AR
holders of subsidiaries JEE R
BEAZTR 38,482 - - 38,482 38,482
Bank borrowings - variable rates  $RITEH—F8 3.03 1,126,461 1,736,419 1367 2,864,247 2,754,146
Obligations under hire purchase ~ FBAXIR
contracts and finance leases HEMEAE 2.51 5,872 1,525 - 7,397 7,180
Financial guarantee contracts HTEREH 460,670 - - 460,670 -
4,135,609 1,913,136 1,367 6,050,112 5,479,124
[ |
HE [ |
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)
31 March 2018

Weighted Repayable
average  on demand
effective or within
interest rate 1 year
METH  RRERR
ERAE  —FAEE

51.

MEEEEBRREE®)

REBEEER )
RBESRAUSABRE(F)

2018%3H31H

Total
Tt05 More than  undiscounted Carrying
years 5 years cash flows amount
KRB

—5E0% BBRLF mERR RREfE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TAT AT TAT TEL THET
Trade payables B5 2R 1,148,433 371,341 - 1519774 1,519,774
Other payables and accruals HthRRTHER
JEET TR 388,964 - - 388,964 388,964
Due to other partners of joint ~ JERf A4 %K H
operations - interest-free YN TIE-RE 44,187 - = 44,187 44187
Due to associates [EfBE N2 2B 12,436 - = 12,436 12,436
Due to non-controlling equity FERHB AR
holders of subsidiaries Elu
REAZTE 7,239 - - 7,239 7,239
Interest-free loans from RE—[RHBAF
a non-controlling equity Rk ERE A
holder of a subsidiary LRBER - - 157,738 157,738 142,862
Bank borrowings - variable rates  ${T{E3— &, 300 2,705,595 2,343 5000 2,712,938 2,710,969
Guaranteed bonds ERES 6.00 41,340 - - 41,340 39,000
Obligations under hire purchase ~ REA 4 REIA
contracts and finance leases HERE 463 11,184 6,055 - 17,239 16,807
Financial guarantee contracts HKIEREH 490,980 - - 490,980 =
4,850,358 379,739 162,738 5,392,835 4,882,238

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts
are the maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle
under the arrangements for the full guaranteed amounts if those
amounts are claimed by the counterparties to the guarantees. Based
on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group
considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangements. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the counterparties
claiming under the guarantees which are a function of the likelihood
that the financial receivables held by the counterparties which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

ERFAMBREREOZEE/RFY
FRERRLREABRER - A&H
REZHAGEALZHBERSBEEZ
et  RERRSHRZEAH &
SERR  TRARARELEEXNE
AR - R - RGBT HEEXZH
FIREERRELBRZAIGEEM HRE
B MARAEEARIZHFHRFE
ERZPEREFELREERRZA
REMHRE -
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 51

POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the “repayable on demand or within 1 year” time band in the
above maturity analysis. At 31 March 2019, the aggregate carrying
amount of the bank borrowings classified as repayable on demand
was HK$526,427,000 (2018: HK$2,704,632,000). Taking into
account the Group’s financial position, the directors of the Company
do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.

For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, management reviews the
expected cash flow information of the Group’s bank borrowings.
The maturity profile of the Group’s bank borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause as at the end of the reporting period,
based on the scheduled repayment dates and the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

. BRREEEERBR2)

REBESEEE)

WEEREREEGEXZETERR
LA BB S AT RS AT B Eksk —
FANEEIRFEAR o R20199F3 A 31
H: 2BEAREREEZRITERZR
8F T {8 /& 526,427,000 7T (2018 £ :
2,704,632,000/87T) © &8 EAREE 2 5
AR - AR R ESRERITITERS
REZRANEFE R Z ATREETRK ©

REEBRDESRAR  EEERNASE
BZRITERZBPRETEER - 1
BEHRKR  REHETEFAPRELHR
BRI - AEBMEAREREER
REHERITERB BT

Repayable Total
within 1to5 undiscounted Carrying
1 year years cash flows amount
REBRESE
A—FREER —FZHEF TREHLE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHEx FTHET FiEx FTHEx
31 March 2019 201943H31H
Bank borrowings with MBEEREKEEKZ
a repayment on demand clause RITE 523,985 2,801 526,786 526,427
31 March 2018 20184 3H31H
Bank borrowings with MBEEREKEEKYZ
a repayment on demand clause RITIER 1,687,876 1,110,500 2,798,376 2,704,632

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.
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51. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 51,

POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 March
2019 and 2018.

Depending on the market conditions and funding arrangements,
if at any time, repurchase of the Company’s shares will lead to an
enhancement of the net asset value per share and/or earnings per
share of the Group, the directors of the Company will authorise
such transactions.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total
debts less total cash and bank balances divided by the equity
attributable to shareholders of the Company. The gearing ratios as

MEEEEBRREE®)
EXxERE

AEEEAEENEERRERELAE
BRELELBRHRENER L RIAX
FEEBREERIBREEBNREN -

AEBREBELERSENECRBBEEE
MEREEEEEEARAERERELH
o BERFRFABRENER  A5ET
B FH B S AT T IR R A AR B Bk B 1T T AR
o RBIE20194 % 2018F3H31H Lk
FE BEAEEBERE - BRIBEFHE
EfREE) -

BIMRAREERY - WIS B
BARRB RO BRANEEEGREES
B/ REREF  AABESEIE
BRARS -

AEEEREABBLRERER &
AE B RA@EBSRIR S RIRITAER
RBERARRRBRREBIG R - RBE

at the end of the reporting periods are as follows: HiREARBELLRNMAT ¢

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$°000 HK$'000

TET FA&T

Bank borrowings IRITER 2,754,146 2,710,969

Guaranteed bonds ERES - 39,000
Hire purchase contract and finance lease HESHRMERE

payables FERTFRIR 7,180 16,807

Total debts B 4E%E 2,761,326 2,766,776

Less: Total cash and bank balances W IRE RIRITHREEE (1,856,005) (2,017,182)

Net debts (EULPE 905,321 749,594
Equity attributable to shareholders of A EIIRR FE (G 2

the Company 2,441,602 2,505,803

Gearing ratio BERE G E 37% 30%

[ |
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52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 52. T EMBAAHE
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March AARFEHRBARIN2019F3 318K
2019 are as follows: HIBEWT

Bloom Team Building Construction Hong Kong HK$2 100 100  Building construction
Company Limited ordinary shares works
EHEETREBRAR ) 2BTLEBR BFRETR
Champion Surveying & Engineering Hong Kong HK$2 100 100  Surveying and
Co., Limited ordinary shares engineering works
BRI TIRARAT ) 2B TR B8 REETIE
Chun Wo Building Construction Limited Hong Kong HK$600,000,000 100 100  Construction
ordinary shares
EMEEER LA £ 600,000,000/ 7T f=£23
R
Chun Wo Construction and Engineering Hong Kong HK$291,000,000 100 100  Construction
Company Limited ordinary shares
HK$9,000,000
non-voting deferred
shares
BARETRBRAT Bh 291,000,000/ T f=£23
R
9,000,000/ 7T
BRERETRN
Chun Wo E & M Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$90,000,000 100 100  Electrical and
ordinary shares mechanical contract
works
BARETIRRRAT N 90,000,000/ 7T BESHIR
R
|
HE |
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52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 52. T EM B A EFEE#E)

Chun Wo Elegant Decoration Hong Kong HK$100,000,000 100 100 Interior design and
Engineering Company Limited ordinary shares decoration
EMERERHIREERAHE B 100,000,00077T ENRREE
TR
Chun Wo Engineering (Macau) Macau MOP1,000,000 100 100  Construction
Company Limited capital
EMITRECRR)ARAR b A 1,000,0002F97T £
AR
Chun Wo Foundations Limited Hong Kong HK$19,000,000 100 100  Construction
ordinary shares
ERMETIRERAR 0 19,000,000/ 7T £
TR
Chun Wo Foundations (Macau) Macau MOP100,000 100 100  Construction
Engineering Limited capital
EMECRF) TIRER AR R 100,000} 97T fe=
ER
Chun Wo Group Finance (HK) Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100 100  Financing
ordinary share
Bh 1AL AR RE
Chun Wo Tunnel Management Limited  Hong Kong HK$1 95 100  Tunnel management
ordinary share services
EAREEERRAE B 1AL ER B EE T2 R
[ |
[ | HE
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52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

52. TEMB L RFHEZE)

City Professional Management Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$8,230,000 95 100  Property management
ordinary shares services
WHERERARAF 0 8,230,000/ 7T I EIREY TS
Eak
City Security Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 95 100  Security guard services
ordinary shares
WhEREERAA Bk 1,000,000/ 7T ER RS
Eaik
Full Fame Development Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100  Property development
ordinary share
EEERER LT 0 1BTEBR MERER
Green Solution Interior Design and Hong Kong HK$1 100 100  Interior design and
Decoration Company Limited ordinary share decoration
ERERRT REEBRAF Bk BT ERR ERRE REE
Honest Kind Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100  Financing
ordinary share
RBEBLRE 0 AT EBR wmE
Smartlink International Development Hong Kong/ HK$1 100 100  Property investment
Limited the UAE ordinary share
ERERERARAF Bt/ TE 1ATEBR MERE
Smartwill Asia Limited Hong Kong/ HK$1 100 100  Property development
the UAE ordinary share
BEGNERAR Bt/ TE 1ATEBR MEER
Vasteam Construction Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000,000 100 100  Civil engineering
ordinary shares construction work
services
EREERRAR e 100,000,000/ 7T ITAREBETR
iR WL ART
[ |
HE [ |

M B 288 M Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited Il Annual Report 2018/19



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .
A 55 Ak Y

31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

52. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

52. T EM B A EFHEEE)

Wing Cheong Electrical Engineering &  Hong Kong
Contracting Company Limited

KEBRIRBRAR BB
ARHESEHEREER AR PRC/Mainland
(note (i) (FiF&G)) China
TR,
R E A
RIFTEEMNEE BB R AR PRC/Mainland
(note (i) (FiF&G)) China
HE,
R E A
Notes:

HK$20,000,000
ordinary shares

20,000,000 7T
Epil

HK$150,000,000
registered capital
150,000,000/ 7T

FaililieN

RMB10,000,000
registered capital
AR
10,000,000
FaililieN

(i) All the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

(i) These subsidiaries are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises established under

PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of

excessive length.

100 100  Electrical and
mechanical contract
works
BENTIRE

100 100  Property development

MEER
100 100  Consultancy service
RE e AR 7
BSE

() LdFTEEEMBAREEARARFEEE
5o

(i)  ZEMERREBREPBDRERLZ I
EEELH -

EFRINBARREERRETEFEALRSF
EREHGEAREEEFERELEL
ARRIMBAR - AAREZERAIIH
HiMBARZHBELRBANITE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

53. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT OPERATIONS 53.

Particulars of the Company’s principal joint operations as at
31 March 2019 are as follows:

FESEEKHE
AEEFESEEFN2019F3H31HK
FEAT

Form of Place of Percentage of
business registration/ attributable interest
Name of joint operation structure operation of the Group Principal activities
REEBER RERBEA A EERY AKEEGCESEIL FEER
2019 2018
20195  2018%F
% %
(note (@)) (note(a)) (note (b))
(MizE@))  (MisE@)  (FiEE(b))
CW - CMGC Joint Venture Unincorporated Hong Kong 51 51  Construction
e — gL FRRIEA Bk 221
CW - STEC - CMGC )V Unincorporated Hong Kong 34 34 Construction
&M — LB —dnkE FRRIEA Bk o821

Notes:

(@)  The Group's attributable interest is equal to, greater or less than 50% in
these body unincorporates. However, under the joint venture agreements,
the joint operators have contractually agreed sharing of control over the
relevant activities of these body unincorporates, and hence all these body
unincorporates are jointly controlled by the Group and the other joint
operators. Furthermore, the relevant joint venture agreements specify that
the Group and the other parties to the joint arrangements have rights to
the assets and obligations to the liabilities relating to the joint arrangements
in accordance with the attributable interest of the Group as disclosed above
and the interest attributable to the other joint operators respectively, and
therefore these body unincorporates are classified as joint operations.

(b)  All principal joint operations engaged in construction works are contracted
to carry out infrastructure and public facilities related works in Hong Kong.
These joint operations are strategic to the Group’s principal activities in
construction works.

The above table lists the joint operations of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affect the
results of the year or constitute a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other joint operations would, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.
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BiAE

(@ AEEEGEZEER  SRIERNZSF
FERADEABEEERI50%  Aifn - RIS E
W - AR ERTNBERRZTHEZEE
REVEANBRBIRRES N ESE - Bt
ZEFRAENBE 2O AEERE
& &5 HRRES - dtoh - HEE L HE
B AREREETHEMITOT A
A3 BRI b A 52 B A 2 R en e E At
BETELZERS  TERERIMPR
BE MAEETONELE Bt 2%
RAVEANBRBEDBRAEER -

(b) PIERFREIRNTIZSEEBHER
B URBBETERRARRIEHERL
2o RERLEEBHARBREETEN
TEEHEWEE -

ERINBARRESRRETEZEASF
EEEMEASEEEFERELEZ
AEBEREER - ARABEERRIIH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

54. PARTICULARS OF JOINT VENTURES

Particulars of the Group's joint ventures, which are indirectly held by

the Company, as at 31 March 2019 are as follows:

54. & NEIFE

20193 H31H  "EE 2 & & AR

(BARREERFE) ZEHFFET

Place of
Name of Particulars of registration Ownership Percentage Profit  Principal
joint venture issued shares held and business interest  of voting sharing  activities
BENEER FRBERTRAZFEE SMtikER HFEEERE REEEIL B4 FEEK
% % %
Dingway Investment Registered shares BVI 45 50 45 Investment
Limited (note(i)) of US$1 each holding
BEREBRAR HAMEREGRIZT RBEZHES REER
(PHEEG))
Novabala JV Corp. 2,000 common Philippines 20 20 20  Design and
shares of PHP 100 construction
each and 9,000
redeemable
preferred shares of
PHP 200 each
2,000/ BREE100 FEE Ret KsEiE
SEEERAEER
59,0000 FREE
200JERE L =M
BEEIELR
Mega Champion Registered shares of BVI 50 50 50 Investment
Enterprises Limited US$1 each holding
(noteii))
(BitEE(i)) AMEAGRIZT RBELEHS REER
Notes: MisE -
(i)  Dingway Investment Limited has a wholly-owned subsidiary, named CCCC )y SREREERAFRZEZEHNBARCCCC

International USA LLC, which is incorporated in the State of Delaware of the

USA and is engaged in the business of property development.

(i)  Mega Champion Enterprises Limited has a wholly-owned subsidiary, named (i)
Famous Smart Corporation Limited, which is incorporated in Hong Kong

and is engaged in the business of property development.

International USA LLC * %2 &) Jh i 3 Bl

PN GEM AR SL R BB R TS -

Mega Champion Enterprises Limited 2 & &
MEAREEARAT - ZRARTIREE

ERlBAVASEESYE SHEE ST
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -*
MR R T

31 March 2019

2019%3H31H

55. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31 March 2019
are as follows:

55. X EBE N AIFFE

MR2019F3A31H » AEBEZ EEBBER
RIZFBMOT ¢

Vietnam Land (HK) Ltd. BVI US$25,000,000
ordinary shares

REERES 25,000,000 7T

R

Top Spring Chun Wo Cayman Islands us$10
ordinary shares

HESEM HEHS 10%7T
B

CPDL* Hong Kong HK$100
ordinary shares

BB ) 1008 T BR

* Acquired during the year

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other associates would, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

|
[ N | |
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20 20 Investment holding
REER

40 40  Property development
MEER

20 —  Property development
MEER

* REERREE

ERINBARREERRIEZERSF
EEEHIBRASBEEEFEEELE
ZAEBEBERNT - AAREEFR R
HEMBERBZFEESTRBARIT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

56. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 26(a) to the financial statements regarding
the entering into of the Sale Agreements, the following significant
events occurred subsequent to the reporting period:

(a)

On 30 November 2018, Chun Wo Bus Services Limited
("CW Bus”), an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, as the purchaser, and certain vendors entered into
an asset purchase agreement, pursuant to which CW Bus
conditionally agreed to purchase, and the vendors conditionally
agreed to sell, 47 non-franchised buses owned by the vendors
and the related passenger service licences granted by the
relevant government department in favour of the vendors (the
“Related Passenger Service Licences”) at a total consideration
of HK$175,920,000. As at 31 March 2019, a total deposit of
HK$35,184,000 was paid to the vendors and the remaining
balance was settled upon the completion of the transaction
in April 2019. Details of the transaction are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 30 November 2018.

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Group had further purchased 41 non-franchised buses and
the Related Passenger Service Licences from certain vendors
at a total consideration of approximately HK$143,576,000.
As at 31 March 2019 and subsequent to the reporting period,
deposits of approximately HK$9,890,000 and approximately
HK$7,887,600 were paid by the Group, respectively, and the
remaining balances were/would be settled upon the completion
of the transactions which is subject to certain conditions
precedent as stipulated in the respective asset purchase
agreements. The completion of all transactions is expected to
take place before the end of August 2019.

Each transaction with each vendor is not subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements under Chapter 14
of the Listing Rules.

56. HEHKRER

4 B 5 30 2 Y 5 26(a) FF R BB B 10 8T 7 8
SR - NREMEBE Y BASE
T

(a)

72018411 8308 » BFME LR
BRAB([EMEL]  AQEZMHE
BITEBRBWBAR)  1EAE
HoBEEFBEAV—MEEEER
W B EFE LA KGR E
BE MESEKHRELEER
FrEEA7MIEE & B T A KB
FEFME S H L 2B BRE RS
FRR ([ EREEEREER]) - 81K
& /4175,920,000/8 7T ° 201943
A318 ' ¥ & #%835,184,0007% 7T
EXNFERRBEDR2019F4
ARG ELEN - EBERHFHE
HNART HEA2018% 11 H30H

AN

HENEWHHREREIELR - &
SEE—FPRETEHEE4A WIE
EEE T RBEARERBIER - 8
R B #9143,576,0007% 7T ° #2019
FIANHERRBER R - AEED
2 B % € #99,890,000%8 7T & 49
7,887,600/87C © RHEEERHER
RGN (EFHRBEERE K
RERE TR IGHEKE T AT E
B)REN - FTERZTEHR20194F
8 AIRRBITER °

FENNBEARSHIE L THRAIE
ABEIE THRREAEREMRR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R EE

31 March 2019
201943A31H

56. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD continued)

(b)

On 4 December 2018, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, as the offeror, and an offeree/vendor entered into
an offer to purchase for the proposed acquisition of certain
issued share capital of a target company, which provides
consultancy and structural engineering services. On 1 April
2019, the Company, through its another indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as the purchaser, and the vendor
entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which
the vendor agreed to transfer 40% of the issued share capital
of the target company to the purchaser at the consideration of
approximately HK$22,000,000. The transaction is not subject
to the reporting and announcement requirements under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. As at 31 March 2019, a total
deposit of HK$10,500,000 has been paid by the purchaser and
the remaining balance was settled on 8 April 2019.

On 9 May 2019, the Company, as the subscriber, and SFund
International Investment Fund Management Limited, as the
issuer, entered into a subscription agreement, pursuant to which
the Company has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, and the
issuer has conditionally agreed to issue to an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, promissory notes in the
principal amount of HK$180,000,000 for a term of 364 days
with an interest rate of 5% per annum and an arrangement
fee of 3%. Completion of the subscription took place on
10 May 2019. Details of the subscription agreement are set out
in the announcement of the Company dated 9 May 2019.

Since the above transactions were all effected shortly before the
date of approval of these financial statements, the Group is not yet
in a position to disclose any financial impact of these transactions on
the Group.

B B 294 W Asia Allied Infrastructure Holdings Limited I Annual Report 2018/19

(b)

56. EMREBE 7)

R2018F 12 A48 » "ARIH—FE
HEEZEBENBAREAZY
FEZBHNE BRI —1HER
ERKEEEAR(ERHEERE R
BIRRB)ETEBRTREACEE
TH) o R2019F4 818 » RARIE
BHE—HEE2EREHNB AR
(ERBR)EBEERIN—DEEH
OB BFRERESEZEE
ERE B BEITRARL0% - RELD
22,000,000 7T - BEEAR S TZ E
MAAE14ZE FEREAER
FEFTIERE - W2019F3A318 @ B
7B X ¥R & $2%810,500,0005%8 7T
M EARET 20194 A8 B &1t o

R2019F 5898 » AAF(EAR
BA)EENESBEBKRERLER
CEREAERAT(EREITA)GINL
—HREHE - B ARFEK
HRERE  MBETAEKGRE
MARBHN—FHEEZ2EESFKH
BAREITA364K - FHRA
5% N LZHEB A3% 2 AE S EA
180,000,000/ JT 897# H 245 © :RHE
FEIEDMN2019F5810H=K B
BAREDENFBEHNART A
B2019F5 HOB AL °

HRIA LR S HES &M BHRE A
HIRT N AETT - AR E W BARE X

N
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -
B RS SR R M EE

31 March 2019
20194 3H31H

57. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY  57. 2 &) 2 B # iR R 3%

Information about the statement of financial position of the RI|EHR » AEAARD T 2B E
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: TEEINT
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET AT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment YIE - s MR 20,630 22,018
Investments in subsidiaries (note 52) RETB AR E (MI5E52) 1,759,016 1,934,913
Total non-current assets JEmEN B EMRRE 1,779,646 1,956,931
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables JE{FUIA ~ L& K E At EUFKIE 905 930
Income tax recoverable AR [ F5HR 2,551 227
Cash and bank balances BE RIRTTHEH 10,047 660
Total current assets B EEMRTE 13,503 1,817
CURRENT LIABILITIES nREAE
Other payables and accruals H iy R 2R 0B N RS E0E 6,353 19,905
Total current liabilities mB) B ERTE 6,353 19,905
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) REBEE(AE)FEE 7,150 (18,088)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EE&AER A EE 1,786,796 1,938,843
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEE
Other payables and accruals Hfth FE AN FR I8 K JEET R IR - 4,321
Due to subsidiaries S ENGIE @ 697,083 804,249
Total non-current liabilities JEmEI B EREE 697,083 808,570
Net assets BEFE 1,089,713 1,130,273
EQUITY ER
Issued capital 22T AR 186,339 187,553
Reserves (note) b (MI5E) 903,374 942,720
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 1,089,713 1,130,273
Pang Yat Ting, Dominic Pang Yat Bond, Derrick
T =Z—3
Director Director
EE EF
[ |
|| | W |
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .
S 35 R P

31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

57. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY  57. A& B 2 BI AR R T (&)

(continued)

Note: The movements of the Company’s reserves during the year are as follows: MisE : NEERARQRZFHEZESNAT

At 1 April 2017 R01754R18 623,804 - 52,552 - 17978 186,574 880,908
Profit for the year and total AEERNRAFE2ENRLE
comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 1611 1611
Issue of shares upon conversion of covertible bonds B ATAREEHETHRG 34 156,725 - - - (33,889 - 122,840
Repurchase of shares under the share award scheme BERHREEEEERR 40(b) - (18,197) - - - - (18,197)
Share award expense R =B 400) - - - 3443 - = 3443
Equity-settled share option expense DR GEEZ BIRERS 41(b) = = = 283 = = 283
Transfer of share option reserve upon R ER SR
the forfeiture of share options BRiERG = = = (8) = 58 =
Recognition upon a modfication of BT RRER A
the terms of convertible bonds 3% - - - - 33,885 - 33,885
Transfer upon a modification of R T ARES R ER
the terms of convertible bonds 34 - - - - (17.978) 17978 -
Final 2017 dividend declared BER01TFERERE = = = = = (61,533) (61,533)
Interim 2018 dividend declared EER0IEEFHRE 13 - - - - = (23,069) (23,069)
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 2018838318
018E4A18 780,529 (18,197) 52,552 6,217 - 121,619 942,120
Loss for the year and RERFRRASELAERLES
total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - - (1,818) (1,818)
Cancellation of repurchased shares HHEEDRG (7,359) - - - - - (7.355)
Share award expense O 400) = = = 1381 = - 1381
Exercise of share awards under the share TEERD RBEIFTTRE 2 28
award scheme B3 40(b) - 7554 - (4,824) - 2616 5,346
Equity-settled share option expense DR EE 2 BIRERS 41(b) = = - 7,004 - - 7,004
Transfer of share option reserve upon REkERER SRR
the forfeiture of share options - - - (1,014) - 1,014 -
Final 2018 dividend declared BER01SFERDRS 13 = - - - = (20,425) (20,425)
Interim 2019 dividend declared BER0I9FRETERE 13 = = = = = (23479 (23479
At 31 March 2019 12019534318 113174 (10,643) 52,552 8,764 - 79,527 903,374
=
58. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 58. LLE B F
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to ETUREFTEENDLE  UFEAREF
the current year's presentation and disclosures. EZ2AAKHKE -
59. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 59. Hit A BT R
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by S ImEEN2019F6 A24HEE =B/t
the Board on 24 June 2019. JE AR RETEE o
|
[ N | |
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY *
MR

RESULTS E
Revenue S 8,317,087 8,541,826 8,810,797 8,231,055 8,076,048
Profit before tax MR RTRF 145,165 349,720 235,947 230,200 165,161
Income tax FfSHt (41,894) (43,246) (30,126) (66,523) (24,066)
Profit for the year NG E N A 103,271 306,474 205,821 163,677 141,095
Attributable to: Mg
Shareholders of the Company YiIN/NE] )31 321 102,518 301,950 205,506 150,176 136,648
Non-controlling interests FEIERG fE RS 753 4,524 315 13,501 4,447

103,271 306,474 205,821 163,677 141,095

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Total assets BEME 6,895,710 7,192,101 8,463,164 8,628,952 8,225,514
Total liabilities BB (5,310,603) (5,263,395) (6,217,904) (6,104,870) (5,751,364)
1,585,107 1,928,706 2,245,260 2,524,082 2,474,150
Equity attributable to: FE(E HE s
Shareholders of the Company ARARIMEER 1,583,690 1,902,856 2,220,482 2,505,803 2,441,602
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR S 1,417 25,850 24,778 18,279 32,548

1,585,107 1,928,706 2,245,260 2,524,082 2,474,150

[ |
[ | HE
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES :

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/SALE BIERR tHEME

A parcel of land located Phase 1: Completed - Residential, 111,554 219,990 100%
between northern side of Phase 2: Completed - commercial and (Phase 3)

He Ping Road and Phase 3: Planning - carpark

southern side of

Guang Hua Road,

Shijiazhuang,

Hebei Province,

The People’s Republic of China
EARHLNE

AERFHE

AT RE R A2 B

H
I

FE BER 111,554 219,990 100%
= BES (F=4)

i

| |

455 A5t dE
o o

o Sy Al

B H

|

Dk
=i

Plot No. $5-C35 at Planning - Residential 2,425 22,715 100%
Shams Abu Dhabi,

Al Reem Island,

Abu Dhabi,

United Arab Emirates

B0k A& - frx 2,425 22,715 100%
Al Reem Island

Shams Abu Dhabi

HoRAR555-C35

Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 499 Occupation permit 2019 Residential and 2,202 13,807 60%
at Tseng Choi Street, Area 4, obtained Commercial

Tuen Mun, New Territories,

Hong Kong

BANAAME MR Ao REINE: 2019 fFERE% 2202 13,807 60%
B 4995

Lot Nos. 1770, 1771 R.P., 1774, Planning - Residential 3,075 6,150 100%
1766 R.P. and 1768 in

Demarcation District No. 3

Tung Chung, Lantau Island,

New Territories, Hong Kong

EAMRRBLRRLENAEN HET - iz 3,075 6,150 100%
HERE1770 - 1771 RP. - 1774 »

1766 RP. 17685

|
[ N | |
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES »*%
MEFS

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT/SALE (continued) BIERR, HEME®)

Nos. 264, 264A & 2648, Planning 2022 Residential 536 2,679 50%
Prince Edward Road West,

Ho Man Tin, Kowloon

NE XA itElH 2022 fFE 536 2,679 50%
ATER

264  264A%264B%;

No. 35 Cameron Road, Planning 2022 Commercial 349 4,192 20%
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

NE itElH 2022 % 349 419 20%
e

£5mE3H

SW 14th Street and Planning - Residential, commercial 11,200 290,000 45%
SW 14th Terrace and and hotel

between S. Miami and

SW 1st Avenue in

Miami, Florida

SW 14th Street itElH - % BERBE 11,00 290,000 45%
and SW 14th Terrace and

between S. Miami and

SW 1st Avenue in Miami, Florida

Residential Accommodation, Foundation work in 2021 Residential 1,692 7,966 40%
No. 128 Waterloo Road, progress

Kowloon

Kowloon Inland Lot No. 1900

JUBEAHER 55 19005 WETRIFETH 2021 =z 1,692 7,966 40%
NE

BiTZE128%;

EERE

201819%% M Thmaxrersraw 299 HH



PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES *%

E A
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REWE
9/F & 10/F and Car Parking Workshop For rent

Space Nos. P11 & P12,
Kimberland Center,

55 Wing Hong Street,
Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon

NEERYE TH= G|
K EEATS5R
ZHBEFL

OB R 1042 A K2 P11 K2 P125REE ]

|
[ N | |
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MAJOR MEMBERS OF

ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP

DN EEEZEEETENE

CONSTRUCTION
e
B Chun Wo Construction Holdings Company Limited
EMBEEZERFR AT
m  Chun Wo Building Construction Limited
BAEEAR AT
m  Chun Wo Construction and Engineering Company Limited
EMBEETEERAA
m  Chun Wo E & M Engineering Limited
EANMETEER AR

m  Chun Wo Elegant Decoration Engineering Company Limited

BEREEEH TIRER AR
m  Chun Wo Foundations Limited
EAMETEERAA
B Chun Wo Overseas Holdings Limited
BABIMNERBR QA
m R J. Crocker Consultants Pte. Ltd.
EiEEEER AR

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND ASSETS LEASING
NEZREEERE

B Chun Wo Property Development Holdings Limited
BN EERERBR AR

SECURITY AND FACILITY MANAGEMENT SERVICES

REZRREEERE
B City Services Group Limited
W ARG EB AR AT

m  City Professional Management Limited
R EXEEEER AR

m  City Security Company Limited
W R AR AR

m  Chun Wo Tunnel Management Limited
G EEIEER AR

OTHER BUSINESS

Hith 2%

B AAl Overseas Holdings Limited
DMEEE BEREINERABIRAR]

B Chun Wo Bus Services Limited

BEMELRBER AR

QY
RN R 3 <

ASIA ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE

N
4
12 %o
CuauN Wo

&

ook B R
Cirry Services Group
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& Asia ALLIED INFRASTRUCTURE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(852) 3798 5711
(852) 3798 5700
www.asiaalliedgroup.com

C1, 5th Floor, Hong Kong Spinners Industrial Building Phase 1

601-603 Tai Nan West Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong MIX
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